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For further information, please visit our website on

www.italtile.com

Retail stores
Situated on high-visibility sites, their comprehensive 
offerings position them as one-stop solution destinations, 
with ranges including ceramic and porcelain wall and 
floor tiles, sanitaryware, bathroom furniture, taps, fittings, 
laminated wooden flooring, lighting, home-finishing 
products and tools.

Supply chain
Retail operations are supported by an integrated  
supply chain comprising:
International Tap Distributors – importer and distributor  
of brassware and accessories.
Cedar Point Trading – importer and distributor of laminate and 
vinyl floor boards, bathroom furniture, shower enclosures, 
accessories, sanitaryware, décor and other home finishing 
products.
Distribution Centre – importer of product and provider of logistics 
and warehousing.

Support Services
IT, e-commerce, human resources, finance/administration, marketing, 
and internal audit.

Property investment portfolio 
Underpins the retail operation by locating stores on high profile, easily 
accessible sites and maintaining and upgrading premises to ensure an 
optimum shopping environment. Manufacturing operations comprise 
well-maintained state-of-the-art factories supplied with raw materials 
sourced from productive quarries in close proximity to the factories.

Manufacturing operations 
Ceramic Industries
Manufacturer of glazed porcelain floor tiles, ceramic wall and floor 
tiles, vitreous china sanitaryware and acrylic baths and shower trays.
Ezee Tile
Manufacturer of grout, adhesives, paint and related products.

Statement of responsibility for the Integrated 
Annual Report 
The Board of directors of the Company (“Board”) acknowledges its 
responsibility to ensure the integrity of this Integrated Annual Report 
(“IAR”), and has applied its collective mind in the preparation thereof. 
In the Board’s opinion, the report addresses all material issues and 
fairly presents the Group’s integrated performance.

On behalf of the Board

G A M Ravazzotti  J N Potgieter          
Chairman	 Chief	Executive	Officer	

23 September 2020 

OUR BUSINESS 
AT A GLANCE



ABOUT OUR REPORT

* Copyright and trademarks are owned by the Institute of Directors in 
South Africa NPC and all of its rights are reserved.

REPORTING SCOPE AND BOUNDARY
This report provides information relating to Italtile’s strategy and business 
model, operating context, material risks and opportunities, governance 
and operational performance for the period 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020. 
We also consider the risks, opportunities and outcomes of our business 
activities on the various stakeholders who are affected by what we do. 
These stakeholders and their interests are described on page 42. In 
addition, we have published annual financial statements (“AFS”). The 
reporting process for all our reports has been guided by the principles 
and requirements contained in International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”), the IIRC’s International <IR> Framework, the GRI 
Standards, the King IV™* Report on Corporate Governance for South 
Africa 2016 (“King IV”), the JSE  Listings Requirements, and the 
Companies Act No 71 of 2008. 

ASSURANCE ON REPORT CONTENT
Reporting element Assurance status and provider

IAR Reviewed by the directors and 
management, but has not been 
externally assured.

Financial information All summarised financial information 
is extracted from the annual 
financial statements, audited by 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc., who 
expressed an unmodified audit 
opinion thereon.

Selected non-financial  
performance metrics

Accredited service providers and 
agencies have verified selected 
non-financial performance metrics 
contained in the report, including 
our carbon footprint and the 
BBBEE rating.

All other non-financial  
performance 
information

Management has verified the 
processes for measuring all other 
non-financial information.

OUR APPROACH TO MATERIALITY
This report provides information that we believe is of material interest 
to current and prospective investors, and to any other stakeholder who 
wishes to make an informed assessment of Italtile’s ability to generate 
value over the short, medium and long term. We have sought to ensure 
that all the information in this report relates to matters that have a 
material bearing on value creation at Italtile. Understanding our business 
(pages 6 to 21) and our business model form the basis for appreciating 
how Italtile creates value, and for identifying those issues impacting 
value. Our ability to create value is determined by the quality of our 
response to our operating context (page 35), the priority risks and 
opportunities facing our business (page 38), and the material interests of 
our key stakeholders (page 42). Making an informed assessment of the 
quality of our response requires an appreciation of our strategy (page 
6), our performance (pages 68 to 106), our Board (page 108), and our 
governance practices (page 110).

ABOUT THE FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION 
CONTAINED IN THIS REPORT
This report contains certain forward-looking statements which relate to 
the possible future performance and financial position of the Group. All 
forward-looking statements are solely based on the views and 
considerations of the directors. These statements involve risk and 
uncertainty as they relate to events and depend on circumstances that 
may or may not occur in the future. The Group does not undertake to 
update or revise any of these forward-looking statements publicly, 
whether to reflect new information, future events or otherwise. These 
forward-looking statements have not been reviewed or reported on by 
the Group’s external auditor.

The Group neither accepts any responsibility for any loss arising from the 
use of information contained in this report, nor undertakes to publicly 
update or revise any of its forward-looking statements.
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FINANCIAL
HIGHLIGHTS

System-wide 
turnover

R9,3 billion
2019: R10,0 billion

Trading profit

R1,5 billion
2019: R1,8 billion

Earnings per share

78,3 cents
2019: 102,6 cents

Headline earnings  
per share

79,2 cents
2019: 101,8 cents

Adjusted earnings 
per share*

81,5 cents
2019: 102,6 cents

Adjusted headline 
earnings per share*

82,3 cents
2019: 101,8 cents

Ordinary dividend 
per share

33,0 cents
2019: 41,0 cents

Cash

R860 million
2019: R1 201 million
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** Excludes once-off impairment charge of R16 million.

* Adjusted for once-off R39 million IFRS 2 charge for a BBBEE transaction.
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CHAIRMAN’S 
STATEMENT
OVERVIEW
It is traditional for my report to commence with an overview of 
the business and conclude with an expression of my appreciation 
to our people and other stakeholders. In these unprecedented 
times, I am going to depart from tradition and begin by thanking 
our entire team for their invaluable contribution over the past year 
and, in particular, their extraordinary efforts since the outbreak of 
the COVID-19 pandemic.

At every level of the business across our operations, from the 
support centre to our stores and our factories, our executives, 
management, franchisees and staff, have demonstrated 
exceptional courage, agility and discipline to help curb the spread 
of the pandemic and ensure we have created a safer, better working 
environment for our customers and each member of our team.

Despite the personal sacrifices and suffering many endured, it 
is testament to their hard work and commitment that we quickly 
turned around the business from total lockdown and remote 
working to steady, safe start-up of our factories and stores. 

The courage, agility and discipline of every member of the team 
made a huge difference to the business surviving, reopening – and 
staying open. The strong double-digit growth reported in June, 
July and August is a reflection of their efforts.

Further to the theme of our exceptional people, on page 48 of this 
report, we profile four individuals who exemplify the spirit of Italtile 
and the uniqueness of our culture. They are a good representation 
of the component parts of our business, namely our franchisees, 
retail, supply chain and manufacturing operations. Collectively they 
have 89 years of experience with the Group, the longest serving 
of them joined the Company 27 years ago and the most recent, 
16 years ago. It is with pride that I acknowledge the calibre of this 
next generation of our leaders. Each one of them has proved that 
hard work, perseverance and clearly focused goals will lead to 
success. They serve the business with distinction and are a tribute 
to the Group and an inspiration to their colleagues.

OUR PERFORMANCE
Given the adverse external environment, management’s focus 
continued to be on the internal growth factors within our control, 
namely, sales, cost leadership, productivity improvements and 
performance culture. The lockdown provided a vital opportunity to 
critically and objectively appraise our progress in these key focus 
areas and to hone our operations to endure and flourish in the 
demanding new environment.

Significantly, we have recognised that with renewed vigour and 
enhanced productivity, we can do more with less, while retaining 
the best of our offering. By focusing on consistent investment in 
the shopping experience, entrenching retail excellence principles, 
and winning over customers, we will continue to recover and build 
on the foundation for sustainable growth. 

RESULTS
The reports of the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief 
Financial Officer (“CFO”) on pages 68 and 98 respectively of this 
document provide a detailed account of the Group’s operations 
and results for the review period. My commentary is therefore a 
summary of the key information pertaining to the general financial 
wellbeing of the business.

Prior to the onset of the pandemic in late March, operating 
conditions in the country were already challenging, with consumers 
facing severe financial hardship and demonstrating low levels 
of investor confidence. Unfortunately, with the advent of the 
pandemic, economic and social conditions worsened materially, 
impacting adversely on employment levels and household 
disposable income.

In this context, I am satisfied that despite the setbacks experienced, 
the decline in trading profit was contained to 16%. I am also 
pleased to report that ongoing efforts to entrench cost leadership 
and improve working capital management paid off, reflected by 
limited cost growth and closing cash reserves of R860 million. The 
strong balance sheet has enabled the reinstatement of our roughly 
R800 million capital expenditure programme and ensured that we 
had no need to utilise the short-term contingency facility that was 
negotiated prior to the lockdown. It is also noteworthy that the 
debtors’ book remains healthy.

BOARD FOCUS: ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL 
AND GOVERNANCE SUSTAINABILITY
With the benefit of 51 years of trading, sustainability is not a new 
concept to us; it is a key operating procedure which underpins the 
solid foundations on which this Group is built.

	» Proudly South African
 As a Proudly South African franchisor, retailer and manufacturer, 

our strategies are designed to focus on the sustainability of the 
business and the environment in which we operate.

 This focus is twofold:
 – by selling local products manufactured by local people, we 

will create jobs and contribute to the economy. Key to this 
philosophy is our investment in training, skills development, 
and cutting-edge technology to ensure our people and 
products are globally competitive; and

 – by ensuring we conduct our operations in an ethical and 
responsible manner, we strive to continue to reduce our 
carbon footprint and enhance the natural environment of our 
local communities.

	» Commitment to the planet
 Global warming and the negative impact of climate change 

are immense cause for concern. Having been involved in 
conservation for numerous years, I am extremely aware of 
the deteriorating condition of our natural environment and 
the responsibility we have to restoring and nurturing the planet 
for the generations which follow us. 

Integrated Annual Report 202002
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Giovanni Ravazzotti
Chairman

The products we sell and the non-renewable resources we 
consume
Across our retail brands, our range of eco-friendly, water-saving 
products continues to expand and includes taps, shower heads 
and toilets. Italtile Retail, specifically, has deservedly earned the 
reputation as the industry front-runner in environmentally sensitive 
products. With the launch of our EcoTec range of tiles, discussed 
below, we have enhanced the Group’s offering substantially.

As a manufacturing business, we recognise that our operations 
have an impact on the environment and accordingly, we implement 
an extensive range of initiatives devoted to reducing our carbon 
footprint. Our sustainability agenda is promoted through the use of 
cost-effective, energy efficient practices in the construction of new 
buildings and the renovation of older stores and factories. Optimal 
use of natural light, solar technology, new-generation lighting, 
water-saving taps, rain water harvesting and environmentally 
sensitive building materials is prioritised. Our factories use the 
latest technology in their operations and rank among the most 
energy efficient in the world. Gas consumption is reduced through 
the use of state-of-the-art burner technology and heat recovery 
systems. Process water is recovered and reused, ensuring that no 
effluent leaves the factories. Large solar generation systems have 
been installed in our Australian factory and at the Betta sanitaryware 
site in South Africa. At our raw material quarries, rehabilitation is 
conducted concurrently during use and when end-of-productive-
life is reached.

Innovation strategy dovetails with sustainability strategy
Ceramic has a long-standing reputation for global standard, 
industry-leading technology. Over the past year, significant 
investment has been made in linking our innovation strategy with 
our sustainability strategy. I am delighted to announce our latest 
innovations:
	» the launch of our EcoTec tile range;
	» the substantial upgrade of the Samca Floor tile factory; and
	» the further roll-out of solar power installations. 

EcoTec tile range
Our continued focus on environmental sustainability will be 
furthered with our newly launched EcoTec tiles, which are designed 
specifically to reduce carbon footprint. Made to be thinner, the 
tiles are 24% stronger than the minimum SABS requirement and 
meet global standards. Significantly, they are produced from locally 
sourced materials and require 10% fewer natural resources. When 
compared to imported tiles, the EcoTec manufacturing process 
emits 30% less CO2, while the product requires 25% less packaging 
and costs 25% less per m² to transport from source, contributing to 
a significant carbon reduction.

Samca Floor tile factory upgrade
This factory has been temporarily decommissioned and will 
be upgraded with a revolutionary technology that will enable 
production of new format floor tiles. The innovative new equipment 

will also include the latest burner technology and advanced heat 
recovery systems and will facilitate a reduction of up to 25% in 
gas and electricity consumption, together with the corresponding 
reduction in CO2 emissions. This product will also consume 15% 
fewer natural resources to manufacture.

Roll-out of solar power installations
A 3 MW solar installation is planned for our Vereeniging site by 
the end of 2021, which will reduce reliance on non-renewable 
energy and generate up to 25% of energy requirements (at peak 
generation in the day) on the site. We will also continue to roll out 
solar installations to a number of our stores.

The Group’s environmental sustainability initiatives are discussed in 
more detail in the report on page 62 of this document.

	» Transformation
 During the review period, we continued the journey of 

transformation in the business with the conclusion of a Broad-
Based Black Economic Empowerment (“BBBEE”) deal in 
September 2019. The substantive deal with Yard Holdings 
improves the Group’s black ownership credentials, while 
establishing a good relationship with a BBBEE partner with 
international commercial experience relevant to the Group’s 
business.

 I am pleased to report that following this transaction and based 
on sustained management focus on transforming the business 
through a range of meaningful interventions, the Group’s BBBEE 
rating has improved from non-compliant in 2016, to level 4 in 
the review period, exceeding our target of level 5. 

 Our longer-term goal is to achieve level 3 status by 2022.

	» Community support: Italtile and Ceramic Foundation
 Our Foundation is a Broad-Based Black Ownership Scheme 

which conducts public benefit activities on behalf of the Group 
in the spheres of education, sport and conservation, with the 
goal of contributing to the transformation and upliftment of 
previously disadvantaged communities. 

Education
During the review period, the Foundation sponsored various 
projects and charities in the education sector. These ranged from 
bursary programmes for high school and tertiary students with 
extreme financial need and high academic potential; construction 
and renovation of residences and facilities for needy schools; extra 
tuition for matric pupils and support for childhood development 
programmes; and sponsorship of recreational activities including 
a musical band which combines teaching music, movement and 
dance with core life skills. Institutions which received assistance 
include the Hope School for the Disabled; Salvazione Christian 
School; One School at a Time; PEN – Kagiso project; Setlabotjha 
Primary School and the Field Band Foundation.
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Sport 
The Foundation maintains the sports fields built by the Group 
over the past six years in Meadowlands in Soweto, Thohoyandou 
in Limpopo and Acornhoek in Mpumalanga. It also sponsors 
Dreamfields, an organisation that establishes soccer and netball 
leagues in schools and hosts referee and umpire workshops for 
school coaches for the benefit of the local children. The schools are 
supplied with soccer and netball equipment as well as training kits. 
With the Foundation’s support, Dreamfields has a footprint in the 
following areas: 40 schools in Acornhoek; 16 in Thohoyandou; 10 in 
Sebokeng; eight in Hammanskraal; and eight in Kagiso. A total of 
20 915 children participate in the Dreamfields programme.

The Foundation will be funding the construction of a new sports 
field in Steelpark, Vereeniging, commencing in September 2020. 
 
Conservation 
The Group continued to support the Birdlife Important Biodiversity 
Area Programme, the Lapalala Wilderness School, the Stop Rhino 
Poaching organisation and the World Wide Fund for Nature.

COVID-19 relief projects
In addition to the donation made to the Solidarity Fund, support 
was provided for needy charities in the form of personal protective 
equipment, sanitisers, food parcels and operating funds, as well as 
electronic equipment for our bursary students to enable them to 
continue studying online during the lockdown.

The organisations that we support achieve transformative results 
in the communities and environments which they serve and they 
are to be applauded for their steadfast dedication and vision of a 
better future for all. Our Trustees and staff volunteer their services 
to make a meaningful and measurable impact on the communities 
in which we operate and I would like to thank them for their 
generosity and commitment.

The Foundation’s report on page 52 of this document outlines in 
more detail the projects undertaken during the review period.

COMMITMENT TO CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
We have committed to enhancing our reporting over time and 
this 2020 IAR is further demonstration of our efforts to improve 
our disclosure aligned with King IV. The sustainability section 
in particular has been expanded and includes key information 
relating to our material issues, risks and opportunities; stakeholder 
engagements; transformation and environment reports; and 
our community support initiatives. The letter from the CEO that 
introduces the section will be useful for readers seeking detailed 
information regarding the Group’s ESG journey.

DEVELOPMENT AND IMPLEMENTATION OF 
STRATEGY
The Board is responsible for setting clear strategic direction, 
while management is held accountable for delivering measurable 
results. The Group’s five-year strategic plans are formulated and 
implemented through an effective decision-making framework and 

the plans are reviewed annually, in terms of relevance in evolving 
external and internal conditions.

In the year under review, pleasing progress was achieved across 
all our key performance indicators (“KPIs”): strategic plan; financial 
performance; human capital; BBBEE; customer satisfaction; 
and cultural fit and values. The CEO’s report on page 24 of 
this document provides a detailed scorecard of management’s 
execution of these key imperatives.

Following the Board’s annual review, we have formally added the 
following KPIs to the executive scorecard: productivity; stakeholder 
relations; and ESG matters. While all three of these imperatives 
have historically formed part of the strategic plan, we have decided 
to upweight their relevance to reflect their increasing significance 
in light of changes in our business and the economy and in 
recognition of evolving stakeholder expectations.

STAFF SHARE SCHEME VESTING
The Group’s equity-settled Staff Share Scheme is designed to 
incentivise employees to participate in the growth and profitability 
of the business. In this regard, the third allotment of shares, granted 
in 2015, vested on 31 August 2019. A total of 94  employees 
qualified, of which 89 employees opted to receive cash and the 
balance received the net value of the awards in shares. Cash 
payments after tax averaged R128 170 per individual (aggregate 
cash payments including income tax totalled R15,1 million), funded 
by the sale of the related shares to the market. Employees who 
elected to receive shares, received an average of 8 500 Italtile 
shares each (dependent on the individual’s effective income 
tax rate).

During the review period, a seventh allotment of shares was made, 
comprising 5,2 million shares allocated to 231 eligible employees 
of the Group and franchisees. As at 30 June 2020, there were 
437 participants in the scheme, holding 9,4 million Italtile shares.

DIVIDEND POLICY, ORDINARY DIVIDEND AND 
SPECIAL DIVIDEND
The Group’s dividend cover was retained at two-and-a-half times. 
We believe this is a prudent level, which affords good returns for 
shareholders and simultaneously makes provision for an ongoing 
capital investment programme across the retail and manufacturing 
operations.

A final gross ordinary cash dividend of 10,0 cents per share 
(2019:  19,0 cents) was declared, which, together with the 
interim gross ordinary cash dividend of 23,0 cents per share 
(2019:  22,0  cents per share), produces a total gross ordinary 
cash dividend of 33,0 cents per share, a decrease of 20% on the 
prior  year.

In light of the BBBEE transaction with Yard Holdings and the 
Group’s cash reserves being in excess of operational requirements, 
a special cash dividend of 23,0 cents was declared in October 
2019. The special dividend, the third paid in three consecutive 
years, was declared out of income reserves, reflecting the Group’s 

CHAIRMAN’S 
STATEMENT CONTINUED
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strong cash generating ability. Further special dividends will be 
determined by cash reserves in excess of the Group’s operational 
requirements and other unforeseen events.

CHANGES IN BOARD COMPOSITION
	» Resignation and appointment of executive directors

 With effect from 30 June 2020, Tsundzukani Mhlanga resigned 
as Executive Director: Finance and Administration. She has been 
succeeded by Brandon Wood as CFO with effect from 3 August 
2020. The Board would like to thank Tsundzukani for her valuable 
contribution and wishes her well in her future endeavours.

 Brandon’s appointment follows an extensive recruitment 
process conducted by the Group´s Nominations Committee. 
He is extremely well qualified for the position, having previously 
served as CFO from 2013 to 2018, whereafter he held the 
positions of Executive Director: Commercial and Supply Chain 
and subsequently Executive Director: Retail. The Board is 
delighted with Brandon’s appointment and confident that he 
will continue to add tremendous value to the Company in this 
expanded role.

 In light of the Board’s stated goal to streamline the Group’s 
overhead cost structure, accelerated by the current COVID-19 
era, the position of Executive Director: Retail will fall away.

	» Resignation and appointment of independent non-executive 
directors

 With effect from 25 March 2020, Zizipho Nyanga resigned as an 
independent non-executive director and a member of the Audit 
and Risk Committee. The Board would like to thank Zizipho for 
her service and wishes her well for the future.

 Isaac Malevu, CA(SA), was appointed as an independent non-
executive director and member of the Audit and Risk Committee 
with effect from 25 March 2020. Isaac is currently the Chief 
Financial Officer for Client Coverage in the Corporate Investment 
Banking division within the Standard Bank Group Limited. Prior 
to that he was audit partner at Ernst & Young Inc. Isaac has 
in excess of 20 years of international experience and thought 
leadership in a range of specialist areas including finance, 
treasury, corporate strategy, risk management and corporate 
governance. His appointment reflects the Group´s continuing 
commitment to enhancing the diversity of the Board and the 
expertise available to the business.

 The Board welcomes Isaac and looks forward to his contribution.

MANDATORY ROTATION AND APPOINTMENT 
OF AUDITOR
In respect of the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ 2017 
ruling on mandatory audit firm rotation, the Group’s former auditor, 
Ernst & Young Inc., concluded its tenure on 1 November 2019, and 

was succeeded by PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. The designated 
auditor is Mr Thomas Howatt.

OUTLOOK
It is unlikely that macro-economic and social conditions will 
improve materially in the foreseeable future. Consumer confidence 
and spend are expected to remain subdued and the retail sector 
will continue to experience extreme pressure.

In this challenging external context, our strategy remains steadfast: 
to optimise on opportunities and improvements within our business 
to extract growth and gain market share.

Having come through the worst of the pandemic well, I am satisfied 
that the business is in good shape to face the challenges that lie 
ahead. I am confident that the team and the strategies we have 
in place will enable us to continue to grow and to meet our 
stakeholders’ expectations.

APPRECIATION
The year under review has tested us all. It has presented 
unbelievable difficulties for most and demanded extraordinary 
effort from many. In this light, my appreciation to our various 
stakeholders is heartfelt. Your support throughout this period has 
been inspirational and encouraging:
	» to our customers, who waited patiently for lockdown to end 

and then returned with enthusiasm, I would like to thank you for 
your cheerful compliance with our rigorous safety protocols and 
for your continued loyalty to our offering. We are in business to 
serve you and will strive to ensure that your shopping experience 
is a memorable one;

	» to my valued Board colleagues, thank you for your commitment 
and constructive input as we navigated uncharted waters over 
the past months;

	» to our business partners and advisers, I extend our appreciation 
for your continued support despite the obstacles you faced in 
delivering uninterrupted service; and

	» to our long-standing private and institutional shareholders, 
please accept our gratitude for your steadfast endorsement of 
our business through your shareholding. We will endeavour to 
continue to reward your investment.

In my opening comments I paid tribute to the people of Italtile. 
I know with conviction that their contribution is what gives our 
business the edge and keeps our offering top of consumers’ minds 
in a very competitive trading landscape.

G A M Ravazzotti
Chairman
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Italtile is a South African group invested in a portfolio of differentiated, 
complementary, focused retail formats and manufacturing facilities 
centred on operational excellence and high-volume turnover. 

The Group actively seeks opportunities to vertically integrate the 
supply chain to improve price competitiveness for our customers. 
Collaboration throughout the organisation and our culture of continued 
improvement in performance will drive market share gains.

Strategic clarity; principle-driven; ethical leadership; cost-effective 
technology; and customer and staff-centred partnerships form 
the essence of who we are.

We fight for the right of our customers to have a beautiful home.

Our mission and  
definition of victory 

»  TO BE AFRICA’S LEADING RETAILER OF TILES, SANITARYWARE 
AND ANCILLARY PRODUCTS

 »  TO GROW MARKET SHARE

 »  TO BE AN EMPLOYER OF CHOICE

 »   TO BUILD OUR LEADERSHIP AND SUCCESSION PIPELINE

 »  TO BE VIEWED BY OUR SUPPLIERS AS ETHICAL AND TOUGH BUT FAIR

 »  TO BE RECOGNISED AS COMPASSIONATE AND CARING THROUGH 
MEANINGFUL MEASURABLE CSI INITIATIVES

 »  TO BE INNOVATIVE AND STRIVE FOR CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT

 »  TO PROGRESS THE IMPERATIVE OF TRANSFORMATION

 »  TO BE A GLOBALLY COMPETITIVE MANUFACTURER OF TILES, BATHS 
AND SANITARYWARE

 »  TO BE OUR CUSTOMERS’ NUMBER ONE CHOICE IN THE 
MERCHANDISE CATEGORIES WE PLAN TO OWN

 »  TO REMAIN A CASH POSITIVE BUSINESS AND MAINTAIN A DIVIDEND 
COVER OF TWO-AND-A-HALF TIMES

 »  TO ENSURE QUALITY OF EARNINGS BY DRIVING FREE CASH FLOW

OUR PURPOSE AND 
STRATEGIC FOCUS

THIS IS ITALTILE
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Our values

PARTNERSHIP

FAIRNESS INTEGRITY

HONESTY EMPOWERMENT

HUMAN  
DIGNITY

(respect and  
caring)

EXCELLENCE
SERVANT  

LEADERSHIP

Beliefs that are core to our culture

High work 
ethic

Entrepreneurial  
flair

Accountability  
for actions and  
performance

The drive to  
develop business  

partnerships

Leadership by  
example

Performance  
driven

Customer  
centricity

Hands-on  
involvement in  
the business

Transparency  
in communication  
and actions with  
all stakeholders

Integrated Annual Report 2020 11



Samca Wall 
tile factory 
opens.

Italtile moves 
head office to 
Randburg.

19
69

Italtile’s first Cape 
Town store opens.

Italtile’s first 
Durban store 
opens.

1971 1972

Italtile’s first
Johannesburg
store opens.

Samca Floor
tile factory
opens.

1976 1981 1983 1986

Samca introduces
single-firing 
monocotura tiles 
using the clay 
dry-milling process.

Italtile moves into 
new premises in 
Alberton.

Launch of the first 
cash-and-carry 
concept CTM store 
in Roodepoort.
The second store 
opens in Stikland, 
Cape Town.

Acquisition of 
Betta Sanitaryware 
from a consortium 
of banks.

1988

Acquisition of NCI 
Ceramics.

Italtile listed on 
the Johannesburg 
Stock Exchange.

1989

Italtile Founded by Giovanni Ravazzotti 
in Alberton

OUR TIMELINE  
AND MILESTONES

THIS IS ITALTILE
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Samca Wall 
tile factory 
opens.

Italtile moves 
head office to 
Randburg.

Formation of 
Ceramic Industries 
(Pty) Ltd.

Ceramic Industries 
listed on the JSE.

Established the 
CTM Franchising 
division.

The launch of the CTM 
Mastertile Club with 
give-away tiling kits 
and other incentives.

Italtile transferred 
its JSE listing from 
the building and 
construction sector to 
the stores sector.

Acquisition of Vitro Tile 
Factory.

CTM Pretoria becomes 
the first store to achieve 
a turnover of R2 million.

CTM begins its successful 
TV advertising campaign 
with Bob and Nige.

1989 1991

The management 
information system 
was upgraded and 
all Italtile Centres 
were linked by 
computer.

1992 1993

The roll-out of 
stores continues 
with the launch of 
the boutique store 
in Tokai.

1994 1995

CTM Roodepoort 
becomes the first 
store to turn over  
R1 million.

The entire 
organisation
participated for its 
first full year in the 
staff profit share 
scheme.

1996 2000

Italtile moves its
head office to its
current location in
Bryanston.

Commencement of
trading in Australia.

Introduction of
high-pressure
casting at Betta.

SAP introduced to
CTM Strijdom Park.

2001

Closure of
NCI Tiles –
production
moves to
Vitro factory.

2002

R1 billion 
turnover
reached.

Opening of 
Pegasus
factory.

Bob and Nige

OUR TIMELINE  
AND MILESTONES
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Head office in Bryanston

Introduction of 
CTM joint venture 
model. 

Italtile displays its 
passion for tiles 
with the 1,1 m 
x 2,2 m replica 
of Botticelli’s 
Primavera which 
was made using 
kaolin clay and 
fired as a single
tile in a roller kiln.

2003 2004

Acquisition of
controlling 
interest in 
International  
Tap Distributors 
(Pty) Ltd.

Acquisition 
of controlling 
interest in Early 
Works (Pty) Ltd.

Centaurus
factory opens.

2005 2006 2007 2008

Expansion of 
Pegasus and 
Centaurus to 
double production 
volumes.

2009

Italtile acquires
a minority stake
in Ezee Tile.

Penates builds
the Tiling Training
Academy in
Boksburg.

Italtile Commercial
division is
established.

Cedar Point
Trading is formed.

2010 2012

Italtile acquires
20% of Ceramic
Industries.

Ceramic is
delisted from the
stock exchange.

CTM’s internet
shopping facility
is upgraded to a
fully functional
operating online
trading store.

2013

Formation of 
Penates Logistics 
(Pty) Ltd.

Expansion of 
Betta.

Acquarius 
factory opens.

John Couzis 
resigns from the 
Italtile Board 
after 22 years 
of service.

Italtile launches 
the TopT brand.

Italtile enters 
a Group black 
economic
empowerment
transaction.

Italtile appoints 
an Environment 
Officer to work 
with the Properties 
division to reduce 
the Group’s carbon 
footprint.

Acquisition of 
Sphinx.

Ceramic Industries
and Support 
Centre moves to 
the Clay Quarry.

Penates builds
the ITD robotic
warehouse, 
showrooms 
and the Forum 
Auditorium.

Integrated Annual Report 2020 09



2013 2014 2015 2016

The store properties 
in Australia are sold. 

New generation 
stores for Italtile 
and CTM open. 

Gryphon tile factory 
opens.

Italtile Foundation 
Trust established.

2018

Retail stores
in Australia
are sold to
management.

Peter Swatton 
resigns from the 
Board after 26 
years of service.

Italtile introduces 
the equity-settled
staff share 
scheme.

System-wide 
turnover reached 
the R5 billion 
milestone.

Acquisition of a 
controlling stake in 
Ceramic Industries 
and Ezee Tile.

The Chairman 
celebrates
his 75th birthday.

Luciana Ravazzotti 
Langenhoven is 
appointed to the 
Board as Deputy 
Chairman.

U-Light brand is 
launched.

Italtile celebrates 
50 years of 
achievement.

20
20

Board members 2018

System-wide 
turnover 

of R9,3 billion. 

Acquisition of a 
25,1% stake in 

Easylife Kitchens

2019

Integrated Annual Report 2020 10



OUR GROUP STRUCTURE

F B Ashman 
(Pty) Ltd

PROPERTIES SUPPLY AND SUPPORT SERVICES FRANCHISING RETAIL MANUFACTURING

100%

Allmuss Properties
(Pty) Ltd

100%

Allmuss Properties
Botswana (Pty) Ltd

100%

Allmuss
Lesotho (Pty) Ltd

100%

Allmuss Properties
Namibia (Pty) Ltd

100%

Allmuss Properties
Kenya Ltd

100%

Allmuss Properties
Uganda Ltd

Allmuss Properties
Tanzania Ltd

100%

Penates Logistics
(Pty) Ltd

85%

Magnolia Ridge 
Properties 291 (Pty) Ltd

50%

International Tap 
Distributors (Pty) Ltd

88%

Cedar Point Trading 
326 (Pty) Ltd

90%

Italtile Foreign 
Holdings (Pty) Ltd

SER-EXPORT
S.L.R.

30%

Italtile Franchising 
(Pty) Ltd

100%

CTM Kenya  
Ltd

100%

Italtile Retail 
(Pty) Ltd

55%

Orban Investments 
375 (Pty) Ltd

Italtile Zambia 
Limited

100%

55%

TopT Ceramics 
(Pty) Ltd

U-Light
 (Pty) Ltd

100%

80%

Braintree  
(Pty) Ltd

Braintree  
Tanzania Ltd

Ceramic Industries 
(Pty) Ltd

95%

Sphinx Acrylic 
Bathroomware (Pty) Ltd

National Ceramic Industries 
South Africa (Pty) Ltd

CRM Brick and Associated 
Industries (Pty) Ltd

East Cape Quarries 
 (Pty) Ltd

Ezee Tile Adhesive 
Manufacturers 

(Free State) (Pty) Ltd

Mayfield Clays (Pty) Ltd

PiViCal Panels (Pty) Ltd

Ezee Tile 
 Kenya Ltd

100%

100%

100%

100%

75%

Ezee Tile Adhesive 
Manufacturers (Pty) Ltd

72%

100%

100%

55%

Emerald Sky Trading
736 (Pty) Ltd

100%

100%

National Ceramic Industries 
Australia Pty Ltd

97%

Ceramic Holdings
(Pty) Ltd

99%

OUTSIDE OF SOUTH AFRICA

SOUTH AFRICA

National Ceramic Industries 
(Pty) Ltd

100%

Aquarella Investments 
389 (Pty) Ltd

74%

Italtile Ceramics (Pty) Ltd

100%

100%

100%100%

THIS IS ITALTILE
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WHAT SETS US APART

Strategic portfolio of  
strong retail brands, which  
appeal to customers across 
the income spectrum.

A customer-centric philosophy  
which ensures all our activities  
are centered on keeping them  
top of mind.

Integrated supply chain which 
underpins our policy of  
‘right product at the right 
time, place and price’. Flat, low-cost organisational 

structure comprising strong 
teams and unique individuals  
intimately involved in the 
operations.

Recognition that our 
people are key to our 
competitive advantage 
and hence continued 
investment in them is 
paramount. Strong partnerships 

with employees, 
equity partners and 
entrepreneurial 
franchisees.

Extensive property portfolio which comprises 
high profile, well maintained, aspirational 

stores, state-of-the-art factories, and  
productive quarries.

Sustained investment in improving and innovating 
the shopping experience and ensuring the 
offering remains attractive to traditional 
customers and new, emerging homeowners.

Concerted focus on developing  
and employing industry-leading  
technology in both our retail offering  
and manufacturing operations.

Long-standing 
reputation as 
the industry 
trend setter  
and fashion 
authority.

Reward and empowerment 
ethos which incentivises 
personnel to participate 
in the profitability of 
the business.

THIS IS ITALTILE
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WHERE
WE OPERATE

94*
CTM stores

6*
U-Light stores

14*
Italtile Retail  
stores

The balance are 
corporate and joint 
venture stores

71
Franchised stores

* Includes webstore.

84*
TopT stores

198*
Total network of 
stores

RETAIL 
FOOTPRINT

Dar es Salaam

NAMIBIA

Swakopmund Palapye

KENYA
Eldoret

TANZANIA

Nairobi
Mwanza

Arusha

Oshakati

Windhoek

Maun

Francistown

Mbabane
ESWATINI

LESOTHO
Maseru

SOUTH AFRICA

Gaborone

BOTSWANA

ZimbabweZambiaUgandaTunisiaTogoTanzaniaSwazilandSudan

South AfricaSomalilandSomaliaSierra LeoneSeychellesSenegalSaint Helena Sao Tome and Principe

Sahrawi Arab Democratic RepublicRwandaRepublic of the CongoNigeriaNigerNamibiaMozambiqueMorocco

MayotteMauritiusMauritaniaMaliMalawiMadagascarLibyaLiberia

LesothoKenyaGuinea-BissauGuineaGhana

GambiaGabonEthiopiaEritreaEquatorial Guinea

EgyptDjiboutiDemocratic Republic of the CongoCote D’IvoireComoros

ChadCentral African RepublicCape VerdeCameroonBurundi

Burkina FasoBotswanaBeninAngolaAlgeria

ZimbabweZambiaUgandaTunisiaTogoTanzaniaSwazilandSudan

South AfricaSomalilandSomaliaSierra LeoneSeychellesSenegalSaint Helena Sao Tome and Principe

Sahrawi Arab Democratic RepublicRwandaRepublic of the CongoNigeriaNigerNamibiaMozambiqueMorocco

MayotteMauritiusMauritaniaMaliMalawiMadagascarLibyaLiberia

LesothoKenyaGuinea-BissauGuineaGhana

GambiaGabonEthiopiaEritreaEquatorial Guinea

EgyptDjiboutiDemocratic Republic of the CongoCote D’IvoireComoros

ChadCentral African RepublicCape VerdeCameroonBurundi

Burkina FasoBotswanaBeninAngolaAlgeria

ZimbabweZambiaUgandaTunisiaTogoTanzaniaSwazilandSudan

South AfricaSomalilandSomaliaSierra LeoneSeychellesSenegalSaint Helena Sao Tome and Principe

Sahrawi Arab Democratic RepublicRwandaRepublic of the CongoNigeriaNigerNamibiaMozambiqueMorocco

MayotteMauritiusMauritaniaMaliMalawiMadagascarLibyaLiberia

LesothoKenyaGuinea-BissauGuineaGhana

GambiaGabonEthiopiaEritreaEquatorial Guinea

EgyptDjiboutiDemocratic Republic of the CongoCote D’IvoireComoros

ChadCentral African RepublicCape VerdeCameroonBurundi

Burkina FasoBotswanaBeninAngolaAlgeria

ZimbabweZambiaUgandaTunisiaTogoTanzaniaSwazilandSudan

South AfricaSomalilandSomaliaSierra LeoneSeychellesSenegalSaint Helena Sao Tome and Principe

Sahrawi Arab Democratic RepublicRwandaRepublic of the CongoNigeriaNigerNamibiaMozambiqueMorocco

MayotteMauritiusMauritaniaMaliMalawiMadagascarLibyaLiberia

LesothoKenyaGuinea-BissauGuineaGhana

GambiaGabonEthiopiaEritreaEquatorial Guinea

EgyptDjiboutiDemocratic Republic of the CongoCote D’IvoireComoros

ChadCentral African RepublicCape VerdeCameroonBurundi

Burkina FasoBotswanaBeninAngolaAlgeria

ZimbabweZambiaUgandaTunisiaTogoTanzaniaSwazilandSudan

South AfricaSomalilandSomaliaSierra LeoneSeychellesSenegalSaint Helena Sao Tome and Principe

Sahrawi Arab Democratic RepublicRwandaRepublic of the CongoNigeriaNigerNamibiaMozambiqueMorocco

MayotteMauritiusMauritaniaMaliMalawiMadagascarLibyaLiberia

LesothoKenyaGuinea-BissauGuineaGhana

GambiaGabonEthiopiaEritreaEquatorial Guinea

EgyptDjiboutiDemocratic Republic of the CongoCote D’IvoireComoros

ChadCentral African RepublicCape VerdeCameroonBurundi

Burkina FasoBotswanaBeninAngolaAlgeria

ZimbabweZambiaUgandaTunisiaTogoTanzaniaSwazilandSudan

South AfricaSomalilandSomaliaSierra LeoneSeychellesSenegalSaint Helena Sao Tome and Principe

Sahrawi Arab Democratic RepublicRwandaRepublic of the CongoNigeriaNigerNamibiaMozambiqueMorocco

MayotteMauritiusMauritaniaMaliMalawiMadagascarLibyaLiberia

LesothoKenyaGuinea-BissauGuineaGhana

GambiaGabonEthiopiaEritreaEquatorial Guinea

EgyptDjiboutiDemocratic Republic of the CongoCote D’IvoireComoros

ChadCentral African RepublicCape VerdeCameroonBurundi

Burkina FasoBotswanaBeninAngolaAlgeria

ZimbabweZambiaUgandaTunisiaTogoTanzaniaSwazilandSudan

South AfricaSomalilandSomaliaSierra LeoneSeychellesSenegalSaint Helena Sao Tome and Principe

Sahrawi Arab Democratic RepublicRwandaRepublic of the CongoNigeriaNigerNamibiaMozambiqueMorocco

MayotteMauritiusMauritaniaMaliMalawiMadagascarLibyaLiberia

LesothoKenyaGuinea-BissauGuineaGhana

GambiaGabonEthiopiaEritreaEquatorial Guinea

EgyptDjiboutiDemocratic Republic of the CongoCote D’IvoireComoros

ChadCentral African RepublicCape VerdeCameroonBurundi

Burkina FasoBotswanaBeninAngolaAlgeria

Mombasa

 TopT  Italtile   CTM     U-Light

SOUTH AFRICA

Northern Cape

Free State

North West

Eastern Cape

Gauteng

Limpopo

KwaZulu-
Natal

Mpumalanga

Western 
Cape

THIS IS ITALTILE
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Tile 
factories

Acrylic 
bath factory AUSTRALIA

Rutherford
New South Wales

ANGOLA

ESWATINI

MANUFACTURING 
FOOTPRINT

Cape Town

1
1

ZAMBIA

3
2

Mombasa

KENYA

NAMIBIA
Lusaka

Harare

Krugersdorp

Port Elizabeth

Durban

Johannesburg

Mokopane
Hammanskraal

Vereeniging

Windhoek

ZimbabweZambiaUgandaTunisiaTogoTanzaniaSwazilandSudan

South AfricaSomalilandSomaliaSierra LeoneSeychellesSenegalSaint Helena Sao Tome and Principe

Sahrawi Arab Democratic RepublicRwandaRepublic of the CongoNigeriaNigerNamibiaMozambiqueMorocco

MayotteMauritiusMauritaniaMaliMalawiMadagascarLibyaLiberia

LesothoKenyaGuinea-BissauGuineaGhana

GambiaGabonEthiopiaEritreaEquatorial Guinea

EgyptDjiboutiDemocratic Republic of the CongoCote D’IvoireComoros

ChadCentral African RepublicCape VerdeCameroonBurundi

Burkina FasoBotswanaBeninAngolaAlgeria

ZimbabweZambiaUgandaTunisiaTogoTanzaniaSwazilandSudan

South AfricaSomalilandSomaliaSierra LeoneSeychellesSenegalSaint Helena Sao Tome and Principe

Sahrawi Arab Democratic RepublicRwandaRepublic of the CongoNigeriaNigerNamibiaMozambiqueMorocco

MayotteMauritiusMauritaniaMaliMalawiMadagascarLibyaLiberia

LesothoKenyaGuinea-BissauGuineaGhana

GambiaGabonEthiopiaEritreaEquatorial Guinea

EgyptDjiboutiDemocratic Republic of the CongoCote D’IvoireComoros

ChadCentral African RepublicCape VerdeCameroonBurundi

Burkina FasoBotswanaBeninAngolaAlgeria

ZimbabweZambiaUgandaTunisiaTogoTanzaniaSwazilandSudan

South AfricaSomalilandSomaliaSierra LeoneSeychellesSenegalSaint Helena Sao Tome and Principe

Sahrawi Arab Democratic RepublicRwandaRepublic of the CongoNigeriaNigerNamibiaMozambiqueMorocco

MayotteMauritiusMauritaniaMaliMalawiMadagascarLibyaLiberia

LesothoKenyaGuinea-BissauGuineaGhana

GambiaGabonEthiopiaEritreaEquatorial Guinea

EgyptDjiboutiDemocratic Republic of the CongoCote D’IvoireComoros

ChadCentral African RepublicCape VerdeCameroonBurundi

Burkina FasoBotswanaBeninAngolaAlgeria

ZimbabweZambiaUgandaTunisiaTogoTanzaniaSwazilandSudan

South AfricaSomalilandSomaliaSierra LeoneSeychellesSenegalSaint Helena Sao Tome and Principe

Sahrawi Arab Democratic RepublicRwandaRepublic of the CongoNigeriaNigerNamibiaMozambiqueMorocco

MayotteMauritiusMauritaniaMaliMalawiMadagascarLibyaLiberia

LesothoKenyaGuinea-BissauGuineaGhana

GambiaGabonEthiopiaEritreaEquatorial Guinea

EgyptDjiboutiDemocratic Republic of the CongoCote D’IvoireComoros

ChadCentral African RepublicCape VerdeCameroonBurundi

Burkina FasoBotswanaBeninAngolaAlgeria

ZimbabweZambiaUgandaTunisiaTogoTanzaniaSwazilandSudan

South AfricaSomalilandSomaliaSierra LeoneSeychellesSenegalSaint Helena Sao Tome and Principe

Sahrawi Arab Democratic RepublicRwandaRepublic of the CongoNigeriaNigerNamibiaMozambiqueMorocco

MayotteMauritiusMauritaniaMaliMalawiMadagascarLibyaLiberia

LesothoKenyaGuinea-BissauGuineaGhana

GambiaGabonEthiopiaEritreaEquatorial Guinea

EgyptDjiboutiDemocratic Republic of the CongoCote D’IvoireComoros

ChadCentral African RepublicCape VerdeCameroonBurundi

Burkina FasoBotswanaBeninAngolaAlgeria

ZimbabweZambiaUgandaTunisiaTogoTanzaniaSwazilandSudan

South AfricaSomalilandSomaliaSierra LeoneSeychellesSenegalSaint Helena Sao Tome and Principe

Sahrawi Arab Democratic RepublicRwandaRepublic of the CongoNigeriaNigerNamibiaMozambiqueMorocco

MayotteMauritiusMauritaniaMaliMalawiMadagascarLibyaLiberia

LesothoKenyaGuinea-BissauGuineaGhana

GambiaGabonEthiopiaEritreaEquatorial Guinea

EgyptDjiboutiDemocratic Republic of the CongoCote D’IvoireComoros

ChadCentral African RepublicCape VerdeCameroonBurundi

Burkina FasoBotswanaBeninAngolaAlgeria

The Group exports tiles, sanitaryware, 
grout, paint and adhesives to various 
sub-Saharan territories.

Sanitaryware 
factory

Ezee 
Tile

EXPORT 
FOOTPRINT

RWANDADRC

KENYA

ZimbabweZambiaUgandaTunisiaTogoTanzaniaSwazilandSudan

South AfricaSomalilandSomaliaSierra LeoneSeychellesSenegalSaint Helena Sao Tome and Principe

Sahrawi Arab Democratic RepublicRwandaRepublic of the CongoNigeriaNigerNamibiaMozambiqueMorocco

MayotteMauritiusMauritaniaMaliMalawiMadagascarLibyaLiberia

LesothoKenyaGuinea-BissauGuineaGhana

GambiaGabonEthiopiaEritreaEquatorial Guinea

EgyptDjiboutiDemocratic Republic of the CongoCote D’IvoireComoros

ChadCentral African RepublicCape VerdeCameroonBurundi

Burkina FasoBotswanaBeninAngolaAlgeria

ZimbabweZambiaUgandaTunisiaTogoTanzaniaSwazilandSudan

South AfricaSomalilandSomaliaSierra LeoneSeychellesSenegalSaint Helena Sao Tome and Principe

Sahrawi Arab Democratic RepublicRwandaRepublic of the CongoNigeriaNigerNamibiaMozambiqueMorocco

MayotteMauritiusMauritaniaMaliMalawiMadagascarLibyaLiberia

LesothoKenyaGuinea-BissauGuineaGhana

GambiaGabonEthiopiaEritreaEquatorial Guinea

EgyptDjiboutiDemocratic Republic of the CongoCote D’IvoireComoros

ChadCentral African RepublicCape VerdeCameroonBurundi

Burkina FasoBotswanaBeninAngolaAlgeria

ZimbabweZambiaUgandaTunisiaTogoTanzaniaSwazilandSudan

South AfricaSomalilandSomaliaSierra LeoneSeychellesSenegalSaint Helena Sao Tome and Principe

Sahrawi Arab Democratic RepublicRwandaRepublic of the CongoNigeriaNigerNamibiaMozambiqueMorocco

MayotteMauritiusMauritaniaMaliMalawiMadagascarLibyaLiberia

LesothoKenyaGuinea-BissauGuineaGhana

GambiaGabonEthiopiaEritreaEquatorial Guinea

EgyptDjiboutiDemocratic Republic of the CongoCote D’IvoireComoros

ChadCentral African RepublicCape VerdeCameroonBurundi

Burkina FasoBotswanaBeninAngolaAlgeria

TANZANIA
ZimbabweZambiaUgandaTunisiaTogoTanzaniaSwazilandSudan

South AfricaSomalilandSomaliaSierra LeoneSeychellesSenegalSaint Helena Sao Tome and Principe

Sahrawi Arab Democratic RepublicRwandaRepublic of the CongoNigeriaNigerNamibiaMozambiqueMorocco

MayotteMauritiusMauritaniaMaliMalawiMadagascarLibyaLiberia

LesothoKenyaGuinea-BissauGuineaGhana

GambiaGabonEthiopiaEritreaEquatorial Guinea

EgyptDjiboutiDemocratic Republic of the CongoCote D’IvoireComoros

ChadCentral African RepublicCape VerdeCameroonBurundi

Burkina FasoBotswanaBeninAngolaAlgeria

MALAWI

ZimbabweZambiaUgandaTunisiaTogoTanzaniaSwazilandSudan

South AfricaSomalilandSomaliaSierra LeoneSeychellesSenegalSaint Helena Sao Tome and Principe

Sahrawi Arab Democratic RepublicRwandaRepublic of the CongoNigeriaNigerNamibiaMozambiqueMorocco

MayotteMauritiusMauritaniaMaliMalawiMadagascarLibyaLiberia

LesothoKenyaGuinea-BissauGuineaGhana

GambiaGabonEthiopiaEritreaEquatorial Guinea

EgyptDjiboutiDemocratic Republic of the CongoCote D’IvoireComoros

ChadCentral African RepublicCape VerdeCameroonBurundi

Burkina FasoBotswanaBeninAngolaAlgeria

ZimbabweZambiaUgandaTunisiaTogoTanzaniaSwazilandSudan

South AfricaSomalilandSomaliaSierra LeoneSeychellesSenegalSaint Helena Sao Tome and Principe

Sahrawi Arab Democratic RepublicRwandaRepublic of the CongoNigeriaNigerNamibiaMozambiqueMorocco

MayotteMauritiusMauritaniaMaliMalawiMadagascarLibyaLiberia

LesothoKenyaGuinea-BissauGuineaGhana

GambiaGabonEthiopiaEritreaEquatorial Guinea

EgyptDjiboutiDemocratic Republic of the CongoCote D’IvoireComoros

ChadCentral African RepublicCape VerdeCameroonBurundi

Burkina FasoBotswanaBeninAngolaAlgeria

ZAMBIA

ZIMBABWE
BOTSWANA

ZimbabweZambiaUgandaTunisiaTogoTanzaniaSwazilandSudan

South AfricaSomalilandSomaliaSierra LeoneSeychellesSenegalSaint Helena Sao Tome and Principe

Sahrawi Arab Democratic RepublicRwandaRepublic of the CongoNigeriaNigerNamibiaMozambiqueMorocco

MayotteMauritiusMauritaniaMaliMalawiMadagascarLibyaLiberia

LesothoKenyaGuinea-BissauGuineaGhana

GambiaGabonEthiopiaEritreaEquatorial Guinea

EgyptDjiboutiDemocratic Republic of the CongoCote D’IvoireComoros

ChadCentral African RepublicCape VerdeCameroonBurundi

Burkina FasoBotswanaBeninAngolaAlgeria

ZimbabweZambiaUgandaTunisiaTogoTanzaniaSwazilandSudan

South AfricaSomalilandSomaliaSierra LeoneSeychellesSenegalSaint Helena Sao Tome and Principe

Sahrawi Arab Democratic RepublicRwandaRepublic of the CongoNigeriaNigerNamibiaMozambiqueMorocco

MayotteMauritiusMauritaniaMaliMalawiMadagascarLibyaLiberia

LesothoKenyaGuinea-BissauGuineaGhana

GambiaGabonEthiopiaEritreaEquatorial Guinea

EgyptDjiboutiDemocratic Republic of the CongoCote D’IvoireComoros

ChadCentral African RepublicCape VerdeCameroonBurundi

Burkina FasoBotswanaBeninAngolaAlgeria

LESOTHO

ZimbabweZambiaUgandaTunisiaTogoTanzaniaSwazilandSudan

South AfricaSomalilandSomaliaSierra LeoneSeychellesSenegalSaint Helena Sao Tome and Principe

Sahrawi Arab Democratic RepublicRwandaRepublic of the CongoNigeriaNigerNamibiaMozambiqueMorocco

MayotteMauritiusMauritaniaMaliMalawiMadagascarLibyaLiberia

LesothoKenyaGuinea-BissauGuineaGhana

GambiaGabonEthiopiaEritreaEquatorial Guinea

EgyptDjiboutiDemocratic Republic of the CongoCote D’IvoireComoros

ChadCentral African RepublicCape VerdeCameroonBurundi

Burkina FasoBotswanaBeninAngolaAlgeria

ZimbabweZambiaUgandaTunisiaTogoTanzaniaSwazilandSudan

South AfricaSomalilandSomaliaSierra LeoneSeychellesSenegalSaint Helena Sao Tome and Principe
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CREATING VALUE THROUGH OUR 
BUSINESS MODEL

Through effective and sound management of our capitals, we create sustainable value.

Ethical and sound governance and corporate social responsibility underpin our business model

HUMAN CAPITAL
 »  Our workforce, partners and  

franchisees
 »  Skills and training
»  Ethics
»  Transformation
»  Health and safety
»  Values and culture

FINANCIAL CAPITAL
 »  Cash generated from operations
»  Strategic direction
»  Risk management

INTELLECTUAL CAPITAL
 »  Trademarks and brands
»  Product research and development
» Knowledge, experience and practices
»  People, HR and governance systems

SOCIAL CAPITAL
 » Our customers
 »  Corporate social investment
 » Our brands and reputation
 »  Regulatory and governmental 

authorities

MANUFACTURED CAPITAL
 » Production and research facilities
» Procurement and supply chain

NATURAL CAPITAL
 »  Natural resources (land, air  

and water)
»  Projects to reduce carbon 

footprint 

INPUTS

ACTIVITIES

FRANCHISING

17% 
*

2019: 16%
Bearer of Group  

trademarks

MANUFACTURERS

34%*
2019: 35%

Manufacturer and supplier of tiles,  
sanitaryware, bathware, grout, adhesive,  

paint and related products

PROPERTIES

15%*
2019: 14%

Well maintained and 
strategically positioned 
property investments

SUPPLY AND SUPPORT SERVICES

13%*
2019: 16%

Distributors of imported tiles, brassware, accessories, 
tiling tools, wooden flooring, cabinets, décor and  

shower enclosures. Provider of various group services 
including IT, HR and marketing

RETAIL

21%*
2019: 19%

Retailers of tiles, wooden flooring, brassware,  
bathroomware, hardware, accessories, lighting 

and other home-finishing products

* Contribution to Group profit before tax.

A key strength of the Group is our integrated business model.

THIS IS ITALTILE

Integrated Annual Report 202016



CREATING VALUE THROUGH OUR 
BUSINESS MODEL

OUTCOMES

Ethical and sound governance and corporate social responsibility underpin our business model

OUTPUTS

World-class 
socially  
responsible 
franchisor, 
manufacturer 
and retailer  
of tiles,  
sanitaryware, 
bathware and 
other related 
home-finishing 
products

Estimated market 
value of property 
portfolio

R4,3 billion

Capital expenditure 
of

R614 million

Total taxation of

R416 million 
paid

Social economic 
development  
spend of 

R20 million

Production volumes

1,3 million
pieces of  
sanitaryware

Solar power 
generation of

1,7 million kWh
at Sanitaryware 
factory

Carbon footprint 
reduction of 

13%

Cash balance of

R860 million

Improved 
customer
sentiment scores

Royalty income of

R129 million
from franchisees

Total dividends of

R1 481 million
paid

Production volumes

40 million
square metres  
of tiles

Production volumes

13,2 million
bags of adhesive

Profit after tax of

R1,0 billion

System-wide 
turnover of

R9,3 billion
■ ■	■	■	■	■ ■ ■	■	■	■	■

Employees

2 609
■

Training spend on 
employees of

R16 million
■

Franchised stores

71
■

■

Paid to employees

R790 million

■ ■

■

■ ■	■ ■	

■ ■ ■

■
■

■

■

Our business model supports delivery of our strategy and is shaped by our purpose, mission, values and beliefs.

Legal structure is presented on page 12.

■ Human capital   ■ Financial capital   ■ Intellectual capital   ■ Social capital   ■ Manufactured capital   ■ Natural capital

Integrated Annual Report 2020 21



THE STRENGTH  
OF OUR RETAIL BRANDS

Laufen Bathrooms, established in 1892, is a 
traditional Swiss brand reflecting a symbiosis of 
design, quality and functionality. Laufen’s unique 
Swiss innovation unites two major design 
components: emotion and romance, with precision 
and clarity. Laufen products including washbasins, 
bath tubs, toilets and bidets are exclusive to Italtile 
in South Africa.

Ceramica Sant’Agostino is an Italian manufacturer 
of a wide range of premium ceramic and porcelain 
tile products designed to satisfy evolving technical 
and stylistic market requirements.

Founded in 1969, Italtile Retail is widely acknowledged as a style 
icon in the premium home improvement market and is represented 
by 14 stores nationwide. As a leading fashion retailer of exclusive 
international and local ranges of tiles, bathware and related products, 
the brand offers a luxurious shopping experience for both residential 
and commercial clients.

Since 1969, Atlas Concorde has grown into one of 
the leading firms on the world’s ceramics market. 
Its continuous innovation, technological research, 
coupled with the Italian style and international 
vocation are the values  that have aligned us, 
Italtile  Retail, with Atlas Concorde as a preferred 
supplier thus far, and will continue in the future.

Smeg was founded by Vittorio Bertazzoni from 
Guastalla, a town near Reggio Emilia in northern 
Italy, and is today one of the country’s leading 
sink manufacturers. Style, for Smeg, is a distinct 
concept: the way a product communicates with its 
surroundings and enables users to interact with it.

Argenta Cerámica has been gradually developing its own identity, positioning itself worldwide in a prominent 
position in the current ceramic tile scenario. It all began in 1999, developing trusted ceramic products, which 
lend emotion and feeling to spaces and give them quality, functionality and aesthetic value.

Victoria + Albert Baths 
is a British brand with a 
worldwide reputation 
for creating beautiful 
freestanding baths and 
basins. Formed in 1996 with a passion for baths 
and bathing, the organisation has a head office in 
the United Kingdom and dedicated South African 
production facilities. Today, Victoria + Albert’s 
international roots fuse together global design, 
sales and marketing operations with in-house 
manufacturing to deliver luxurious, lasting 
products.

THIS IS ITALTILE
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THE STRENGTH  
OF OUR RETAIL BRANDS

Almar is a well-established 
Italian company specialising 
in the production of shower 
systems. Almar shower roses 
and hand showers offer a 
shower experience that is 
superior in both function and 
aesthetic appeal.

Launched in 1983, CTM is a household name in Southern Africa, enjoying 
strong brand affinity based on its reputation for a high-quality year-round 
value offering. Represented by 94 stores in Southern and East Africa, CTM 
is the largest specialist tile and bathroom retailer in the country.

Capturing the African landscape, 
Kilimanjaro tiles are made in 
South Africa for African conditions 
and are exceptionally strong and 
durable. Imitating natural stone, 
these beautiful tiles are suitable 
for indoor and outdoor. The 
Kilimanjaro range is exclusive 
to CTM.

Tivoli is the largest Italian brand 
of taps in South Africa. Made by 
Italian master craftsmen, Tivoli 
Taps are renowned for their 
quality, technology and design. 
All Tivoli Taps carry a 15-year 
guarantee.

Trevi is an aspirational range of 
modern, minimalist bathroom 
furniture and sanitaryware designed 
to enable discerning homeowners 
the opportunity to personalise 
their unique bathroom creations. 
Individual items including wall-
hung and floorstanding cabinets 
can be combined and adapted to 
suit any bathroom size and layout; 
the colour palette includes glossy 
white,  woodgrain grey and warm 
glossy grey.

Elf is a range of high-quality 
laminate floors, meticulously 
selected from leading German 
and other European factories. 
Elf’s authentic-look wood floors 
are cool in summer and warm in 
winter. This trusted brand offers a 
class-leading guarantee, backed 
by CTM, nationwide.

Amalfi taps and accessories 
are specifically designed 
for the customer who seeks 
quality products at an 
affordable price. The Amalfi 
brand is exclusive to CTM.
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Exclusive to CTM, the Futura 
tile brand offers customers 
the latest tile designs and 
fashion trends from Europe.

This extensive range of 
mosaics enables homeowners 
to explore their interior 
designer dreams. Available 
in a myriad of textures, styles 
and colours, Galleria mosaics 
create a decorative playground 
for personal expression in 
complementing tile choices.

Stonewall is the modern 
contemporary designer expression 
of timeless natural stone. Easy 
to  install tile sheets enable 
homeowners to replicate their 
favourite stone-look with 
confidence and ease.

Nu Vinyl flooring is ideally 
suited for use throughout the 
house. The insulating elastic 
surface absorbs noise, is 
warm to the touch, effective 
in damp areas and gentle 
on the body’s joints, making 
it a desirable floor covering 
in bedrooms, bathrooms, 
kitchens and living rooms.

Origins Nature’s Touch is an 
on-trend, innovative range of 
ceramic tiles that mirror the look 
and feel of real wooden flooring. 
The tiles are manufactured in a 
variety of sizes and colours, all 
mimicking the hues of natural 
wood. The Origins range is 
exclusive to CTM.

The Organic Earth range has a natural, earthy, 
rustic look and feel. These terracotta tiles are 
unglazed and exceptionally strong and durable 
making them suitable for indoor and outdoor use. 
Equally attractive in a bushveld environment or 
traditional Italian trattoria setting, these tiles are 
made in South Africa to suit local conditions.

’Technology in style‘ defines the perfect 
combination of form and function. Crystaltech 
Showers are manufactured from specially 
treated, tempered glass that ensures stylish 
but safe showering. This range of framed, 
frameless and corner shower enclosures affords 
homeowners a variety of options to match the 
perfect cubicle with their specific bathroom 
space.

This specifically customised 
range of tile adhesives is a brand 
leader in the industry, based on its 
quality, performance and good 
value. Pro Grip is manufactured 
exclusively for Italtile 
Retail and CTM.
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TopT is a one-stop home-finishing supplier 
of good quality, affordable merchandise and 
the low-cost leader in its entry-level market 
segment.

TopT has 84 stores situated in underserviced 
rural areas and outlying markets in close 
proximity to urban townships.

The Diva brand is an exclusive range of 
good quality taps designed and priced 
specifically for TopT stores in South 
Africa. Available in both conventional 
and single lever styles, there is a range to 
suit all tastes.

Launched in 2018, U-Light is the 
Group’s innovative new lighting 
retail offering, designed to 
complete the total shopping 
experience for customers seeking 
to create beautiful homes. 
Comprising of six stores, U-Light 
focuses primarily on quality 
fashionable residential lighting, 
complemented by an industrial 
component. Our trendy products 
range from bespoke local to 
imported fittings and accessories.

Homemakers are proud to use the 
high-quality Homegrown range of 
paints; available in four variants.

This indoor, outdoor and rooftop 
paint is stylish and user-friendly.

The Tuff range 
comprises class-leading 
adhesives and paints 
that are  innovatively 
packaged and specifically 
engineered to provide 
real value for the entry-
level market. This brand is 
exclusive to TopT stores.
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At every level of the 
business across our 

operations, from the 
support centre to our 

stores and our factories, 
our executives, 
management, 

franchisees and staff 
have demonstrated 

exceptional courage, 
agility and discipline to 

help curb the spread 
of the pandemic and 

ensure we have created 
a safer, better working 

environment for our 
customers and each 

member of our team.
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S
LETTER TO 
STAKEHOLDERS
Italtile’s ESG journey to sustainable 
value creation

DEAR STAKEHOLDER
The reports in this section provide insight into our approach and 
commitment to environment, social and governance (“ESG”)
imperatives and sustainable value creation – and to the journey 
we are undertaking to improve our efforts in this regard. 

We recognise that it is logical that companies with high ESG scores 
show stronger growth, are perceived better by stakeholders and 
are better equipped to thrive over the long term, based on the 
premise that issues such as bad governance or environmental 
problems damage profitability. 

Increasingly frequently in the listed environment, shareholders 
identify ESG credentials as having an impact on their decision to 
invest in companies. Furthermore, ESG awareness continues to 
grow among consumers who prefer to associate with brands that 
have admirable reputations and align their words with their 
actions. In an Old Mutual Morningstar survey*, 95% of millennials 
affirmed that they are interested in sustainable investments and 
90% want their investments tailored to match their values. If one 
considers that the baby boomer generation is expected to 
transfer US$30 trillion in wealth* to these young prospective 
investors over the forthcoming decades, the significance is clear.

Notwithstanding the global shift in awareness, 
sustainable value creation is not a new concept to 
our business.

Founded over 51 years ago, Italtile is a Proudly South African 
company, with deep roots in this country. We are mindful that this 
long-standing heritage is testament to the contribution of the 
people we employ across the Group – and to our key stakeholders 
and the natural environment we operate in – who support the 
continued growth of Italtile. In this context, we are cognisant of 
our duty to responsibly advance the sustainability of our business 
and our surrounding communities.

On page 2 of this document, the Chairman outlines the Board’s 
focus on ESG sustainability, through transformation, creating jobs 
and contributing to local communities and by conducting our 
operations in an ethical and responsible manner to continue to 
reduce our carbon footprint and enhance the natural environment. 
The Chairman also discusses our investment in dovetailing our 
innovation strategy with our sustainability strategy, illustrating 
how ESG data is incorporated into our investment decision-
making processes.

* https://moneymarketing.co.za, 6 July 2020

COMMITMENT TO KEY UNITED NATIONS 
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS
Our core values are partnership, empowerment, fairness, human 
dignity, integrity, excellence, honesty and servant leadership. 
These values underpin our approach to sustainability and are 
supported by rigorous ethics, sound governance and robust risk 
management processes and structures.

Our efforts to address environmental, social and governance 
challenges and contribute to transformation in our business align 
with the United Nations’ Sustainable Development Goals 
(“SDGs”) to promote sustainability by eliminating extreme 
poverty, protecting the planet and ensuring prosperity for all. We 
recognise these SDGs as being of vital importance to driving 
economic growth, addressing social and economic instability and 
promoting short, medium and long-term sustainability. 

Although not a signatory to the UN Global Compact, we have 
identified the following SDGs to which we believe we can 
contribute the most and on which we can have the most impact. 
Our contribution to these SDGs is largely determined by the 
evolving landscape in our operating markets, as well as the 
interests and issues raised by our stakeholders. 

SUSTAINABILITY
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UN SDG

Goal

Promote 
sustained, 
inclusive and 
sustainable 
economic growth, 
full and productive 
employment and 
decent work for 
all.

Build resilient 
infrastructure, 
promote inclusive 
and sustainable 
industrialisation 
and foster 
innovation.

Ensure sustainable 
consumption and 
production 
patterns.

Take urgent action 
to combat climate 
change and its 
impacts by 
regulating 
emissions and 
promoting 
developments in 
renewable energy.

Protect, restore 
and promote 
sustainable use of 
terrestrial 
ecosystems, 
sustainably 
manage forests, 
combat 
desertification and 
halt and reverse 
land degradation 
and halt 
biodiversity loss.

COMMUNICATING OUR ESG MESSAGES
During the year under review, we continued to implement our well-established open-door policy in terms of our key stakeholders, including 
regular engagements with our top 25 local and international institutional and private shareholders, as well as prospective investors and other 
interested parties.

The following commentary outlines the key areas of interest and concern expressed by these groups. I have confined the content to the most 
frequently asked questions and compartmentalised the information under the following categories: environment, social and governance.

In addition, given the material impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business and trading markets in the fourth quarter of the review period, 
I have included a dedicated section dealing with the concerns and queries raised in this regard, which I trust will provide comfort to stakeholders.
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ENVIRONMENT
Environmental report page 62
Property investment portfolio report page 92

 
 What are the different ways that the 

Company emits greenhouse gases 
(“GHGs”)? Does the Group measure its 
carbon footprint? Are there targets in 
place?

 Ceramic Industries, in which we have a 95% stake, uses 
natural gas to evaporate water from ceramic slips and 
pressed tiles as well as to fire ceramic tiles and sanitaryware. 
GHGs are indirectly emitted through consumption 
of electricity in the production process and diesel in 
transportation to deliver product. Through sustained 
investment in innovative technology and processes, our 
factories are among the most energy efficient in the world. 
The Environmental report on page 62 provides further in-
depth detail. 

 Does the Group have plans to reduce 
emissions and manage exposure to climate 
risks (and, if so, what are they)? 

 Ceramic Industries consistently reinvests in the latest 
technology that is more efficient, reduces waste and 
minimises consumption. Our Betta sanitaryware plant in 
South Africa and our Centaurus plant in Australia both 
utilise 1 MW solar power plants to offset consumption 
currently supplied by electricity generated from gas or coal 
consumption. A 3 MW solar installation is planned for our 
Vereeniging site by the end of 2021, which will reduce 
reliance on non-renewable energy and generate up to 25% 
of energy requirements (at peak generation in the day) on 
the site. We will also continue to roll out solar installations 
to a number of our stores. The environmental and property 
portfolio reports on pages 62 and 92 of this document 
provide further in-depth detail. 

 What natural resources does the Company 
consume, extract, degrade, toxify or 
otherwise harm (and to what extent)?

 Ceramic Industries’ operations consume natural gas 
(3,6 million GJ per annum). We extract clays, feldspars and 
granites, which are beneficiated to form inert ceramic tiles 
and sanitaryware (570 000 tons per annum). We consume 
27 000 tons of glaze per year in the production of ceramic 
tiles and sanitaryware. We also form PMMA and ABS 
sheets into bathtubs, which we reinforce with fibreglass 
and resins (2 550 tons). 

 Ceramic Industries conducts mining activities in open cast 
quarries that supply clay for the manufacturing process. 
Concurrent rehabilitation is practised to ensure minimum 
disturbed environment at any time. When the quarries 
reach the end of their useful life, the Company completes 
rehabilitation measures to restore the site to a safe and 
natural state.

 Ezee Tile’s production processes consume 185 000 MT of 
silica sand per annum; 2 800 MTs of dolomite/calcium 
carbonate per annum and 1 800 000 litres of water per 
annum. The business does not create any harmful toxins.

 Outside of climate risks, does the Company 
have an environmental risk reduction plan 
(and, if so, what is the plan)?

 The Group’s sustainability agenda is promoted through the 
use of cost-effective, energy efficient practices in the 
construction of new buildings and the renovation of older 
buildings. Optimal use of natural light, solar technology, 
new-generation efficient lighting, water-saving taps, rain 
water harvesting and environmentally sensitive building 
materials is prioritised. Our factories at Ceramic Industries 
use the latest technology in their operations and rank 
among the most energy efficient in the world. The 
Environmental report on page 62 provides more detail in 
terms of our plan to reduce the Group’s carbon footprint, 
including reducing consumption of water and energy and 
improving waste management.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S
LETTER TO 
STAKEHOLDERS CONTINUED

Q
A&

SUSTAINABILITY
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SOCIAL
HR and Training report page 94 
Support for communities report page 52

 
 Does the Group measure employee 

turnover and what is the three-year trend?

 Yes, employee turnover is measured on an annual basis. 
The three-year trend is: 2018: 7,6%; 2019: 9,3% and 
2020:  13,1%. The reduced headcount is performance-
related and a result of an ongoing productivity drive in the 
business to optimise the returns on all resources and 
assets.

 Does the Group measure employee 
satisfaction and what is the three-year 
trend?

 An independent evaluation is conducted annually to assess 
the quality of engagement with our employees. The score 
has consistently improved over the past three years, from 
73% and 74% in the two prior years, to 77% in the current 
year, our best score to date. 

 Has the Group made significant investment 
in its human resources over the review 
period?

 Investment in training and development as a percentage 
of costs to the business is significant. Over the past year 
R16 million was incurred on various training initiatives.

 What strategies does the Group employ to 
attract, retain and promote qualified talent?

 The Group pays well above the prescribed minimum wage 
and our salary scale complies with all relevant legislation. 
Our remuneration philosophy is governed by the principles 
of equity, fairness and affordability, ensuring alignment 
between management and shareholder requirements.

 In addition, the Group’s share schemes (including a broad-
based scheme for all levels of staff) is designed to 
incentivise employees to participate in the growth and 
profitability of the business.

 Our policy is to attract the best calibre of people by being 
the employer of choice in our industry through ensuring 
our employees are appropriately remunerated, incentivised 
through profit share and partnerships, and equipped 
through training and skills development to perform their 
jobs. 

 Refer to pages 94 and 125 for further details.
 

 What are the Group’s policies relating to 
discrimination, harassment, healthy working 
conditions and fair wages?

 We practise zero tolerance of discrimination and 
harassment in the workplace. In 2018, we introduced 
diversity, equity and inclusion workshops to the business, 
the purpose of which is to entrench the culture of inclusion 
by acknowledging differences and equipping diverse 
employees to build better relationships. 

 Our working conditions comply with the Occupational 
Health and Safety Act No 85 of 1993 and other relevant 
legislation, regulations and codes of practice in South Africa 
and other jurisdictions in which we operate. We conduct 
regular health and safety audits across all retail stores and 
supply chain businesses. The most recent audits conducted 
during the current year continued to yield improved 
results, achieved through various training and monitoring 
initiatives.

 In terms of fair wages, we pay well above the prescribed 
minimum wage and our salary scale complies with all 
relevant legislation. Our remuneration philosophy is 
governed by the principles of equity, fairness and 
affordability, ensuring alignment between management 
and shareholder requirements.

 In terms of Ceramic Industries, all of the South African 
factories undergo the Sedex Member Ethical Trade Audit 
(“SMETA”) – a global accreditation. The SMETA audit 
process comprises four pillars: labour standards; health 
and safety; business ethics; and the environment.
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 What environmental, social and other 
ethical standards does the Company require 
of its various counterparties?

 The Group has adopted a formal code of business and 
ethics and we strive to ensure our business partners share 
the same philosophy in terms of ESG matters.

 Does the Group implement a CSI 
programme?

 The Group’s CSI programme is conducted by the Italtile 
and Ceramic Foundation, as well as through our retail 
brands. Our franchisees also participate in local community 
initiatives at their own discretion. The report on page 52 of 
this document outlines the Group’s support for our 
communities through charitable activities conducted 
during the review period.

 What is the Company’s approach to 
maintaining positive customer relationships 
and brand reputation?

 Management is extremely mindful of retaining the loyalty 
and goodwill of our customers. The Group operates call-in 
and online support and conducts a range of measures to 
evaluate customer satisfaction sentiment, including 
Mystery Shoppers, in-store surveys, Net Promoter Score 
and an independent brand health monitor.

 How healthy is the relationship between the 
Group and the franchise network and how 
does the Group engage with and support 
franchisees?

 The management team engages with franchisees on a 
regular and frequent basis through franchisee forums; 
personal contact; call-in and online support; regular store 
visits; and annual brand conferences. We regard our 
franchisees as valued partners and the low franchisee 
churn is a clear reflection of the good relationship with 
them. 

GOVERNANCE
Remuneration report page 125

 

REMUNERATION

 Is the CEO’s compensation linked to the 
Group’s performance and, if so, what are 
the linked KPIs? 

 Remuneration is linked to Company performance and 
based on a specific formula, including operational 
performance metrics. Compensation includes a short-term 
incentive and shares. The Remuneration report on 
page 125 provides extensive detail.

 Are the other executive managers also 
subject to performance-related KPIs?

 Yes. All managers in the business are assessed and 
compensated according to pre-determined KPIs, which 
are aligned to Group goals. Across the management team, 
including the CEO, performance against KPIs is rated 
on a scale: superior achieve (exceeded target), achieve 
(achieved target) and underachieve (failed to meet target).

 How are management incentives designed 
to prioritise long-term value creation?

 The Group’s remuneration policy subscribes to the King IV 
recommendations and principles, including:
	» incentive-based results are linked to achieving 

demanding performance conditions consistent with 
shareholder interest over the short, medium and long 
term; and

	» performance measures and targets for incentive plans 
are structured to operate efficiently throughout the 
business cycle and support the business strategy.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S
LETTER TO 
STAKEHOLDERS CONTINUED

SUSTAINABILITY
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 The Group’s incentive schemes are designed to encourage 
and reward delivery of its strategic priorities over the short, 
medium and long term. The short-term incentive focuses 
on achieving business targets in that financial year, while 
the long-term incentive closely aligns the interests of 
executives with shareholders over the longer term. The 
long-term incentive encourages directors and prescribed 
officers to build a shareholding in the Company, which 
sustains ongoing performance and the creation of 
shareholder value. Given the Group’s philosophy of 
partnership, greater weighting is applied to long-term 
incentives. Refer to page 131 for detailed information 
regarding management compensation.

 
 Does the compensation of any manager 

depend on any ESG-related KPIs?

 ESG-related criteria have been added to the performance 
scorecard of the CEO and all executive management with 
effect from FY2021.

BOARD

 What are the Board’s long-term financial 
and strategic targets for the Company?

 Sustainable, responsible growth in the interests of all 
stakeholders. Continued growth in headline earnings per 
share.

RISK MANAGEMENT

 Is there a management succession plan?

 There is a detailed succession plan in place for the 
Chairman, CEO and key individuals within the organisation.

 Does the Company have a whistle-blower 
policy?

 The Group makes use of a whistle-blowing line managed 
by independent third parties. Details of matters reported 
are forwarded directly to the Chairman of the Audit and 
Risk Committee, executive directors and internal audit in 
the case of Italtile and to the CEO in the case of Ceramic 
Industries. All reports are actioned by management.

 Is there a process for approving Company 
transactions with related parties?

 All products are supplied on an arm’s length basis to 
related parties. There is a Chinese wall in place regarding 
customer information between Italtile and Ceramic 
Industries. This was a condition of the Competition Tribunal 
when they approved the deal for Italtile to acquire Ceramic 
Industries. 

 Is there a process by which a minority 
shareholder can get a proposal on the 
voting agenda?

 A submission may be made in writing to the Board at any 
time.

 What is the Company’s strategy for 
managing reputational and business risk?

 The Group’s flat organisational structure ensures that 
significant issues of reputational business risk are rapidly 
escalated from management level to the appropriate 
Board Committees. The CEO, supported by the relevant 
Board members and communication team, is responsible 
for implementing the strategies and managing issues and 
crises.
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COVID-19 PANDEMIC AND 
BUSINESS SUSTAINABILITY

 
In order to curb the spread of the COVID-19 pandemic, the 
governments in our respective trading jurisdictions, being 
South Africa, the rest of Africa, and Australia, issued directives 
commencing March 2020 to lock down business activities, 
including retail and manufacturing operations, for varying lengths 
of time. The implications of these measures on our business were 
material, specifically on the results reported for the fourth quarter 
of FY2020, commencing 1 April and concluding on 30 June 2020. 
It is therefore appropriate for me to address the key issues which 
arose relating to the impact on the business up to the conclusion 
of the reporting period and the projected impact on the business 
in the future.

I have focused on the primary areas of interest or concern to our 
stakeholders.

 How and to what extent were your 
operations affected by the pandemic during 
the review period?

 The Group’s results for the year are best analysed in the 
context of the progression of the pandemic which 
commenced in March 2020 in our various trading markets.

 Total system-wide turnover for the year of R9,3 billion 
(2019: R10,0 billion) was 7% lower than the prior 
comparable period. Total retail store turnover declined 
3,9% compared to the previous corresponding period, 
while like-for-like retail store turnover decreased by 6,2%. 
Prior to the lockdown in South Africa, up to 27 March, retail 
store sales were up 5,4% year on year. During the lockdown 
only marginal sales were recorded in April. In May and 
June following the easing of restrictions, retail sales grew 
3% and 11% respectively.

 Supply chain sales decreased by 6,1% compared to the 
previous corresponding period. Prior to the lockdown, 
sales had decreased 1,4% year on year. 

 Manufacturing sales for the review period declined by 
8,8% compared to the previous corresponding period; 
prior to the lockdown, sales were flat year on year.

 Encouragingly, retail sales growth of 14% and 17% were 
recorded in July and August 2020 respectively, exceeding 
our expectations. There is, however, significant uncertainty 
regarding the sustainability of this strong growth given the 
economy’s weak fundamentals. It is difficult at this point to 
ascertain to what extent growth is driven by pent-up 
demand following restrictions and, furthermore, how 
sustainable the source of disposable income is (our 
preliminary analysis is that it probably derives from debt 
payment holidays; funds previously spent on transport and 
leisure activities; retrenchment pay; TERS/other COVID-19 
relief funds; and lower interest rates).

 The CEO and CFO’s reports on pages 68 and 98 of this 
document provide further in-depth detail regarding the 
Group’s performance and results for the period. 

 Have you breached, or might you breach, any 
covenants as a result of the pandemic? 

 No.

 Will raising additional capital be necessary to weather 
the crisis? And if so, would you raise debt or equity?

 The Group negotiated a short-term contingency facility 
prior to the lockdown, which has not been utilised.

 Has the pandemic impacted on the Group’s debtors’ 
book?

 There has been no material impact on the debtors’ book, 
which remains healthy.

In response to the pandemic, have you: 

 reduced or delayed any investment spending plans and 
if so where? 

 We postponed an upgrade to one of our factories and 
delayed some new store openings. Subsequent to year 
end, and given strong cash reserves, we have reinstated 
the roughly R800 million capex programme, which will be 
implemented over the next 12 to 18 months. 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S
LETTER TO 
STAKEHOLDERS CONTINUED

SUSTAINABILITY
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 made any changes to executive and Board 
compensation?

 Salary and fee sacrifices were made by the Chairman, 
CEO, prescribed officers, executive and non-executive 
directors as follows:
	» Chairman and CEO: 35% salary sacrifice for three 

months;
	» CFO and prescribed officers: 30% salary sacrifice for 

three months;
	» Other executive management: 25% salary sacrifice for 

three months; and
	» Non-executive directors: 30% fee sacrifice for three 

months.

 In addition, the standard annual salary and fee increases 
implemented traditionally on 1 July have been waived.

 made any changes to share buy-back plans or the 
dividend? 

 The Group continues to buy back shares in line with the 
2019 AGM resolution and Board mandate. Over the past 
12 months shares valued at R243 million have been bought 
back. The dividend cover remains at two-and-a-half times 
and given strong cash reserves, a full-year dividend 
was paid.

 provided extraordinary non-contractual financial 
flexibility to any customers, suppliers, or business 
partners? 

 No.

 made any additional coronavirus-related donations 
(cash, supplies, human resources), or shifted any 
business operations to fulfil crisis needs to help fight 
the pandemic?

 The Group’s Italtile and Ceramic Foundation made a cash 
donation to the Solidarity Fund and donations of cash, 
personal protective equipment and food parcels to needy 
organisations. Our Ezee Tile business, which manufactures 
adhesives, commenced production of hand and surface 
sanitisers (compliant with World Health Organization 
(“WHO”) standards) for our stores and other operations. 

 What is your prognosis for the business in terms of 
future sustainability?

 We have clear strategies in place to continue to optimise 
on improvements made in the business to extract growth 
and gain market share.

 The Group’s cash generating ability, robust cash reserves 
and engrained disciplines of working capital management 
and cost leadership will continue to be a significant 
advantage for the business in the COVID-19 era. There is a 
strong focus on value thinking and management will 
continue to aggressively review the Group’s cost base and 
return on assets and resources. 

 The safety of our customers, employees and neighbouring 
communities is a key priority for the Group and extensive 
measures are, and will remain, in place in our stores and 
factories to ensure operational health and safety protocols 
comply with prescribed government regulations to curb 
the spread of the virus. We will continue to practice zero 
tolerance on non-compliance.

The reports which follow elaborate on our journey to sustainable value creation, and include:
> the environment in which we operate; 
> material issues, risks and opportunities; 
> our stakeholders; 
> transformation; 
> our people;
> supporting our communities;  
> environment; and
> corporate governance.
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SOCIAL AND ETHICS
COMMITTEE REPORT

The Social and Ethics Committee (“the Committee”) is pleased 
to present its report for the financial year ended 30 June 2020.

The Board, together with the Chief Executive Officer, continue 
to ensure complete oversight and accountability for the ethical 
culture of the Group and have seen improvements post the 
incorporation of the Ceramics business. Although the business as 
a whole straddles both the retail and manufacturing sectors – our 
dedicated management and executive teams are fully committed 
to ensuring complete compliance on all fronts. 

As a sub-committee of the Board, consisting of two non-executive 
directors and the relevant executive management representatives, 
the Committee has met three times this year and has ensured 
that our deliverables are in line with our charter as required by 
the Companies Act. The Group Company Secretary, our Human 
Resources representative as well as the Group’s Citizenship 
Manager have been present at all meetings to ensure that the 
Committee has its finger on the pulse of what is happening within 
the Company in these two very important areas. 

ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES
The Committee’s role and responsibilities include its statutory 
duties as per the Companies Act, and the principles of King IV, 
which includes:
	» monitoring the Group’s activities with regard to matters relating 

to:
 – social and economic development;
 – good corporate citizenship, including the Group’s promotion 

of equality, prevention of unfair discrimination, reduction of 
corruption, contribution to development of the communities 
in which its activities are predominantly conducted or within 
which its products or services are predominantly marketed, 
and record of sponsorship, donations and charitable giving;

 – the environment, health and public safety;
 – consumer relationships, including the Group’s advertising, 

public relations and compliance with consumer protection 
laws; and

 – labour and employment;
	» monitoring the Group’s performance and interaction with its 

stakeholders and ensuring that this interaction is guided by the 
Constitution, Bill of Rights, the UN Global Compact and the 
UN Sustainable Development Goals (“SDGs”);

	» determining clearly articulated ethical standards and ensuring 
that the Group takes measures to achieve adherence to these 
in all aspects of the business, thus achieving a sustainable 
ethical corporate culture within the Group; and

	» providing effective leadership based on an ethical foundation 
and ensure that the Company is and is seen to be a responsible 
corporate citizen.

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY AND 
UN GLOBAL COMPACT COMPLIANCE
The Committee has adjusted its strategy to align with the UN 
SDGs and has ensured that environmental, social and governance 
matters are measured and reported on regularly and accurately 
across the Group. The ethos of the Company has always been to 
act with sensitivity and awareness around employee remuneration 
while being cognisant to responding and contributing 
meaningfully to environmental matters such as the Stop Rhino 
Poaching Project to which the Company has already donated 
over R3 million to date. Other corporate responsibility projects 
link to supporting school projects within the communities in which 
we operate.

The Manufacturing business has continued to complying with the 
carbon footprint and Carbon Tax requirements while ensuring 
that the use of solar is being rolled out at store and factory levels. 
A five year roll-out strategy is being followed and an outsourced 
model is currently being piloted as the preferred model going 
forward. 

STAFF DEVELOPMENT, WELLNESS, SAFETY 
AND TRAINING 
With the advent of COVID-19, e-learning has taken centre-stage 
to ensure that training takes place within a safe and productive 
environment. A strong emphasis has been made on coaching and 
mentoring particularly within the retail business to ensure that 
the necessary succession planning is taking place while growing 
our employees skills and knowledge of the business. All training 
expenditure is aligned to the BBBEE scorecard as a minimum 
while ensuring that the business is supported with reference to 
the required knowledge and skilling. 

SUSTAINABILITY
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The COVID-19 pandemic has bolstered some innovation within 
the Group with our Ezee Tile business manufacturing hand and 
surface sanitiser for use and distribution within the Group and 
beyond. To date all travel has been limited and meetings are 
being held electronically in line with regulations. 

Our Employee Wellness Programme is in place and the business 
anticipates that more widespread use of the facility will ensue as 
the pandemic continues and its related stresses on employees 
and their families remains unchanged. Presently, awareness of the 
programme is being highlighted and our staff are encouraged to 
engage with the programme as necessary. 

Employees safety is an ongoing concern and regular inspections 
led by the various OHS committees and Internal Audit are 
taking place at store and factory levels. The required inspection 
registers are regularly updated and are available at all times on 
the Company intranet for easy access by all brands and sites. All 
safety training on first aid, forklift driving, racking, stacking and 
fire-fighting is taking place regularly and internal audits are done 
annually. No serious injuries on duty have been experienced or 
reported during this reporting period. 

COVID-19 STATUS 
The Group has been particularly diligent in the implementation 
of the COVID-19 requirements across the business from the end 
of March through levels 5 to 2 as stipulated and gazetted by the 
government disaster management regulations. The impact on 
operations has been manageable and the organisation is pleased 
to confirm that we have had no fatalities as a direct result of the 
pandemic. 

BBBEE STATUS
The Group has in the last reporting year achieved a level 4 
rating in line with our current Company strategy and will be 
paying particular attention to skills development going forward. 
This has been given the necessary impetus with regards to the 
development of female store operators within the retail space. 
Significant targets are being pursued and regular reporting to the 
Department of Labour as per labour legislation is ongoing. 

LEGISLATIVE COMPLIANCE
Group risk and compliance remains important and our legal 
advisory team are consulted to conduct, review and assure the 
Group that the necessary legislations are being complied with 
and this effort is led by our CFO.

ENGAGEMENT WITH STAKEHOLDERS 
Our shareholders have been kept abreast of the Company’s 
performance, governance, compliance and ethical standards 
and conduct during the past financial year. Ongoing reporting 
through our CEO has ensured that the Company’s performance is 
communicated effectively with the general public and in particular 
in line with the Listings Requirements of the JSE. 

Our customer complaints handling process is in place and 
operates via various channels and complies with consumer 
protection practices at all times. All channels are advertised and 
availed to all our customers. 

Marketing and public relations are ongoing and the final months 
of the year have centered around the COVID-19 pandemic 
awareness. All marketing messaging is being done through 
various channels including an added emphasis on our digital 
platforms. 

ACCOUNTABILITY OF THE COMMITTEE
The Committee is accountable to the Board and provides 
feedback to the Board of its meetings. The Committee makes 
the recommendations to the Board that it deems appropriate on 
any area within the ambit of its terms of reference where action or 
improvement is required.
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AUTHORITY
The Committee conducts its affairs in compliance with its charter 
and has reasonable access to the Company’s records, facilities 
and any other resources necessary to discharge its duties and 
responsibilities. The Committee is authorised to take such 
independent professional advice as it considers necessary, the 
costs of which shall be for the account of the Company. Save 
for its duties provided for in the Companies Act, the Committee 
shall have no executive powers with regard to its findings and 
recommendations.

CONCLUSION
The Committee believes the Group has continued to maintain 
an acceptable balance between its financial performance and its 
social, economic, governance, employment and environmental 
responsibilities. Based on all available detailed reporting and 
registers, the Committee is satisfied that it has, in all material 
respects, achieved its objectives for the financial year ended 
30 June 2020.

N P Khoza
Social and Ethics Committee Chairman
23 September 2020

SOCIAL AND ETHICS
COMMITTEE REPORT CONTINUED

SUSTAINABILITY
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THE ENVIRONMENT WE OPERATE IN

Market and/or 
industry trend Impact on our business Our strategic response

Impact of 
COVID-19

The leadership theory acronym, 
VUCAD, best sums up the impact of 
the pandemic on our society, 
economy, industry and business. 

Volatility, uncertainty, complexity, 
ambiguity and disruption are all 
features of the new normal which 
need to be managed to ensure 
business sustainability.

Our strategic business model has enabled the Group to withstand 
and capitalise on the challenges faced:
	» our high profile brands are trusted and our stores are perceived by 

safety-conscious consumers as safe shopping environments;
	» our omnichannel offering affords customers the opportunity to 

interact with us on the platform of their choice (growing online 
activity reflects changing consumer behaviour and a responsiveness 
by new customers to non-traditional platforms);

	» the interruption of import supply experienced due to lockdowns 
and port delays was negated by our local integrated manufacturing 
capability; and

	» strong cash generation and cost management disciplines are 
entrenched in the business and ensured balance sheet flexibility at 
a key time. Our debtors’ book was not materially affected; the 
short-term contingency facility raised has not been required; and 
we have been able to reinstate our roughly R800 million capex 
programme with immediate effect.

Beleaguered 
consumers 
respond positively 
to offerings which 
are empathetic 
and evoke the 
sentiment ‘we’re in 
this together’.

Under the challenging conditions we 
face as a country, our Proudly South 
African positioning, demonstrated 
across our business and in our 
campaigns, continued to find favour 
with customers. 

Our ethos of controlling the supply chain from factory gate to 
customer home is based on our local manufacturing capability and 
integrated supply chain. Make local and buy local to create jobs and 
grow the economy is key to our business model and is communicated 
in our Proudly South African messaging.

The weak economy 
and country-
specific risks 
constrain consumer 
income and impact 
on investment 
confidence.

With limited disposable income and 
low levels of confidence, consumers 
eschew or defer non-essential spend. 
For keen buyers, the key purchasing 
determinants are value, quality and 
experience.

Our goal is to deliver an unparalleled shopping experience. We strive 
to ensure our brands are aspirational and offer customers consistent 
year-round value. Our price offering is supported by strong brand 
equity, product quality and customer-centric service. 

Highly competitive 
trading landscape 
and increase in 
opportunistic 
traders.

Intense competitor activity with 
margins sacrificed by operators 
striving to survive.

We focus on achieving an optimal product-price-margin matrix which 
holds appeal for customers but supports margins for store operators. 
Our robust cost leadership ethos is key to preserving margins.

Flight of capital 
in the upper-LSM 
market segment.

Significantly reduced or deferred 
spend by consumers in the premium-
end of the market continued to 
impact on our Italtile Retail brand 
performance.

Our brand offering is strategically positioned to appeal to consumers 
across the income spectrum and hence spreads and reduces risk. 

Opportunities exist to migrate upper-end CTM customers into the 
Italtile Retail space with a carefully curated range of high quality 
import substitute tiles.

The general context in which we operate impacts on our ability to deliver on our strategy and create sustainable 
value.

The table below illustrates the emerging and existing trends which prevail in our industry and market, the effect 
they have on our business and our strategic response – which is aimed at mitigating or managing any negative 
impact and, wherever possible, capitalising on opportunities presented.
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Market and/or 
industry trend Impact on our business Our strategic response

Consumer demand 
for convenient, 
accessible 
shopping 
experiences.

Demand for access to omnichannel 
shopping options and seamless 
transition between online and physical 
stores.

Demand for faster, more efficient 
in-store service. Aligned to this is the 
growing trend of pre-retailing, which 
empowers consumers to research and 
inform themselves before engaging 
with a sales person.

We invest in a combined bricks-and-clicks trading format.

We continue to roll out stores to under-serviced markets – with good 
success. We also continue to explore flexible store-size formats 
relevant to specific markets for all our brands.

We invest in technology to improve the customer shopping 
experience both in-store and online. 

We recognise that improved access to technology creates 
opportunities for new customers to access our offering on new 
platforms. All of our retail brands are now supported by interactive 
webstores.

Technology 
and fashion are 
increasingly 
interlinked.

Access to the internet, largely due to 
smartphones, continues to gain 
momentum locally. 

The omnipresence of social media 
and growing sophistication of local 
consumers is driving an international 
fashion bias, rapid design evolution 
and quicker fashion changes, while 
the demand for instant gratification 
dictates shorter lead times.

Our Gryphon factory is the leading manufacturer of import 
replacement-quality large format tiles, while all of the Group’s 
factories utilise state-of-the-art inkjet technology. This technology 
enables timeous manufacture of up-to-the-minute designs, giving the 
Group a key strategic advantage in the market. 

CTM has launched a multi-surface tile visualiser which enables 
customers to digitally view our tiles in their own rooms and match wall 
and floor tile offerings in lifelike reality.

We invested in improving social media content; recognising that 
better engagement with customers translate into sales growth.

Innovative 
shopping 
experiences across 
all platforms
are increasingly 
important.

Online access has educated 
consumers and influenced shopping 
expectations. Customers are 
increasingly more discerning and 
demanding and quick to use social 
media to share their experiences.

We recognise that successful retailers are defined by consistently 
memorable shopping experiences. We continue to focus on 
up-weighting the ‘delight and disrupt’ factors in our stores and online 
through innovative layouts, lifestyles, products and use of technology. 

The traditional 
customer profile is 
evolving.

Increasingly, women are making the 
major decisions in home-finishing 
purchases in our stores.

Our business is well-positioned to capitalise on this trend, since we 
are viewed as a fashion retailer rather than a building materials 
supplier.

Unrelenting effort is directed at ensuring the shopping experience is 
aesthetically pleasing, with our keen focus being on fashionable 
product, stylish presentation and aspirational lifestyle displays.

We continue to align our personnel profile with the demographics of 
our customer base.

THE ENVIRONMENT WE OPERATE IN (CONTINUED)

SUSTAINABILITY
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Market and/or 
industry trend Impact on our business Our strategic response

Industry-wide 
shortage of skilled 
retail-specialist 
personnel.

Competent, ambitious, fit-for-purpose 
employees and franchise partners are 
key to the Group’s success.

Our training and development spend is significant and aimed at 
building a deep resource pool of appropriately skilled personnel.

To ensure we recruit and retain the right calibre of individuals; we 
drive the culture and activities of the business through our core values 
and beliefs. 

We continue to review and upgrade our learnership programmes and 
recruitment methodologies to ensure our people are aligned to our 
growth strategy. Our partnership and reward initiatives are designed 
to incentivise our people and position the Group as an employer of 
choice.

Intensified 
shareholder and 
consumer focus on 
ESG issues.

Increasingly frequently, shareholders 
identify ESG credentials as having an 
impact on their decision to invest in 
companies.

ESG awareness continues to grow 
among consumers who prefer to 
associate with brands that have 
admirable reputations and align their 
words with actions. 

Our goal for the year ahead is to progress the journey to improve 
the  Group’s current ESG credentials as well as the disclosure of 
developments in this regard.

Environment
The Group employs a dedicated Citizenship Manager, who is tasked 
with reviewing and reducing the Group’s carbon footprint on an 
ongoing basis. Across our operations, we strive to reduce consumption 
of non-renewable resources and, where possible, increase generation 
of renewable resources.

Our factories at Ceramic Industries use the latest technology to 
ensure efficient production and rank among the most energy efficient 
in the world. Rehabilitation of raw material quarries is conducted 
concurrently during use and once end-of-productive-life is reached.

Social impact
We will continue to strive to ensure that our community social 
initiatives are meaningful and sustainable and we will measure their 
impact on an ongoing basis.

We will advance our Proudly South African campaign in our stores 
and prioritise selling local products manufactured by local people.

We will strive to retain our BBBEE status level 4 through ongoing 
initiatives to transform the demographic profile of the business.

Governance
Our priority is to continue to entrench the implementation of good 
corporate governance principles across all of the Group’s business 
units.
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MATERIAL ISSUES, RISKS AND

OPPORTUNITIES

FRAMEWORK AND MODEL 
The Group has in place an Enterprise Risk Management framework which is based on a 
combined assurance model comprising: management, external auditor and internal audit. 
This model and its related activities are structured to ensure that the Group’s risks are 
adequately managed by formulating the Group’s strategic imperatives on such.

IDENTIFICATION OF RISKS
Identification of risks is based on:
	» the Group’s risk bearing capacity (the capacity to  

absorb losses arising from risks without an immediate 
threat to the Group’s continued existence based on 
its current business model);

	» risk appetite (the amount and type of risk the 
Group is willing to accept in pursuit of its business 
objectives); and

	» risk tolerance (the acceptable levels of variation  
relative to the achievement of the Group’s 
objectives). 

QUANTIFICATION OF RISKS
Certain financial measures form the basis on which  
these risks are quantified.

CATEGORISATION OF RISKS
Identified risks are categorised according to:
	» inherent risk (a function of their potential impact 

and probability); and
	» residual risk (based on the effectiveness of mitigating  

controls or responses to address the inherent risk). 

The identified risks are encompassed in the following 
risk categories:
	» supply chain disruptions;
	» IT infrastructure and network vulnerability;
	» loss of quality earnings/revenue/profitability/future 

growth;
	» talent attraction/development/retention;
	» brand identity and corporate image; 
	» regulatory compliance;
	» manufacturing related; and
	» COVID-19 occupational health and safety.

On pages 39 to 41 is a summary of the Group’s top risks and/or material 
issues based on their residual risk ratings. A  summary of the strategic 
imperatives related to each risk is provided.

Residual risk heatmap – combined
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1. SOCIAL UNREST IMPACTING OPERATIONS

Risk description Mitigating controls Strategic imperatives

	» Social unrest in the areas in which the 
Group operates impacts retail and 
manufacturing activities.

	» The risk is particularly relevant for 
Ceramic Industries’ factories and 
TopT retail stores.

	» Impacts safety of Group employees 
and customers.

	» Business interruption insurance cover in place.
	» The portfolio and marketplace are analysed on an 

ongoing basis to ensure risk is mitigated and targeted 
property returns are achieved.

	» The Group has a Social Unrest policy in place primarily 
focused on the safety of Group employees and 
customers.

	» Ongoing community engagement and social economic 
development activities conducted in communities in 
which we operate.

	» Continuous investment in and 
management of relationships with 
communities within which we 
operate.

2. NETWORK PENETRATION

Risk description Mitigating controls Strategic imperatives

	» External penetration of our networks 
(including hacking, phishing, etc). 
Probability intensified due to 
increased web traffic to webstores 
which are integrated into SAP, 
ongoing high profile hacking incidents 
internationally (related to malware) 
and increased remote access of our 
networks by employees working 
remotely due to COVID-19 measures.

	» Website cloning and rerouting 
of online payments gateway via 
webstores and new mobile devices 
with integrated payment pebble. 

	» External penetration of Android-based 
handheld scanners used in the stores 
(including hacking, phishing, etc).

	» Increased usage and access points 
with roll out of new local stores, East 
Africa stores and webstores.

	» Prevented with use of firewalls, segmentation of 
network landscape, implementation of secure socket 
layer certificates to encrypt end-to-end data and 
antivirus solution with additional patch management 
controls.

	» Quarterly penetration testing performed by external 
service providers.

	» Handheld scanners hosted on hidden network with 
SSL encryption enabled.

	» Cyber insurance in place through reputable provider.
	» Regular updates of passwords with complexity.
	» Multi-factor authentification and mail filtering measures 

in place.

	» Quarterly review of all network 
policies and procedures and network 
and router configurations to assess 
risks in order to mitigate them.

	» A Protection of Personal Information 
(“PoPI”) compliance project is 
ongoing to assess areas of risk in 
order to mitigate them and ensure 
compliance with the PoPI Act.

	» Heat mapping of internal and 
external networks, reviewed on a 
monthly basis with senior 
management.

	» Cyber security and penetration 
testing outsourced to third-party 
service provider.

RISK 
CATEGORY

RISK 
CATEGORY

RISK 
CATEGORY

RISK 
CATEGORY

IT infrastructure 
and network 
vulnerability

Network penetration  Loss of 
profitability  

and/or market 
share if products 

do not remain 
fashionable

Loss of revenue, 
quality earnings 
and growth due 
to deteriorating 

macro-economic 
factors

RISK

2 3 4

Loss of quality 
earnings/revenue/ 
profitability/future 

growth

RISK

Talent 
attraction/

development/ 
retention

Manufacturing 
related

Supply chain 
disruptions

Staff inadequately trained Interruption of supply due to 
unstable power supply and 

gas shortages

Social unrest 
impacting operations

5 61
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MATERIAL ISSUES, RISKS AND

OPPORTUNITIES CONTINUED

3.  LOSS OF PROFITABILITY AND/OR MARKET SHARE IF PRODUCTS DO NOT REMAIN FASHIONABLE

Risk description Mitigating controls Strategic imperatives

	» Not remaining fashionable is a major 
risk and has significant influence on 
the market share enjoyed by the 
business. 

	» The risk is especially pertinent for 
age group 35 and below.

	» Customer expectations not satisfied 
with product offering.

	» Regular regional meetings are held to source insight 
into markets, receive product feedback and 
communicate fashion trends, product innovation, 
merchandise and store improvements, market analysis 
and opportunities for growth. 

	» There are experienced brand/divisional/supply chain 
managers in the business, who focus on key products 
and areas.

	» Attendance at international trade fairs.
	» Ongoing cost/pricing adjustments and expansion  of 

distribution channels (eg e-commerce).
	» Store displays and trading space are  continually 

refreshed, and ideas shared across the Group via 
various mediums (eg operations newsletter). 

	» Ongoing ‘competitor shopping’ undertaken. 
	» Inventory provisioning process in stores ensures 

improved product lifecycles.
	» BOP utilised to improve in-stock levels  of business 

critical items, and management/exit of slow moving 
inventory.

	» Work with suppliers and leading 
experts to ensure ‘wow’ factor of 
products and merchandising.

	» Use business information tools to 
train and motivate operators to 
innovate and pioneer.

	» BOP continues to improve product 
lifecycles, thereby ensuring constant 
responsiveness to evolving fashion.

	» Optimal range/pricing structures will 
remain a priority.

	» The Group’s high standing among 
customers is to be maintained by 
continuing to deliver an offering in 
line with customer demand. In this 
regard, continuous improvement in 
the approach to product research 
and development is crucial.

4.  LOSS OF REVENUE, QUALITY OF EARNINGS AND GROWTH DUE TO DETERIORATING MACRO-ECONOMIC 
FACTORS

Risk description Mitigating controls Strategic imperatives

	» The deteriorating economic 
conditions in South Africa may have 
an adverse impact on the ability of 
the Group to generate revenue 
growth and impact on the quality of 
earnings.

	» This risk is amplified as a result of the 
COVID-19 pandemic and its 
significant impact on economic 
activity across the globe.

	» Continuous close monitoring of circumstances with 
particular focus on further investments in South Africa.

	» Adjustment of costing and pricing to support weak/
price sensitive consumer demand (enabled by 
integrated supply chain and continuous focus on cost 
reduction, enabling flexibility on gross margin and 
pricing). 

	» Integrated supply chain allows for consistent stock 
supply, with in excess of 80% of product procured 
locally.

	» Opening of new stores.
	» Cash flow forecasts and scenario planning done to 

take effects of COVID-19 pandemic into account. 
Measures taken include:
 – Salary cuts implemented across the business for 

three months.
 – Lease negotiations conducted to improve cash flow.
 – Provident fund contribution holiday for three 

months.
	» Continuous monitoring of socio-economic 

developments and its impact on business sustainability 
and operations.

	» Expansions of distribution channels 
including increased e-commerce.

	» Expansion of product offering.
	» Expansion of operating presence 

including East Africa (CTM and 
manufacturing operations) and 
under-serviced local markets (TopT).

	» Substitution of imported product 
with locally produced alternatives 
(including those manufactured by the 
Group).

	» Continuous drive of high-
performance culture.

SUSTAINABILITY
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5.  STAFF INADEQUATELY TRAINED

Risk description Mitigating controls Strategic imperatives

	» Individuals are not adequately 
trained/developed, and succession 
planning may be inadequate.

	» The Group conducts various training courses and 
operates an established Tiling and Plumbing Academy. 
Training spend is significant.

	» Divisional management and the executive directors of 
the Group are closely involved in the operations of the 
business and regular regional meetings are held, as 
well as other regular interactions.

	» The business implements career advancement training 
which comprises its Leadership Development 
Programme, Operator Training Programme (“OTP”) 
and other university-affiliated courses.

	» Senior management and executive directors partake in 
executive development programmes run by reputable 
institutions with relevant expertise.

	» The Group has a culture of developing and promoting 
from within, and various initiatives and programmes 
are in place to foster this.

	» Employee engagement surveys are conducted and 
reviewed by Group management.

	» E-learning platforms are in place with Group and retail-
specific content.

	» International expertise is sought for manufacturing 
where necessary, with key focus being transfer of skills.

	» Instil greater retail-specific focus 
in  training and development 
programmes; attract and retain key 
talent through promoting business 
partnerships; and encourage 
commitment to business success 
through development programmes 
and remuneration and reward 
strategies.

	» OTP will continue to serve as an 
important mechanism to build 
leadership capacity in the Group.

	» Enhanced e-learning initiatives will 
improve training in outlying and 
rural areas.

	» Building of additional capacity in the 
Human Resource department.

6.  INTERRUPTION OF ENERGY SUPPLY DUE TO UNSTABLE ELECTRICITY SUPPLY AND GAS SHORTAGES

Risk description Mitigating controls Strategic imperatives

	» The supply of gas for the Group’s 
factories (tiles and sanitaryware) is at 
risk as available gas reserves may be 
depleted by 2029.

	» Ongoing load shedding and 
disruption of electricity supply 
adversely impacts manufacturing 
operations.

	» The Group is an active participant in the Industrial 
Gas Users Group (“IGUA-SA”) which is advocating for 
alternative gas supply solutions for the industry.

	» Continuous manufacturing improvements are made to 
reduce gas and electricity consumption.

	» Load shedding schedules are monitored and 
production planned accordingly.

	» Solar panels and back-up generators used for 
alternative energy.

	» A combined heat and power plant 
project is being explored (currently in 
feasibility phase).

	» Technological alternatives to convert 
heating and firing to coal technology 
are being explored.

	» A project to generate 3 MW from 
solar power at the Gryphon tile 
factory is underway.

	» A project to recover heat from the 
Vitro tile factory kilns to reduce gas 
consumption in its clay plant is in the 
implementation phase.
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OUR STAKEHOLDERS

1. SHAREHOLDERS AND FINANCIAL COMMUNITY
 We strive to provide a sound investment case for the Company

Concerns and value derived
How we engage with our 
shareholders and financial community

Material
risks* Further information

	» Sustainable earnings 
growth

	» Acceptable return on 
investment and dividends

	» Competent and ethical 
leadership

	» Good corporate 
governance

	» JSE SENS announcements
	» IARs
	» Annual general meetings
	» Group website
	» Results presentations
	» One-on-one interactions with 

investors
	» Annual and interim results

1

2

3

4

5

6

Page 2 Chairman’s statement

Page 38 Material issues, risks and
opportunities

Page 68 CEO’s report

Page 78 Review of operations

Page 98 CFO’s report

Page 103 Financial results summary

Page 108 Corporate governance report

Page 136 Financial statements

2. EMPLOYEES
 With our high-performance culture, we build strong, accountable teams and offer career growth and development

Concerns and value derived How we engage with our employees
Material

risks* Further information

	» Job security
	» Career development
	» Remuneration and 

recognition
	» Equal opportunities
	» Training and skills 

advancement
	» Conducive working 

environment

	» Employee surveys
	» Performance reviews
	» Training and skills development 

opportunities
	» Newsletters
	» Roadshows
	» Regular meetings, extensive 

operational visits and other 
interactions

3

4

5

Page 2 Chairman’s statement

Page 38 Material issues, risks and 
opportunities

Page 44 Transformation report

Page 68 CEO’s report

Page 78 Review of operations

Page 104 Value added statement

Page 108 Corporate governance report

3. FRANCHISEES
 Our profitable and sustainable franchise model supports the Group’s growth and provides opportunity for entrepreneurs

Concerns and value derived How we engage with our franchisees
Material

risks* Further information

	» Strong brands
	» Product quality
	» Efficient and effective 

supply chain
	» Marketing spend
	» Good store location
	» Franchise and business 

management support
	» Profitable operations

	» Annual brand conferences
	» Franchisee forums
	» Personal contact
	» Call-in and online support
	» Roadshows
	» Regular meetings, extensive 

operational visits and other 
interactions

1

2

3

4

5

6

Page 2 Chairman’s statement

Page 38 Material issues, risks and 
opportunities

Page 68 CEO’s report

Page 78 Review of operations

Our stakeholders influence and are affected by our policies, strategies and activities. The table below provides a 
summary of how value is derived for stakeholders, how we engaged with them, which of our material risks impact 
them and which information provided in our IAR is of importance to them.

SUSTAINABILITY
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4. SUPPLIERS AND BUSINESS PARTNERS
 Our operations are supported by various suppliers and business partners

Concerns and value derived
How we engage with suppliers and 
business partners

Material
risks* Further information

	» Continuity of support
	» Timely payment
	» Fair treatment
	» BBBEE compliance
	» Profitable operations
	» Volume growth

	» Regular and fair procurement 
interactions

3

4

6

Page 2 Chairman’s statement

Page 38 Material issues, risks and 
opportunities

Page 68 CEO’s report

Page 104 Value added statement

Page 108 Corporate governance report

5. GOVERNMENT AND REGULATORS
 We strive to comply with all legislative and regulatory requirements

Concerns and value derived
How we engage with government 
and regulators

Material
risks* Further information

	» Compliance with legislation 
and regulatory frameworks

	» Tax revenues
	» Transformation initiatives
	» Support for communities
	» Responsible consumption 

of natural resources

	» Regular interactions and 
submissions to relevant 
government institutions and 
regulatory bodies

1

3

4

6

Page 44 Transformation report

Page 62 Environmental report

Page 104 Value added statement

Page 108 Corporate governance report

Page 136 Financial statements

6. COMMUNITIES
 Our success is dependent on the wellbeing and advancement of the communities in which we operate

Concerns and value derived
How we engage with our 
communities

Material
risks* Further information

	» Economic and social 
support

	» Local job creation opportunities
	» Corporate social investment 

programmes

1

3

4

Page 52 Supporting our communities

Page 62 Environmental report

Page 108 Corporate governance report

7. CUSTOMERS
 Our customers are central to all that we do and we strive to exceed their expectations and needs

Concerns and value derived How we engage with our customers
Material

risks* Further information

	» Strong brands
	» Value and quality offering
	» Location accessibility
	» Positive customer 

shopping experience
	» Safe shopping environment

	» Call-in and online support
	» Print, digital and social media
	» IARs
	» Surveys and Mystery Shopping
	» Regular store visits
	» Annual and interim results

1

3

4

5

Page 52 Supporting our communities

Page 62 Environmental report

Page 108 Corporate governance report

* Refer to pages 38 to 41.
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TRANSFORMATION

The Group regards transformation as a social, moral and strategic business imperative. Management recognises that as a responsible corporate 
citizen, the Group has an obligation to contribute to bringing about a more equal and inclusive society – starting within our own business. 
Our transformation strategy is closely aligned to the objective of the BBBEE Codes and we employ an integrated approach to accelerate 
transformation across the code’s five criteria.

BBBEE CODES

Equity
ownership

Management
control

Enterprise and
supplier development

Skills
development

Socio-economic 
development

 
In 2017, a BBBEE Committee comprising senior management was constituted, and is tasked with driving transformation in the Group. 
The Committee meets at least quarterly to gauge and manage progress against set targets.

As a consequence of implementing a range of meaningful interventions and sustained management focus on transforming the business over 
recent years, the Group has improved its BBBEE status from non-compliant in 2016 to compliant – at level 4  in 2019.

This consistent progress in the Group’s score is depicted below.
 

2016 2017

24,63 76,59
TARGET 
LEVEL 3

59,22 81,01

2018 2019 2022

During the year under review, improvements were achieved across three of the five scorecard criteria, namely equity ownership, enterprise and 
supplier development, and socio-economic development. The ownership transaction concluded with Yard Investment Holdings Proprietary 
Limited (“Yard”) assists with the improvement in the ownership scoring (including the achievement of priority element threshold). While there 
was a marginal decline in the skills development score, management is confident that the interventions underway in the business will remedy 
this and result in a higher score in the 2021 assessment.

SUSTAINABILITY
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ACHIEVEMENTS
During the prior period, we introduced diversity, equity and inclusion 
workshops to the business, aimed at developing and embedding a 
culture of inclusion by acknowledging differences and equipping 
diverse employees to build better relationships. Initiatives in this 
regard continued in the current year.

In terms of the BBBEE Codes scorecard, we made progress 
regarding the following:

Skills development
The Group continued to invest in a range of skills development 
programmes focused on employees from previously disadvantaged 
groups. These included:
	» sponsored partnerships with academic institutions to further the 

education of our 32 employees and to develop their leadership 
competencies;

	» overall 109 internships and learnerships for both qualified 
students and inexperienced job seekers, with 10 of those learners 
ultimately employed in the Group; and

	» we operate accredited training academies, and offer local and 
international courses and e-learning tuition across our brands 
for our employees, our franchisees and their employees. These 
training interventions reached 2 878 employees of the Group 
and franchisees during the year.

Enterprise and supplier development
	» Good progress was made in preferential procurement: 

expenditure with exempted micro-enterprises (“EMEs”) and 
qualifying small enterprises (“QSEs”) increased to 17,2% of 
Group spend from 13,3% in 2017.

	» Contributions to supplier development initiatives amounted to 
R22,7 million and those to enterprise development initiatives 
amounted to R10 million. These initiatives included:
 – loans at preferential rates to identified EME and QSE suppliers 

who provide goods and services to the Group;
 – investment in an income yielding fund which invests and 

mentors small black-owned businesses; 
 – contributions to the MyGrowthFund for the establishment of a 

container-based artisan training incubation hub; and
 – early settlement of invoices from EME and QSE suppliers to 

support their cash flow requirements
	» In 2018 we launched PiViCal Panels, a joint venture partnership 

with a local previously disadvantaged entrepreneur. This import-
replacement business produces PVC panels for the TopT brand; 
panels comprise one of TopT’s fastest growing merchandise 
categories.

Socio-economic development
	» Our spend on socio-economic development exceeded 1% of net 

profit after tax. Contributions of product and/or cash were made 
to qualifying schools and charities, with the largest donation to 
be made to the Italtile and Ceramic Foundation (“Foundation”). 
The Foundation is the Group’s broad-based black ownership 
scheme, whose goal is the transformation and upliftment of 
previously disadvantaged communities through distributions 
made to public benefit activities related to education, sport and 
conservation.

 
The Foundation spend was allocated to:
	» education (40%);
	» sport (40%);
	» conservation (10%); and
	» other (10%).

Refer to pages 52 to 61 for more detail in this regard.

Equity ownership
As noted above, we concluded a BBBEE ownership transaction with 
Yard in order to improve the Group’s black ownership credentials, 
and to establish a medium to long-term relationship with a 
BEE partner with international commercial experience relevant to 
the Group’s business. In terms of the agreement, Yard has acquired 
2% of the Group’s issued share capital.

OUTLOOK
The Group is targeting a BBBEE status level 4 in the year ahead, and 
level 3 by 2022. The scoring and level for the year under review is 
expected to be adversely affected by the COVID-19 pandemic and 
resultant lockdowns, as the Group had to suspend various initiatives 
as a result. The following key initiatives will be implemented in order 
to attain that target (over and above existing initiatives which will 
continue):

Management control
	» Advance and/or appoint black females for management positions 

at all levels; and
	» Employ black disabled individuals.
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Skills development
	» Invest in learning programmes and bursaries for black individuals;
	» Invest in learning programmes for disabled black individuals;
	» Place previously unemployed black individuals on learnerships; 

and
	» Retain black individuals on a permanent basis post-learnerships.

Enterprise and supplier development
	» Divert spend to EMEs or QSEs;
	» Divert spend to 51%+ black-owned and/or 31%+ black women-

owned businesses;
	» Impose minimum empowerment ratings requirements for 

suppliers with spend in excess of a predetermined amount;
	» Fund qualifying EME and QSE suppliers;
	» Fund TopT BEE partners;
	» Fund a majority black-owned property company;
	» Contribute to incubator or similar initiatives; and
	» Extend favourable settlement trading terms for empowered 

suppliers.

TRANSFORMATION 
CONTINUED

SUSTAINABILITY
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The team members 
profiled	in	the	

commentary overleaf 
exemplify the spirit of 

Italtile and the 
uniqueness of our 

culture. Collectively they 
have 89 years of 

experience with the 
Group. It is with pride 

that I acknowledge the 
calibre of this next 
generation of our 

leaders. Each one of 
them has proved that 

hard work, perseverance 
and clearly focused 

goals will lead to 
success. They serve the 

business with distinction 
and are a tribute to the 

Group and an 
inspiration to their 

colleagues.

G A M Ravazzotti, Chairman
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OUR
PEOPLE
TEES GOVENDER
Supply Chain Executive
Tees started her journey with the Group as a student at the Italtile 
Retail store in Durban in 1998. In 2000, she accepted a permanent 
position in sales and in 2004 she was appointed Assistant 
Manager at the Italtile Retail store in Edenvale. 

Pursuing further growth within the Group, Tees moved to 
CTM Centurion in 2006 as Assistant Manager.

In 2008 she was offered the opportunity to join the CTM 
Operations team. Tees recalls that these were among the best 
years of her journey at Italtile. “I was pushed to my full potential.” 
Her initial role was to formalise internal controls and systems for 
the CTM stores, which evolved into an internal audit function. Her 
role subsequently comprised a range of responsibilities in the 
Operations division. She relished the variety of experience that 
the position offered and the extensive knowledge she gained 
about business. Tees notes that she particularly valued the trust 
and empowerment afforded to her, which she says encouraged 
her to excel beyond boundaries and to strive for continuous 
improvement. 

In 2013 she was appointed as joint venture partner at the 
CTM Umhlanga store, where she was able to put her operational 
experience into practice, turning an under-preforming store into 
a success over the next two years.

In 2015, Tees took on the role of heading up the Business 
Optimisation (“BMO”) Implementation project. 

In recognition of her outstanding contribution to the success of 
the Group, Tees was awarded the Group’s Aquilifier Award 
in 2016.

In 2017, Tees was appointed CTM Brand Leader and enjoyed 
every minute of it. “I worked with incredible people and am very 
grateful for all the support received from everyone that I worked 
with during that time.”

In 2019, Tees started her career in the Supply Chain division, 
heading up the Integrated Supply Chain and BMO department, 
and is looking forward to the exciting, challenging times which 
this position entails. She is currently completing her Certified 
Supply Chain Professional (“CSCP”) qualification through the 
American Production and Inventory Control Society. 

Celebrating her twenty-second year with the Group, Tees says 
she could not have asked for a better career path. She considers 
herself to be lucky and greatly appreciates the support and 
guidance of all of her mentors.

Tees says that at the age of 40, she has achieved 
many of her life goals. “I firmly live by understanding 
the opportunity – and then working hard towards 
achieving the opportunity.”

Tees Govender

SUSTAINABILITY
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GRANT FOLKES
CTM and U-Light franchisee, KwaZulu-Natal
Grant was born in Pinetown, KwaZulu-Natal, where he has spent 
most of his life. While studying towards a National Diploma in 
Marketing at Technikon Natal, he obtained a student job at the 
Italtile Retail Centre in Point Road in 1993. On graduating, the 
Company offered him full-time employment in a sales position.
 
This was a very successful period for Grant, both professionally 
and personally. He excelled in sales and won the Italtile Retail 
Salesman of the Year award in 1997; it was also the year he 
married his wife, Maria. The branch went on to win the Store of 
the Year award three times and Grant was promoted to Assistant 
Manager. He subsequently transferred to the Italtile Retail store in 
Pretoria, where he held the position of Branch Manager. During 
this time, the store performed very well and won the Store of the 
Year and Largest Profit Contribution awards.
 
In 2000, Grant and Maria decided to start a family and returned to 
Durban, where their daughters Jessica and Christine were 
subsequently born. In making this move, the decision was taken 
to leave Italtile Retail and accept the opportunity as a 
CTM  franchisee in Pinetown in 2001. The new store started up 
slowly, but as the Hillcrest suburb grew, it excelled. During this 
period, CTM Pinetown won Store of the Year twice as well as the 
Innovation Award. In 2007, Grant’s partner, Rory Pottage, retired 
and other franchise opportunities became available – in 
Empangeni in 2009 and Springfield in 2010, and Grant took on 
these stores. In 2018 he acquired the CTM Umhlanga store. 

Grant is currently in the process of setting up CTM Ballito, which 
will open in March 2021. He was also recently appointed as the 
first U-Light franchisee for KwaZulu-Natal and looks forward to the 
challenge of establishing this business.

“None of this would have been possible without the support and 
understanding of my family over the last 25 years,” says Grant.

“The years have been filled with lots of exiting 
challenges and opportunities, happiness and 
sadness. I am proud and honoured to have been on 
this journey from humble beginnings to success with 
Mr Ravazzotti and the Group. I am honoured and 
grateful to have been part of it all.”

PAUL ISAACS
CTM Brand Leader and equity partner
Paul’s journey with the Italtile Group started in June 1996 in the 
Western Cape, just six months after he matriculated. He says, 
“I  was employed by Pierre Langenhoven at CTM Brackenfell as a 
sales consultant. I look back on those days and will always 
remember them as some of the best in my career with CTM. 
Pierre recognised me as a hard worker and, in time, having gained 
varied experience and been promoted in the business, I was 
offered the opportunity to assist with the opening of CTM Tokai 
and later CTM Montague Gardens.”

He adds, “I believe that people cross our paths in life to mentor, 
guide and motivate us to become better and achieve greatness.”

Fast forward to 2007, Paul was appointed as the Assistant 
Manager to the new franchisee at CTM Tokai. He says that this 
was an incredible two years in his journey and provided some of 
the most important learnings about professionalism in his career.

In 2009 he was approached by Gian-Paolo Ravazzotti, to make 
the bold move from Cape Town and in January 2010 Paul and his 
family relocated to Gauteng. He was appointed as the Store 
Manager of CTM Pretoria and later CTM Montana and CTM 
Menlyn. He also served as Gauteng Regional Leader of CTM.

Paul says his big career opportunity came when the then Chief 
Operating Officer, Jan Potgieter, approached him in December 
2014 to lead the TopT brand. At that stage, the fledgling brand 
comprised only 25 stores, with a modest turnover of R250 million. 
Paul notes that his tenure with TopT included some of the most 
amazing experiences. From building the business with an 
incredible team, to completing his Senior Management 
Development Plan through the University of Stellenbosch.

In May 2019 Paul was appointed Brand Leader and equity partner 
of CTM, handing over the now well-established TopT business, 
which had grown to 82 stores with a turnover of over R1 billion.

“I am very excited about the future of the business 
and particularly about creating opportunities for our 
people, similar to those I have been privileged to 
experience.”

Grant Folkes Paul Isaacs
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OUR
PEOPLE CONTINUED

TSHEPO MOLEFAKGOTLA
Chief Operations Officer, Ceramic Industries
Tshepo joined the Group in January 2004 as part of the quintet 
that formed the pilot Trainee Factory Manager programme at 
Ceramic Industries. He recalls that the first hurdle was to overcome 
the culture shock one experiences when one joins Ceramic. 
“My  previous employment had been with Transnet (Spoornet), 
Nampak and Unilever. Even though the respective organisations 
had equipped me with workplace experience and the requisite 
skills to enter the programme, they had not prepared me for the 
one thing that you must have to thrive in this unique, pressured, 
yet equally rewarding and developing environment – knowing 
yourself. The dynamism and constant reinvention the business 
goes through tests you as a person. It tests your physical and 
mental endurance, robustness and tenacity. You definitely 
become more in tune with your inner self. But once you get over 
the culture shock, and stay to take up the challenge to do the job 
and do it well, it is an experience second to none.”

When Tshepo joined the Group at 25, his ambition was to be a 
factory manager by the age of 30. Spurred on to achieve what 
others had said was impossible, he was convinced that ‘nothing is 
impossible’ and dedicated himself to achieving his goal.

During the interview process at Ceramic, it was evident that if 
Tshepo wanted to fulfil this objective, he was in the right place. 
His career in Ceramic started with organising work plans and 
instituting best operating practices in the glaze preparation 
section of Pegasus Tile factory. He notes, “The flat structure of the 
Company demands that one wears many hats and does much of 
the requisite work yourself. From managing the budget, to 
purchasing, to preparing and supplying quality materials to the 
factory, to equipment maintenance, industrial relations and 
managing safety matters.” He says he was afforded full autonomy 
to manage the department and was held responsible and 
accountable from day one. Tshepo says that this not only stretches 
you as an individual, but it equips you fully to understand all 
facets of the business. A department is a mini-business and you 
are the responsible business leader. He says that an opportunity 
utilised well can set the foundations for managing a bigger 
responsibility – as it did in his situation.

His next assignment was as Deputy Factory Manager at 
Vitro Punched Tile factory. He recalls that it was exciting to be part 
of the team that turned around that business and talks of the 
many challenges the team had to overcome to understand this 
unique process and create the much-loved product that was 
conceived in this factory – the African porcelain.

Tshepo Molefakgotla

SUSTAINABILITY
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At the age of 29, he was appointed as Vitro Factory Manager, 
achieving his stated goal a year earlier than his deadline. Tshepo 
was subsequently promoted to manage Pegasus Pressed Tile 
factory which is a bigger factory with more complexity, after which 
he was promoted to Chief Operations Officer for Ceramic 
Industries. While in this role, he has also overseen the Betta 
Sanitaryware factory for 18 months while the management team 
was restructured. 

Tshepo notes that every opportunity has been a learning 
experience and to support the growth in the business, he has 
completed key qualifications, including the Management 
Development Programme, Executive Development Programme 
and the Masters in Business Leadership.

Tshepo says that in his personal experience there is 
no limit to the many growth opportunities in this 
Group. “If you are aligned with the business, share in 
the values, have lots of energy and courage, you can 
have an exciting, fruitful and mutually beneficial 
career in the Group. One thing is for sure, there has 
never been a dull moment.”
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SUPPORTING OUR
COMMUNITIES

THE ITALTILE AND CERAMIC FOUNDATION

The Foundation is a broad-based black ownership 
scheme, with the objective of conducting public 
benefit activities (PBO ref no: 930044728) in a  
non-profit manner and with an altruistic and 
philanthropic intent, working towards the 
transformation and upliftment of previously 
disadvantaged communities. 

The Foundation accepts and deploys socio-
economic development as well as skills development 
donations in terms of the BBBEE legislation and is 
able to issue 18A certificates. 

The Foundation’s distributions are towards public 
benefit activities relating to education, sport and 
conservation.

Education
CURRENT PROJECTS
	» Bursaries: The Foundation’s Bursary Programme comprises 

students from high school to tertiary level with extreme financial 
need and high academic potential. There are currently 
10 tertiary students studying courses ranging from engineering 
and accounting sciences to marketing, as well as seven high 
school students. Two of our students graduated at the end of 
2019 with civil engineering and marketing management 
qualifications.

	» Hope School for the Disabled: The Foundation resumed 
renovations of the boys’ 
residence at the school. The 
building will now comfortably 
accommodate 84 boys 
providing adequate space in 
line with the social distancing 
regulations. The project has 
progressed successfully with 
the assistance of materials 
sourced from companies 
within the Group, including 
sanitaryware, taps and vinyl 
flooring.

	» Salvazione Christian School: The construction of the foundation 
phase building was recently completed and handed over to the 
school. The new building was funded by the Foundation together 
with other donors who were sourced by the school. Some of the 
materials required were sourced or donated by companies within the 
Group. The school currently has 218 students in total.

	» One School at a Time (“OSAAT”): Through OSAAT, the Foundation 
continues to sponsor Forte High School in Soweto, which currently 
has 2 080 learners. Funds donated to the school are channelled to 
projects such as PROJECT 100%, an extra lessons programme for all 
matric students aimed at continuously improving the matric pass rate 
of the school, as well as providing stationery, toiletries and other 
consumables. Forte High achieved a matric pass rate of 96% in 2019, 
an improvement from the 88% that was achieved in 2018. 

	» PEN – Kagiso project: The purpose of this pre-school forum is to 
improve early childhood development (“ECD”) interventions for 
vulnerable children with the aim of having a meaningful impact on 
their wellbeing and learning outcomes. Three crèches in the Kagiso 
area were selected for this project and going forward, there is a 
proposal in place to expand to more crèches in the area, possibly up 
to 30. There are currently 137 children enrolled in the programme.

	» Setlabotjha Primary School: The Foundation continues to sponsor 
two programmes at the primary school: 
 – Homework Support Programme

 Through the READ organisation, this programme is aimed at 
improving the learners’ language and reading skills. Three 
additional schools within the area have been included in the 
programme and language centres have been established. 
A teacher development element of the project will be introduced 
in the new year. There are currently 800 students in the READ 
programme.

 – Field Band Foundation
 Through participation in band activities, young people who might 

otherwise have little opportunity for constructive recreational 
activity, are taught the advantages of life skills such as commitment, 
competitiveness, teamwork, discipline and timekeeping. In so 
doing, the advantages of heightened self-esteem and associated 
self-confidence are inculcated.

While teaching music, movement and dance is 
the core of the Field Band Foundation’s 
activities, band members also receive:  
	» HIV/Aids peer education;
	» general education in social development; and 
	» specific life skills training. 

243 students in the band

There are currently
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Through the Foundation’s sponsorship, 
Dreamfields has a footprint in the following 
areas:
	» 40 schools in Acornhoek; 
	» 16 schools in Thohoyandou; 
	» 10 schools in Sebokeng; 
	» eight schools in Hammanskraal; and 
	» eight schools in Kagiso.   

The schools are provided with soccer and netball equipment, as well 
as full training kits.

Sport
CURRENT PROJECTS 
Sports fields 
The Foundation continues to support the Group in maintaining 
the current sports fields in Meadowlands in Soweto, Thohoyandou 
in Limpopo and Acornhoek in Mpumalanga. The construction of 
a  sports field in Steelpark, Vereeniging will commence in 
September 2020. 

Dreamfields
Dreamfields is an organisation that establishes soccer and netball 
leagues in schools and hosts referee and umpire workshops for 
school coaches for the benefit of the local children.

Conservation
CURRENT PROJECTS
The Foundation continues to sponsor the following projects in this 
sector:
	» Birdlife Important Biodiversity Area (“IBA”) Programme: The IBA 

Programme aims to ensure that important sites, habitats and 
associated ecosystem services are protected and sustainably 
managed for the benefit of birds, other biodiversity and humans.

	» Lapalala Wilderness School: Students from schools that are 
sponsored by the Foundation (Forte High School, Salvazione 
Christian School, Mahareng Secondary School and Setlabotjha 
Primary School) are sent to the Lapalala Wilderness School annually 
for one week to learn about the importance of the environment and 
how to take care of and preserve it.  

	» The Foundation sponsors WWF, which in turn employs the funds 
according to project needs.

Covid-19 
relief projects
The following donations have been made 
towards COVID-19 relief:
1. R500 000 towards the Solidarity Fund;
2. Purchase of tablets for high school bursary 

students to enable them access to home 
schooling platforms; 

3. Purchase of sanitisers for three old age 
homes in the Emfuleni Municipality;

4. R80 000 donation towards Afrika Tikkun;
5. Donation for personal protective 

equipment for the Vuleka School; and
6. R20 000 towards food parcels for Kagiso 

crèche teachers who did not receive 
remuneration during the lockdown.

20 915 children in  
the Dreamfields Programme

There is a total of

Picture below: Salvazione Christian School

Hope School for the Disabled
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SUPPORTING OUR
COMMUNITIES CONTINUED

Arbour Week
On 4, 5 and 6 September 2019 TopT, CTM 
and Italtile Retail, respectively, visited a 
school in the vicinity of one of their stores 
to plant 50 trees each. The three brands 
partnered with non-profit organisation, 
Wildlife and Environment Society of 
South Africa (“WESSA”), to launch the 
#Trees4theEarth movement, aimed at 
contributing to greening the urban 
landscape, promoting education for 
sustainable development and restoring 
ecosystems for people and the earth. It was 
a successful week in which the learners of 
Thulasizwe, Fleurhof and Mohlakano 
Primary Schools planted trees on their 
school premises and learned about the 
importance of ecosystems and their role in 
climate change mitigation and adaptation. 
Teachers were also educated in how to use 
these new gardens as outdoor classrooms. 

SUSTAINABILITY
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Italtile Retail participated in The Great Optimist Race 2019 held 
during the Cape Town International Boat Show, on 19 October. 
A total of 40 Optimist Children’s dinghies were raced by adults, 
including celebrities, medical survivors and captains of industry, 
to raise money and awareness for the charity of their choice. The 
race is a unique fundraising event, spreading optimism and hope 
across many sectors. 

The Great Optimist Race 2019

CORPORATE SOCIAL INVESTMENT: ITALTILE RETAIL

R500 000 and the 
funds raised by each boat were 
shared between The Little 
Optimist Trust and the charity 
supported by that boat 

The fundraising target was
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SUPPORTING OUR
COMMUNITIES CONTINUED

CTM Champions 
Cup 2019
CTM hosted the fifth annual netball and soccer Champions Cup 
at its sports centre in Meadowlands, Soweto on 5 October 2019. 
In all, 12 new primary and secondary schools were invited to 
participate in the tournament, competing against the four 
defending champions. Each team received new sports kits, shoes 
and playing equipment. In the junior division, Boikanyo Primary 
School and Khindlimukani Junior Secondary School won the 
soccer and netball events respectively, while in the senior division, 
Mokgome High School and Aurora Girls High were awarded the 
trophies for soccer and netball.

The tournament provided a fun day for families and included a 
range of other activities such as a skate clinic, dance performances, 
a colouring corner and face painting. Group staff and their 
families joined in the festivities. 

Tawana 
Children’s Centre
This organisation in Tembisa, Gauteng, feeds 60 children from the 
community daily and is also a permanent home to 20 children 
from the area. In December 2019, CTM assisted the centre with 
renovating its bathroom, which was not functional. CTM, together 
with the Foundation, also supplied bunk beds and linen for the 
children who had previously slept on mattresses on the floor. On 
13 December, CTM and the Foundation hosted a Christmas party 
for the children at the centre; the learners also received back-to-
school supplies for use in the new academic year. 

CORPORATE SOCIAL INVESTMENT: CTM

Tawana Children’s Centre
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CTM: supporting 
the war against 
rhino poaching
CTM, together with Stop Rhino Poaching, funds the provision and 
replenishment of specialised trauma packs and medical kits used 
by rangers to safeguard the rhino population in the Kruger 
National Park. This donation would not be possible without the 
support of CTM’s customers, as the funds are raised from the sale 
of selected Kilimanjaro tiles sold exclusively in CTM stores.

For every box of Kilimanjaro Eagle Wood 
Grey, Kgalagadi Grey and Rhino Stone tiles 
that customers purchase, CTM contributes 
R5 to StopRhinoPoaching.com to help 
support the war against rhino poaching.

Kilimanjaro
Eagle Wood Grey

Kilimanjaro
Rhino Stone

Integrated Annual Report 2020 57



CTM 
Champions 
Cup
TopT showed its support for the CTM Champions Cup 
in Dobsonville on 5 October 2019. The Gig Rig was 
present to showcase TopT’s products to the community 
and the Brand Mascot, TopT Man, interacted with the 
local children. TopT staff hosted a colouring station and 
handed out goodie bags to all the children at the event.

Stokvel 
members’ 
collaboration
Collaboration with stokvel members in Orange Farm 
on 10 October 2019, and with members in Tembisa on 
7  November 2019, gave TopT a platform to engage 
with potential customers from those communities and 
create brand awareness around the TopT brand. The 
Gig Rig was on site and a product demonstration was 
held to showcase ranges from TopT’s offering. 

Global 
Handwashing 
Day
On 15 October 2019, TopT and Lifebuoy celebrated 
Global Handwashing Day in conjunction with the 
Department of  Health and others at Nyamazane 
Primary School, with 1  300  learners, teachers and 
parents present. Lifebuoy ambassador, DJ Zinhle, spent 
time with the children and helped hand over the new 
wash basins, which were donated by TopT and Lifebuoy 
in partnership.

CORPORATE SOCIAL INVESTMENT: TOPT

SUPPORTING OUR
COMMUNITIES CONTINUED
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World Toilet 
Day
On 19 November 2019, TopT and Domestos celebrated World 
Toilet Day with Hlelolusha Primary school in KwaZulu-Natal, with 
the official opening of a new toilet block. The school, which had 
previously not had toilets on site for learners, warmly welcomed 
the construction. Envirosan plumbed the toilets, while TopT 
partnered with Domestos to tile and paint the facility. 

TopT also donated bags filled with goodies 
to each learner and enjoyed a fun-filled 
programme with the children. 

TOPT Champions 
Cup
On 7 March 2020, TopT, in partnership with the Italtile and 
Ceramic Foundation Trust, Dreamfields and Conservation SA, 
hosted the second annual TopT Champions Cup at the TopT 
Sports Centre in Acornhoek, Mpumalanga. 

The Champions Cup comprised a netball and soccer tournament, 
with 14 schools from the surrounding communities participating. 
The schools competed for the coveted tournament trophy and a 
cash prize that must be used specifically to address a critical need 
in their school. In the primary school division, Jameyana Primary 
came out top in the netball competition and Sihlekisi Primary 
won the soccer event, with both teams awarded R15 000 each 
for their schools. In the senior school division, Acorns to Oaks 
Comprehensive High School won the netball and soccer matches 
with each team winning R10 000 for their school. Top players in 
each sporting code were also awarded individual prizes.

For the first time, a new session was introduced to the tournament 
programme, in which the girls and boys received motivational 
talks before the games. In addition, the girls were educated 
about menstruation and personal hygiene and provided with re-
useable sanitary pads. 

It was an extremely exciting day for all, 
with participants eagerly awaiting future 
events. 
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SUPPORTING OUR
COMMUNITIES CONTINUED

Back to school 
community 
project 
TopT stores nationwide conducted a campaign in January 2020 
to supply branded TopT stationery, as well as alphabet and 
multiplication charts and calendars, to schools located within 
close proximity to the stores. 

The learners and school staff were 
delighted with the donated items.

Mandela Day 
2020 – 18 July
The essence of Mandela Day is to take action. TopT believes 
that in the midst of the pandemic, to inspire, change and make 
every day a Mandela Day is more important than ever before. 
Communities across the world are affected by the spread of 
COVID-19, causing new social and economic challenges and 
exacerbating the existing ones. On this day, the TopT teams 
shared the successes they had achieved and the lessons they had 
learned as the world battles the pandemic and reflected too on 
the impact of the pandemic on those less fortunate. 

Across TopT stores countrywide, each store 
donated branded masks and sanitisers to 
schools or non-profit organisations in their 
communities.

SUSTAINABILITY
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Samca Tiles 
Dream Event 
2020
Ceramic Industries currently works with eight schools in the 
Hammanskraal Circuit, which is situated on the outskirts of 
Pretoria. These schools were invited to Samca Tiles’ maiden 
Dream Event, held on 14 March 2020 at the Temba Stadium in 
Hammanskraal. The participating schools competed in both 
soccer and netball codes, with prize money at stake for the 
winning teams.

The participants included Itireleng Primary School, Lebelo Primary 
School, Lefofa Primary School, Mabu-a-Tlou Primary School, 
Makgake Primary School, Marokolong Primary School, Mmamotse 
Primary School and Rethabile Primary School. 

An exciting day concluded with Rethabile 
Primary School and Mmamotse Primary 
School emerging ultimate champions of the 
soccer and netball competitions 
respectively.

CORPORATE SOCIAL INVESTMENT: CERAMIC INDUSTRIES
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ENVIRONMENTAL
REPORT
OVERVIEW
Italtile is committed to fighting for the rights of our customers 
to have a beautiful home, which means not only our places of 
residence but also the communities and natural environments 
in which we live. A beautiful home is therefore one where social 
and environmental challenges are addressed in a way that still 
generates economic value. 

The Group strives for sustainability by addressing the impact it has 
on the environment, increasing the eco-efficiency of the business, 
and creating or sourcing products that enable its customers to 
live sustainably.

RETAIL OPERATION AND SUPPLY CHAIN
Our brands and supply chain businesses constantly consider 
opportunities to operate more efficiently using the latest green 
technology. By exercising environmental awareness, they also 
strive to enhance the sustainability benefits of the products we 
sell. We ensure that imported products are also only sourced 
from companies that adhere to the environmental laws of their 
countries and we seek confirmation of compliance with the 
UN Global Compact from significant external suppliers. 

During the year, a number of initiatives were implemented in an 
effort to reduce the Group’s environmental impact. 

Achievements 2019/20
Energy management
	» The Group continues to focus on improving its energy 

efficiency levels and decreasing its dependency on the national 
grid. A key energy focus in the past year was the conversion of 
lighting in stores to LED, with 17 CTM stores converted in the 
past year. 

	» The Group’s new lighting company, U-Light, continues to source 
and offer energy efficient LED lights as a core product range. 
This aligns to the Group’s strategy of enabling customers to live 
more sustainably while remaining fashionable. 

	» The business finalised a renewable energy roll-out plan for its 
South African retail stores focused primarily on outsourced 
grid-tied solar systems, with the long-term vision of decreasing 
reliance on diesel generators. 

Waste management
	» The Group’s head office continues to implement a recycling 

programme. All waste generated from the building is separated 
and recycled or reused where possible. 

	» A pallet-reuse project in a number of business units across 
the Group continues, whereby pallets delivered to stores 
are collected and reused, reducing the number of pallets 
purchased and contributing to saving indigenous forests.

	» Stores partake in various recycling initiatives.

Conservation
	» Our brands continue to increase their use of digital marketing, 

thereby decreasing the dependence on print and paper. 

	» CTM and Ceramic Industries continue to support rhino 
conservation by contributing R5 per box of certain Kilimanjaro 
tiles sold; once the accumulated funds reach R1 million, the 
money is donated to the selected charity. To date, R3,5 million 
has been donated.

	» Retail stores continue to participate in various other conservation 
activities such as the planting of trees in communities during 
Arbour Week.

Product innovation
International Tap Distributors, the Group’s importer and distributor 
of brassware and accessories, continued to play a leading role 
in innovation in the industry, with the introduction of a range of 
water and energy efficient products including: 
	» new Tivoli shower heads with water-saving restrictors included 

as standard with the products, which significantly reduce the 
flow rate per minute without impacting performance; 

	» additional cold start basin mixers that do not activate the 
geyser every time the tap is opened; 

	» water-saving cartridges that offer a half-open setting, letting 
out only three litres per minute; 

	» water-saving aerators that reduce the water flow per minute by 
more than half; and

	» water-saving concealed cisterns that save half a litre of water 
with every flush.

2020/21 priorities and prospects
	» Implementing the renewable energy roll-out plan (grid-tied 

solar systems) to stores.
	» Continued conversion of stores to LED lighting with the aim 

of converting all CTM stores to LED by 2022. Product to be 
sourced and supplied by U-Light.

	» Automation of various processes in stores and improved 
functionality on mobile scanners (particularly in the warehouse/
dispatch areas of stores), resulting in reduced paper usage.

	» Ongoing product sourcing and innovation (water and energy 
efficient products), including the ranging of EcoTec tiles from 
Ceramic Industries. 

	» Grow awareness of our wide range of environmentally sensitive 
products.

	» New store builds will include optimal use of natural light, 
solar technology, new-generation lighting, water-saving taps, 
rain water harvesting and environmentally sensitive building 
materials. In addition, gardens in all new stores will have 
indigenous vegetation with succulent vegetation to reduce 
water required for irrigation.

CERAMIC INDUSTRIES
Manufacturing plants
Ceramic Industries’ factories use the latest technology to ensure 
efficient production. Gas consumption is reduced through the use 
of state-of-the-art burner technology and heat recovery systems 
that heat combustion air. Process water is recovered and reused, 
ensuring that no effluent leaves the factories. Natural lighting 
techniques and new-generation LED lighting have replaced 
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less efficient lighting in many places in the factories. Large solar 
generation systems have been installed in our Australian factory 
and at the Betta sanitaryware site in South Africa. Concurrent 
rehabilitation of raw material quarries is conducted and 
quarries are rehabilitated once end-of-productive-life is reached 
(becoming wetlands or park areas).

Water management
Our factories rely primarily on water from boreholes and 
municipalities for production. It is for this reason that our existing 
boreholes are registered with the Department of Water and 
Sanitation. We conduct monthly water monitoring on site to 
detect our potential impact on the environment and also conduct 
groundwater level monitoring to determine how much we are 
consuming from our natural resources. Furthermore, our factories 
are designed to maintain a closed loop system, which means 
that most of our water is recycled right through the process. 
In an effort  to enable our factories to operate environmentally 
efficiently, we have active water treatment plants at some of 
our factories, which make it possible to clean and reuse our 
process water. Reverse osmosis plants clean water that is then 
used in the factories. These initiatives all reduce the reliance on 
municipal water. 

Air management
Emission of dust as a result of the type of raw material used in 
the production process is a key risk. Our factories are equipped 
with  baghouses and wet scrubbers, which ensure particulate 
emissions are minimised or eliminated. In line with our 
occupational health and safety standards, we assess and monitor 
occupational hazards and implement mitigating measures. Air 
monitoring is performed on kiln and drier emissions to ensure 
compliance with regulated limits. 

Waste management
We aspire to comply with the hierarchy of waste management by 
preventing, minimising, recycling, and recovering, with disposal 
being the last option. This approach applies to all waste that 
could potentially emanate from our production process and 
domestic waste that is generated on a day-to-day basis. Some 
of the initiatives that have been implemented include recycling 
of heat, raw materials and process water which all feed back 
into the process. We also have a waste management system 
that separates waste at the source and aims to dispose of as 
little waste as possible. This is an ongoing project delivering 
continuous improvement.

Energy consumption
Solar panels fitted at the factories reduce our reliance on electricity 
and our carbon footprint. The Company has over the years also 
invested in technology and robots within the process, which not 
only improve productivity, but have an indirect positive impact on 
the environment. Other changes in the factory including motion 
sensors, heat recovery, and light bulb retrofitting, will eventually 
add up to a notable saving in energy and costs.

2019/20 major achievements
Energy management
	» Continued roll out of energy efficient lights at factories.
	» Installation of a 1 MW solar plant in National Ceramic Industries 

Australia.

Other
	» Development of a new EcoTec production method which 

results in lighter and thinner tiles. The EcoTec manufacturing 
process emits 30% less CO2, while the product requires 25% 
less packaging and costs 25% less per m² to transport from 
source, contributing to a significant carbon reduction.

2020/21 priorities and prospects
Management will continue to raise awareness around issues 
pertaining to waste, water use and air quality through internal 
communication and externally through community engagement 
forums. Specific priorities for the business in the year ahead 
include:

Water management
	» Continue to minimise water use and improve recycling.
	» Maintenance of water treatment plants to ensure no effluent 

discharge.
	» Progress plans to construct a waste management area in 

Vereeniging while maintaining the culture of recycling within 
and outside the process.

	» Reduce consumption of paper by encouraging the use of 
digital techniques instead of print.

Air management
	» Continue to maintain air emission levels within legal limit. 

Energy management
	» Roll out energy efficient lights at factories that have not yet 

converted to this new technology.
	» Installation of a 3 MW solar plant in Vereeniging which will 

reduce reliance on non-renewable energy and generate up to 
25% of energy requirements.

Other
	» Expansion of the EcoTec range of tiles.
	» Construction of an upgraded Samca Floor tile factory. The new 

factory will include state-of-the-art technology with reduced 
energy requirements, with reduction of up to 25% in gas and 
electricity consumption, together with the corresponding 
reduction in CO2 emissions. Product produced will consume 
15% fewer natural resources to manufacture.

CARBON FOOTPRINT
In line with recent developments in South Africa’s regulatory and 
tax landscape regarding climate change, the Group has resolved 
to align its environmental assessment methodologies with local 
legislation and international best practices. This revised approach 
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has enabled the Group to comply with legislative requirements, 
adequately prepare for the impact of carbon tax and proactively 
manage its overall carbon footprint.

In this regard, a detailed assessment of the Group’s carbon 
footprint is undertaken annually, specifically focusing on the 
following:
	» identifying and quantifying direct (scope 1) emissions that will 

require reporting to the Department of Environment, Forestry 
and Fisheries (“DEFF”), and also be liable for the carbon tax; 
and 

	» understanding the main sources of indirect emissions (scope 2 
and 3) contributing to the Group’s overall carbon footprint. 

Scope 1 emissions are determined according to the National 
GHG Emissions Reporting Regulations (as issued by the DEFF) 
and the Carbon Tax Act (National Treasury). Scope 2 emissions 
are based on Eskom’s latest grid emission factor. The scope 3 
emissions are determined in accordance with the UK’s Department 
for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (“DEFRA”) guidelines. 
Generally, all calculations align with the Greenhouse Gas Protocol 
and ISO 14064 standards.

The carbon footprint assessment splits the Group into three 
components: Ceramic Industries, Ezee Tile and Italtile (inclusive 
of all remaining Group entities). 

The majority of the Group’s emissions come from scope 1 
emissions, which include process emissions (release of CO2 due 
to chemical reactions); mobile fuel (fuel from Company-owned 
vehicles and forklifts); and stationary fuel (fuel used in Company-
owned kilns, dryers and generators). Scope 2 emissions are from 

purchased electricity and scope 3 emissions are from: business 
travel; upstream and downstream logistics; water; and paper use. 

Overall, the Carbon Footprint report reveals that the Group’s 
emissions have decreased (inclusive of the smaller emissions). The 
impact of the lockdown aside, detailed assessment of the various 
facilities within the Group highlighted the following changes:
	» Extended closure of Samca Floor reduced stationary 

combustion emissions.
	» Improved operational efficiency and waste reduction at 

Samca Wall and Pegasus facilities reduced emissions linked 
to stationary combustion and electricity. The impact of these 
improvements is presently being investigated for a Section 12L 
energy efficiency incentive.

	» The Solar PV plant situated at Betta managed to generate 
1 751 226 kWh, thereby effectively reducing emissions linked 
to grid electricity by 1 767 tCO2e.

	» The addition of new retail stores increased emissions linked to 
grid electricity.

	» A reduction in imports (shipping and air freight) reduced 
upstream logistics. 

CARBON TAX IMPLICATIONS
The payment for carbon tax was set to be due in July 2020, but 
has been extended to 31 October 2020 due to the COVID-19 
pandemic. The first payment of this tax will be levied on emissions 
from 1 June to 31 December 2019. The tax applies only to 
selected scope 1 emissions and also presents various allowance 
mechanisms that can be utilised to reduce the Group’s taxable 
emissions. Taxpayers liable for carbon tax are required to apply 
for a licence in terms of the Customs and Excise Act. 

ENVIRONMENTAL
REPORT CONTINUED

Breakdown of Group emissions 
per entity

■  Ceramic Industries
■  Ezee Tile Adhesives
■  Retail stores

2020

80%

10%

10%

Data to be 
supplied

■  Scope 1
■  Scope 2
■  Scope 3

2020

43%

32%

25%

Breakdown of Group emissions 
per scope
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Presently the tax only directly affects the Group’s manufacturing 
entities with an annual carbon tax exposure exceeding R20 million. 
The impact of the tax was significantly reduced through the 
effective utilisation of available allowance mechanisms. The Group 
specifically participated in DEFF’s Carbon Budget programme 
and collaborated with National Treasury to develop a Ceramics 
Manufacturing Emission Benchmark. These efforts, combined 
with the basic and trade exposure linked allowances, reduced the 
Group’s carbon tax for the 2020 financial year.

An independent expert was engaged to assess the Group’s 
carbon tax liability and GHG emissions reporting requirements. 
All activity classifications, thresholds, emission factors, energy 
contents and calculations are based on the guidance provided by 
the National Greenhouse Gas Emissions Reporting Regulations.

Retail
The retail component of the business has the potential to 
be impacted by the carbon tax as a result of stationary fuel 
consumption (diesel in generators). An analysis of stationary fuel 
use across all the stores in the Group found that consumption 
is currently below the 10 MW threshold, thereby exempting the 
retail business from the tax under the current conditions. The retail 
business will continue to strive to ensure that there are measures 
in place to improve our energy security while avoiding the risk 
of incurring carbon tax (this will include use of UPS systems and 
batteries to store energy where economically viable). 

Ezee Tile
An analysis of Ezee Tile’s operations found that the thermal 
input capacities of the equipment installed in the South African 
operations exceed the 10 MW threshold and, accordingly, the 
business will have to report on GHG emissions. Ezee Tile further 
incurs a carbon tax liability due mostly to emissions emanating 
from stationary fuel combustion and an accrual of R0,2 million for 
carbon tax has been recorded in the financial year under review. 
Ezee Tile will actively pursue energy efficiency projects and claim 
allowances where possible to decrease this liability.

Ceramic Industries
Ceramic Industries’ operations utilise gas for purposes of drying 
and firing ceramic product, and diesel for material handling by 
means of forklifts and front-end loaders. The installed thermal 
capacities of the equipment installed in the South African 
operations exceed the 10 MW threshold and the business will 
report on GHG emissions. Ceramic is a significant consumer of 
natural gas and an accrual for R7,5 million for carbon tax has been 
recorded in the financial year under review.
 
As noted in this report, Ceramic Industries will continue to 
implement projects that reduce energy consumption. These 
projects include the installation of new energy efficient motors, 
gas burners with reduced energy consumption, waste heat 
recovery projects, improved insulation, installation of generation 
by means of renewable energy technologies and process 
improvements to lower consumption. Ceramic was one of the 
first ceramic companies to implement recovery of heat from its 
kiln rapid cooling zones to the spray driers. Further, installation of 
a 3 MW solar plant in Vereeniging is planned, which will reduce 
reliance on non-renewable energy and generate up to 25% of 
energy requirements.

■  Other scope 3 activities
■  Mobile combustion
■  Stationary combustion
■  Process
■  Grid electricity
■  Upstream logistics
■  Downstream logistics

2020

41%
6%

32%

18%

1% 1%

1%

Breakdown of main emission 
categories

 
Italtile Ceramics Group – annual carbon 

footprint
200 000

180 000

160 000

140 000

120 000

100 000

80 000

60 000

40 000

20 000

0

Em
is

si
on

s 
(tC

O
2e

)

M
ob

ile
3 

30
4

2 
58

2

18
5 

22
8

15
1 

77
0

6 
15

9
5 

26
5

12
6 

47
0

11
7 

81
6

31
 0

80

24
 0

55

68
 6

21

67
 0

73

4 
55

1

2 
52

2

■ FY19 ■ FY20

St
at

io
na

ry

Pr
oc

es
s

El
ec

tri
cit

y

U
ps

tre
am

 
lo

gi
st

ics

D
ow

ns
tre

am
 

lo
gi

st
ics

O
th

er
 

sc
op

e 
3 

ac
tiv

iti
es

Integrated Annual Report 2020 65



ENVIRONMENTAL
REPORT CONTINUED

WWW.CERAMIC .CO .ZA

From the quarry to the home, EcoTec provides benefits throughout the value chain.

Made with 10% fewer 
natural resources

Made to be thinner

Made using 
heat recycling

100% recycling of 
water used in the 
production of tiles

Affordable 
by design

Locally sourced materials

Our credentials

Proudly 
South African

Global designs Local appeal

Guaranteed 
CI quality

Technically compliant 
SABS SANS 1449

Constant 
innovation 

Meets global 
standards

>24% stronger than 
the minimum 

SABS requirement
Consistent 

technical tolerances

Servicing 
Southern Africa 
for over 40 years

Made to be EcoTec

0% 5%

Packaging required

200 x 300 mm

600 x 600 mm

600 x 600 mm

350 x 350 mm

350 x 350 mm

350 x 350 mm

350 x 350 mm

10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35%

Percentage savings from EcoTec tiles in our ranges compared 
to other tiles.

EcoTec versus Current
% Less

Reduction in 
transport emissions

CO2
 process emissions from driers and kilns

0% 10%

Packaging required

20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70%

EcoTec versus Imported Polished Porcelain
% Less

Reduction in 
transport emissions

CO2
 process emissions from driers and kilns

SUSTAINABILITY
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The Group’s ongoing 
productivity campaign was 

accelerated with the onset of 
the	pandemic.	Significantly,	
we have recognised that by 

driving up the output and 
returns on all our resources 

and assets, we can do more 
with less, while retaining the 

best of our offering. 

By focusing on consistent 
investment in the shopping 

experience, entrenching retail 
excellence principles and 

winning over customers, we 
will continue to recover and 
build on the foundation for 

sustainable growth. 
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S 
REPORT

THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC
The safety of our customers and our people is of paramount 
importance and we implement rigorous COVID-19 risk mitigating 
protocols across our business to ensure we play our role in curbing 
the spread of the virus. Our internal audit department is tasked 
with ensuring compliance and accountability and we practice zero 
tolerance on non-compliance. 

In terms of the progression of the pandemic and its impact on 
our operations, the third quarter of the review period marked 
the commencement of the COVID-19 era with the imposition of 
the hard lockdown on 27 March 2020. The fourth quarter was a 
tumultuous period, featuring cessation of trading for five weeks 
in line with restrictions, followed by a limited, phased reopening 
and then a massive drive across our operations to ramp up as 
safely and quickly as possible to serve our customers, to save 
jobs, and secure the sustainability of the business.

Our goal throughout this period was to come through the crisis 
well and, in certain respects, better than before. The double-digit 
growth delivered in June to August, with a leaner team, less stock 
and healthy brands, is rewarding evidence of this. It must be 
noted though, that while the pandemic accelerated our efforts to 
continue to strengthen our business, the achievement of this goal 
was facilitated by the extensive groundwork undertaken over the 
past eighteen months. 

I am also pleased to report that the pandemic has had no 
material impact on our debtors’ book, which remains healthy, 
and  furthermore that there has been no need to utilise the 
short-term contingency facility which we negotiated prior to 
the lockdown period.

The response from our customers since reopening has been 
resoundingly encouraging. I would like to extend my heartfelt 
thanks to them for their support and their endorsement of our 
stringent COVID-19-related health and safety protocols. We 
recognise that these vital measures add a degree of inconvenience 
to the shopping experience and have therefore been pleasantly 
surprised by their willing and cheerful compliance. 

Tragically, the pandemic has taken the lives of fellow citizens in 
our trading markets. On behalf of all of us at Italtile, I would like 
to extend my sincerest condolences to those of you who have lost 
loved ones during this time. 

OVERVIEW
Trading environment
Prior to the onset of the pandemic in late March, operating 
conditions in the country were already very challenging. 
Consumer and business confidence levels were alarmingly low, 
reflecting disillusionment with non-delivery of transformational 
structural reforms, ongoing policy uncertainty, and unstable 
power supply. Country specific risks were exacerbated by the 
marked deterioration of the economy, evidenced by growing 
unemployment, ongoing retrenchments, low wage inflation and 
sovereign credit downgrades, with South Africa finally tipping 
into recession in the second half of the review period. Inevitably in 
this unfavourable environment, negatively disposed homeowners 
with limited discretionary income deferred investments in their 
homes. With negligible public and private sector investment, 
the building and construction industry deteriorated further, 
manifested by the consolidation or failure of both large, listed 
construction companies and smaller independent building-
related businesses.

Regrettably, with the advent of the pandemic, economic and social 
conditions worsened materially. The lockdown and subsequent 
restrictions, albeit successful at slowing the trajectory of the virus 
initially, had a severely negative impact on employment levels 
and household disposable income. 

Notably, in our industry, enforced stay-at-home orders served to 
change consumers’ lifestyles, as well as their priorities. With more 
time spent in the home, increased work-from-home opportunities, 
and restrictions imposed on travel and leisure activities, some of 
the funds previously allocated to transport costs and recreational 
pastimes were reallocated to home improvements, particularly in 
our middle and lower Living Standards Measure (“LSM”) markets. 
This bears out our long-standing experience that South Africans 
are proud homeowners and when finances permit, will continue 
to invest in their primary assets.

‘Unprecedented’ is the word most frequently used when referring to the COVID-19 global 
pandemic. In these extraordinary times, our people have demonstrated energy, 
determination and resilience beyond our expectations. While we pride ourselves on a 
high-performance culture, the phenomenal response of our team has been unmatched. 
Their enthusiasm to revive the business after lockdown and their continued commitment 
to curbing the spread of the virus to ensure uninterrupted service to our customers has 
been key to this solid set of results and the long-term sustainability of our business. 
Special mention should also be made of our customers, whose support for our offering 
and endorsement of our rigorous safety protocols has been inspiring.

OUR PERFORMANCE
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Jan Potgieter
Chief	Executive	Officer

Trading through this period of ‘new normal’ has revealed 
important trends:

Customer behaviour has changed (possibly temporarily, but likely 
in the long term too). Customers have become more risk averse 
and more decisive in their purchasing behaviour. They choose to 
shop in safe, familiar environments, where they can fill their order 
in one visit. They are also less inclined to spend time browsing 
or to travel between competitors researching comparable value 
offerings, preferring rather to conduct their research online. 
Having converted to this format, it is likely customers will adopt 
this as permanent behaviour.

In this regard our business model has numerous advantages:
	» the integrated supply chain provides a complete specialist 

one-stop solution to our customers;
	» over the Group’s 51-year trading history we have built a 

portfolio of trusted, market-leading retail brands that are 
strategically positioned to appeal across the demographic and 
income spectrum, uniquely targeting each segment; and

	» our offering is supported by multi-channel platforms (in-store, 
webstores and social and digital). This enables customers the 
convenience of accessing our offering on the platform of their 
choice.

The businesses that have thrived through this difficult time 
have been adaptable, agile and underpinned by balance sheet 
flexibility.

Our values and basic disciplines stood us in good stead:
	» the culture of partnership with our franchisees and store 

operators has ensured that we all worked together to achieve 
the common goal of revitalising and growing our business; and

	» the strong cash generative nature of the business and engrained 
disciplines of cash management and cost leadership ensured 
robust reserves at a potentially testing time. Our ability to pay a 
final dividend and to reinstate our roughly R800 million capital 
expenditure programme exemplify this.

Businesses need to be self-reliant to control their destiny.

A further consequence of the pandemic for the industry is the 
continuing interruption in supply of imported product. Initially 
when factories in international markets closed during lockdowns, 
supply was constrained. However, following the lockdown in this 

country which resulted in considerable delays at the national 
ports, imported products arrived infrequently, irregularly and 
at higher cost due to unplanned demurrage, other incremental 
charges and the depreciation of the local currency over the last 
quarter. To date the port delays have not been resolved. 

The Group benefited from its local integrated supply chain and 
manufacturing capability, which negated the challenges regarding 
stock availability and pricing volatility which other operators 
experienced across the industry.

Our business
Consistent strategies and goals in a new mode
I concluded my 2019 report with the following comment, “I am 
satisfied that we have the appropriate team and strategies in 
place to deliver on our key imperatives and we will endeavour to 
meet the expectations of our broad range of stakeholders.”

Inevitably, the events which arose in the year under review have 
served as a thorough test of our team’s mettle and the relevance 
of our strategies. 

In line with our long-standing philosophy that growth will be 
derived from the internal levers within our control, the key focus 
areas for our executives continued to be sales, cost leadership, 
productivity improvements and performance culture. The 
lockdown, however, provided a pivotal opportunity to critically 
and impartially evaluate our achievements in terms of these key 
focus areas and to reorientate our operations to survive and thrive 
in the demanding new environment.

	» We learnt the lesson that with renewed energy and improved 
productivity, we can do more with less – without compromising 
the essence of our offering.

	» We recognised that our ability to recover quickly is based on 
our narrow focus and consistent investment in the shopping 
experience and unwavering efforts to better execute retail 
excellence principles. 

Having robustly interrogated our business ‘basics’ over the past 
four months, I am now even more convinced that we have the 
appropriate levers in place to deliver on our key imperatives, as 
the commentary in this report will illustrate.
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SCORECARD: ACHIEVEMENT OF KEY 
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS AND STRATEGIC 
IMPERATIVES
Within the business, management’s performance is rated 
according to a scorecard across the following key performance 
indicators (KPIs):
	» strategic plan;
	» financial performance;
	» human capital;
	» BBBEE;
	» customer satisfaction; and
	» cultural fit and values.

At the end of 2019, I identified our areas of focus for 2020 aligned 
to these KPIs and outlined the strategic imperatives that we 
would employ to attain our targets and goals. The commentary 
which follows serves as a scorecard of the progress achieved.

Superior achieve Exceeded target

Achieve Achieved target

Underachieve Failed to meet target

Focus on sales growth, particularly 
in the tile category

Achieve

It is pleasing to report that sales volume growth in the tile 
category was achieved in every month for the first nine months 
of the review period, across all three brands. This is a significant 
accomplishment given that this merchandise category contributes 
approximately half of our total retail turnover.

In the last quarter, however, with the onset of the pandemic and 
the implementation of the lockdown, the business generated 
practically no sales in South Africa and only negligible sales in 
some of our rest of Africa markets from 27 March to 30 April. 
From 2 May, with the easing of restrictions, tile sales were flat for 
the month compared to the prior year.

Rewardingly, with further easing of restrictions, sales resumed 
strongly in June with tile volume growth once again reported 
across all three brands. This trend has continued post-year end, 
into July and August.

The growth in tile sales has been underpinned by notable 
improvements in the range, with a keener focus on aligning 
latest fashion with specific customer profiles, as well as better 
presentation in-store. We are confident that further growth 
opportunities exist in terms of pre-retailing and execution in store. 

Continue to prioritise the shopping 
experience through retail 
excellence principles

Achieve

We intensified our drive on retail excellence and I am satisfied 
that we have achieved a noteworthy step-change across our 
customer touchpoints. Key improvements were made in range 
and presentation, as well as the look-and-feel of both our in-store 
and webstore offerings. Our efforts were rewarded with a gain in 
market share across our retail brands. 

Furthermore, we recorded improved satisfaction scores across the 
measures we employ to analyse customer sentiment, including 
Mystery Shoppers, in-store surveys, Net Promoter Score and an 
independent brand health monitor.

While gratified with this performance, we believe there are further 
opportunities to meet and exceed the needs of our customers in 
terms of price, service and fashion. 

Advance the store roll-out and 
revamp programme

Achieve

Management met its target of 10 to 15 new stores for the review 
period, which includes one Italtile Retail store, three CTMs, 
five TopTs and four U-Light stores. Four additional stores were 
scheduled to open in the last quarter, but were postponed due 
to the logistical challenges posed by the pandemic. Two marginal 
TopT stores were closed. Five properties were acquired and the 
portfolio also comprises a strong pipeline of other sites, which 
will be developed strategically. Management is targeting a further 
10 to 15 new stores in the year ahead.

The revamp programme is an ongoing business imperative 
designed to enhance the shopping experience for customers and 
improve returns on the property portfolio. A total of 15 stores 
were revamped during the review period, somewhat constrained 
by lockdown restrictions on construction. Significantly, in the 
revamped CTM stores, pleasing sales growth in the bathroomware 
category was experienced, justifying the investment incurred. 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S 
REPORT CONTINUED
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Continue to develop disruptive 
marketing campaigns

Achieve

On an individual brand basis, good use was made of strategic 
marketing campaigns across both traditional and new social 
media platforms. This intervention played a key role in growing 
sales in the constrained disposable income environment. By way 
of example, CTM ran a Leap Year promotion over the last four 
days of February, which was particularly successful. The campaign 
centred on offering a range of products at prices dating back four 
years. The tactical campaign served to reward loyal customers, 
while driving double-digit sales growth and supporting margins 
for store operators.

Our Proudly South African positioning, demonstrated in our 
campaigns, continues to find favour with customers who support 
our goal of ‘making local and buying local’, aimed at creating 
jobs and growing the economy. This endorsement has been very 
evident during the pandemic which has fostered a strong ‘we’re 
in this together’ sentiment in this country.

In the current limited-spend climate, the brands will continue to 
capitalise on opportunities to leverage the strong equity they 
enjoy. 

Roll out the U-Light offering, 
contingent on the success of the 
pilot venture

Achieve

While launching a new brand in the context of adverse market 
dynamics is challenging, management is satisfied with the 
progress made in establishing a footprint for the Group’s new 
lighting offering. Four additional U-Light stores were opened in 
the review period, bringing the network to five stores (excluding 
the webstore), each comprising a slightly different format and 
targeting a different market segment. Momentum was gained 
in the first half of the review period, with the business on track 
to break even for the full year. Unfortunately, the onset of the 
pandemic interrupted imported supply, which had a major impact 
on stock availability, resulting in weaker than anticipated lighting 
sales in TopT as well as in the five bespoke U-Light stores. 

Management’s goal in the year ahead is to ramp up the 
contribution of the lighting category in TopT stores and, 
depending on market conditions, to pilot U-Light franchise stores 
to complement the company-owned network. Opportunities to 

develop a direct import capability will also be executed, with the 
aim of ensuring exclusivity and differentiation of product for our 
customers.

Leverage improvements made in 
the HR function to develop and 
optimise a people pipeline

Achieve

Building depth of talent and developing and upskilling our 
people are key management priorities. In the current testing 
environment, it is imperative that we have the right people and 
the right size team to optimise productivity returns and improve 
our competitive posture. 

Management 
At executive level, the Financial Director resigned at the end of 
the review period, and the position has been filled by the former 
CFO. Our senior management team is well structured and has a 
good balance of experience and expertise. Business unit leaders 
are equity shareholders in their business, which is a reflection of 
our confidence in them. We also achieved good progress with 
improving the calibre of our store operators across the brands. 
This is an ongoing intervention and is critical to achieving the 
Group’s growth goals.

People development
The HR and Training report on page 94 outlines our wide-
ranging human capital development programmes. These include 
internships and learnerships for both qualified students and 
inexperienced jobseekers, and partnerships with the Universities 
of Pretoria and Stellenbosch, and the Henley Business Schools to 
further our employees’ education. We also manage accredited 
training academies across the brands and provide e-learning 
tuition for our employees, our franchise partners and their 
employees. I am pleased to report that during the review period, 
the Group’s Tiling and Plumbing Academy was accredited by the 
Construction CETA for NQF Level 3 qualification.

Gender balance
We are committed to empowerment and transformation in the 
business and strive to ensure that our human resource complement 
is representative of the demographics in this country. A growing 
trend in our industry is the increase in women homeowners and 
decision makers in the home finishing arena and as the business 
evolves away from the perception of building materials supplier 
to fashion retailer, we will continue to enhance our pool of female 
store operators.

COPY TO BE 

SUPPLIED

Integrated Annual Report 2020 71



Employee sentiment
An independent evaluation is conducted annually to assess the 
quality of engagement with our employees. The engagement 
score has consistently improved over the past three years, from 
73% and 74% in the two prior years, to 77% in the current year, our 
best score to date. The rating applies to the following categories: 
communication effectiveness, ethics, leadership, management, 
performance, respect, reward and recognition, and working 
environment. According to the survey scorecard, our result of 
77% equates the business to a ‘Top company, with a motivational 
level which will facilitate growth and change’. The organisation is 
defined as ‘striving to be world class’.

A key management priority over this very difficult time has 
been to convey support and motivation to our team on an 
ongoing basis across a range of mediums including one-on-
one interactions, emails, videos and WhatsApps. I am satisfied 
that this engagement score is a good indicator of the team’s 
recognition of our efforts. 

People pipeline – our challenge
During the review period we made good progress with 
strengthening our existing human capital resource. However, 
despite our commitment and the high level of investment and 
effort dedicated to building a people pipeline, I am disappointed 
with the results. I acknowledge that retail is a very demanding 
sector. However, the major obstacles appear to be an education 
system that is failing the youth of this country and a culture of 
disillusionment that has developed in a society deficient in sound 
values and strong leadership role models.

In the year ahead, we will revisit our people development 
capability and enhance our recruitment methodologies.

Improve the Group’s BBBEE status 
from level 6 to level 5

Superior achieve

The Group has continued to improve its BBBEE rating over the past 
four years based on sustained management focus to transform 
the business through a range of meaningful interventions. The 
rating has improved from non-compliant in 2016, to level 4 in the 
review period, exceeding our target of level 5. This improvement 
was advanced with the conclusion of an empowerment deal with 
Yard Holdings, significantly improved scoring on procurement 
criteria and generally enhanced administration and management 
of BBBEE credentials. The Group’s new level 4 rating is among 
the highest in the listed retail sector.

Entrench working capital and cash 
management as core disciplines

Achieve

Expense control and cost leadership are engrained in the business 
and in the COVID-19 era these disciplines are particularly vital to 
ensure flexibility. 

Despite substantial cash outflows, cash reserves at the close 
of  the period were R860 million. Major cash outflows include 
capital expenditure of R614 million; total dividend payments of 
R1 481 million; own share repurchases totalling R243 million; and 
tax payments of R416 million. It is also pleasing to note that the 
additional short-term contingency facility raised in the review 
period was not utilised.

Prioritise better stock turn and 
product mix

Achieve

Managing stock levels to facilitate balance sheet flexibility was a 
major focus during the review period. It is rewarding to report that 
total inventory levels, net of provisions, were only 4% higher year-
on-year. This is a significant achievement, given that the Group 
converted 19 TopT and nine CTM franchised stores to Group-
owned; we launched the U-Light business (five stores) which 
added new inventory; no material sales were made for almost six 
weeks during the lockdown; and massive supply chain disruptions 
were experienced due to the pandemic, which resulted in stock 
landing out of sequence with our planned schedules.

Importantly, the mix and quality of our stock on hand is good, 
with a high ratio of business-critical items.

Focus on improving manufacturing 
efficiencies and reducing waste

Superior achieve

Both of our manufacturing businesses, Ceramic Industries and 
Ezee Tile, delivered stellar performances under very difficult 
circumstances based on enhanced production efficiencies and 
improved cost management in their operations.

Despite higher input costs across the board, Ceramic managed 
to withhold price increases to support price sensitive customers. 
The business was also successful in improving yields and reducing 
waste, which is particularly creditable given reduced volumes 
attributable to trading restrictions over the last quarter. Notably, 
Ceramic suffered a direct loss of R34 million as a consequence of 
load-shedding during the period.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S 
REPORT CONTINUED
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The remedial measures implemented at Ezee Tile enabled the 
business to turn around the disappointing performance recorded 
in the previous year. Prior to the lockdown, Ezee Tile was on track 
to report higher volumes and sales and improved profits and 
margins. With the resumption of trading in June, the business did 
well to ramp up production and finish the quarter strongly.

In response to the pandemic, Ezee Tile created capability in its 
operations to produce hand and surface sanitiser, compliant 
with the WHO specifications, for use in our stores and other 
operations. This achievement is to be applauded and is testament 
to operational agility.

Bed down supply chain integration, 
reduce inefficiencies and leverage 
opportunities in the logistics and 
distribution functions

Achieve

In my 2019 report I noted that we were in the first phase of 
implementing a five-year supply chain programme designed to 
achieve improved costs and load planning and in the medium-
term importing and shipping efficiencies.

Last year we established three Distribution Centres (“DCs”), in 
Durban, Cape Town and Vereeniging, as combined hubs for both 
imported stock and the Cedar Point operations. It is pleasing to 
report that across all three DCs, system enhancements have been 
made and have achieved the targeted improvements.

At year end, Cedar Point brought in-house the previously 
outsourced Vereeniging warehouse function. This development 
has resulted in challenges, but equally provides strong upside, 
which should be realised in time. 

Another important development has been the introduction of 
a combined transport management system (“TMS”), which, 
through effective logistics and distribution planning, provides a 
crucial link between the manufacturing and retail operations. The 
introduction of this model will improve efficiencies and service 
levels to the stores and result in savings for the Group.

As we continue to implement the next phases of the programme, 
our goal is to leverage the power of the integrated supply chain 
through better collaboration between the operating divisions.

Drive overall productivity to 
become more competitive

Achieve

The Group’s ongoing productivity drive was accelerated with 
the onset of the pandemic. In the low sales environment, we 
recognised that to ensure long-term sustainability we needed to 
immediately shift the mindset in the business to ‘do more with 
less’, by driving up the output and returns on all our resources 
and assets. 

Aligned with rigorous productivity measures, we have developed 
a blueprint for our operations which optimises stockholding and 
headcount relative to key performance indicators. I am confident 
this streamlined operating model will achieve the desired goal 
of improving productivity and profitability without compromising 
the essence of the business.

We will also continue to advance the productivity drive through 
building the joint venture partnership model which affords the 
Group better visibility of performance and higher return on 
investment.

RESULTS OVERVIEW 
The commentary below provides a brief overview of the Group’s 
results for the review period from a trading perspective. A detailed 
analysis of the results is contained in the CFO’s report on page 98.

Notwithstanding the impact of the lockdown, the Group reported 
a solid set of results for the review period.

Total system-wide turnover of R9,3 billion (2019: R10,0 billion) 
was 7% lower than the prior comparable period.

Retail store turnover declined 3,9% compared to the previous 
corresponding period, with average selling price inflation 
estimated at 1,4% (2019: 2,7%). Like-for-like retail store turnover 
(excluding sales of stores opened and closed during the period) 
decreased by 6,2%. Prior to the lockdown, up to 27 March, retail 
store sales were up 5,4% year on year. During the lockdown 
only marginal sales were recorded in April. In May and June, 
store sales grew 3% and 11% respectively. Encouragingly, sales 
growth of 14% and 17% were recorded in July and August 
2020 respectively.
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Supply chain sales decreased by 6,1% compared to the previous 
corresponding period. Prior to the lockdown, sales had increased 
1,4% year on year.

Manufacturing sales for the review period declined by 8,8% 
compared to the previous corresponding period, with average 
selling price inflation estimated at 1,0%. Prior to the lockdown, 
sales were flat year on year.

Adjusted basic earnings per share (“EPS”) decreased by 21% 
to  81,5 cents (2019: 102,6 cents), while adjusted headline 
earnings  per share (“HEPS”) declined by 19% to 82,3 cents 
(2019: 101,8 cents). EPS and HEPS were adjusted for the once-off 
charge of R39 million related to the BBBEE transaction concluded 
with Yard SPV as announced on SENS on 10 September 2019. 
The disparity between EPS and HEPS is attributable to net profits 
of R14 million, versus R1 million in the current year, realised on the 
disposal of local properties during the prior year.

In light of the BBBEE transaction with Yard Holdings and 
the Group´s cash reserves being in excess of operational 
requirements, a special cash dividend of 23,0 cents per ordinary 
share was declared in October 2019. This special dividend, the 
third for three consecutive years, was declared out of income 
reserves, reflecting the Group’s strong cash generating ability.

A final ordinary gross dividend of 10,0 cents per share was 
declared (2019: 19,0 cents), which, together with the interim 
ordinary dividend of 23,0 cents per share (2019: 22,0 cents), 
brings the total dividend declared for the year to 33,0 cents 
(2019: 41,0 cents). 

GROUP PERFORMANCE
The following commentary provides an overview of our operational 
performance during the reporting period. The detailed individual 
business unit reviews follow on page 78. 

Retail brands and webstore
Our three major retail brands, CTM, Italtile Retail and TopT, 
all gained market share, while our fledgling U-Light brand 
established a solid footprint in its first year of operation. The 
health and equity of our major brands improved, reflected 
by the good scores achieved across all customer satisfaction 
measures which we conduct to assess the appeal of the shopping 
experience in our stores.

In terms of key metrics, as a consequence of the lockdown and 
subsequent trading restrictions, Italtile Retail and CTM’s year-on-
year sales and profits declined. In contrast, and in line with the 
annual December holiday trend, TopT’s sales were buoyed by 
the migration of a big portion of its customer base from urban 
areas back to primary rural family homes. Much of this customer 
base comprises civil servants who continued to receive full 
remuneration during the period, or are beneficiaries of income 
and relief grants. Once lockdown restrictions eased, sales in these 
rural areas made a material contribution to TopT’s higher year-on-
year growth.

The Group’s webstores have been established for several 
years and sales have grown consistently since their launch. The 
operating experience gained and general improvements made 
over time stood the business in good stead during the lockdown 
and subsequent restrictions, as online traffic escalated strongly 
during the last quarter, a trend which has continued post-year 
end. Particularly noteworthy was the increase in online activity in 
rural areas, illustrating the improved access of new customers to 
non-traditional shopping platforms. 

Through the Group’s bespoke online CRM Sales Force platform, 
an extensive, credible customer database has been developed, 
which will afford the brands unique ability to capitalise on 
personalised customer marketing opportunities.

Supply chain: Importers 
Cedar Point
During the review period, the business concluded the successful 
commissioning and bedding down of the new Durban DC 
warehouse facility which services the KwaZulu-Natal and Eastern 
Cape regions. Good progress was also achieved in improving the 
range and replacing some import supply with local product.

At year end, Cedar Point insourced the Vereeniging DC which 
had previously been managed by an external third party. Bedding 
down management of the facility has been a challenging project 
and is work in progress.

In the prior year, profits were inflated by import duties which were 
clawed back; without this benefit in the current financial year, 
profits were flat.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S 
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International Tap Distributors (“ITD”)
This business delivered a very pleasing performance for the 
year, reporting double-digit profit growth. Improved working 
capital management and cost controls, reduced stock and an 
enhanced range were key achievements recorded. Management 
continues to explore opportunities to identify new local suppliers 
to integrate into the division’s supply chain.

Durban DC
A good performance was reported by this division, which 
exceeded sales budgets despite the weak sales environment. 
During the review period, the business switched to buying 
certain imported products from local wholesalers, a tactical 
strategy which has reduced costs and inefficiencies associated 
with importing. Relocation to the new Durban facility has also 
delivered the envisaged efficiencies and benefits.

Supply chain: Manufacturers
Ceramic Industries
Despite reduced volumes produced due to lockdown restrictions, 
the tile factories made significant headway in enhancing yields 
and reducing waste. Improved efficiencies, intensified cost 
management and range rationalisation were key drivers during 
the period.

The Betta Sanitaryware and Baths operations delivered an 
improved performance. The restructured management team 
has enhanced the quality of processes and planning, which 
augurs well for continued growth in the business. Construction 
of the warehouse facility was temporarily deferred in light of the 
pandemic and will continue once favourable conditions resume.

Notably, Ceramic suffered a direct loss of R34 million as a result 
of load-shedding during the review period; consequently, the 
resumption of load-shedding in July 2020 is cause for concern 
regarding future profitability.

The Australian operation delivered solid results for the year and, 
despite the pandemic, reported improved sales and profits in the 
final quarter. As the only local manufacturer of tiles in Australia, it 
is likely the business benefited from growing anti-China sentiment 
in the country.

The Samca Floor tile factory will be upgraded in the forthcoming 
period. This investment is anticipated to deliver a step change in 
the quality of the range and afford manufacturing flexibility.

The technology will also reduce consumption of energy and other 
natural resources.

Ceramic has a long-standing reputation for international standard, 
industry-leading technology, with operations that rank among 
the most energy efficient in the world. The continued focus on 
environmental sustainability will be furthered with the launch of 
EcoTec tiles – designed specifically to reduce carbon footprint. 
The tiles are made from locally sourced materials and require 
10% fewer natural resources. Both heat and water are recycled 
in the manufacturing process. When compared to imported tiles, 
the EcoTec manufacturing process emits 30% less CO2, requires 
25% less packaging and costs 25% less per m2 to transport from 
source, contributing to a significant carbon reduction.

We are confident this affordable, global standard range will 
appeal to customers seeking stylish, locally made, environmentally 
sensitive tiles.

Continued supply chain integration
The integration of Ceramic’s transport management solution 
with Cedar Point, PiViCal Panels and Durban DC was postponed 
from April to June due to the pandemic. We are confident that 
once this integration takes place, it will effect a step change in 
route and fleet optimisation, resulting in improved efficiencies 
and service to customers and cost savings across the component 
businesses.

Ezee Tile
While year-on-year sales were lower due to trading restrictions, 
the improved production efficiencies and enhanced cost 
management achieved during the review period resulted in higher 
margins and profits for the year. Good progress was also attained 
in bedding down the new factories in Zambia and Zimbabwe.

Acquisition of a minority shareholding in Easylife Kitchens 
(“ELK”)
The Group acquired a 25,1% stake in ELK, effective 
1 February 2020, and may consider increasing this shareholding 
in time. The acquisition consideration was R18 million. The 
rationale for the transaction is in line with the Group’s goal to 
provide customers with complete specialist solutions in home 
finishing. The relationship with ELK affords a range of strategic 
synergies: in the short term, the Group enjoys good opportunity 
to showcase its product through cross-merchandising in existing 
ELK stores. Over the medium term, the business may manufacture 
furniture for the Group and, in the longer term, consideration will 
be given to locating ELK stores on existing Group sites, with the 
intention of establishing one-stop specialist destinations for 
customers seeking a total solution to their home finishing 
requirements.
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GROUP OUTLOOK 
The consequences of the pandemic will be evident for the 
foreseeable future. Given the weak underlying structural 
fundamentals, the economy is likely to struggle to recover, even 
after all risk-adjusted restrictions have been lifted. Unemployment 
and personal indebtedness will continue to rise and disposable 
income will remain severely constrained. In light of the economic 
uncertainty and possible health risks, consumer confidence and 
spend will be fragile. We anticipate that semblances of traditional 
consumer behaviour will only resume once the pandemic subsides 
substantially.

Our clear challenge will be to continue to optimise on 
improvements made in our business to extract growth and gain 
market share. 
	» We are better structured operationally to reduce overhead 

costs across the business.
	» The heightened emphasis on the joint venture store model will 

afford improved profitability and oversight.
	» Our Proudly South African focus on our local manufacturing 

and supply chain capability will remain a key priority.
	» We will entrench and grow our market leadership through our 

high-profile, trusted brands and continue to invest in new and 
upgraded stores and manufacturing plants.

	» Technological innovation will remain a key driver of growth.

In terms of the forthcoming financial year and the external 
environment, we anticipate the first six months will be very difficult 
while lockdowns persist. We are optimistic that the second six 
months, commencing 1 January 2021, will be more robust, 
particularly since the comparison will be against five months of 
trading in FY2020. Our expectation is that the Group will deliver 
positive sales and profit growth in the first half and comparatively 
stronger sales and profits in the second half.

The following focus areas have been identified for the year ahead, 
aligned with management’s KPIs: 
	» strategic plan; 
	» productivity; 
	» financial performance; 
	» human capital; 
	» BBBEE; 
	» customer satisfaction and operational excellence; 
	» cultural fit and values; and
	» stakeholder relations and  ESG priorities. 

Strategic plan
	» Open 10 to 15 new stores in the forthcoming financial year 

and advance the revamp programme to enhance the property 
portfolio’s returns and the shopping experience for customers.

	» Improve stock turn and product mix through better utilisation of 
the integrated supply chain; intensified implementation of the 
Business Optimisation Programme (“BOP”); and enhanced use 
of analytics. 

	» Employ tactical disruptive marketing campaigns on a range of 
platforms to appeal to new customers.

	» Grow the contribution of U-Light to the business through 
building on the existing lighting offering in TopT stores; expand 
the Company-owned business model with a pilot franchise 
component; and execute an integrated import supply chain 
capability to reduce reliance on third-party suppliers.

	» Leverage the use of cutting-edge technology to improve the 
Group’s competitive advantage across all trading platforms. 

	» Cautiously expand the Group’s existing retail and manufacturing 
footprint in the rest of Africa and continue to investigate 
opportunities to enter new markets in the region.

	» Progress to the second phase of the five-year logistics 
and distribution programme designed to extract optimum 
efficiencies and reduce costs.

Productivity
	» Drive productivity as a core discipline to improve the 

competitive posture of the business.

Financial performance
	» We anticipate that margin pressure will heighten in the next 

financial year and cost leadership and intensified productivity 
measures across the stores, manufacturing and logistics 
businesses will be crucial to ensure we remain competitive. 

	» Maintain efficient working capital management.
	» Plan and commence execution of the roughly R800 million 

capex programme over the next 12 to 18 months.

Human capital
	» Continue to invest in leadership development to build a 

pipeline of talent. Use our core values to inculcate a high-
performance, accountable-with-consequences culture. Where 
opportunities exist, convert non-performing franchise stores to 
JVs which will facilitate a recalibration of team composition and 
performance culture.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S 
REPORT CONTINUED

OUR PERFORMANCE
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BBBEE
	» Strive to maintain the current rating of level 4 in the year ahead. 

Management is cognisant that the impact of the pandemic on 
the share price as well as the budget allocated to implement 
strategic imperatives to improve this rating may adversely 
affect the rating in the short term. 

Customer satisfaction and operational excellence
	» Entrench retail excellence disciplines aimed at enhancing the 

customer shopping experience and continue to improve on 
customer sentiment scores. 

Cultural fit and values
	» Entrench the Group’s core values and drive a performance 

culture across the Group.

Stakeholder relations
	» Maintain a comprehensive and engaged shareholder/

stakeholder management programme.

ESG priorities
Progress the journey to improve the Group’s current ESG 
credentials as well as the disclosure of developments in this 
regard.

Environment
	» Reduce the Group’s carbon footprint and consumption of non-

renewable resources through initiatives including wider use of 
solar energy in the stores and factories, rainwater harvesting 
and water recycling in the factories.

Social impact
	» Ensure that our community social initiatives are meaningful and 

sustainable and measure the impact on an ongoing basis.
	» Drive our Proudly South African campaign in our stores and 

prioritise selling local products manufactured by local people.

Governance
	» Continue to entrench the implementation of good corporate 

governance principles across all of the Group’s business units.

APPRECIATION
I am inspired by the energy and enthusiasm shown by our team to 
revitalise our business after the lockdown and their commitment 
to building a stronger, more competitive operation for the future. 
I  am confident that with this passion and motivation we are 
fighting fit to take on the challenges which lie ahead. I would like 
to thank each and every one for their ongoing contribution.

I have valued the collaboration of my Board colleagues over this 
past year and extend my gratitude to them for their support and 
endorsement of our strategies to grow the business sustainably. 
I would like to make special mention of the close involvement and 
support of the Chairman throughout this difficult COVID-19 era – 
his extensive experience and wisdom are greatly appreciated.

J N Potgieter
Chief Executive Officer
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Given the adverse external 
environment, management’s 
focus continued to be on the 
internal growth factors within 
our control, namely, sales, 
cost leadership, productivity 
improvements and 
performance culture. The 
lockdown provided a vital 
opportunity to critically and 
objectively appraise our 
progress in these key focus 
areas and to hone our 
operations to endure and 
flourish	in	the	demanding	
new environment.

REVIEW
OF OPERATIONS

OUR PERFORMANCE

Integrated Annual Report 202078



Nature of business
Leading retailer of exclusive fashionable ranges of tiles, 
bathware and related products.

Strategic positioning Target market Footprint

Live beautifully 	» LSM 7 – 10 
	» Discerning consumers in the upper-

middle and premium-end segment and 
Commercial Projects market.

14 stores (2019: 13) including webstore

1 store opened: Gaborone (2019: 1)

1 store revamped: Pretoria 

Key performance indicators Trends 2020 Trends 2019

Sales ▼ ▲
Average basket growth tu ▲
Average selling price tu ▲
Margins tu tu
Net profit ▼ ▲
Stock turn ▼ ▲
Average store inventory ▼ ▼

Key differentiators

	» Trend-setter and leading buyer of exclusive high quality fashionable international and 
local products.

	» Widely recognised as the industry front-runner in environmentally sensitive products.
	» Well-established specialist expertise and nationwide network.

2019/20 priorities Scorecard
	» Explore, determine and implement strategic logistics improvements. This initiative is underway and will continue to receive 

attention in the coming months. ✗

	» Complete the transition of the webstore to an upgraded platform with specific focus on mobile accessibility. ✓
	» Intensify employee engagement to drive the continuous development of personnel. ✓
	» Optimise the business model to ensure market share and resources are appropriately apportioned between the major 

components: retail, webstore and the Commercial Projects divisions. ✓

2019/20 major achievements

	» Substantial investment in upgrading our showroom lighting nationally resulted in enhanced display illumination and a concomitant energy saving 
with the introduction of LED lighting.

	» Expansion into Africa: the Gaborone store, which opened in December 2019, has been well received.
	» Development of the omnichannel experience, including a significant upgrade of our webstore platform.

2020/21 priorities 2020/21 prospects

	» Ensure that the Commercial Projects division is well equipped and 
positioned to manage changes in the industry emanating from 
COVID-19.

	» Instil ongoing awareness and reduction of costs across the operation.
	» Intensify focus on maximising productivity throughout the business.
	» Implement strategic logistics improvements to improve efficiencies 

and reduce costs.
	» Leverage improvements made on the webstore platform.
	» Continue to enforce health and safety protocols for employees and 

customers with regard to COVID-19.

	» Expand our residential agent footprint. This on-site consultation 
service, offered by our sales specialists to residential clients at 
their homes, has traditionally been an important contributor to the 
business; in the COVID-19 era, we anticipate this convenience-
centred offering will grow.

	» Grow awareness of our wide range of environmentally sensitive 
products with a specific focus on porcelain sanitaryware and local 
tiles.

	» Continue to develop and upskill our personnel.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

RETAIL BRANDS
Overview and performance matrix
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

RETAIL BRANDS
Overview and performance matrix

Nature of business
Leading specialist retailer of tiles, laminate boards, taps, 
sanitaryware, shower enclosures, bathroom furniture and accessories.

Strategic positioning Target market Footprint * Includes webstores

Big savings. More style. 	» LSM 5 – 8
	» Middle income DIY 

customers and small 
builders.

72* stores in South Africa (2019: 72*)

22 stores in the rest of Africa (2019: 20*)

59* corporate (2019: 49*)  

36 franchised (2019: 43)  

2
stores opened: Gaborone (Botswana) and 
Kisumu (Kenya) (2019: 4)

15 stores revamped (2019: 9)

Key performance indicators Trends 2020 Trends 2019

Sales ▼ ▲
Average basket growth ▲ ▲
Average selling price ▲ ▲
Margins ▼ ▲
Net profit ▼ ▲
Stock turn ▲ ▲
Average store inventory ▼ ▼

Key differentiators
	» Local and international buying power.
	» Year-round value offering with strong fashion component.
	» Integrated supply chain ensuring consistent availability of stock.

2019/20 priorities Scorecard

	» Develop the people pipeline to grow capability. ✓
	» Entrench our corporate values and culture to energise our staff and drive sales growth. While we made good progress in terms 

of motivation and productivity levels, we need to continue to focus on this priority area. ✗
	» Entrench CTM as the fashion leader in our market. This is reflected by the gain in market share across our merchandise 

categories. ✓

2019/20 major achievements
	» The repositioning of the brand – centred on the Sithi Wena (you deserve it) ethos – continued to drive growth.
	» Expanded the footprint into the rest of Africa with one new store in Botswana and two stores in Kenya.
	» Launched the webstore’s easy to use multi-surface tile visualiser which enables customers to digitally view our tiles in their own rooms and match 

wall and floor tile offerings in lifelike reality. 
	» Advanced the development of our people pipeline, specifically at store operator level, through our Operator Training Programme in partnership 

with the University of Stellenbosch.
	» Improved productivity levels through intensifying an accountable-with-consequences culture.
	» Grew bathroomware sales to gain market share in the category.
	» Implemented rigorous health and safety protocols in-store to curb the spread of COVID-19, with zero tolerance of non-compliance. 

2020/21 priorities 2020/21 prospects
	» Entrench retail excellence as our standard operating procedure.
	» Continue to develop our people pipeline.
	» Focus on our KPI visuals. The nine KPIs, displayed in-store, are aligned 

with action plans and measured against performance and productivity 
targets. The KPIs are vital to achieving growth and improved customer 
service.

	» Entrench our corporate values and culture.
	» Continue to enforce health and safety protocols for employees and 

customers with regard to COVID-19. 

	» Open three new stores.
	» Drive the customer-centric focus through all our activities.
	» Adapt our operations to the new COVID-19 era where appropriate; 

for example, introducing a new touchless Voice of the Customer 
capability (previously customers were required to type on a screen, 
whereas now they can scan a QR code in the store and tell us about 
their experience on their cell phone).

	» Introduce scanner technology in the warehouse and dispatch 
functions to transition to a paperless operation, which will be more 
efficient as well as environmentally friendly.

OUR PERFORMANCE
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Innovation is a key driver 
of growth in the business 
and we leverage the use 

of cutting-edge 
technology to improve 

the Group’s competitive 
advantage across all 

trading platforms.

Our factories have a 
long-standing reputation 

for global standard, 
industry-leading 
technology, and 

significant	investment	
has been made in linking 

our innovation strategy 
to our sustainability 

strategy with the launch 
of our EcoTec* tile 

range. 

Across our brands we 
employ pioneering 

innovations to enhance 
the shopping experience 

– both in-store and 
online – demonstrated 

by CTM’s webstore 
multi-surface visualiser, a 

groundbreaking 
advancement in the 

local market, with 
strong appeal for our 

customers.

*See page 66
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

RETAIL BRANDS
Overview and performance matrix

Nature of business
Retailer of home-finishing products including tiles, paint, ceiling 
décor, taps, sanitaryware, lighting, hardware and accessories.

Strategic positioning Target market Footprint * Includes webstores

Every price a LOW 
price.

	» LSM 4 – 7 (lower).
	» Entry-level value offering 

strategically situated in 
underserviced rural areas 
and outlying markets in 
close proximity to urban 
townships.

83* stores in South Africa (2019: 82*)

1 in the rest of Africa (2019: 1)

49* corporate (2019: 16)  

35 franchised (2019: 67)

5
stores opened: Ga-Rankuwa (Gauteng); Lethlabile 
(North West); Siyabuswa (Mpumalanga); Lebowakgomo 
(Limpopo); Port Elizabeth (Eastern Cape) (2019: 10)

Key performance indicators Trends 2020 Trends 2019

Sales ▲ ▲
Average basket growth ▲ ▲
Average selling price ▲ ▲
Margins tu ▼
Net profit ▲ ▲
Stock turn ▲ ▲
Average store inventory ▼ ▼

Key differentiators

	» Low cost model.
	» Flexible, opportunistic home-finishing product range.
	» Affordability and availability of stock and accessibility to market.
	» Strong community relationships and local marketing.

2019/20 priorities Scorecard
	» Implement a Franchise Partner Development Programme to address succession planning in the business. ✓
	» Implement and monitor the business-critical framework to ensure consistent stockholding and range across all stores to improve 

the complete solution offering to every customer. ✓
	» Increase participation in regional community projects to raise brand awareness. ✓
	» Activate market disruptor deals and promotional campaigns. ✓

2019/20 major achievements
	» Opened five new stores (COVID-19 constraints limited achieving a higher number).
	» Implemented the Franchise Partner Development Programme with Henley Business School to address succession planning in the business.
	» Used social media content to engage and establish active interaction with our customers online.
	» Held high profile community-based competitions which awarded 10 cars as major prizes.
	» Achieved sales and profit growth despite the national lockdown and subsequent restrictions. 

2020/21 priorities 2020/21 prospects
	» Progress the conversion of non-performing franchised stores to Company-owned or 

JV stores to improve oversight and profitability.
	» Grow sales by attracting new customers. In the current environment of limited 

discretionary spend, we will target opportunities to gain market share among those 
customers shopping down due to financial constraints.

	» Address inefficiencies and secure improved cost management in relationships with the 
integrated supply chain.

	» Intensify focus on improving our human capital productivity by achieving more, with 
fewer resources.

	» Improve the customer shopping experience through better store layouts, merchandising 
and displays.

	» Improve our range through redeveloping and launching new products.
	» Continue to enforce health and safety protocols for employees and customers with 

regard to COVID-19.

	» Ensure better in-stocks.
	» Open 10 new stores.
	» Launch our upgraded webstore to facilitate online sales 

and better manage the increased traffic experienced over 
recent months. 

	» Implement more impactful community projects in the 
education sector, focusing on assisting local schools with 
donations of sanitaryware products to overcome poor 
sanitation facilities. Our goal is to assist with improving 
hygiene standards, which is a key priority during the 
pandemic. In addition, each store will support 10 schools 
with learning materials.

OUR PERFORMANCE
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Nature of business
Specialist retailer of innovative lighting fixtures to complete 
the total customer shopping experience. 

Strategic positioning Target market Footprint * Includes webstores

Lighting the way for U 	» LSM 6 – 10. 
	» Primarily residential (basic to high-end), 

with a commercial/light industrial 
component (product-specified and 
Commercial Projects).

6* stores (2019: 1)

5
stores opened: four in Gauteng – 
Northriding, Southgate, Westgate and 
Bryanston, as well as the webstore

Key performance indicators

Only one store open in the prior corresponding period, therefore no comparable data available.

Key differentiators

	» Offering ranges from affordable to custom-designed fashionable lighting fixtures and 
accessories suitable for all rooms and settings.

	» Extensive selection of imported and locally manufactured product. Categories include 
chandeliers, pendants, ceiling fittings, wall fittings, downlighters, LED lighting, outdoor, 
smart product and automation.

	» Unique brand shopping experience with exceptional customer service. 

2019/20 priorities Scorecard

	» Employ, train and upskill staff to ensure optimal engagement and shopping experience for customers. ✓

	» Develop and expand ranges for U-Light stores and TopT stores to meet customer expectations. ✓

	» Create market awareness through various channels. ✓

2019/20 major achievements

	» Opened four new stores (Southgate, Northriding, Westgate and Bryanston, each with a unique format, layout and range).
	» Launched the first phase of our webstore.
	» Launched the TopT lighting range (a new merchandise category for the TopT brand).
	» Gained market share in a new market segment for the Group.

2020/21 priorities 2020/21 prospects

	» Increase the contribution of the lighting category to TopT sales.
	» Introduce a franchise component to complement the Company-owned 

model.
	» Expand the local and imported range.
	» Execute opportunities to take on the import function to reduce 

reliance on local suppliers and ensure differentiation. 
	» Enhance the brand’s online presence. 
	» Implement improved systems for stock management and consistent 

supply across the two brands.
	» Continue to enforce health and safety protocols for employees and 

customers with regard to COVID-19.

	» Open four new U-Light stores.
	» Build relationships with industry professionals in the Commercial 

Projects segment. 
	» Refine the distribution model.
	» Continue growing and driving new content on social media 

channels.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

RETAIL BRANDS
Overview and performance matrix
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Nature of business
Importer and distributor of brassware and accessories.

Strategic positioning Target market

Experience water’s inspiration. 	» Italtile Retail, CTM and TopT store networks.

Key performance indicators Trends 2020 Trends 2019

Sales ▼ ▼
Average selling price ▲ ▼
Margins ▲ ▼
Net profit ▲ ▼
Stock turn ▲ tu
Closing inventory ▼ ▼

Key differentiators

	» Integral component of the Group’s supply chain.
	» Long-standing relationships with international suppliers and extensive import 

experience.
	» State-of-the-art robotic warehouse facility.
	» ITD’s Tivoli range is the only major Italian brassware brand available in South Africa.

2019/20 priorities Scorecard

	» Leverage BOP to improve stock turn and in-stocks, while simultaneously reducing overall stockholding across the 
integrated supply chain in line with targets. ✓

	» Enhance buying to ensure a more competitive, higher margin offering. ✓
	» Grow market share through increased sales to existing customers. Prior to the lockdown, sales volumes had grown 

and the business was on track to achieve this goal. ✗

2019/20 major achievements

	» Improved stock turn and total stockholding, and substantially reduced slow-moving and obsolete stock.
	» Consistent improvement of the in-stock position, specifically of business-critical items.
	» Despite deferring price increases, grew margins and average selling price through improvement in range offering and better buying.
	» Further enhanced efficiencies in the robotic warehouse, which reduced downtime during the year and achieved a new record for 

single-day pickings.

2020/21 priorities 2020/21 prospects

	» Leverage BOP to improve stock turn and in-stocks, while simultaneously reducing overall 
stockholding.

	» Keener negotiations on supply price agreements to offset some of the impact of the 
weaker exchange rate.

	» Complete the software and hardware upgrade of the robotic warehouse which will 
improve stock management and stock losses, and reduce downtime.

	» Complete the automation of all manual warehouse processes, which will result in 
significant improvements in efficiencies and inventory control, and enhance service to 
customers. The paperless system will also reduce overheads and simultaneously deliver 
environmental benefits. 

	» Implement stringent cost-containment measures to achieve profit growth targets.
	» Grow market share through increased sales to existing retail customers, new cross-border 

customers and once-off commercial opportunities.
	» Continue to enforce health and safety protocols for employees and customers with 

regard to COVID-19.

	» The goal to grow market share will be 
determined by the business’s ability to 
ensure optimal levels of competitively 
priced stock.

	» Margins will face extreme pressure due to 
the volatility and deterioration of the local 
currency. Following a year of margin 
sacrifice in the business, price inflation 
will be implemented in the forthcoming 
period.

	» Improved productivity and intensification 
of rigorous cost-containment measures 
will be imperative to achieve profit growth 
targets.

SUPPLY CHAIN:

IMPORTERS
Overview and performance matrix

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
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SUPPLY CHAIN:

IMPORTERS
Overview and performance matrix

Nature of business
Importer and distributor of laminate and vinyl floor boards, bathroom 
furniture, shower enclosures, sanitaryware, décor and other home finishing products.

Strategic positioning Target market

Where service is the point. 	» Italtile, CTM and TopT store networks.

Key performance indicators Trends 2020 Trends 2019

Sales ▼ ▲
Average selling price ▲ ▲
Margins ▲ ▲
Net profit ▼ ▲
Stock turn ▼ ▲
Closing inventory ▲ ▼

Key differentiators

	» Integral component of the Group’s supply chain across merchandise categories.
	» Strong relationships with international stakeholders.
	» Leading South African importer and distributor of high-quality European laminates 

and bathroom furniture, vinyl floor boards, shower enclosures and décor.

2019/20 priorities Scorecard

	» Explore opportunities to launch a select shower range for the open market. This initiative will be pursued when market 
conditions and stock availability stabilise. ✓

	» Rationalise product ranges according to trends and customer expectations. ✓

	» Increase efficiencies through our supply chain partners. ✓

2019/20 major achievements

	» Management of the Vereeniging DC, which was previously outsourced, has been brought in-house, which should improve service levels to 
our integrated retail partners.

	» Successful commissioning of our new Durban DC warehouse facility which services the KwaZulu-Natal and Eastern Cape regions.
	» Introduction of a software application to assist the Cedar Point agents to streamline communication and activities between the back-office 

and integrated retail partners.
	» Reduced distribution costs by integrating into the Ceramic distribution model. 

2020/21 priorities 2020/21 prospects

	» Improve warehouse efficiencies and standardise operations in all 
three DC warehouse facilities.

	» Convert to full automation and paperless systems in all three 
DC warehouse facilities by the end of FY2021. This programme 
will improve productivity, reduce costs and simultaneously deliver 
environmental benefits.

	» Remain competitive by prioritising cost-saving initiatives and 
managing margins through enhanced buying.

	» Reduce transport costs as a percentage of sales.
	» Continue to enforce health and safety protocols for employees 

and customers with regard to COVID-19.

	» Continue to investigate opportunities to supply products to open 
market retailers.

	» Rationalise product ranges in line with market trends and 
customer expectations.

	» Explore opportunities to expand product ranges in partnership 
with local suppliers.

	» Investigate new, competitive supply opportunities out of Turkey. 

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
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Nature of business
Procures stock for the Group and is one of the largest importers of 
porcelain tiles in South Africa. Provides warehousing, distribution 
and logistics services to the Group.

Target market

	» The Group’s retail store networks and integrated suppliers.

Key performance indicators Trends 2020 Trends 2019

Sales ▼ ▼
Average selling price ▲ ▲
Margins ▲ ▲
Net profit ▼ ▲
Stock turn ▲ ▲
Closing inventory ▼ ▲

Key differentiators
	» Long-standing relationships with international suppliers and transport agents.
	» Extensive multi-decade import experience.
	» Strong financial position which facilitates optimal investment in inventory.

2019/20 priorities Scorecard

	» Rationalise the tile ranges for CTM and Top T. ✓

	» Explore and implement initiatives to reduce distribution/freight costs. ✓

	» Continue to improve stockholding levels and stock turn. ✓

2019/20 major achievements

	» Optimised the procurement process to source more competitively priced products, including concluding agreements with new suppliers 
in India.

	» Implemented the Transport Management System (“TMS”) to improve logistics efficiencies and reduce costs.
	» Reduced the average stock holding to more optimal levels.

2020/21 priorities 2020/21 prospects

	» Maintain the benefits achieved in the procurement process and 
continue to identify new opportunities.

	» Continue to improve and expand the TMS.
	» Source alternative ranges of porcelain tiles for CTM and TopT 

from India.
	» Continue to improve stock turn.
	» Continue to enforce health and safety protocols for employees 

and customers with regard to COVID-19.

	» Implement a control tower solution and visibility within the 
import process.

	» Redesign the shipping front-end process to synchronise with 
the control tower solution.

	» Achieve savings on sea freight costs.
	» Explore opportunities to source more competitively priced 

product from new markets.

SUPPLY CHAIN:

IMPORTERS

DISTRIBUTION CENTRE

Overview and performance matrix

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

OUR PERFORMANCE
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SUPPLY CHAIN:

MANUFACTURERS
Overview and performance matrix

Nature of business
Manufacturer of tiles (South Africa and Australia) and bathroomware 
(South Africa).

Strategic positioning Target market

Preferred supplier of tiles 
and bathroomware.

	» Retailers and wholesalers of fashionable and affordable tiles and bathroomware in 
South Africa, Australia and selected export markets.

Key differentiators

	» Leader in design and fashion, creating desirable products. 
	» Low cost manufacturing ensures products are affordable. 
	» Local supply ensures an understanding of customer requirements and a short, reliable supply chain. This supports our ‘always in stock’ 

policy, with consistent volume supply of fashionable well-priced product. 
	» Complementary products for bathroom and complete home tiling solutions.

Tile division South Africa: Samca Wall (monoporosa wall tiles); Samca Floor and Pegasus (ceramic floor tiles); Vitro (extruded 
fully vitrified tiles) and Gryphon (glazed porcelain tiles).
Australia: Centaurus (glazed porcelain tiles).

South Africa Australia
Key performance indicators Trends 2020 Trends 2019 Trends 2019 Trends 2020

Sales ▼ ▼ ▼ ▼
Production volumes ▼ ▼ ▼ ▲
Average selling price tu ▲ tu ▲
Margins ▼ ▼ ▲ ▼
Net profit ▼ ▼ ▲ ▲
Closing inventory ▼ ▼ ▼ ▲

2019/20 priorities Scorecard

	» Grow sales volumes through existing and new customers to optimise utilisation of production capacity. ✗

	» Reduce manufacturing and operating costs across the business. ✓

	» Continue to invest in training and latest technology to ensure our products are differentiated on quality and fashion. ✓
	» Implement revised strategies for export markets where competitor activity has increased and local economies are 

performing badly. ✓

	» Improve delivery metrics through range rationalisation and enhanced demand planning. ✓

	» Commence construction of a tile factory in Africa. ✗

2019/20 major achievements

	» Cost control resulted in improved profit in Australia as there was no lockdown during the year, enabling continuous production and trading.
	» High gloss product range from Gryphon factory extended successfully to larger formats.
	» Capacity extended at Vitro and Pegasus through investment in new technology for larger formats. 
	» Larger format tile introduced at Samca Wall.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
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Tile division continued

2020/21 priorities 2020/21 prospects

	» Grow sales volumes through existing and new customers to optimise 
utilisation of production capacity.

	» Improved productivity.
	» Cost leadership. 
	» Launch EcoTec products which have a reduced carbon footprint.
	» Continue to invest in training and new technology to ensure our 

products are differentiated on quality and fashion.
	» Improve planning, forecasting and scheduling to improve on-time 

in-full delivery.
	» Commence construction of a tile factory in Africa.

	» Despite the challenging sales environment, there are 
opportunities to improve market share.

	» Improved sales volumes will be driven by leadership on fashion 
and improved pricing, made possible by cost reductions. 

	» Initial higher proportion of consumer discretionary spend in 
building renovation bodes well for first quarter sales.

	» Consumer focus on local products and improved supply chain 
should assist sales.

	» Increased customer base in Australia bodes well for higher 
sales volumes.

Bathroomware 
division

Betta Sanitaryware (Betta) and Betta Baths.

Key performance indicators Trends 2020 Trends 2019

Sales ▼ ▼
Production volumes ▼ ▼
Average selling price tu ▲
Margins ▼ ▲
Net profit ▼ ▲
Closing inventory ▼ ▼

2019/20 priorities Scorecard

	» Improve Betta’s sales volumes through enhanced demand planning and alignment of customer requirements and factory 
capacity. ✓

	» Improve production volumes and yields at Betta. ✓
	» Reduce operating costs across the operation. ✗
	» Complete the new Betta warehouse facility. ✗
	» Continue to develop staff through enhanced training and development. ✓

2019/20 major achievements

	» New management information system implemented to improve daily production volumes. 
	» Demand forecasting implemented and warehouse inventory balanced.
	» Freestanding bath production improved with technology developed to produce components in-house.
	» Team skills improved which resulted in improved productivity.
	» New clean-water supply plant and waste-water treatment plant commissioned.

2020/21 priorities 2020/21 prospects

	» Complete the new warehouse facility.
	» Improve Betta’s sales volumes through wider customer base and 

improved on-time in-full delivery. 
	» Continue to develop staff through training and development.
	» Improve Betta’s production yields.
	» Reduce waste and rework.
	» Install and extend capacity in the bath and sanitaryware operations.
	» Improve the distribution model.

	» Opportunities exist to grow Betta’s market share.
	» Export to Southern African neighbours can be grown to 

improve volumes. 
	» Initial higher proportion of consumer discretionary spend in 

building renovation bodes well for first quarter sales.
	» Alternative client distribution model can improve local sales. 

SUPPLY CHAIN:

MANUFACTURERS
Overview and performance matrix

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
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Overview and performance matrix

Nature of business
Manufacturer of cement-based adhesives, grouts, water-based paints 
and related products. Comprises 10 manufacturing facilities in Johannesburg, Durban, Port Elizabeth, 
Cape Town, Bloemfontein, Mokopane, Windhoek, Mombasa, Lusaka and Harare.

Strategic positioning Target market

Africa’s preferred tiling 
solutions.

	» Primarily the Group’s retail networks, Italtile Retail, CTM and TopT.

Key performance indicators Trends 2020 Trends 2019

Sales tu ▲
Average selling price ▲ ▲
Margins ▲ tu
Net profit ▲ ▲
Stock turn tu tu
Closing inventory ▲ ▲

Key differentiators

	» A national footprint of manufacturing plants which underpins Ezee Tile’s ‘always in 
stock’ policy with consistent supply of products.

	» Strong strategic partnerships with key raw material suppliers who provide access to 
the latest technologies to improve quality while reducing costs.

2019/20 priorities Scorecard

	» Stabilise the new factories in Lusaka and Harare and secure a significant market share in Zambia and Zimbabwe. ✓
	» Improve Ezee Tile’s share of the architectural and specification markets. Adverse market conditions constrained 

achievement of this priority, but it remains work in progress. ✗

	» Evaluate opportunities to expand into Africa. ✓

2019/20 major achievements

	» Improvements in operational efficiencies through the introduction of improved KPI and benchmark measures.
	» The turnaround of the Mokopane factory through securing cost-effective supply of raw materials and increased production capacity and 

efficiency.
	» The successful relocation to the new site in Cape Town.
	» The successful launch of European quality tile adhesive “XXL” for extra large format tiles.

2020/21 priorities 2020/21 prospects

	» Develop the product offering of the paint business and secure 
the majority share of the business at our anchor client.

	» Roll out interactive online training programmes to upskill our 
clients’ sales staff.

	» Finalise construction of the new flagship factory in Brakpan. 
	» Improve the profitability of our new African factories.

	» Leverage our purchasing power, operational efficiencies and 
manufacturing footprint to substantially increase market share 
in the tile adhesive market.

	» Launch a range of membrane-based waterproofing solutions 
for the residential market.

	» The business has created a range of tiling products with 
antimicrobial properties and will launch a range of sanitisers 
to protect our clients’ homes from bacteria and viruses.

SUPPLY CHAIN:

MANUFACTURERS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
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Nature of business
To provide our customers with a seamless, omnichannel shopping 
experience, enabling them to easily view and purchase our products and services online and smoothly transition 
between online shopping and our brick-and-mortar stores.

Target market Footprint

	» The Group’s retail 
operations and its 
customers.

The Group’s online shopping stores are:
CTM South Africa – www.ctm.co.za; CTM Kenya – www.ctm.co.ke; CTM Tanzania – www.ctm.co.tz; 
Italtile Retail South Africa – www.italtile.co.za; TopT – www.TopT.co.za; U-Light – www.u-light.co.za

Trends % increase
Key performance indicators 2020 2019 2020 2019 

Online sales (Rand)

CTM SA ▲ ▲ 18 17
CTM Kenya ▲ ▲ 9 146
CTM Tanzania ▲ ▲ 89 182
Italtile Retail ▼ ▲ (6) 37
TopT ▲ # 25 #

U-Light # # # #

Quotes generated for all stores (Rand)

CTM SA ▲ ▲ 47 24
CTM Kenya ▲ ▲ 35 40
CTM Tanzania ▲ ▲ 107 #

Italtile Retail ▲ ▲ 66 43
TopT ▲ # 56 #

U-Light # # # #

Visitor sessions

CTM SA ▲ ▲ 14 18
CTM Kenya ▲ ▲ 36 41
CTM Tanzania ▲ ▲ 177 53
Italtile Retail ▲ ▲ 47 26
TopT # # 60 #

U-Light # # # #

# No full-year comparable data available.

2019/20 priorities Scorecard
	» Launch the U-Light webstore to support the new brand. ✓
	» Enhance the shopping experience across all the newly established Magento 2 e-commerce platforms. ✓
	» Launch an online retail concept and shopping tools platform for Italtile Retail, centred on driving the shopping 

experience via inspiration. ✓

2019/20 major achievements
	» Successful launch of CTM’s easy-to-use multi-surface tile visualiser, which enables customers to 

digitally view the brand’s tiles in their own rooms and match wall and floor tile offerings in lifelike 
reality. 

	» Launch of the U-Light online webstore. 
	» Implementation of an artificial intelligence online marketing methodology across several of our 

webstores, which dramatically increased the volume of quotes generated online.

	» Developed CTM SA’s webstore platform to retail the U-Light 
product range specifically as an online-only purchase option. 

	» Migrated all webstores from our original web software onto 
the latest technology, which enables scalability and enhances 
growth prospects.

2020/21 priorities 2020/21 prospects
	» Enhance and differentiate our specialist online shopping experience from other generalist online retailers. Our focus on 

specific niche categories and product lines enables convenient ease of purchase for our customers and sets us apart from 
other generalist offerings.

	» Rapidly grow quotes and sales conversions across all brand webstores.
	» Effectively utilise conversion rate tools and methods to optimise different user journeys on our online stores.
	» Better implementation of delivery tracking, giving customers greater visibility over their delivery timeframes.
	» Continue to enforce health and safety protocols for employees and customers with regard to COVID-19.

	» Enhance and grow digital 
augmented reality tools to 
improve our online shopping 
experience. 

SUPPORT

SERVICES

E-COMMERCE

Overview and performance matrix
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Overview and performance matrix

Nature of business
• The IT department generates value for the organisation through 

implementing incremental innovation that enables the Group to remain relevant by improving the customer 
experience, thereby increasing loyalty to the brands and supporting revenue growth.

• The division’s primary objective is to provide a seamless experience between the online and offline shopping 
offerings to ensure the Group remains a trailblazer in the digital era. The Group’s culture of agility and 
continuous improvement is leveraged to deliver tangible applications for our customers.

Strategic positioning Target market

Future proofing business 
through strategic digital 
investments. 

	» The Group’s retail, distribution and manufacturing operations and key business units 
including HR, Marketing, Finance and Supply Chain Logistics, as well as the Group’s 
end customers. 

Key performance indicators Scorecard

	» Ensure business continuity through business application that enables individuals or business units to work productively 
and efficiently from remote locations. ✓

	» Proactively pursue emerging technologies such as artificial intelligence and social platforms to enhance current revenue 
streams. ✓

	» Complete the migration of IT Infrastructure to the cloud. ✓

2019/20 priorities Scorecard

	» Tighten cybersecurity policies and implement robust preventative measures. ✓

	» Launch the enhanced mobile point-of-sale functionality. ✓

	» Relaunch Italtile Retail’s e-commerce site. ✓

	» Launch the new U-Light webstore. ✓

2019/20 major achievements

	» Implementation of the Group’s Smart Sales CRM solution into the e-commerce brands’ webstores as well as the in-store mobile point 
of sale, to further enrich the omnichannel customer experience. 

	» Implementation of interactive platforms to facilitate improvement of the digital customer experience. 
	» Upgrade of the existing SAP database management system to enable the migration path and readiness of the solution for cloud.
	» Implementation of an application framework that enhances business agility by allowing rapid development and deployment of 

applications in response to evolving business requirements. 

2020/21 priorities 2020/21 prospects

	» Execute the digital strategy by enhancing online customer 
experiences to drive the quote conversion rate.

	» Support supply chain integration through the use of internet of 
things solutions and leveraging existing IT landscape to fast track 
business productivity and efficiency. 

	» Refresh in-store hardware and software for our mobile point of sale 
solution. This will leverage newer technology platforms and enable 
contactless payments.

	» Digitise the warranty and return process to streamline the 
workflow and introduce service level agreements and KPIs that 
can be managed by the business. 

	» Extend the e-commerce footprint into the Group’s rest of Africa 
operations.

	» Broaden the Group’s online augmented reality capabilities to 
further advance our lead in the digital space and introduce the 
application to our in-store experience. 

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY (IT)

SUPPORT

SERVICES

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
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Nature of business

Retail properties Manufacturing properties Environmental sustainability

• This portfolio affords strategic 
advantage to the retail brand 
operations by ensuring stores 
are easily accessible, well-
presented and maintained, and 
contribute to an aspirational 
shopping experience. The 
portfolio is continuously 
evaluated and enhanced to 
ensure optimal returns.

• The Group’s manufacturing 
operations comprise well-
maintained state-of-the-art 
factories which are supplied 
with high-quality raw materials 
sourced from productive 
quarries in close proximity to 
the plants. Raw material 
quarries are rehabilitated 
concurrently and once 
end-of-productive-life is 
reached.

• The Group’s sustainability agenda is promoted 
through the use of cost-effective, energy 
efficient practices in the construction of new 
buildings and the renovation of older 
buildings. Optimal use of natural light, solar 
technology, new-generation lighting, water-
saving taps, rain water harvesting, and 
environmentally sensitive building materials is 
prioritised.

• Our factories at Ceramic Industries use the 
latest technology in their operations and rank 
among the most energy efficient in the world.

Target market 	» Italtile Retail, CTM, TopT and U-Light store networks.

Key statistics 2020 2019

Retail portfolio market value R3,3 billion R3,0 billion

Manufacturing portfolio market value R1,0 billion R0,8 billion

Total number of stores 192* 184*

Italtile Retail 13* 12*

CTM 91* 89*

TopT 83* 82*

U-Light 5* 1*

Number of factories 8 8

Capex incurred (new and refurbishments)

Retail R274 million R312 million

Manufacturing R180 million R189 million

Portfolio changes

Properties acquired 5 5

Properties sold – 3

New stores opened

Italtile Retail 1 1

CTM 3 5

TopT 5 9

U-Light 4 1

Stores closed

TopT 3 4
* Excluding webstores.

SUPPORT

SERVICES

PROPERTY INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO

Overview and performance matrix
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Overview and performance matrix

2019/20 priorities Scorecard

	» Review opportunities to convert leased sites to owned properties for high-performing TopT stores in proven markets. ✓
	» In the context of materially higher land and construction costs, improve returns through optimising store size and input 

costs. ✓

	» Sell non-profitable/non-viable sites to ensure the portfolio remains healthy and retains optimal value. This was not fully 
achieved due to the lockdown, which delayed transfer of properties. ✗

	» Continue to maintain and refurbish older properties in the portfolio to ensure relevant market value. ✓

2019/20 major achievements

	» Despite the pandemic-related challenges, 12 new stores were opened and we advanced the ongoing store upgrade programme. 
	» We continued to support the Group’s expansion programme into East Africa with the acquisition of a property in Rwanda and the opening 

of two stores in Kenya.
	» We have sourced land to relocate Italtile Boksburg, CTM Mthatha and CTM Maun.

2020/21 priorities 2020/21 prospects

	» Sell non-viable sites to ensure the portfolio remains healthy and 
retains optimal value. Our target is three to five properties.

	» Review opportunities to convert leased sites to owned properties 
for high-performing TopT stores in proven markets. Our target is 
three to five stores.

	» Given materially higher land and construction costs, improve 
returns through optimising store size and input costs.

	» Continue to maintain and refurbish older properties in the 
portfolio to ensure relevant market value.

	» Source suitable new sites in Southern Africa to facilitate the 
network expansion programme.

	» Support the Group’s expansion programme into East Africa.
	» Optimise returns through relocating non-performing stores and 

ensuring keen negotiations on rental expenses.
	» Support the Group`s proposed programme to incorporate the 

Easylife Kitchens offering into selected existing properties. Three 
pilot stores will be developed on existing CTM sites in the 
forthcoming year. 

SUPPORT

SERVICES

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
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Nature of business
• Add value through recruiting and retaining fit-for-purpose personnel.
• Develop and empower the Group’s human capital resource through relevant training and support.

Target audience

Support Centre, franchisees and employees.

Key performance indicators Trends 2020 Trends 2019

ITALTILE

Recruitment and retention of fit-for-purpose 
personnel. ▲ tu

Engagement with employees across the 
Group. ▲ ▲

Development of appropriate skills training, 
learnerships and competencies. tu ▲

Support the Group’s growth objectives and 
overriding strategy to deliver an 
incomparable customer experience.

▲ tu

Improve productivity and performance to 
achieve retail best practice benchmarks. ▲ tu

Develop leadership capability and capacity. ▲ tu

Training programmes conducted. tu ▲

CERAMIC INDUSTRIES

Recruitment and retention of fit-for-purpose 
personnel. ▲ ▲

Engagement with employees across the 
Group. ▲ ▲

Development of appropriate skills training, 
learnerships and competencies. ▲ ▲

Support the Group’s growth objectives and 
overriding strategy to deliver an 
incomparable customer experience.

tu tu

Improve productivity and performance to 
achieve manufacturing best practice 
benchmarks. 

▲ tu

Develop leadership capability and capacity. ▲ tu

Training programmes conducted. tu ▲

HUMAN RESOURCES

AND TRAINING
Overview and performance matrix

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
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HUMAN RESOURCES

AND TRAINING
Overview and performance matrix

2019/20 priorities Scorecard

ITALTILE

	» Introduce management programmes for TopT franchisees. ✓

	» Achieve CETA accreditation of the Tiling and Plumbing Academy. ✓

	» Continue driving BBBEE skills development initiatives. In progress

	» Introduce the YES initiative into the business (YES is a business-led collaboration with government and 
labour to create one million work opportunities for youth in South Africa).

In progress

	» Drive the Learning Management system and continuously introduce new product information to better 
equip employees to successfully serve customers.

In progress

CERAMIC INDUSTRIES

	» Embed the Company’s culture and values through workshops and refresher induction sessions. ✓

	» Improve awareness of the impact of alcohol and drug abuse and implement testing. ✓

	» Finalise accreditation of the Ceramic Learnership with the Quality Council for Trades and Occupations. In progress

	» Develop Ceramic’s talent pool through the Junior Management Mentorship and Apprenticeship 
Programme. ✓

2019/20 major achievements

ITALTILE
	» Achieved our highest-ever employee engagement score (77%), up from 74%.
	» The accreditation of our Training Academy was approved by the Construction CETA for NQF Level 3 qualification.
	» Successful completion of another CTM Operator Training Programme in partnership with the University of Stellenbosch. 
A total of 18 delegates graduated from the 2019 programme (2018: 19).

	» Our 12-month learnership programme providing individuals with the opportunity to gain work experience and obtain a 
qualification in the retail sector ended in January 2020 with an absorption rate of 63% (2019: 55%).

CERAMIC INDUSTRIES
	» Employees throughout the business were reinducted. The reinduction programme focused on the Company’s code of 
ethics and Ways of Working. The drive at business level focused on KPI deliverables with the emphasis on a high-
performance culture.

	» The benefits of a focused and in-depth approach to on-boarding new employees has resulted in new recruits fully 
understanding and comprehending the complexity of the business.

	» Employees on the Adult Education Training (“AET”) programme delivered an average pass rate of 65%.
	» The implementation of panel interviewing has resulted in a robust approach to recruitment and selection.
	» Following the completion of awareness training on drug and alcohol abuse, testing for non-compliance with the Group’s 
substance abuse policy was implemented.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
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2020/21 priorities

ITALTILE
	» Drive critical skills and competencies.
	» Strengthen the existing and future leadership bench.
	» Entrench a culture of continuous improvement and performance. 
	» Drive diversity and inclusivity initiatives. 
	» Drive initiatives to improve on areas identified on the BBBEE scorecard.

CERAMIC INDUSTRIES
	» Support productivity improvements through improved performance management and create an environment for a 
high-performance culture.

	» Develop and implement a learning and development platform for training on standard operating practices.
	» Improve training to equip the middle management team for effectiveness.
	» Drive initiatives to improve the talent pipeline aligned with BBBEE scorecard commitments.
	» Accredit and implement a Ceramic Learnership, through the CETA, which will address the unique needs of our tile and 
sanitaryware factories.

	» Develop and implement platforms to engage and provide employees with support regarding their physical and mental 
health and family needs during the COVID-19 crisis. Engage and enable employees to understand the risks associated 
with COVID-19 and provide the necessary tools and resources to minimise and eliminate risks at work and at home.

2020/21 prospects

ITALTILE
	» The Group’s focus on productivity and performance has been intensified in the COVID-19 era and our role is to support 
this with appropriate workforce interventions.

	» Financial advice and long-term financial planning have been identified as key areas around which we need to share 
information and provide education for our employees.

	» Workforce capability and reskilling internal talent for the future remains a top priority in ensuring continued business 
success.

CERAMIC INDUSTRIES
	» Equipping and training middle management team effectiveness.
	» Employee engagement survey to be launched again in the next financial year.
	» Improve employee experience and engagement through bi-annual ‘town-hall’ meetings.
	» Accredit and implement a Ceramic Learnership (through the CETA), which will address the unique needs of our tile and 
sanitaryware factories.

	» Realign the Ways of Working programme to gain optimum results as we face COVID-19 challenges.

HUMAN RESOURCES

AND TRAINING
Overview and performance matrix
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Our goal throughout 
this period was to 
come through the 
crisis well and, in 
certain respects, 

better than before. 
The double-digit 

growth delivered in 
June to August, with a 

leaner team, less 
stock and healthy 

brands, is rewarding 
evidence of this.
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FINANCIAL RESULTS
The analysis below for the year ended 30 June 2020 focuses on 
the key elements of the Group’s financial performance and 
statement of financial position, which management believes to be 
important for the understanding of the Group’s performance. The 
review should be read together with the annual financial 
statements on pages 136 to 200 and the summarised financial 
information presented on pages 103 to 106.

Turnover 
System-wide turnover for the year declined 7% against a back-
drop of an already difficult economic environment, which was 
further exacerbated by the onset of the coronavirus pandemic 
and the resultant national lockdown of the economy. Consolidated 
turnover was 4% lower when compared to the prior year 
(R6,7 billion versus R7 billion). 

Retail
Retail store turnover decreased 4% versus the prior year, with the 
like-on-like decrease amounting to 6%. Encouragingly, strong 
growth was recorded by all brands in June and July 2020 as the 
Group enjoys a larger share of wallet with consumers shifting their 
focus to spend on their homes (with spend in other discretionary 
sectors being severely curtailed as a result of the lockdown).
 
The retail store turnover decreases were largely driven by CTM, 
which recorded declines in gross and like-on-like sales. 
Encouragingly, webstore sales growth remained robust for the 
year as more customers migrated to the online offering as a result 
of the lockdown (a trend which is expected to continue). Notably, 
the East Africa region registered strong growth for the year, 

although aided by Rand weakness (i.e. translation gains) and 
relatively less restrictive lockdown requirements. Overall, prior to 
lockdown, positive signs were evident as a result of work done on 
range, presentation, productivity and store expansion.

Italtile Retail sales declined from the prior year, with its Projects 
division declining materially as commercial developments were 
hard hit by the economic conditions and lockdown in South 
Africa. Further, consumer sentiment of higher LSM customers was 
depressed during the year, impacting negatively on sales even 
prior to lockdown.

TopT recorded growth for the year. Regions acquired back from 
franchisees (Limpopo, North West, Free State and Northern 
Cape) have shown significant improvement, demonstrating the 
importance of adequate stock investment in stores. 

U-Light showed sales growth for the year a result of a very low 
base and opening of five new stores (including a webstore) during 
the year. Overall, the sales performance of the business was 
disappointing, with momentum gained up to the end of March 
2020 impacted significantly by the lockdown.

Supply chain
Supply chain business (Cedar Point, ITD and DC) sales were 6% 
lower than the prior year. All businesses were adversely impacted 
by closure of the retail stores in April as well as significant delays 
with import of inventory due to port delays (the business critical 
in-stock positions of ITD and Cedar Point in particular being 
negatively impacted).

 

2 
74

5
74

0

3 
11

5
90

5

3 
53

9
1 

04
7

3 
67

0
1 

06
3

6 
06

4
1 

51
8

6 
97

4
1 

79
7

6 
69

0
1 

50
2

27
% 29

%

30
%

29
%

25
%

26
%

23
%

Turnover, trading profit and trading
profit margin (R’000) (%)

8 000

6 000

4 000

2 000

0

35

30

25

20

15

10

5

0
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
■ Turnover ■ Trading profit margin■ Trading profit

 Return on shareholders’ interest (%)

35

30

25

20

15

10

5

0
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

28
,9

23
,4

27
,3

24
,1

24
,0

23
,0

17
,6

*

* Return of 22% achieved prior to lockdown.

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER’S 
REPORT
 For the year ended 30 June 2020

OUR PERFORMANCE

Integrated Annual Report 202098



Brandon Wood
Chief	Financial	Officer

Excluding the impact of the lockdown, ITD generally was in a 
better in-stock position when compared to the prior year, despite 
lower stock holdings. This, together with improved range offering, 
aided sales by the business.

In addition to the impact of the lockdown, Cedar Point sales were 
also negatively impacted by the removal of certain products from 
its offering as a result of the range rationalisation at this business 
(PVC panels, entry level cabinetry and tools among others were 
discontinued).

Manufacturing 
Manufacturing sales (aggregation of Ceramic Industries, Ezee Tile 
and PiViCal Panels) for the review period decreased by 9% 
compared to the prior year. Lockdown regulations for 
manufacturing businesses during Level 4 and 3 were more 
stringent, resulting in a slow start-up and consequential slower 
uptick in sales compared to the retail businesses.

Prior to lockdown, Ezee Tile recorded significantly improved 
trading results as a result of improved production efficiencies and 
growth in third-party business. Ceramic recorded improved yields 
and benefited from range rationalisation. The Australian factory 
has recorded robust growth as it grows its customer base in 
that country.

Gross margin
On a consolidated level, gross margin improved to 38% from 
37,5%. Favourable margin growth was enjoyed by supply chain 
segments due to range rationalisation, while margins in the retail 
and manufacturing segments declined to an average of 35,1% 
(2019: 36,3%) and 24,6% (2019: 25,6%) respectively as sales 

prices were kept relatively consistent despite cost increases to 
support demand (both segments recorded average price inflation 
of less than 2%).

Operating expenses
Operating expenses increased by 9% from the prior year. The 
largest increases were noted on the following expense items:
	» JV profit share: 36% increase to R38 million as result of the 

increase in JV partners in the retail stores.
	» Doubtful debt provision charge: increased to R12 million as the 

doubtful debt provision (based on expected credit loss basis) 
was increased to cater for potential losses attributable to the 
economic impact of the lockdown.

	» Property costs (excluding IFRS 16): 10% increase as a result of 
new store openings and increase in municipal rates (in excess 
of inflation). 

The continued focus on stock control costs by the stores with the 
assistance of internal audit has continued to pay dividends with 
these costs continuing their downward trend. Manpower costs 
continue to be well managed and productivity will remain a key 
focus area of management.

Like-on-like operating cost growth was contained at 6,4%.

Trading profit 
Trading profits for the year decreased by 16% from the prior year 
as the decrease in turnover was exacerbated by the above 
inflationary increase in operating expenses noted above as well 
as an impairment of R16 million recorded on plant and equipment 
by Ceramic Industries (detail provided overleaf) and a profit on 
disposal of property in the prior year of R14 million (R1 million 
recorded in current year).
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Finance costs
Finance costs increased by 56% from the prior year. The figure 
includes finance costs of R26 million relating to the IFRS 16 
accounting of leases (2019: R21 million). Further, the increase in 
finance costs can be attributed to the following:
	» A full 12 months’ worth of finance costs on the term loan of 

R500 million versus only seven months in the prior 
corresponding period.

	» Additional finance costs on R130 million drawn from a short-
term revolving facility.

Taxation
The effective tax rate for the year has increased as a result of prior 
period adjustments, a large increase in dividend withholding 
taxes paid by consolidated trusts as a result of the special 
dividends paid during the year, and an increase in deferred tax 
liabilities as a result of capital expenditure (compounded by a 
decrease in net profit before tax for the year).

Earnings per share
Earnings per share (“EPS”) and headline earnings per share 
(“HEPS”) decreased to 78,3 cents and 79,2 cents respectively. 
Adjusted EPS and adjusted HEPS decreased to 81,5 cents and 
82,3 cents respectively, both adjusted for the once-off charge of 
R39 million related to the BBBEE transaction with Yard Holdings 
as detailed below.
 

A 1% increase in the weighted number of shares from 1 226 million 
to 1 231 million shares following the BBBEE transaction resulted 
in the lower increase in earnings per share compared to the 
increase in attributable profits after tax. 

The disparity between basic earnings and headline earnings 
growth is attributable to a gain of R14 million realised during the 
prior year on disposal of properties (R1 million in the current year) 
and the R16 million impairment on property and equipment 
recorded in the current year by Ceramic Industries.

Dividend per share 
The Group maintained a dividend cover of 2,5 times for the year, 
resulting in the declaration of a final dividend of 10 cents per 
share, which, together with the interim dividend, totals a full year 
dividend of 33 cents per share, a decrease of 20% from the prior 
year (2019: 41 cents).

Investments in associates
ELK
Effective 1 February 2020, the Group acquired a 25,1% stake in 
Easylife Kitchens Management Proprietary Limited (“ELK”) for a 
consideration of R18 million. This investment is accounted for as 
an associate investment from the effective date of acquisition. 
The Company has one representative on the ELK board and we 
have started exploring various opportunities including:
	» Relocation of existing ELK stores to Group sites.

 Seven-year share price growth
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	» Supply of product to ELK franchisees as a preferred supplier.
	» Manufacture of bathroom furniture by ELK for supply to the 

Group.
	» Cross-merchandising of offerings in stores.

Property, plant and equipment
Capital expenditure of R614 million was spent during the year 
predominantly on the retail property portfolio and the plant and 
equipment upgrades across the manufacturing operations. 
Further, foreign exchange translation gains of R43 million were 
recorded on closing book values of foreign operations’ property, 
plant and equipment (with R40 million increase being recorded 
on Australian assets alone, given the weakening of the Rand).

Impairment
During the year, a decision was made to perform a significant 
upgrade of the SAMCA Floor tile factory, which would result in 
the replacement of a significant portion of the equipment and 
machinery at the factory. Efforts have been made to identify 
possible repurposing or to move affected components to other 
factories, as well as dispose of those components which could not 
be used elsewhere.

In anticipation of the upgrade, all operations at the factory were 
ceased towards the end of the period under review. Equipment 
and machinery with a carrying amount of R16 million as at 30 June 
2020 has been impaired as a result, as these components have 
been deemed to have negligible recoverable amounts as they 
cannot be reused elsewhere or sold to third parties.

IFRS 16
IFRS 16, which the Group adopted in the 2019 financial year, 
introduces a single, on-balance sheet lease accounting model for 
lessees. A lessee recognises a right-of-use asset representing its 
right to use the underlying asset and a lease liability representing 
its obligation to make lease payments.

The Group elected to apply the modified retrospective approach, 
which requires the recognition of the cumulative effect of initially 
applying IFRS 16 as of 1 July 2018 to the retained earnings. The 
Group has also elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and 
lease liabilities for short-term leases and leases of low-value 
assets – a practical expedient contained in IFRS 16.

The book value of right-of-use assets recognised at year end is 
R349 million (2019: R303 million) with the related lease liability at 
year end being R348 million (2019: R301 million). The net income 
impact during the current year is R9 million (2019: R11 million), 
being the net result of the following adjustments:
	» Lease expense reduction: R79 million.
	» Right-of-use asset depreciation: R62 million.
	» Lease liability finance cost: R26 million.

Inventory
The inventory balance of the Group net of provisions and 
including goods on the water (DC goods in transit) has increased 
to R896 million from R857 million at 30 June 2019 (an increase of 
5%). On a gross basis (prior to provisions) and excluding new 
stores (i.e. like-on-like basis) and the goods in transit balance 
(which increased to R80 million from the prior year balance of 
R48  million given the various delays experienced on imports), 
total inventory decreased by 3%.

The total inventory provision decreased by 8% from the prior year 
to R82 million (2019: R89 million). This decrease is largely 
attributable to the decrease in the provision at Ceramic Industries, 
given the significant decrease in the finished goods inventory 
held by Ceramic at year end. The provision for other divisions 
collectively remained fairly consistent from the prior year.

The 12-month average financial stock turn of most retail and 
manufacturing businesses remained consistent or improved on 
prior year when adjusted for the month of April when no trade 
occurred.

Cash and cash equivalents
The Group’s cash balance decreased to R860 million from 
R1,2 billion at 30 June 2019, with significant cash flows for the 
year being:
	» Capital expenditure of R614 million.
	» Dividend payments of R1,5 billion.
	» Tax payments of R416 million.
	» Own share purchases by the Group and the Foundation Trust 

totalling R243 million (18 038 049 shares).
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Trade and other receivables
The decrease in net trade and other receivables from the prior 
period is largely attributable to an increase in the expected credit 
loss allowance to cater for potential bad debts as a consequence 
of the COVID-19 pandemic and its impact on the economy, as 
well as the conversion of franchise stores to corporate stores 
(receivable balances previously recorded as third-party debt to 
the Group are now eliminated for consolidation purposes). 
Despite the increase in the expected credit loss allowance, the 
Group to date has not experienced a notable deterioration in 
the collectability of its debtors’ book.

Stated capital and share option reserve
Yard SPV deal
On 10 September 2019, the Company concluded its 
empowerment transaction with a wholly owned subsidiary of 
Yard  Investment Holdings Proprietary Limited (“Yard SPV”) in 
terms of which Yard SPV subscribed for 26 400 000 ordinary 
shares in Italtile for an aggregate cash subscription amount of 
R313 million. The transaction was concluded to improve the black 
ownership credentials of the Company, thus avoiding discounting 
on the ownership element in future verifications. The proceeds 
from the share issue were immediately distributed to shareholders 
as a special dividend, equating to 23 cents per share.

The transaction results in an IFRS 2 once-off expense and the 
related equity-settled share-based payment reserve of R39 million, 
which was recognised immediately on the transaction date.

Staff share scheme
The fourth allotment of shares in the scheme, granted in 2016, 
vested on 31 August 2019. A total of 94 employees qualified for 
the vesting, of which five employees opted to retain the shares 
and the balance received the net value of the awards in cash. 
This  resulted in a decrease in treasury shares of 909 106 
(2019: 1 044 139) shares.

The scheme is classified as an equity-settled scheme in terms of 
IFRS 2 Share-based Payment and has resulted in a charge of 
R25 million (2019: R18 million) to the Group’s income; R13 million 
(2019: R9 million) of this charge is a once-off accelerated expense 
for franchise staff.

INTERNAL CONTROL ENVIRONMENT
The general control environment remains robust and I have no 
knowledge of any fraud or suspected fraud which could have a 
material effect on the results of the Group.

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY
Value delivery is an integral part of our IT journey to ensure a 
memorable customer experience from a technology point of view 
and to ensure operational efficiencies throughout our business. 
Key operational areas of focus, outside of cybersecurity which is 
core to all IT-related processes, are as follows:
	» Analytics: Real-time actionable insights for management and 

business stakeholders.
	» Automation and integration of systems and processes to 

streamline operations.
	» Mobility: Back office and sales processes to increase 

productivity.

Over the next financial year, we will place increased focus on the 
general control environment of our information technology 
systems and processes and will continue with our innovation 
journey, which provides us with competitive advantage in various 
operational areas.

APPRECIATION
Following what has certainly been the most challenging and 
interesting year during my tenure at Italtile, I would like to extend 
my sincere appreciation and gratitude to:
	» Our shareholders for the engagements and support over the 

year;
	» Our customers for their continued support of our business and 

brands;
	» Our management and staff for determination and commitment 

to ultimately deliver a world-class shopping experience and 
manufacturing process;

	» Our finance teams for delivery of sound financial information 
and reports; and

	» Our Chairman and CEO for their inspirational leadership and 
consistent drive to improve.

B G Wood
Chief Financial Officer

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER’S 
REPORT CONTINUED

 For the year ended 30 June 2020
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FINANCIAL
RESULTS SUMMARY

Group

 2020
% change
from 2019 2019

Group and franchise results
Turnover (Rm)
– by Group-owned stores and entities 6 690 (4) 6 975
– by franchise-owned stores (unaudited) 2 568 (15) 3 020

System-wide turnover (Rm) 9 258 (7) 9 995

Number of stores* 198 5 189

Group results
Turnover (Rm) 6 690 (4) 6 975
Trading profit (Rm) 1 502 (16) 1 797
Total assets (Rm) 7 422 – 7 425
Cash and cash equivalents (Rm) 860 (28) 1 201
Number of shares in issue (000) 1 321 654 2 1 295 254
Headline earnings per share (cents) 79,2 (22) 101,8
Ordinary dividends declared per share (cents) 33,0 (20) 41
Net asset value per share (cents) 458 (5) 480
Number of employees 2 609 3 2 545
* Includes webstores.
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VALUE ADDED
STATEMENT

Group

 2020
Rm %

2019
Rm %

Turnover 6 690 6 975
Cost of goods and services (2 752) (3 237)

3 938 3 738
Income from investments and interest received 74 71
Value added 4 012 3 809

Value distributed and retained
Employees
– Salaries, incentives and benefits 790 20 792 21
Providers of capital 1 481 37 941 25
– Outside equity holders 33 1 42 1
– Ordinary and special dividend 1 448 36 899 24
Taxation 416 10 539 14
Reinvested in Group activities 1 325 33 1 537 40
– Depreciation 361 9 284 7
– Retained income 964 24 1 253 33

4 012 100 3 809 100

 

■  Reinvested in Group activities
■  Employees
■  Taxation
■  Providers of capital

2020

33%

20%10%

37%

2019 40%

21%

14%

25%

Value distributed and retained Value distributed and retained

INDIRECT IMPACTS
The total economic impact of an organisation includes indirect impacts. These are usually benefits arising in the course of its business to which 
a monetary amount is not directly attributable. Italtile does not assess and quantify its indirect economic impacts although the Group does 
provide indirect economic benefits.
	»  The Group spent R2 752 million (2019: R3 237 million) during the year purchasing raw materials and inventory as well as other products and 

services from suppliers. This in turn creates opportunities for suppliers to employ more staff to keep pace with the Group’s demands.
	» During the year the Group paid R416 million (2019: R539 million) in taxation, for the ultimate benefit of all citizens in the territories in which 

it operates.
	» The Group paid R790 million (2019: R792 million) during the year to employees in the form of salaries, incentives and benefits.  

These employees in turn supported their families, contributing to the economic activity of their communities and the overall economies.
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SEVEN-YEAR
REVIEW
 For the year ended 30 June 2020

(All amounts in Rm)

Seven-year
compound

growth % 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

OPERATIONS
Turnover 16 6 690  6 975  6 064 3 670 3 539 3 115 2 745 
Trading profit 13 1 502  1 797  1 518 1 063 1 047 905 740 
Profit before taxation 11 1 457  1 819  1 575 1 190 1 166 978 760 
Profit attributable to equity holders of the 
parent 11 964  1 253  1 080 845 813 700 509 
Headline earnings 11 974  1 243  1 080 803 804 661 530 
Ordinary dividends paid  22 518  532  339 292 252 204 157 

FINANCIAL POSITION
Non-current assets 4 812  4 472  3 872 2 775 2 309 2 023 1 856 
Current assets 2 610  2 953  2 455 1 388 1 365 1 079 857 
Equity attributable to equity holders 
of the parent 5 333  5 607  5 279 3 713 3 292 2 672 2 179 
Non-current liabilities 1 009  923  132 24 18 44 12 
Current liabilities 779  644  670 366 384 324 471 

CASH FLOW
Cash flows from/(utilised by)
operating activities 255  674  979 609 306 443 (127)
Cash flows utilised in investing activities 594  (593) (2 200) (379) (358) (175) (50)
Cash flows (utilised by)/from
financing activities (2)  441  1 389 (66) 7 (125) 123 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 860  1 201  679 511 347 392 249 
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SEVEN-YEAR
REVIEW CONTINUED

 For the year ended 30 June 2020

Seven-year
compound

growth % 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

FINANCIAL RATIOS
Returns
Trading profit to turnover (%) 22,5  25,8  25,0 29,0 29,6 29,1 27,0
Return on shareholders’ interest (%)1 17,6  23,0  24,0 24,1 27,3 28,9 23,4
Average consumer price index (%)† 2,2  4,7  4,6 6,1 5,6 5,1 6,0
Earnings per share (cents) 6 78,3  102,6  95,0 89,7* 87,8 75,9 55,3
Headline earnings per share (cents) 5 79,2  101,8  95,0 85,1* 86,9 71,6 57,6
Ordinary dividends declared per share (cents) 10 33,0  41,0 38,0 30,0 29,0 25 19
Special dividend declared per share (cents) 23  50,0 30,0 – – – –
Productivity
Turnover per employee (R000) 2 564  2 741  2 753 2 731 2 836 3 258 2 977
Total assets per employee (R000) 2 845  2 917  2 872 3 097 3 037 3 245 2 943
Trading profit per employee (R000) 576  706  689 791 839 947 803
Turnover growth (%) (4) 15,0 65,2 3,7 13,6 13,8 28,2
Number of employees 2 609  2 545  2 530 1 344 1 248 956 922
Number of stores 198  189  176 162 146 126 115
– Owned# 127  79  78 81 72 55 55
– Franchised# 71  110  98 81 74 71 60
Solvency and liquidity
Interest cover (times)2 18,5  34,6  43,4 1 063,0 523,5 150,8 37,0
Dividend cover (times)3 2,5  2,5  2,5 3 3 3 3
Gearing ratio (%)4 9,4  8,6  – – 0,1 1,1 7,6
Current ratio (times)5 3,4  4,6  3,7 3,8 3,6 3,3 1,8
Acid test ratio (times)6 2,2  3,3  2,5 2,3 1,8 1,9 1
Stock exchange performance
Market capitalisation+ (Rm) 12 15 199 18 071 16 117 11 700 12 673 10 707 7 875
Closing share price at year end (cents) 5 1 150  1 480  1 320 1 250  1 370 1 160 855
Market value per share
– High (cents) 1 504  1 549  1 545 1 500 1 370 1 325 860
– Low (cents) 951  1 220  1 170 1 243 1 035 835 590
Closing share price to net asset value per 
share 2,51  3,08  2,72 3,11* 3,78 3,92 3,53
Price-earnings ratio (times) 14,69  14,43  13,89 13,94* 15,62 15,28 15,46
Dividend yield (%) 2,9  2,8  2,9 2,4 2,2 2,2 2,2
Earnings yield (%) 6,8  6,9  7,2 7,2 6,4 6,5 6,5
Number of shares in issue (millions)+ 1 322  1 221  1 221 940 926 924 921
Volume of shares traded (millions) 113  57  82 84 70 70 20
Value of shares traded (R000) 1 368 208  782 440  1 124 989 1 154 746 843 529 763 680 147 964
Volume of shares traded as a % of total issued 
shares+ 8,5  4,4 6,3 8,9 7,6 7,6 2,2
† As per Statistics South Africa.
* Adjusted to account for Rights Offer bonus element.
# Includes webstores.
+ Excluding treasury shares.
1 Return on shareholders’ interest: Profit attributable to equity holders of the parent as a percentage of average equity attributable to equity holders of the parent.
2 Interest cover: Trading profit divided by finance cost.
3 Dividend cover: Headline earnings per share divided by dividends declared per share (excluding special dividends).
4 Gearing ratio: Interest-bearing loans and borrowings as a percentage of equity attributable to equity holders of the parent.
5 Current ratio: Current assets divided by current liabilities.
6 Acid test ratio: Current assets, less inventory, divided by current liabilities.
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As a Proudly South 
African franchisor, retailer 

and manufacturer, our 
strategies are designed 

to focus on the 
sustainability of 

the business and the 
environment in which we 
operate. By selling local 
products manufactured 

by local people, we 
will create jobs and 

contribute to the 
economy. Our continued 

investment in training, 
skills development and 

cutting-edge technology 
will ensure our people 

and products are 
globally competitive. 

By conducting our 
operations in an ethical 

and responsible manner, 
we strive to continue to 

reduce our carbon 
footprint and enhance 

the natural environment 
of our local communities.
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OUR BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS

Board  
members 

Name Giovanni Ravazzotti Luciana Ravazzotti 
Langenhoven

Jan Potgieter Susan du Toit Brandon Wood Brand Pretorius Nkateko Khoza Isaac Malevu

Age 77 51 51 47 38 72 44 46

Appointed Founding member 2018 2014 2009 2013 2011 2018 2020

Role Non-executive  
Chairman

Non-executive 
Deputy Chairman

Chief Executive  
Officer

Lead independent 
non-executive director

Chief Financial  
Officer

Independent 
non-executive director

Independent 
non-executive director

Independent  
non-executive director

Qualifications
skills, 
experience

Founder, in 1969, of the 
Italtile Group and Chairman 
of Ceramic Industries  
(Pty) Limited.

Luciana has 26 years of  
experience with the Group, 
having worked in various 
roles including HR, IT, 
accounting, sales and 
marketing in the South 
African business, and was 
involved in the research and 
establishment of Ceramic 
Industries’ Centaurus factory 
in Australia. Luciana is 
currently a non-executive 
director on the boards of 
Centaurus Pty Ltd in Australia 
(appointed in 2000) and 
Ceramic Industries (Pty) Ltd 
(appointed in 2006).

BCompt (Hons),
CA(SA) Advanced 
Management
Programme (INSEAD)

Jan is a Chartered 
Accountant (SA) and has 
extensive senior level 
experience in the retail 
and supply chain sectors, 
having most recently 
served as Chief Executive 
Officer and formerly 
Financial Director of 
Massdiscounters (a division 
of Massmart). He also 
served as a business 
manager at Clover SA 
and spent eight years at 
SABMiller in senior financial 
roles. Jan currently serves 
as a non-executive director 
on the board of Fortress 
REIT Limited.

CA(SA), MCom (Financial  
Management)

Susan is a Chartered  
Accountant (SA) and has held 
a number of positions within 
EY culminating in the position 
as lead audit partner on a 
number of entities listed on 
the JSE. Susan also held the 
position of team leader for a 
group of audit partners at EY. 
Susan currently works with a 
number of organisations in 
the non-profit sector.

BAcc, CA(SA)

Brandon is a Chartered 
Accountant (SA) and prior 
to joining the Group, was 
an audit manager at EY. 
He joined Italtile in 2010 as 
Group Financial Manager 
and was appointed as Chief 
Financial Officer in 2013 and 
served in this position for five 
years. From 2018, Brandon 
has served as Executive  
Director: Commercial and 
Supply Chain and Executive 
Director: Retail prior to being 
appointed as CFO with effect 
from 3 August 2020.

MCom Business  
Economics

Brand Pretorius is a  
well-known and respected 
businessman in South Africa, 
particularly in the motor 
industry where he held the  
position of Managing 
Director for Toyota SA for 
eight years and that of 
Chief Executive Officer of 
McCarthy Limited from 1999 
to his retirement on 1 March 
2011. Brand currently 
serves as a non-executive 
director on the boards of 
InvoTech and Agrinet, and as 
non-executive Chairman of 
Metair Investments.

BCom, MBA

Nkateko is the Chief 
Executive Officer of Dzana 
Investments, a venture  
founded by her father,  
Dr Reuel Khoza. Dzana 
Investments is a holding  
company with interests in 
mining, property, energy, 
education, health and the 
ICT sector. She was formerly 
associate director at Deloitte 
Consulting where she was 
responsible for business  
development and client 
service.

CA(SA)

Isaac is a Chartered  
Accountant (SA) and is 
currently the Chief Financial 
Officer for Client Coverage 
in the Corporate Investment 
Banking division within the 
Standard Bank Group  
Limited. Prior to that he was 
audit partner at EY. Isaac has 
been appointed as the CFO 
of the Industrial Development 
Corporation with effect 
from 1 October 2020. Isaac 
has in excess of 20 years of 
international experience and 
thought leadership in a range 
of specialist areas including 
finance, treasury, corporate 
strategy, risk management 
and corporate governance. 
His appointment reflects  
the Group´s continuing  
commitment to enhancing 
the diversity of the Board and 
the expertise available to the 
business.

Board 
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■ Audit and Risk       ■ Social and Ethics       ■ Remuneration       ■ Nominations       C Chairman       * By invitation
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EY culminating in the position 
as lead audit partner on a 
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position of team leader for a 
group of audit partners at EY. 
Susan currently works with a 
number of organisations in 
the non-profit sector.

BAcc, CA(SA)

Brandon is a Chartered 
Accountant (SA) and prior 
to joining the Group, was 
an audit manager at EY. 
He joined Italtile in 2010 as 
Group Financial Manager 
and was appointed as Chief 
Financial Officer in 2013 and 
served in this position for five 
years. From 2018, Brandon 
has served as Executive  
Director: Commercial and 
Supply Chain and Executive 
Director: Retail prior to being 
appointed as CFO with effect 
from 3 August 2020.

MCom Business  
Economics

Brand Pretorius is a  
well-known and respected 
businessman in South Africa, 
particularly in the motor 
industry where he held the  
position of Managing 
Director for Toyota SA for 
eight years and that of 
Chief Executive Officer of 
McCarthy Limited from 1999 
to his retirement on 1 March 
2011. Brand currently 
serves as a non-executive 
director on the boards of 
InvoTech and Agrinet, and as 
non-executive Chairman of 
Metair Investments.

BCom, MBA

Nkateko is the Chief 
Executive Officer of Dzana 
Investments, a venture  
founded by her father,  
Dr Reuel Khoza. Dzana 
Investments is a holding  
company with interests in 
mining, property, energy, 
education, health and the 
ICT sector. She was formerly 
associate director at Deloitte 
Consulting where she was 
responsible for business  
development and client 
service.

CA(SA)

Isaac is a Chartered  
Accountant (SA) and is 
currently the Chief Financial 
Officer for Client Coverage 
in the Corporate Investment 
Banking division within the 
Standard Bank Group  
Limited. Prior to that he was 
audit partner at EY. Isaac has 
been appointed as the CFO 
of the Industrial Development 
Corporation with effect 
from 1 October 2020. Isaac 
has in excess of 20 years of 
international experience and 
thought leadership in a range 
of specialist areas including 
finance, treasury, corporate 
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the diversity of the Board and 
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business.
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C  
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CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
KING IV
Italtile believes that the application of effective governance is essential to establishing an ethical and successful organisation which creates 
sustainable value for its stakeholders, and embraces the principles set out in King IV. King IV’s outcome-driven approach to corporate governance 
aligns with Italtile’s existing governance framework and commitment to sustainable value creation and continuous improvement. 

The Group subscribes to the Institute of Directors’ Governance Assessment Instrument (“IoDSA GAI”), and the following summary report on the 
application of King IV is extracted from the IoDSA GAI, with the full assessment of all principles of King IV included on the Italtile website, 
www.italtile.com.
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In accordance with the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited (“JSE”) and King IV, the table below provides further detail on assessment of 
Italtile’s application of the governance principles as recommend by King IV. This table should be read in conjunction with additional corporate 
governance and other disclosures provided in this IAR. The Italtile Board supports the various principles of King IV and commits to continuous 
improvement in this regard.

LEADERSHIP, ETHICS AND CORPORATE CITIZENSHIP

King IV 
principle

Affirmation 
statement Application Focus area

Leadership

Principle 1: 
Leadership

The Italtile Board 
leads ethically and 
effectively.

	» The Board is committed to high standards of corporate 
governance and ethics, and is the primary custodian of the 
Group’s values and culture. 

	» The Board’s roles and responsibilities are set out in its 
Charter which include, inter alia, providing effective 
leadership that stands on an ethical foundation, oversight 
of the Group’s ethics policies, and ensuring that the Group’s 
ethics are managed effectively.

	» In fulfilling its duties, the Board ensures that all its members 
act with integrity and competence, are transparent and fair, 
and are individually and collectively responsible and 
accountable.

	» The Board completes an annual self-evaluation which is 
reviewed by the Chairman, with no areas of concern being 
noted during the most recent evaluation.

	» Declaration of interests is a standing agenda item for each 
Board meeting.

	» The Group’s stakeholder engagement processes are well 
established, with the assistance of the Group’s investor 
relations expert.

	» The Board completes an annual attestation relating to the 
roles and responsibilities set out in the Board Charter.

	» The Board is to 
establish a formal 
induction policy 
and a stakeholder 
engagement policy.

	» Consideration will 
be given to external 
Board evaluation 
processes.

Organisational ethics

Principle 2: 
Organisational 
ethics

The Italtile Board 
governs the ethics 
of Italtile in a way 
that supports the 
establishment of 
an ethical culture.

	» The Board Charter mandates the Board to review, approve, 
monitor and evaluate the strategy proposed by 
management, while simultaneously monitoring the Group 
policies in place.

	» The Group’s culture, value and Business Conduct Policy 
form an integral part of its strategy and success.

	» Reports from the Group’s whistle-blowing lines as well as 
the annual employee engagement survey are reviewed by 
the Board. Such reports detail allegations and findings, and 
management’s response to or remediation thereof.

	» The Board is assisted in the execution of these duties by its 
Social and Ethics Committee, as well as its Audit and Risk 
Committee.

	» The promotion and preservation of the corporate culture 
and values, which is underpinned by high ethical standards, 
is delegated by the Board to its executive directors.

	» Employees of the Group undergo ethics-related training 
and diversity training.

	» Significant suppliers outside of the integrated supply chain 
sign declarations confirming compliance with UN Global 
compact.
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CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CONTINUED

LEADERSHIP, ETHICS AND CORPORATE CITIZENSHIP continued

King IV 
principle

Affirmation 
statement Application Focus area

Responsible corporate citizenship

Principle 3: 
Responsible 
corporate 
citizenship

The Italtile Board 
ensures that Italtile 
is, and is seen to 
be, a responsible 
corporate citizen.

	» Italtile is committed to being a responsible corporate 
citizen and the Board ensures that the Company pursues its 
activities within the confines of social, environmental and 
governance responsibilities as legislated or otherwise. In 
establishing its strategy, the Board considers the impact of 
its activities on the business, communities, stakeholders and 
the environment.

	» The Board has tasked the Social and Ethics Committee with 
overseeing responsible corporate citizenship, which also 
monitors compliance with the UN Global Compact 
principles, and UN Sustainable Development Goals.

	» The Group has a full-time Corporate Citizenship Manager 
who oversees projects related to environmental initiatives 
(such as water preservation and renewable energy), 
community upliftment (including renovation of ablutions at 
primary schools) and other charitable activities.

	» The Group has further established the Italtile and Ceramic 
Foundation Trust, which is a broad-based black ownership 
scheme, with the objective of carrying on public benefit 
activities in a non-profit manner and with an altruistic and 
philanthropic intent, focusing on education, sport and 
conservation.

	» The Social and 
Ethics Committee 
receives reports on 
the work of the 
Corporate 
Citizenship 
Manager and that 
of the Italtile and 
Ceramic Foundation 
Trust to ensure 
Italtile’s 
commitment to 
being a responsible 
corporate citizen is 
carried out.

STRATEGY, PERFORMANCE AND REPORTING
Strategy and performance

Principle 4: 
Strategy and 
performance

The Italtile Board 
appreciates that 
Italtile’s core 
purpose, its risks 
and opportunities, 
strategy, business 
model, 
performance and 
sustainable 
development are 
all inseparable 
elements of the 
value creation 
process.

	» The Board delegates the detailed formulation and 
implementation of the Group’s strategy to management.

	» The Board reviews, approves, monitors and evaluates the 
implementation of the Group’s strategy. The strategy is 
revisited and debated annually in detail at a two-day 
breakaway session attended by the Board and members of 
the Group’s Executive Committee and senior management.

	» In approving the strategy, the Board ensures a sustainable 
alignment of the Group’s business model, strengths, 
weaknesses and opportunities.

	» The Board evaluates performance of strategy 
implementation with reference to both financial and 
non-financial outcomes, to ensure that sustainable value 
creation is achieved. 

	» Progress against the key strategic imperatives is reported 
on by the CEO quarterly.

OUR GOVERNANCE
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STRATEGY, PERFORMANCE AND REPORTING continued

King IV 
principle

Affirmation 
statement Application Focus area

Reporting

Principle 5: 
Reporting

The Italtile Board 
ensures that 
reports issued by 
Italtile enable 
stakeholders to 
make informed 
assessments of the 
organisation’s 
performance, and 
its short, medium 
and long-term 
prospects.

	» The Board, assisted by the Audit and Risk Committee, 
ensures that reports are compliant with legal reporting 
requirements and timeously meet the reasonable and 
legitimate needs of the Group’s stakeholders. Further, the 
Board, again assisted by the Audit and Risk Committee, 
ensures that the necessary controls are in place to verify the 
integrity of disclosed reports, and makes use of the Group’s 
enterprise risk matrix as a basis for determining material 
items for disclosure.

	» Reports prepared by the Group, all of which are reviewed 
and approved by the Board prior to publication, include:
 – IAR and annual financial statements;
 – King IV corporate governance disclosures;
 – Interim financial reports; and
 – Trading updates (including voluntary statements) and 

other announcements on SENS as required by the JSE 
Listings Requirements.

	» The Board ensures that all relevant stakeholders have 
access to its published reports, with this responsibility being 
delegated to management.

	» The CEO and CFO engage with key shareholders on a 
one-on-one basis semi-annually (when interim and final 
results are announced).

GOVERNING STRUCTURES AND DELEGATION
Primary role and responsibilities of the Board

Principle 6: 
Primary role and 
responsibilities

The Italtile Board 
serves as the focal 
point and 
custodian of the 
organisation’s 
corporate 
governance.

	» The Board has overall responsibility for corporate 
governance across the Group.

	» The Board is supported by its four sub-committees (Audit 
and Risk Committee, Social and Ethics Committee, 
Nominations Committee and Remuneration Committee) 
whose chairpersons provide feedback at Board meetings.

	» The roles and responsibilities of the Board are contained in 
its Charter, with each sub-committee having its own charter 
which is reviewed annually.

	» Although the Board retains overall responsibility for the 
Group, it delegates the management of the day-to-day 
operations of the Group to the executive directors, who 
operate according to a delegation of authority framework.

	» The executive directors of the Board are either members 
of subsidiary boards or attend by invitation to ensure 
consistent application of the Group’s overall strategy and 
governance.

	» The delegation of authority framework is regularly 
reviewed.
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GOVERNING STRUCTURES AND DELEGATION continued

King IV 
principle

Affirmation 
statement Application Focus area

Composition of the Board

Principle 7: 
Composition

The Italtile Board 
comprises the 
appropriate 
balance of 
knowledge, skills, 
experience, 
diversity and 
independence 
for it to discharge 
its governance 
roles and 
responsibilities 
objectively and 
effectively.

	» The Board recognises that an appropriately balanced and 
diverse governance body is important for enhanced debate 
and decision making.

	» The Board believes that its current composition is 
appropriate for the current size and complexity of the 
Group, with the majority of the Board members being 
independent non-executive directors. The executives of the 
Group, including the CEO, are members of the Board, and 
members of the Group’s Executive Committee and senior 
management attend Board meetings by invitation.

	» Given that the Chairman of the Board is not independent, 
a strong lead independent director has been appointed to 
the Board.

	» The Nominations Committee ensures that any Board 
candidates have the necessary skills, knowledge and 
experience to make a meaningful contribution to the Board, 
while ensuring that diversity and independence of the 
Board is preserved and all nominations are handled in a 
transparent manner.

	» Non-executive directors are subject to rotation and 
re-election after the Board satisfies itself that they remain fit 
and proper.

	» The Board completes an annual self-evaluation which is 
reviewed by the Chairman, with no areas of concern being 
noted during the most recent evaluation.

	» Declaration of interests is a standing agenda item for each 
Board meeting.

	» Consideration will 
be given to external 
Board evaluation 
processes.

Committees of the Board

Principle 8: 
Committees

The Italtile Board 
ensures that its 
arrangements for 
delegation within 
its own structures 
promote 
independent 
judgement, and 
assist with balance 
of power and the 
effective discharge 
of its duties.

	» The Board is supported by its four sub-committees (Audit 
and Risk Committee, Social and Ethics Committee, 
Nominations Committee and Remuneration Committee) 
whose chairpersons provide feedback at Board meetings.

	» The responsibilities delegated to each sub-committee is 
formally documented in committee charters which are 
reviewed annually.

	» The Board ensures that the composition of the sub-
committees is appropriate for delegated responsibilities 
and that there is effective collaboration through cross-
membership (while maintaining a balanced distribution of 
power).

	» Any member of the Board is entitled to attend any 
Committee meeting as an observer, and members of 
management may also attend such meetings on invitation.

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CONTINUED

OUR GOVERNANCE
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GOVERNING STRUCTURES AND DELEGATION continued

King IV 
principle

Affirmation 
statement Application Focus area

Evaluations of the performance of the Board

Principle 9: 
Evaluations of 
performance

The Italtile Board 
evaluates its own 
performance and 
that of its 
committees, its 
chair and its 
individual 
members, and 
supports 
continued 
improvement in its 
performance and 
effectiveness.

	» The Board completes an annual self-evaluation which is 
reviewed by the Chairman, with no areas of concern being 
noted during the most recent evaluation.

	» The Board is satisfied that each sub-committee is 
functioning effectively.

	» Consideration will 
be given to external 
Board evaluation 
processes.

Appointment and delegation to management

Principle 10: 
Management 
appointment 
and delegation

The Italtile Board 
ensures that the 
appointment of, 
and delegation to, 
management 
contributes to role 
clarity and 
effective exercise 
of authority and 
responsibility.

	» Although the Board retains overall responsibility for the 
Group, it delegates the management of the day-to-day 
operations of the Group to the executive directors, who 
operate according to a delegation of authority framework.

	» The Group’s CEO is held accountable for the performance 
of the Group and the implementation of the approved 
strategy. Progress against key strategic imperatives and a 
summary of Group performance is reported by the CEO 
quarterly.

	» The executive directors are appointed by the Board, and 
their performance is measured against key performance 
indicators (financial and non-financial) by the Remuneration 
Committee.

	» The executive directors are not members of the sub-
committees (barring the Social and Ethics Committee) but 
do attend committee meetings by invitation.

	» The Board believes the Company Secretary has the 
requisite knowledge, experience and stature.

	» The Board has formalised succession planning for executive 
directors.

	» The delegation of authority framework is regularly 
reviewed.
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GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONAL AREAS

King IV 
principle

Affirmation 
statement Application Focus area

Risk governance

Principle 11: 
Risk governance

The Italtile Board 
governs risk in 
such a way that 
supports the 
organisation in 
setting and 
achieving its 
strategic 
objectives.

	» The Board is ultimately responsible for ensuring that risks 
are effectively managed and has delegated this 
responsibility to the Audit and Risk Committee, with the 
understanding that the overarching aim of effective risk 
management being preservation of sustainable value 
creation for stakeholders.

	» An enterprise risk framework has been approved by the 
Audit and Risk Committee and is used to identify material 
risks (in accordance with a defined risk appetite) to which 
the Group’s strategy and controls are to be responsive. A 
top-down and bottom-up approach is used to identify risks.

	» Risks identified using the enterprise risk framework are 
regularly reviewed and debated and a combined assurance 
model adopted in assessing the effectiveness of controls to 
address the risks. Providers of assurance include 
management, internal audit and external audit.

	» As part of the risk identification process, opportunities 
related to such risks are identified and leveraged where 
possible.

	» The Board has delegated the implementation and 
execution of effective risk management to the executive 
directors.

Technology and information governance

Principle 12: 
Technology and 
information 
governance

The Italtile Board 
governs 
technology and 
information in a 
way that supports 
the organisation 
in setting and 
achieving its 
strategic 
objectives.

	» The Board understands that information technology (“IT”) 
is a critical component of the business and is supported by 
the Audit and Risk Committee to oversee governance of 
technology and information.

	» The day-to-day management of the IT environment is 
delegated to management which includes a subject 
specialist Group IT Manager. Management reports at least 
quarterly to the Board on matters relating to IT, including 
security and developments.

	» Risks related to technology and information are 
incorporated into the Group’s enterprise risk framework 
with particular focus on controls to prevent unauthorised 
access to IT systems and information, and disaster recovery.

	» Incorporated in the Group’s overall strategy is a dedicated 
focus on the IT strategy to ensure alignment and critical 
support with the overall strategy.

	» Independent assurance relating to IT controls is obtained 
on an annual basis.

	» IT governance 
and Protection 
of Personal 
Information (“PoPI”) 
compliance 
continues to be 
an area of focus, 
with third-party 
expertise and 
assistance sought 
where necessary.

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CONTINUED

OUR GOVERNANCE
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GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONAL AREAS continued

King IV 
principle

Affirmation 
statement Application Focus area

Compliance governance

Principle 13: 
Compliance 
governance

The Italtile 
Board governs 
compliance with 
applicable laws 
and adopted, 
non-binding rules, 
codes and 
standards in a way 
that supports the 
organisation in 
setting and 
achieving its 
strategic 
objectives.

	» The Board is assisted by the Audit and Risk Committee and 
the Social and Ethics Committee to oversee compliance 
with applicable laws, regulations, codes and standards, 
including voluntary codes such as the UN Global Compact.

	» The Board has delegated the responsibility for 
implementing compliance to management, who consult 
with subject matter experts where deemed necessary.

	» Management participates in training sessions facilitated by 
subject matter experts where necessary.

	» An independent review of compliance with laws and 
regulations is performed every three years with the 
assistance of a credible legal firm, and findings thereof are 
reported to the Board and addressed by management. 
No material findings were noted during the previous review. 
In addition to this review, further limited assurance is 
obtained annually from the Group’s external auditor and 
taxation consultants with regard to adherence to relevant 
laws and regulations.

	» The Group was not subject to any material penalties, 
sanctions or fines for contravention of, or non-compliance 
with, regulatory obligations during the period under review.

	» Refer to principle 3 for further disclosure relating to the 
Company’s governance of ethics and considerations for 
being a responsible corporate citizen.

	» An updated 
independent review 
of compliance with 
laws and regulations 
will be performed 
during the 2021 
financial year.

Remuneration governance

Principle 14: 
Remuneration 
governance

The Italtile Board 
ensures that the 
organisation 
remunerates fairly, 
responsibly and 
transparently in 
order to promote 
the achievement of 
strategic objectives 
and positive 
outcomes in the 
short, medium 
and long term.

	» With the assistance of the Remuneration Committee, the 
Board ensures that executives, management and other staff 
are remunerated fairly and transparently, in order to support 
the Group’s long-term sustainability and success.

	» The Group’s remuneration policy is reviewed by the 
Remuneration Committee and approved by the Board. It is 
designed to attract and retain key personnel, promote the 
achievement of strategic objectives by establishing a 
high-performance culture, and preserve the corporate 
culture and ethics.

	» The Group’s remuneration policy and Implementation 
report is subject to non-binding votes by shareholders.
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GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONAL AREAS continued

King IV 
principle

Affirmation 
statement Application Focus area

Assurance

Principle 15: 
Assurance

The Italtile Board 
ensures that 
assurance services 
and functions 
enable an effective 
control 
environment, and 
that these support 
the integrity of 
information for 
internal decision 
making and 
external reporting 
purposes.

	» The Board, assisted by the Audit and Risk Committee, 
ensures adequate assurance is obtained over the internal 
control environment, integrity of information for 
management decision making, and external reporting.

	» Italtile implements a combined assurance model 
comprising management, internal audit and external audit.

	» The Audit and Risk Committee reviews the internal and 
external audit approaches to ensure that significant risk 
areas and material matters are addressed.

	» The Internal Audit Charter and plan is approved by the 
Audit and Risk Committee, as it is responsible for 
overseeing this function.

	» The Head of Internal Audit has direct access to the 
Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee and is not a 
member of executive management, thus preserving 
independence.

	» The Audit and Risk Committee receives regular reports 
related to assurance from the external auditor, Head of 
Internal Audit and management.

	» The Audit and Risk Committee recommends the 
appointment of the external auditor. The Board is satisfied 
that the external auditor is independent.

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CONTINUED

OUR GOVERNANCE
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STAKEHOLDER RELATIONSHIPS

King IV 
principle

Affirmation 
statement Application Focus area

Stakeholders

Principle 16: 
Stakeholders

In the execution 
of its governance 
roles and 
responsibilities, 
the Italtile Board 
has adopted a 
stakeholder 
inclusive approach 
that balances the 
needs, interests 
and expectations 
of material 
stakeholders in the 
best interest of the 
organisation over 
time.

	» The material stakeholders of Italtile are its shareholders, 
employees, franchisees, suppliers and business partners, 
government and regulators, communities and customers.

	» The management of stakeholder relationships and 
interactions is overseen by the Board with the assistance 
of the Social and Ethics Committee, both well aware of the 
importance of maintaining sound stakeholder relationships.

	» Italtile adopts an inclusive approach and engages 
stakeholders on multiple levels and through various 
mediums, allowing the Group to be effectively responsive 
to their needs, interests and expectations.

	» Management proactively encourages engagement with 
stakeholders.

	» The AGM is attended by all directors and the external 
auditor, providing shareholders with an opportunity to 
engage with them. 

Responsible investment

Principle 17: 
Institutional 
investors

The Italtile Board 
does not apply this 
principle as the 
organisation is not 
an institutional 
investor.
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Board of directors
Appoints  

and/or confirms
Appoints

Appoints

Nominations Committee

Social and Ethics Committee

Audit and Risk Committee

Remuneration Committee

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
A formal Board Charter has been adopted and includes a code of 
ethics to which all directors subscribe. Procedures exist in terms 
of which unethical business practices can be brought to the 
attention of the Board by directors.

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD
The Board comprises two executive directors, a non-executive 
Chairman, a non-executive Deputy Chairman and four 
non-executive directors, all of whom are independent.

The directors are individuals of a high calibre with diverse 
backgrounds and expertise, facilitating independent judgement 
and broad deliberations in the decision-making process.
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CLASSIFICATION OF DIRECTORS
The basis on which directors have been classified in terms of their 
independence in this report is as follows:
	» executive directors are involved in the management of Italtile 

and/or its subsidiaries and are employed in a full-time capacity 
by Italtile;

	» non-executive directors are those who have been nominated 
by a shareholder owning more than 20% of the Group, or who 
were in the employ of the Group in the preceding financial 
year. Non-executive directors are not involved in day-to-day 
management and are not in full-time salaried employment of 
Italtile and/or its subsidiaries; and

	» independent non-executive directors are all other directors 
irrespective of the period during which they have been 
members of  the Board and as defined in King IV and the 
JSE Listings Requirements.

No director has an automatic right to a position on the Board. 
All directors are required to be elected by the shareholders at an 
annual general meeting (“AGM”) on a rotational basis.

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES
The Board is responsible to shareholders for the conduct of the 
business of the Group, which includes providing Italtile with clear 
strategic direction. The schedule of matters reviewed by the 
Board includes:
	» approval of the Group’s strategy and annual budget;
	» overseeing Group operational performance and management;
	» ensuring that there is adequate succession planning at senior 

levels;
	» overseeing director selection, orientation and evaluation;
	» approval of major capital expenditure or disposals, material 

contracts, material acquisitions and developments;
	» reviewing the terms of reference and approving charters of 

Board Committees;
	» determining policies and processes which seek to ensure the 

integrity of the Group’s risk management and internal controls;
	» maintaining and monitoring the Group’s systems of internal 

control and risk management;
	» communication with shareholders, including approval of all 

circulars, prospectuses and major public announcements;
	» approval of the interim statement and IAR and accounts 

(including the review of critical accounting policies and 
accounting judgements and an assessment of the Company’s 
position and prospects); and

	» approval of dividends.

The Board retains full and effective control over the business of 
Italtile. The Board has defined levels of materiality through a 
written delegation of authority, which sets out decisions the Board 
wishes to reserve for itself. The delegation is regularly reviewed 
and monitored.

DIVISION OF RESPONSIBILITY
The Company conducts an annual evaluation of its Board, Board 
Committees and individual directors, and is confident that there 
is an appropriate balance of power and authority on the Board to 
ensure that no one director has unfettered powers of decision 
making.

The division of responsibilities maintains a balance of power and 
authority on the Board.

TERM OF OFFICE
The two executive directors have employment contracts without 
fixed terms. In accordance with the Company’s memorandum of 
incorporation (“MOI”), all non-executive directors are subject to 
retirement by rotation and re-election by shareholders at least 
every three years. 

If requested to serve a further term, those retiring directors 
may offer themselves for re-election by shareholders. Any 
director appointed during the year must retire at the AGM held 
immediately after his or her appointment.

BOARD MEETINGS
The Board meets at least every quarter or more frequently if 
circumstances require. At the meetings, the Board considers both 
financial and non-financial qualitative information that might have 
an impact on the Group’s stakeholders. Prior to every Board 
meeting, each director receives an information pack that provides 
background information on the performance of the Group for the 
year to date and any other matters for discussion at the meeting.

Board members have full and unrestricted access to relevant 
information, management, and the Company Secretary, and may, 
at the cost of the Group, seek independent professional advice in 
the fulfilment of their duties.

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CONTINUED

OUR GOVERNANCE
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Details of attendance at Board meetings are set out below:

Board member Attendance at meetings

G A M Ravazzotti 3/4
L R Langenhoven 4/4
J N Potgieter# 4/4
S M du Toit 4/4
S G Pretorius 4/4
N Medupe3 1/4
B G Wood# 4/4
T T A Mhlanga#1 4/4
N P Khoza 3/4
I Z Nyanga2 3/4
I N Malevu4 1/4
# Executive.
1 Ms Mhlanga resigned from the Board on 30 June 2020.
2 Ms Nyanga resigned from the Board on 25 March 2020.
3 Ms Medupe resigned from the Board on 14 November 2019.
4 Mr Malevu was appointed to the Board on 25 March 2020.

BOARD APPOINTMENT POLICY
The Board evaluates its composition each year to ensure an 
appropriate mix of skills, experience, professional and industry 
knowledge to meet the Company’s strategic objectives. 
Demographic representation is also a consideration. New 
directors are subject to a ‘fit and proper’ test. An induction 
programme is available to incoming directors, providing guidance 
on their responsibilities. The appointment of the directors is 
approved at the AGM of shareholders.

None of the non-executive directors have entered into service 
contracts or standard letters of appointment with Italtile.

LEAD INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR
While the Board is led by a non-executive Chairman, Ms S M du Toit 
continues to serve as lead independent non-executive director to 
the Company’s Board.

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board has established four committees to which it has 
delegated specific responsibilities in meeting its corporate 
governance and fiduciary duties. 

These committees operate within written terms of reference and 
charters approved by the Board. These are:
	» Audit and Risk Committee;
	» Remuneration Committee;
	» Nominations Committee; and
	» Social and Ethics Committee.

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE
The Committee met five times during the period under review. 
Attendance at the meetings was as follows:

Members Attendance at meetings

N Medupe 3/5
S G Pretorius 4/5
S M du Toit 5/5
N P Khoza2 3/5
I Z Nyanga 4/5
I N Malevu 1/5
L R Langenhoven1 2/5
J N Potgieter1 5/5
B G Wood1 5/5
T T A Mhlanga1 5/5
1 By invitation.
2 Appointed to Committee on 17 November 2019.

For the full Audit and Risk Committee report refer to page 146.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Committee met twice during the period under review. 
Attendance at the meetings was as follows:

Members Attendance at meetings

S M du Toit 2/2
G A M Ravazzotti 2/2
S G Pretorius 2/2
J N Potgieter1 1/2
L R Langenhoven1 2/2
1 By invitation.

For the full Remuneration report refer to page 125.

NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE
The Nominations Committee is a sub-committee of the Board and 
meets on an ad hoc basis as required, but at  least once a year. 
The  Committee is chaired by the non-executive Chairman and 
comprises  a majority of independent non-executive directors. 
The current members of the Committee are: Mr G A M Ravazzotti 
(Chairman), Mr S G Pretorius and Ms S M du Toit.

The Nominations Committee’s key roles include the identification 
and evaluation of suitable candidates for appointment to the 
Board, as well as succession planning. 

The Nominations Committee considers both race and gender 
when nominating appointments of directors to the Board. The 
current Board composition is diverse in terms of both race and 
gender.
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The Committee met twice during the period under review. 
Attendance at the meetings was as follows:

Members Attendance at meetings

G A M Ravazzotti 2/2
S G Pretorius 2/2
S M du Toit 2/2
L R Langenhoven1 2/2
1 By invitation.

The Board considers the composition of the Nominations 
Committee to be appropriate for the needs of the Group at this 
time, and believes that the members are suitably equipped with 
the necessary knowledge, skills and experience.

SOCIAL AND ETHICS COMMITTEE
The Committee met three times during the year. Attendance at 
the meetings was as follows:

Members Attendance at meetings

N P Khoza 2/3
N Medupe 2/3
S G Pretorius2 1/3
J N Potgieter 2/3
B G Wood1 3/3
T T A Mhlanga1 3/3
1 By invitation.
2 Appointed to Committee on 17 November 2019.

For the full Social and Ethics Committee report refer to page 32.

The Board considers the Committee’s composition appropriate in 
terms of the necessary skills and experience of the members.

COMPANY SECRETARY
The Company Secretary is Ms E J Willis and she is neither a 
director nor a shareholder of Italtile or any of its subsidiaries. 
On that basis, the Board believes that Ms E J Willis maintains an 
arm’s length relationship with the executives, the Board and the 
individual directors.

The Company Secretary is responsible for administering the 
proceedings and affairs of the directorate, the Company and, 
where appropriate, owners of securities in the Company, in 
accordance with the relevant laws. The Company Secretary is 
available to assist all directors with advice on their responsibilities, 
their professional development and any other relevant assistance 
they may require.

The Nominations Committee has considered the skills and 
experience of the Company Secretary and the level of competence 
she has demonstrated as Italtile’s Group Company Secretary since 
2009, and in her role as a Company secretarial consultant since 

2001. The Board, on the recommendation of the Nominations 
Committee, is satisfied with the level of competence of the 
Company Secretary. It requires a decision of the Board as a whole 
to remove the Company Secretary, should this become necessary.

CODE OF BUSINESS AND ETHICS
The Group has adopted a formal code of business ethics and 
conduct (“the Code”) which requires all directors and employees 
to act with honesty and integrity and to maintain the highest 
ethical standards. The Code deals with compliance with laws and 
regulations through a system of values and standards.

The Board oversees and ensures that management throughout 
the Group assumes responsibility for training and mentoring staff 
on the Group’s values and standards and ensuring compliance.

STAKEHOLDER COMMUNICATION
Italtile is committed to open, honest and regular communication 
with key stakeholders on financial and non-financial matters. 
A  working partnership between the Group, its suppliers, 
franchisees, employees and members of  the community forms 
the basis of a mutually beneficial association.

The AGM provides an opportunity to communicate directly with 
shareholders. The meeting provides a forum for shareholders to 
question and express their views about the Company’s business. 
The Chairmen of the Audit and Risk and Remuneration 
Committees are available at the meetings to answer questions 
from shareholders.

Notice of the AGM and related documents are mailed to 
shareholders at least 15 business days before the meeting. 
Separate resolutions are proposed on each substantially different 
issue. The notice is contained in the IAR.

The Group’s executive management team meets with investors 
after the publication of interim and annual results to present an 
update on the industry, current operations of the business and its 
prospects.

SHARE DEALINGS
All directors of the Company are required to comply with the 
requirements of the JSE regarding inside information, transactions 
and disclosure of transactions.

In line with the Financial Markets Act, No 19 of 2012, the Board 
enforces a restricted period for dealing in Italtile shares, in terms 
of which any dealings in shares by all directors and senior 
personnel is disallowed from the time that the reporting period 
has elapsed to the time that results are released and at any time 
that such individuals are aware of unpublished price-sensitive 
information, whether the Company is trading under cautionary 
announcement as a result of such information or not.

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CONTINUED

OUR GOVERNANCE
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL 
CONTROLS
Italtile recognises that managing risk and compliance is an 
integral part of generating sustainable shareholder value and 
enhancing stakeholder interests.

The Group has in place an enterprise risk management framework 
which is based on a combined assurance model comprising: 
management (divisional and executive directors); external auditor 
(PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.); and Support Centre oversight 
(including the internal audit function). The structure of this model 
and its activities are designed to ensure that the Group’s risks are 
adequately addressed.

The Board, assisted by the Audit and Risk Committee, is 
responsible for risk, risk tolerance determination, risk management 
within the Group, performance of risk assessments, the use of 
acceptable risk methodologies and the monitoring of risk on a 
continual basis.

The Board ensures there is regular assessment of financial and 
non-financial risks in the context of the Group’s business 
environment, with a view to mitigating and/or eliminating risk 
through the Group’s strategies and processes.

Internal controls are designed to manage rather than eliminate 
risks of failure to achieve business objectives, and provide 
reasonable rather than absolute assurance against material 
misstatement or loss. The internal audit function is a structured 
review of internal controls based on risk assessment. 

The material issues, risks and opportunities report on page 38 of 
this report discusses the Group’s top risks and issues and the 
management thereof in detail.

SUSTAINABILITY
Italtile is committed to good corporate citizenship practices and 
organisational integrity in the direction, control and stewardship 
of the Group’s affairs.

The Group recognises the imperative to balance returns for 
shareholders with the long-term needs of the business, its 
employees, the broader society and the environment.

The Company is aware of its responsibility to safeguard the 
interests of all stakeholders and believes that good governance is 
essential to the Group’s long-term sustainability and functioning. 
The Group’s objective is to conform stringently to transparency, 
while operating profitably and remaining accountable to the 
broader community which it serves.

Shareholders, customers, employees, suppliers and business 
partners, franchisees, regulators and the communities in which 
the Group operates are regarded as key stakeholders.

King IV places emphasis on the principles of strategy, sustainability 
and governance and provides for greater integration of those 
elements. Accordingly, Italtile continues to strive to align the 
Group’s practices with the recommendations of King IV.

Refer to pages 24 to 66 for further disclosures relating to 
sustainability.

TRANSFORMATION
Italtile is committed to empowerment in its business and is 
supportive of transformation in the country. The Group endorses 
the principles in the Employment Equity Act and aligns its human 
resources policies accordingly. Refer to page 44 for the detailed 
Transformation report.

EMPLOYMENT EQUITY STATISTICS
As at 30 June 2020

Male Female

African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White Total

Skilled to top management 219 15 8 107 93 4 10 61 517
Semi-skilled and unskilled 1 347 34 4 35 334 18 6 45 1 823

Total 1 566 49 12 142 427 22 16 106 2 340

The above statistics apply to South African operations only and do not include the franchised stores. The Group submits its employment equity 
reports to the Department of Labour on an annual basis and has substantially met relevant targets in recent prior years.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
The Group is committed to uplifting the societies in which it 
operates through following sound employment practices and 
meeting the real needs of those communities. Refer to pages 52 
to 61 in this regard.

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY
Italtile complies with the Occupational Health and Safety Act, 
No  85 of 1993 and other relevant legislation, regulations and 
codes of practice for South Africa and other territories in which it 
operates. The aim of the Group’s Health and Safety policy is to 
prevent and minimise work-related injuries and health impairments 
by ensuring that all employees are provided with adequate 
training and supervision to undertake their roles.

ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT
The Group’s Citizenship Manager is instrumental in implementing 
Italtile’s long-standing environmental consciousness values across 
the business. Programmes are  aimed at measuring, managing 
and reducing the Group’s impact on the environment and 
promoting its long-term sustainability. This Citizenship Manager 
operates in conjunction with executive management, with a view 
to better aligning and integrating the green agenda into the day-
to-day processes and functioning of the business.

The Group’s Environmental report is on page 62.

HUMAN CAPITAL DEVELOPMENT
Italtile strives to be the employer of choice in its industry. The 
Group’s strategy is to recruit and retain the best people from 
South Africa’s diverse population base, and to ensure they are 
empowered, accountable for their actions and rewarded 
accordingly. Refer to page 125 in this regard.

SKILLS DEVELOPMENT
Training and development initiatives are formulated and 
conducted in-house, ensuring relevance to the Group’s culture, 
values and strategy.

Training courses are designed for students ranging from beginners 
to intermediate and advanced levels. Training courses include an 
induction course for all new employees, as well as focused 
business, technical, management and corporate governance 
programmes. Minimum training competencies have been 
mapped for all job titles to support consistent standards across 
the Group.

Over the past year, training spend and operating costs amounted 
to R16 million (2019: R14 million).

In addition to Group-wide training interventions, Italtile’s Tiling, 
Plumbing and Laminate Academy continues to raise the 
benchmark in product knowledge training.

ECONOMIC IMPACTS
Italtile is committed to satisfying the needs of its customers while 
delivering acceptable profit growth. The Group endeavours to 
create wealth for the benefit of all stakeholders.

The value added statement on page 104 is a measurement of the 
wealth the Group created in its operations by adding value to the 
cost of raw materials, products and services purchased. The 
statement shows the total wealth created and how that was 
distributed.

The statement also takes into account the amounts retained and 
reinvested in the Group for the replacement of assets and 
development of future operations.

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CONTINUED

OUR GOVERNANCE
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REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE REPORT

This report sets out Italtile’s remuneration philosophy and policy for non-executive directors, 
executive	directors	and	prescribed	officers.	 It	 also	provides	a	description	as	 to	how	 the	
policy has been implemented and discloses payments made to non-executive and executive 
directors	and	prescribed	officers	during	the	year	under	review.

The	report	focuses	on	the	fixed	and	variable	elements	of	executive	remuneration,	as	well	as	
fees	paid	to	non-executive	directors	and	uses	the	single	figure	disclosure	format.	Assessed	
against King IV and the amended JSE Listings Requirements, the Remuneration Committee 
is	satisfied	with	the	Company’s	compliance.

In line with leading practice as prescribed by King IV, this report is divided into three 
sections:

Section 01

Section 02

Section 03

BACKGROUND STATEMENT WITH FEEDBACK FROM THE CHAIRPERSON 
OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

OUR REMUNERATION PHILOSOPHY, POLICY AND FRAMEWORK

IMPLEMENTATION REPORT AND REMUNERATION DISCLOSURE OF 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND PRESCRIBED OFFICERS
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Section 01
BACKGROUND STATEMENT WITH FEEDBACK FROM THE CHAIRPERSON 
OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

DEAR STAKEHOLDERS
Background statement
I am pleased to present Italtile’s Remuneration report for the year 
ended 30 June 2020.

The Committee has oversight of the Group’s remuneration 
practices and policies. The Committee is focused on responsible 
remuneration practices across the Company and strives for fair, 
responsible and transparent remuneration through the review of 
remuneration practices.

During the year under review, the Chairman of the Remuneration 
Committee engaged extensively with a range of shareholders 
regarding the remuneration policy. This has resulted in a 
refinement of our policy and the successful approval of the new 
retention scheme.

The new Italtile Retention Scheme was adopted by shareholders 
at a general meeting held on 24 June 2020 with 96% of votes in 
favour of the new scheme. 

The Company’s remuneration policy and Implementation report 
were approved by 95% of shareholders at the Company’s 2019 
AGM. We believe that this reflects recognition of our ongoing 
commitment to engage with our shareholders and act on 
concerns where necessary.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE AT A GLANCE
As tasked by the Board, the Committee assists in setting the 
Company’s remuneration policy and reviews, recommends and 
approves the remuneration of executive and non-executive 
directors, prescribed officers and senior management. (collectively 
referred to as “the executive team”).

A core responsibility of the Remuneration Committee is to ensure 
that the remuneration philosophy and policy support Italtile as 
follows:
	» aligns the executive reward with the Group’s commercial 

success and long-term sustainability; and
	» supports the Group’s strategic objectives and allows for the 

recruitment, motivation and retention of senior executives, 
ultimately maximising shareholder value while complying with 
relevant legislation and requirements of the King IV.

As per its terms of reference, published on our website, the 
Committee’s responsibilities are to:
	» assist the Board in developing and setting the Group’s 

remuneration policy;

	» determine and approve the total remuneration of the executive 
team;

	» review executive performance contracts;
	» determine and approve the performance measures for the 

executive team;
	» review the compensation basis and proposed average annual 

increases for the Group’s employees;
	» review remuneration and Board best practice and trends in 

order to assess the appropriateness of the remuneration policy;
	» review remuneration matters for top management promotions, 

transfers and termination of employment;
	» oversee any proposed major changes to employee benefit 

structures throughout the Group;
	» review and recommend short and long-term incentive policies 

and targets for directors and executive management;
	» set the participation principles for the various remuneration 

schemes;
	» review and recommend performance management policies;
	» ensure compliance with applicable laws and codes;
	» advise on the fees for non-executive directors; 
	» review the Group’s succession plan for executives; and
	» review and evaluate the contribution of each executive director 

and member of senior management and determine their salary 
adjustments on an annual basis, ensuring pay for performance.

 
Key decisions taken by the Remuneration Committee during the 
year under review include:
	» approval of increases and adjustments for executives, as well as 

the framework for increases for all other employees;
	» approval of short and long-term incentive structures and 

awards for executives, as well as the framework for all other 
employees;

	» approved the key performance indicators for the executives; 
and

	» recommendation of non-executive director fees for approval to 
the Board.

As required by the Companies Act and King IV, the following 
resolutions will be tabled for shareholder voting at the AGM, 
details of which can be found in the AGM notice:
	» binding vote on non-executive directors’ fees; and
	» non-binding advisory vote on the Group’s remuneration policy 

and Implementation report.

In the event that the remuneration policy or Implementation 
report is voted against by shareholders exercising 25% or more of 
the voting rights, dissenting shareholders will be invited to 
engage with the Company. The manner and timing of such 
engagement will be provided, if necessary.

REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE REPORT CONTINUED
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The Committee Chairperson reports to the Board after each 
Committee meeting and attends the AGM to answer questions 
from shareholders on the Committee’s area of responsibility.

The Committee is focused on responsible remuneration practices 
across the Company. Our industry faces many challenges and we 
recognise the need to retain top talent to ensure a focused drive 
to meet shareholder expectations. It is important that Italtile 
presents a competitive value proposition in remuneration and 
benefits.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE COMPOSITION
The Remuneration Committee is a sub-committee of the Board. 
The Committee meets at least twice per annum. The Committee 
is chaired by an independent non-executive director and 
comprises three directors. The majority of directors on the 
Committee are independent.

The current members of the Committee are:
Mrs S M du Toit (Chairman), Mr G A M Ravazzotti and 
Mr S G Pretorius.

The Board considers the Committee’s composition to be 
appropriate in terms of the necessary knowledge, skills and 
experience of its members.

The Italtile Group Company Secretary, E J Willis, attends all 
meetings of the Committee as secretary. The CEO attends all 
meetings by invitation in order to provide input and guidance 
with regard to executive director and senior management 
remuneration.

No attendee may participate in any discussion or decision 
regarding his or her own remuneration.

The Committee met twice during the year. Attendance at the 
meetings was as follows:

Members Attendance at meetings

S M du Toit 2/2
G A M Ravazzotti 2/2
S G Pretorius 2/2
J N Potgieter 2/2
B G Wood 1/2
L R Langenhoven 2/2

We trust that this Remuneration report provides an accurate 
overview of the Company-wide remuneration policy and its 
implementation and specifically an in-depth view on executive 
management remuneration in the past year.

 

Susan du Toit
Remuneration Committee Chairman
23 September 2020
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REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE REPORT CONTINUED

Section 02 OUR REMUNERATION PHILOSOPHY, POLICY AND FRAMEWORK

REMUNERATION PHILOSOPHY
Italtile is committed to maintaining pay levels that reflect an 
individual’s worth to the Group. The Group’s philosophy is to treat 
employees as business partners, developing a sense of ownership 
and to pay for performance.

Our remuneration philosophy is governed by the principles of 
equity, fairness, pay for performance and affordability, ensuring 
alignment between management and shareholder requirements.

Remuneration policies are designed to attract, reward and retain 
the executives and employees needed to deliver on Italtile’s 
business strategy.

REMUNERATION POLICY
The remuneration policy subscribes to King IV recommendations 
and principles on which it is based include the following principles:
	» remuneration practices are aligned with Company strategy;
	» total rewards are set at competitive levels in the relevant 

market to ensure we attract, motivate and retain highly talented 
individuals;

	» total rewards are managed to align to the principle of 
responsible and fair pay;

	» total remuneration costs need to be affordable at an individual 
corporate entity level and justifiable to employees and 
stakeholders;

	» incentive-based results are linked to achieving demanding 
performance conditions consistent with shareholder interest 
over the short, medium and long term; and

	» performance measures and targets for incentive plans are 
structured to operate effectively throughout the business cycle 
and support the business strategy.

ELEMENTS OF REMUNERATION
Italtile has an integrated remuneration and reward model which 
includes guaranteed remuneration, short-term incentives and 
long-term incentives. The components of total remuneration for 
permanent employees, prescribed officers and executives are 
fixed remuneration and variable remuneration.
 
Fixed remuneration comprises a basic salary and benefits, aligned 
to roles and performance. Variable remuneration comprises short- 
term incentives and long-term incentives, aimed at retention 
of critical employees. Performance is measured against set 
performance indicators.

All employees share in Group profits, based on an individual’s 
contribution to the Group. The Group has a minimum cost to 
Company target of R120 000 per employee (2019: R100 000).

During the 2014 financial year, the Group implemented a Share 
Incentive Scheme for all qualifying employees of the Group and 
its franchisees who had been in the employ of the Group and/or 
franchise network for a period of three uninterrupted years at 
each allotment date in August, every year from the implementation 
date. Until vesting, the shares will continue to be accounted for as 

treasury shares and have an impact on the diluted weighted 
average number of shares.

The allotment is funded by the Group and the shares are restricted 
instruments which will vest with employees following a further 
three years of employment. 

The various elements of remuneration are outlined below:

Guaranteed salary for employees
Guaranteed salary is reviewed annually and positioned 
competitively against peers that are comparable in size, sector 
and business. Company performance, affordability, individual 
performance and average industry and sector increases are 
considered in determining any annual adjustment. Increases are 
generally inflation-linked and, where affordable, additional 
budget is allocated for adjusting remuneration levels that are not 
appropriately aligned to internal pay ranges and/or market rates 
for a specific job.
 
Benefits
Benefits offered to employees include medical aid, provident 
fund and other benefits relevant to Italtile.

Fair and responsible remuneration
Steps that have been taken to improve the lives of the most junior 
employees:
1. The Group pays employees a living wage. The minimum basic 

wage paid in 2020 was R6 500 per month at CTM, R5 500 per 
month at TopT and R6 000 per month at Ceramic Industries. 
The minimum wage paid has been increased to R6 900 at 
CTM, R6 000 at TopT and R6 400 at Ceramic Industries as from 
1 August 2020.

2. Assistance to buy property: pension-backed housing loans are 
offered through FNB and funding for affordable housing is 
offered through Nedbank. The Group offers support in 
securing a home loan and also assists in restructuring of loans.

3. Programmes helping employees manage their finances 
are available through our Employee Wellness Programme: 
EAP Ask Nelson. Employees have access to qualified 
financial consultants who can assist with budgeting, saving, 
investments, debt counselling, wills and estate planning, 
home loans, insurance, personal tax, garnishee orders and 
vehicle finance.

4. Training programmes are run for incoming graduates. CTM 
and TopT incoming graduates are placed on a six-week 
induction programme, consisting of factory visits, practical 
plumbing and tiling courses, as well as sales training. In 
addition, they go through a four-week  NQF 4 qualification in 
retail management over 12 months.

Incentives
The Italtile Group administers incentive schemes to encourage 
and reward delivery of its strategic priorities over the short, 
medium and long term. The short-term incentive focuses on 
achieving business targets in that financial year, while the long- 

OUR GOVERNANCE
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term incentive closely aligns the interests of executives with 
shareholders over the longer term.

Short-term incentives
All employees share in profit. Executives take part in the Executive 
Profit Share Scheme.

Long-term incentives
As per the policy on long-term incentives, there are four long- 
term incentive schemes within the Italtile Group, each rewarding 
performance in an appropriate manner, designed to reward and 
retain key personnel. The long-term incentives include:
	» the Italtile Share Appreciation Rights Scheme; 
	» the Italtile Retention Scheme (replacing the Executive Retention 

Plan);
	» the Ceramic Industries Equity Incentive Scheme; and 
	» the Ceramic Industries Escrow Scheme.

Qualifying criteria for the long-term incentives are as per the 
executive scorecards.

	» Share Appreciation Rights Scheme
 –  In accordance with the Share Appreciation Rights Scheme 

(“SARS”), selected directors and employees of the Group 
are awarded a conditional share award linked to the value of 
notional Italtile Limited shares (“shares”). A total of 25% of 
the awards vest after three years from grant date, and the 
balance (75%) after five years. The value of an award is equal 
to the increase in the value of the shares between grant date 
and vesting date (the value at the latter date is defined as 
the volume weighted average price of Italtile Limited shares 
as traded on the JSE over the 10 trading days preceding and 
including the vesting date).

 –  The qualifying criteria specific to SARS awards are the short- 
term strategic initiatives and operational KPIs per the 
executive scorecards.

	» The Italtile Retention Scheme (replaces the Executive Retention 
Plan)
 –  In line with Italtile Group’s remuneration philosophy of 

partnership and in accordance with Italtile Group’s 
recognition of the importance of efficient and transparent 
succession planning within the Italtile Group, Italtile 
established the scheme in order to retain and incentivise 
selected high-performing employees, identified by the 
Remuneration Committee from time to time, with a proven 
track record for their contribution to the growth and 
sustainability of the Italtile Group.

 –  Performance targets for each award are set by the 
Remuneration Committee. The targets include headline 
earnings per share (“HEPS”), return on invested capital 
(“ROIC”) and individual performance targets as appropriate, 
considering the role of the employee, and are weighted at 
the time of the award.

 –  To the extent that the performance targets have been 
attained at the end of the five-year retention period, awards 
are automatically redeemable and trust shares are transferred 
to participants.

 –  The number of shares allocated for all share schemes (SARS, 
existing Executive Retention scheme and this new Retention 
Scheme) cannot exceed 154 999 923 shares, being 12% of 
issued shares.

 –  The number of Trust Shares linked to units that may be 
acquired by any participant in terms of this deed of trust, 
when added to the number of Italtile shares which are issued 
and/or transferred to the same participant under the SARS, 
Italtile Retention Scheme and the former Executive Retention 
Plan, may not exceed 20 666 656 Italtile shares, being 1,6% 
of issued shares.

	» Ceramic Industries Equity Incentive Scheme
 –  The scheme is used to incentivise senior management on 

long-term profitability. A number of notional shares are 
awarded to an individual. These shares are due in two 
tranches (25% after two years, 75% after four years). Of the 
shares vesting in any one of the tranches, 20% are not 
conditional, while 80% are conditional. For conditional 
shares, there is a minimum profit target (below which no 
conditional shares are received). A straight-line calculation is 
used to find the number of shares to be received if the profit 
lies between the minimum and maximum targets. The 
targets are based on the profit for two years (year one and 
two for the first tranche and year three and four for the 
second tranche). The shares are cash-settled. After tax is 
paid, the balance of the cash payment is applied towards the 
obligatory purchase of Ceramic Industries ordinary shares.

	» Ceramic Industries Escrow Scheme
 –  This scheme is a mechanism to retain and reward selected 

high-performing Ceramic Industries executives and senior 
management in line with the Group’s values and philosophy 
of partnership. Subscription shares are issued to participants 
without monetary payment being made for such shares. The 
consideration of the shares is the rendering of services by 
the participant over the restricted period. Participants 
receive dividends from the date of issue of awards. The 
shares are held in trust until the end of the retention period 
(restricted period) of five years, at which time the shares are 
transferred out of Escrow to the participant.

 –  When new shares are issued on this scheme (planned for 
December 2020), a lock-in period of three years after the 
restricted period will be introduced, as well as appropriate 
performance measures.

 –  Executives and prescribed officers are encouraged to build a 
meaningful shareholding in the Company over time. The 
guideline from the Remuneration Committee is for 
executives to hold between 0,5% and 1,5% of issued shares.
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REMUNERATION
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Malus and clawback
The Committee has the discretion to clawback the pre-tax 
proceeds of any discretionary payment or share award received 
by employees in the event of a trigger event.

A trigger event would include, inter alia:
	» the discovery of material misstatement of the financial 

statements, in terms of which the discretionary payment was 
made, to which the Board is satisfied that the employee has 
contributed or is responsible for;

	» the discovery that the assessment of any metrics upon which 
the award was made was based on erroneous, inaccurate or 
misleading information;

	» any action or conduct which, in the reasonable opinion of the 
Board, amounts to dishonesty, misbehaviour, fraud or 
misconduct;

	» the discovery of a material failure in risk management to which 
the employee had contributed to or is responsible for; and/or

	» the discovery that performance related to financial and non- 
financial targets was misrepresented and that such misstatement 
led to the over-payment of incentives.

The clawback applies for three years after the discretionary 
payment is made, or in the case of share schemes, three years 
after the awards have vested.

EXECUTIVE AND KEY MANAGEMENT 
PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT
Executive and key management’s performance is measured in the 
following categories, with specific performance targets/indicators 
per category, namely:
	» Strategic plan objectives per five-year plan;
	» Financial performance;
	» Human capital;
	» BBBEE;
	» Customer satisfaction;
	» Cultural fit/values; and
	» Stakeholder relations.

The Remuneration Committee believes that the set of key 
performance indicators (“KPIs”) as per the executive scorecard 
agreed with the CEO, is suitably challenging. Refer to the 
Implementation report for the CEO scorecard.

ESG matters have become more prominent globally. Given the 
appreciation of material sustainability issues facing our business 
and the strategic importance of building a sustainable business, 
additional tangible KPIs related to ESG matters will be included in 
the 2021 year-end scorecards, in order to improve the link 
between ESG and remuneration. 

The outcome of the performance evaluation of the CEO is 
disclosed in the Implementation report below.

SERVICE CONTRACTS OF EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTORS AND PRESCRIBED OFFICERS
	» Executive directors and prescribed officers have permanent 

contracts.
	» The notice period prescribed by the contracts is one calendar 

month.
	» Contracts are regularly reviewed to ensure they remain aligned 

with governance and legislative requirements.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FEES
	» Non-executive director appointments are made in terms of 

the Company’s MoI and confirmed at the AGM of shareholders 
after the appointment.

	» Fees reflect the directors’ role and Committee membership 
and are not linked to the Italtile share price. A fee applies for 
any additional ad hoc work but not exceeding 100 hours a year 
above Board and Committee meetings.

	» Fees are reviewed by the Committee annually and require 
approval from shareholders at the AGM.

	» Non-executive directors do not participate in any of the 
Company’s short or long-term incentive plans and they are not 
employees of the Company.

	» The recommendation of the Remuneration Committee on the 
proposed fees is submitted to the Board for consideration 
before being proposed to shareholders for consideration and 
approval at the AGM. If approved, the fees become effective in 
the month following the AGM.

Non-executive director fees for 2020 are tabulated in the 
Implementation report on page 134.

USE AND JUSTIFICATION OF REMUNERATION 
BENCHMARKS
The Remuneration Committee reviews remuneration and Board 
leading practice and remuneration trends in order to assess 
competitiveness in the market. External remuneration benchmark 
reviews published by PwC, EY and the Institute of Directors in 
South Africa are reviewed and taken into account when 
determining pay levels and structures.

NON-BINDING ADVISORY VOTE
Shareholders are requested to cast a non-binding advisory vote 
on section 2 of this Remuneration report (remuneration policy).

OUR GOVERNANCE

Integrated Annual Report 2020130



Section 03
IMPLEMENTATION REPORT AND REMUNERATION DISCLOSURE OF 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND PRESCRIBED OFFICERS

The Implementation report details the outcomes of implementing 
the approved policy in section 2 of this report.

PERFORMANCE ASSESSMENT OUTCOME
The key performance areas for the CEO for the year under review, 
were as per the KPIs included in the scorecard below.

The Committee concluded that, on an overall basis, the CEO met 
the expectations and achieved the targets set by the Board. 
In addition, the Committee reviews the performance management 
process of all executives and prescribed officers.

The financial performance for the year under review was 
significantly impacted by the Coronavirus and the resulting 
lockdown period and slow-down in the economy. 

Despite the impact of lockdown, the Group reported a solid set of 
results for the period by continuing to focus on sales, cost 

leadership, productivity improvements, further entrenching the 
performance culture and continued focus on the strategic 
objectives.
 
The leadership shown through the crisis deserves special mention. 
Despite the significant business disruption, management instilled 
confidence in employees and other stakeholders through clear 
communication and action plans delivered with positive energy, 
supported by the Chairman and the Board. The executive team 
stayed committed to the Group’s strategic direction, core values 
and culture despite the need for short-term focus and actions. 
Extraordinary measures taken to contain costs and preserve cash 
during lockdown, include granting special leave, allowing 
negative annual leave balances, salary sacrifices for three months 
and re-engineering business units to name a few. 
 
The Group has come through the crisis well, as a result of these 
measures and the leadership shown by the executives.

CEO KPIs

Focus area Desired outcome Performance Rating

1. Strategic plan Drive eight key strategic objectives of approved five-year 
plan

In progress Achieve

Create ‘one page’ per business unit to ensure total 
alignment

Complete Achieve

Property portfolio growth:
	» Open 10 to 15 new stores for the year 
	» Close any non-performing stores 
	» Improve return on property portfolio by selling non- 

productive assets

Opened 13
Closed three
Improving 

Achieve

Drive better integration between Italtile and Ceramics by 
utilising synergies

Improved processes Achieve

Drive cost leadership/productivity initiatives across 
the Group (factories, logistics, stores) to become more 
competitive

In progress
Achieve

Build stronger CTM leadership warrior group in operations 
and regions to ensure longer-term sustainability

Much better CTM operations team and JV partners Achieve

Enhance online offering and open U-Light webstore Complete Achieve

2.  Financial 
performance

Grow Group profit for the year:
	» HEPS 10%
	» Trading profit 15%

Profits declined due to COVID-19
Full year – 17% (+7% half)
Full year – 16% (+6% half) 

Under 
achieve

Improve Group working capital management and Group 
stock turn by 5% with clear individual targets

Same as prior and big improvement since 
COVID-19
Total retail 5,9% versus 4,9%

Achieve

Return on shareholders’ interest improved (minimum 23%) End March 23% but last quarter dropped to 
+/- 20% due to COVID-19 impact
Special dividend paid for three consecutive years

Achieve
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REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE REPORT CONTINUED

CEO KPIs continued

Focus area Desired outcome Performance Rating

3. Human capital Improve employee engagement score to 75 with next 
survey

Actual 77 versus prior 74 Superior 

Store operator pipeline improved to 10 per annum Most appointed Achieve

Support executive management and prescribed officers on 
leadership development programme

Woodburn Mann programme and external 
coaching Achieve 

Senior executive succession planning in place for future Clear succession plans Achieve

4. BBBEE Achieve 80 points and aim for level 4 Actual 81 level 4 Achieve 

Ownership initiative implemented not to be discounted Yard deal complete Achieve 

Drive YES initiative *  Deliberately postponed by Board decision 

5.  Customer 
satisfaction 

Improve score and measurement in all three retail brands 
including new Brand Health monitor to retain and take 
market share:
	» Italtile Retail
	» CTM
	» TopT

Improvement across all brands with regard to 
brand health, sentiment score, mystery shop 
and NPS Achieve 

Build CRM solution with digital capability Operational Achieve 

6.  Cultural fit/
values

Entrench the Group’s core values of partnerships, 
hands-on approach, performance driven, entrepreneurial 
flair, high work ethic, transparency in communication, 
dignity, empowerment, integrity and putting the customer 
first

Step change with renewed energy 

Achieve 

Creating and driving a performance culture across the 
Group

Improvement on prior year Achieve

7.  Stakeholder 
relations

Maintain good relationships with all external shareholders 
and other important stakeholders

Shareholder engagement:
	» Meet personally twice per year with results and 

any ad hoc request during the year.
	» 95% approval of remuneration policy. All 

stakeholder relations active

Achieve

Executive performance
The outcome of the performance assessment directly impacts decisions on guaranteed pay, short-term incentives and long-term incentives, as 
illustrated in the table below:

Description Assessment of performance Impact on executive remuneration

Guaranteed basic 
salary

Scorecard KPIs – achieved Given the uncertain impact of COVID-19 on the business and 
the economy over the next few months and year, no salary 
increases (other than to the lowest paid employees) have been 
approved at this stage. The decision will be reviewed 
in January 2021.

Short-term 
incentives

0,25% of profit before tax shared between the CEO and 
CFO
CEO: 60 units
CFO: 40 units

	» Executives shared in profits
	» Group profit before tax decreased by 20%

Long-term 
incentives

Awarded to high-performing, high-potential employees 
and executives in line with the Group’s philosophy of 
partnership

	» Both executives and the two prescribed officers share in long-
term incentives as disclosed in this section of this report.

OUR GOVERNANCE
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ AND PRESCRIBED OFFICERS’ PARTICIPATION IN SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEMES
Executive directors’ holdings under the SARS are set out in the table below:

Executive director
Awards held at 

1 July 2019

Awarded 
during 

the year

Vested and 
exercised

during 
the year

Forfeited 
during 

the year

Awards 
held at

30 June 2020

J N Potgieter 3 250 000 – (2 500 000) – 750 000
B G Wood 2 000 000 – (650 000) – 1 350 000
T T A Mhlanga# 500 000 – – – 500 000
# Following her resignation, the awards held by T T A Mhlanga at year end were forfeited on 1 July 2020.

Executive directors’ holdings under the Executive Retention Plan are set out in the table below:

Director
Awards held at 

1 July 2019

Awarded 
during 

the year

Vested 
during 

the year

Forfeited 
during 

the year

Awards 
held at

30 June 2020

J N Potgieter 3 000 000 – – – 3 000 000
B G Wood 1 000 000 – – – 1 000 000
T T A Mhlanga# 500 000 – – – 500 000
# Following her resignation, the awards held by T T A Mhlanga at year end were forfeited on 1 July 2020.

Prescribed officers’ holdings under the Ceramic Industries Escrow Scheme are set out in the table below:

Prescribed officers
Awards held at 

1 July 2019

Awarded 
during 

the year

Vested 
during 

the year

Forfeited 
during 

the year

Awards 
held at

30 June 2020

L Foxcroft 207 069 – – – 207 069
T Molefakgotla 165 656 – – – 165 656

DIRECTORS’ AND PRESCRIBED OFFICERS’ EMOLUMENTS (“SINGLE FIGURE REMUNERATION”)

All figures in R000
Base

salary
Short-term
incentives

Provident 
fund and
medical

contributions

Gain on 
share

scheme
awards Other

Total
2020

Total
2019

Executive directors
J N Potgieter 3 503 2 435 493 22 883 647 29 961 20 550
B G Wood 2 243 1 461 310 6 428 352 10 794 11 266
T T A Mhlanga 1 733 – 231 2 382 363 4 709 5 330

2020 7 479 3 896 1 034 31 693 1 362 45 464

2019 6 816 5 586 1 104 22 505 1 135 37 146
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REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE REPORT CONTINUED

All figures in R000
Base

salary
Short-term
incentives

Provident 
fund and
medical

contributions

Gain on 
share 

scheme
awards† Other

Total
2020

Total
2019

Prescribed officers
L Foxcroft 2 813 2 865 650 8 642 377 15 348 15 406
T Molefakgotla 1 928 2 006 416 6 914 331 11 594 11 506

2020 4 741 4 871 1 066 15 557 708 26 942

2019 4 657 4 916 1 124 15 514 701 26 912
† IFRS 2 expense recognised for the Ceramic Industries Escrow Scheme.

BOARD MEETING ATTENDANCE OF EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Executive directors and prescribed officers do not draw any additional remuneration for attending the main Board or Committee meetings.
 
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ FEES
Payments to non-executive directors

All figures in R000
Board

fees Other
Total 
2020

Total 
2019

Non-executive directors
G A M Ravazzotti 1 568 – 1 568 1 687
L R Langenhoven 340 – 340 192
S M du Toit 760 – 760 884
S G Pretorius 485 – 485 550
N Medupe 225 – 225 481
N V Mtetwa 45 – 45 380
N P Khoza 262 – 262 291
I Z Nyanga 330 – 330 8
I N Malevu 52 – 52

2020 4 067 – 4 067

2019 4 473 – 4 473

Aggregate emoluments of directors who served during the year 76 473 68 531

The following fixed fees were in place for the year under review:  
Basic annual fee R105 000 
Board meeting fee R26 250 
Committee fee R22 000 
Chairman of Committee R27 300 
Strategy session fee R31 500 
Hourly rate for ad hoc work, not exceeding 100 hours a year R3 570 per hour
Chairman of the Board R1 313 550

NON-BINDING ADVISORY VOTE
Shareholders are requested to cast a non-binding advisory vote on section 3 of this Remuneration report.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT
We value our continued engagement with various stakeholders, and we endeavour to maintain our relationships with all in the hope that we will 
continue to receive their valued input.

APPROVAL
This Remuneration report was approved by the Board of directors of the Company on 23 September 2020.

OUR GOVERNANCE
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The Group recognises 
the imperative to 

balance returns for 
shareholders with the 

long-term needs of the 
business, our 

employees, the 
broader society and 

the environment. We 
are mindful of our 

responsibility to 
safeguard the interests 
of all stakeholders and 

believe that good 
governance is essential 

to the Group’s long-
term sustainability. Our 
objective is to conform 

stringently to 
transparency, while 
operating	profitably,	

creating value and 
remaining accountable 

to the broader 
community which 

we serve.
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The directors are responsible for both the preparation and integrity of the consolidated and separate financial statements and related financial 
information contained in the IAR. In their opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements fairly represent the Group’s financial 
position and results of operations. It is the responsibility of the independent auditor to report on the consolidated and separate financial 
statements. Their report to the members of the Company is set out on pages 142 to 145.

In order for the directors to discharge their responsibility, the Group maintains adequate accounting systems, risk control procedures and 
accounting records. A system of internal control, focused on critical risk areas and designed to provide reasonable assurance that assets are 
safeguarded, and that the risk of error, fraud or loss is reduced in a cost-effective manner, has been implemented. All controls are frequently 
monitored and subject to review and audit. There was no material breakdown in the system of internal control during the year under review.

The Group adopts appropriate accounting policies and the consolidated and separate annual financial statements are prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa. The consolidated and separate 
financial statements incorporate full and meaningful disclosure, and have been prepared using reasonable and proven judgements and 
estimates.

The consolidated and separate financial statements have been prepared under the supervision of the CFO, Mr B G Wood CA(SA), and have 
been audited in terms of the Companies Act of South Africa.

GOING CONCERN
The directors are of the opinion that the consolidated and separate business will continue as a going concern in the year ahead. The annual financial 
statements have accordingly been prepared on a going concern basis.

CODE OF ETHICS
The directors have complied with the Group’s code of ethics.

COMPLIANCE
The directors confirm that the Company is compliant with the provisions of the Companies Act, specifically relating to its incorporation, and is 
operating in conformity with the MOI.

APPROVAL OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The annual financial statements of the Company and the Group set out on pages 148 to 198 were approved by the Board on 23 September 
2020 and signed on its behalf by:

   
 
J N Potgieter B G Wood
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

23 September 2020

DIRECTORS’ 
RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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COMPANY
SECRETARY’S CERTIFICATE

In terms of the Companies Act, No 71 of 2008, I certify that the Company has lodged, with the Registrar of Companies, all such returns as are 
required of a public company in terms of the Companies Act, and that all such returns are true, correct and up to date.

 

E J Willis
Company Secretary

23 September 2020

The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, whose names are stated below, hereby confirm that:
	» the Company and Group’s annual financial statements set out on pages 148 to 199 fairly present in all material respects the financial position, 

financial performance and cash flows of the Company and Group in terms of International Financial Reporting Standards;
	» no facts have been omitted or untrue statements made that would make the annual financial statements false or misleading; 
	» internal financial controls have been put in place to ensure that material information relating to the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries 

has been provided to effectively prepare the financial statements of the Company and Group; and 
	» the internal financial controls are adequate and effective and can be relied upon in compiling the annual financial statements, having fulfilled 

our role and function within the combined assurance model pursuant to principle 15 of the King IV Report. 

Where we are not satisfied, we have disclosed to the Audit Committee and the auditors (both internal and external) the deficiencies in design 
and operational effectiveness of the internal financial controls, although no significant deficiencies have been noted. Further, no instances of 
fraud involving directors, prescribed officers or senior members of management of the Group have occurred. 

   
 
J N Potgieter B G Wood
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

23 September 2020

CEO AND CFO’s 
RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Integrated Annual Report 2020 137



DIRECTORS’
REPORT

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES OF THE COMPANY
Retail
Italtile Limited (“Italtile” or “the Company” or “the Group”), 
headquartered in Bryanston, Johannesburg, is a leading retailer 
and manufacturer of tiles, bathroomware and related products in 
South Africa.

Franchising
The Group operates as a franchisor, featuring a streamlined 
parent operation focused on growing market share and fostering 
entrepreneurial opportunities through its franchise and joint 
venture programmes.

The Group is represented via its high-profile branded retail outlets, 
Italtile Retail, CTM, TopT and U-Light, which cater to homeowners 
across the income spectrum, holding appeal for market segments 
ranging from the premium upper end to entry level consumers. 
These stores are situated on high-visibility sites and/or close 
to previously underserviced markets, and their comprehensive 
offerings position them as one-stop solution destinations. The 
Group also has an online presence, with webstores operating for 
all retail brands and across multiple territories. Ranges include 
ceramic and porcelain wall and floor tiles, sanitaryware, bathroom 
furniture, brassware, fittings, accessories, laminated wooden 
flooring, vinyl flooring, shower enclosures, paint, home-finishing 
products, lighting, décor and tools.

As at 30 June 2020, the store network comprised 198 stores, 
including six webstores (2019: 189 stores and five webstores), 
situated in Southern and East Africa.

Property investment
Underpinning the retail network is an extensive property portfolio. 
The Group derives important strategic advantage by supporting 
its brands with high-profile prime sites that enhance Italtile’s 
positioning as a destination retailer. The Group’s manufacturing 
operations comprise well-maintained state-of-the-art factories 
which are supplied with high-quality raw materials sourced from 
productive quarries in close proximity to the plants.

Supply chain
The Group’s vertically integrated supply chain comprises 
International Tap Distributors (“ITD”), an importer and distributor 
of brassware and accessories, and Cedar Point, an importer and 
distributor of sanitaryware, laminated and vinyl boards, shower 
enclosures, cabinets and décor. The Group holds a controlling 
interest in both of these businesses. ITD and Cedar Point service 
the Italtile Retail, CTM and TopT retail network.

The Group’s Distribution Centre, which has facilities in KwaZulu-
Natal and the Western Cape, sources imported products and 

provides warehousing and distribution facilities to CTM, Italtile 
Retail and TopT. It is also responsible for arranging logistics and 
foreign exchange for the Group’s retail brands as well as ITD and 
Cedar Point.

Manufacturing
Ceramic Industries (Pty) Ltd (“Ceramic”)
The Group holds a 95,47% stake in Ceramic, its largest supplier of 
tiles, sanitaryware and baths. Ceramic delivers tactical advantages 
by supporting the Group’s growth programme through supply of 
local high-quality, affordable products. This business contributed 
R325 million (2019: R418 million) to Group profit after tax for the 
full year.

Ezee Tile
The Group holds an effective 71,54% strategic stake in this 
business, a national manufacturer of grout, paint, adhesive and 
related products. The business reported growth for the period, 
contributing R48 million (2019: R39 million) to Group profit after 
tax for the full year.

STATEMENTS OF RESPONSIBILITY
The responsibilities of the Group’s directors are detailed on 
page 136 of this report.

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE
The Audit and Risk Committee report which discusses the 
responsibilities of this Committee and how these were discharged 
during the year appears on page 146.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
The financial results as detailed below, were adversely affected 
by the global coronavirus pandemic and the related lockdowns 
in various territories related to such. The lockdowns commenced 
in the fourth quarter of the year under review and have persisted 
since. During this time, the Group incurred losses as it was 
unable to trade and profits remained suppressed thereafter as 
activities resumed incrementally with the phased relaxation 
of regulated restrictions. To date, the pandemic has not had a 
materially adverse effect on collection of receivable balances due 
to the Group, no material impairments directly attributable to the 
pandemic have been recorded, and the Group remains a robust 
going concern with positive prospects for growth.

System-wide turnover
System-wide turnover across the Group decreased 7% to 
R9,3 billion (2019: R10,0 billion). Retail store turnover decreased 
3,9%, and manufacturing sales for the year under review 
decreased by 8,8% compared to the previous corresponding 
period.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Trading profit
Reported trading profit decreased 16% to R1,5 billion 
(2019:  R1,8  billion). Included in the trading profit was an 
impairment charge of R16 million in the year under review, 
details of which are provided below. Trading profit margins in 
the retail and manufacturing business were adversely impacted 
in the lockdowns as detailed above, but prior to such had shown 
improvement as operating costs were well maintained and 
production efficiencies improved.

Earnings per share
The Group’s basic earnings per share decreased by 24% to 
78,3 cents (2019: 102,6 cents), while headline earnings per share 
decreased by 22% to 79,2 cents (2019: 101,8 cents).

Earnings per share is impacted by a once-off IFRS 2 charge of 
R39 million. During the year under review, 26,4 million shares were 
issued to a wholly owned subsidiary of Yard Investment Holdings 
Proprietary Limited for a net consideration of R304 million. The 
transaction took place in accordance with the Group’s strategic 
intent to improve its BBBEE credentials and resulted in a once-off 
charge of R39 million calculated in accordance with IFRS 2 Share-
based Payment.

Excluding the impact of this charge, adjusted earnings per share 
and adjusted headline earnings per share decreased 21% and 
19% respectively.

Property, plant and equipment
The estimated current market value of the property portfolio 
increased to R4,3 billion (2019: R3,8 billion). During the year under 
review, capital expenditure of R274 million was incurred across 
the retail portfolio on an ongoing store upgrade programme 
and the acquisition of five retail properties, while R180 million 
was invested across the manufacturing operations on plant, 
warehouse and equipment upgrades.

During the year under review, a decision was made by the Group 
to perform an upgrade of the manufacturing equipment and 
machinery at its SAMCA Floor tile factory. The upgrade will result 
in the replacement of a significant portion of the equipment and 
machinery at the factory. Efforts have been made to identify 
possible repurposing or move of affected components to other 
factories, as well as to dispose of those components which could 
not be used elsewhere.

In anticipation of the upgrade, all operations at the factory were 
ceased towards the end of the period under review. Equipment 
and machinery with a carrying amount of R16 million as at 30 June 
2020 has been impaired as a result, as these components have 
been deemed to have negligible recoverable amounts as they 
cannot be reused elsewhere or sold to third parties.

Cash and cash equivalents
The Group’s cash balance decreased to R860 million 
(2019: R1,2 billion), with material cash flows for the year under 
review including:
	» capital expenditure of R614 million;
	» tax payments of R416 million;
	» own share purchases totalling R243 million; and
	» total dividend payments of R1 481 million.

PROSPECTS
The consequences of the coronavirus pandemic will be evident 
for the foreseeable future. Given the weak underlying structural 
fundamentals, the economy is likely to struggle to recover, even 
after all risk-adjusted restrictions have been lifted. Unemployment 
and personal indebtedness will continue to rise and disposable 
income will remain severely constrained. In light of the economic 
uncertainty and possible health risks, consumer confidence and 
spend will be fragile. We anticipate that semblances of traditional 
consumer behaviour will only resume once the pandemic subsides 
substantially.

Our clear challenge will be to continue to optimise on 
improvements made in our business to extract growth and gain 
market share.
	» We are better structured operationally to reduce overhead 

costs across the business.
	» The heightened emphasis on the joint venture store model will 

afford improved profitability and oversight.
	» We will entrench and grow our market leadership through our 

high-profile, trusted brands and continue to invest in new and 
upgraded stores and manufacturing plants.

	» Technological innovation will remain a key driver of growth.

In terms of the forthcoming financial year and the external 
environment, we anticipate the first six months will be very 
difficult while lockdowns persist. We are optimistic that the 
second six months commencing 1 January 2021 will be more 
robust, particularly since the comparison will be against five 
months of trading in FY2020. Our expectation is that the Group 
will deliver positive sales and profit growth in the first half of the 
new financial year and comparatively stronger sales and profits in 
the second half.

STATED CAPITAL
The authorised share capital remains unchanged at 3 300 000 000 
shares of no par value. Issued share capital increased as a result 
of the BBBEE ownership transaction detailed above to 1 321 654 
148 shares of no par value (2019: 1 295 254 148).
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DIRECTORS’
REPORT CONTINUED

DIVIDEND ANNOUNCEMENT
The Board declared a final gross cash dividend (number 108) for 
the year ended 30 June 2020 of 10,0 cents per ordinary share to 
all shareholders recorded in the books of Italtile as at the record 
date of Friday, 18 September 2020. The dividend cover remains 
at two and a half times.

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
The details of the directors of the Company are set out on 
pages 108 and 109 of this report.

As announced on SENS during the course of the year, the 
following changes were made to the Board:
	» Ms Nomagugu Mtetwa resigned as an independent non-

executive director with effect from 31 August 2019;
	» Ms Ndumi Medupe resigned as an independent non-executive 

director with effect from 14 November 2019;
	» Ms Zizipho Nyanga was appointed as an independent 

non-executive director with effect from 1 June 2019, and 
subsequently resigned with effect from 25 March 2020; and

	» Mr Isaac Malevu was appointed as an independent non-
executive director with effect from 25 March 2020.

In accordance with the Company’s MOI, Mr G A M Ravazzotti, 
Ms S M du Toit, Mr S G Pretorius and Ms N P Khoza retire by 
rotation, and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at 
the forthcoming AGM. Further, in accordance with the Company’s 
MOI, the appointment of Mr I N Malevu as director of the 
Company is to be confirmed at the forthcoming AGM.

DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDING AND OTHER 
INTERESTS
Except for the long-term incentive schemes detailed below, the 
Company was not party to any arrangement during the year or 
at year end, which would enable the directors or officers, or their 
families, to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in 
the Company.

Other than disclosed in note 35, none of the directors or officers of 
the Company had any interest in any contracts which significantly 
affected the affairs or business of the Company or its subsidiaries 
during the year.

It is Company policy that all directors (and employees who 
have access to price-sensitive information) may not deal directly 
or indirectly in the shares of the Company from the end of a 
reporting period until publication of the interim results or annual 
profit announcement.

The directors’ beneficial and non-beneficial interest in the stated 
share capital of the Company at the reporting date is set out in 
note 35. Refer to the SENS announcement on 7 September 2020 
for details of change of interests between 30 June 2020 and the 
date of this IAR.

DIRECTORS’ PARTICIPATION IN SHARE 
INCENTIVE SCHEMES
Directors’ holdings under the Share Appreciation Rights Scheme 
and Executive Retention Plan as at 30 June 2020 are set out in 
note 35. Refer to the SENS announcement on 7 September 2020 
for details of change of interests between 30 June 2020 and the 
date of this IAR.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
All emoluments paid to directors are short term in nature, other 
than gains on exercise of share options, and contributions to 
medical aid and provident fund.

The remuneration of both executive and non-executive directors 
is determined by the Remuneration Committee. Other benefits 
include once-off benefits paid and the fringe benefit value of 
Company cars for executive directors, and fees for services 
rendered by non-executive directors or as otherwise noted. 
Refer to note 35 for detailed disclosure relating to directors’ 
remuneration.

SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
Details of the Company’s interest in its subsidiaries are set out on 
pages 197 and 198.

The Company’s interest in the profits or losses after taxation 
and the non-controlling shareholders’ interest of its subsidiaries 
(direct and indirect) is:

 2020
Rm 

 2019
Rm 

Profits 1 012 1 261

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Corporate governance report is set out on pages 110 to 129.

SHAREHOLDERS
An analysis of the shareholdings of the Company appears on 
page 200.
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EMPLOYEES
As at 30 June 2020, the Group employed 2 609 employees 
(2019: 2 545).

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS
At the AGM of shareholders held on Thursday, 14 November 
2019, three special resolutions were approved by the requisite 
majority of votes, namely: authorising the Company to purchase 
its own shares; authorising the Company to provide financial 
assistance to related and inter-related entities and approving the 
Company’s non-executive directors’ fees.

Full details of the special resolutions passed will be made 
available to shareholders on request.

SHARE SCHEMES
Details related to share schemes operated by the Group are 
disclosed in note 6. The schemes include:
	» Staff Share Scheme for all employees of the Group and its 

franchisees that meet certain qualifying criteria;
	» Share Appreciation Rights Scheme in accordance with which 

selected directors and employees of the Group will receive a 
conditional right to receive a share award as determined by the 
rules of the plan and scheme;

	» The Italtile Retention Scheme, which replaces the Executive 
Retention Plan, is an additional mechanism, over and above 
the SARS, to retain and reward selected employees and 
directors of the Group;

	» Ceramic Industries Equity Incentive Scheme, which is used to 
incentivise senior management of Ceramic Industries on long- 
term profitability; and

	» Ceramic Industries Escrow Scheme, which is a mechanism to 
retain and reward selected high-performing Ceramic Industries 
executives and senior management.

BORROWING POWERS
In terms of the MOI, the Company has unlimited borrowing 
powers.

AUDITOR
At the AGM of 14 November 2019, shareholders approved the 
appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. as auditor for 
the 2020 financial year (replacing EY) with Mr T Howatt being the 
individual registered auditor undertaking the audit.

SECRETARY
The Company Secretary is Ms E J Willis, whose business and 
postal address is:
Registered office: The Italtile Building
 Corner William Nicol Drive and
 Peter Place
 Bryanston 2021
Postal address: PO Box 1689
 Randburg 2125
Telephone number: +27 (0) 11 510 9050
Fax number: +27 (0) 11 510 9060
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INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Shareholders of Italtile Limited

Report on the audit of the consolidated and 
separate financial statements

OUR OPINION
In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial 
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated 
and separate financial position of Italtile Limited (the Company) 
and its subsidiaries (together the Group) as at 30 June 2020, 
and its consolidated and separate financial performance and its 
consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then ended 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

What we have audited
Italtile Limited’s consolidated and separate financial statements 
set out on pages 148 to 199 comprise:
	» the consolidated and separate statements of financial position 

as at 30 June 2020;
	» the consolidated and separate statements of comprehensive 

income for the year then ended;
	» the consolidated and separate statements of changes in equity 

for the year then ended;
	» the consolidated and separate statements of cash flows for the 

year then ended; and
	» the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary 

of significant accounting policies. 

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for 
the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements 
section of our report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Independence
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 
Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ Code of Professional 
Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA Code) and other 
independence requirements applicable to performing audits of 
financial statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA Code and 
in accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to 
performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Code is consistent 
with the corresponding sections of the International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (including International Independence 
Standards).
 

OUR AUDIT APPROACH
Overview

Our audit approach 
Overview 

 Overall group materiality 

R 80,369,000 which represents 0.3% of total revenue. 

Group audit scope 
We identified fifteen components, which in our view, required 
an audit of their complete financial information due to their 
financial significance and risk characteristics.	

Key audit matters 
1. Impairment assessment of goodwill arising from business 

combinations and impairment assessment of investment in 
Blue Label Mexico S.A. de C.V. (“Blue Label Mexico”). 

2. Fair value assessment of investment in Oxigen Services India 
Private Limited (“OSI”). 

3. Accounting for equity accounted investment in Cell C Limited.	
 
As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material 
misstatement in the consolidated financial statements. In particular, we considered where the 
directors made subjective judgements; for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that 
involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of 
our audits, we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including among 
other matters, consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material 
misstatement due to fraud. 
 
Materiality 
 
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. An audit is designed to obtain 
reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material if individually or in 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain quantitative thresholds for materiality, 
including the overall group materiality for the consolidated financial statements as a whole as set out 
in the table below. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of 
our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of 
misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as a whole.	  

	

	
Materiality	

	
Group 

scoping	

	 Key audit 
matters	

Overall group materiality
	» R72.85 million, which represents 5% of consolidated profit before tax.

Group audit scope
	» The group audit scope has been tailored based on indicators such as the components 
contribution to consolidated profit before tax, revenue and other material financial 
statement line items in the consolidated financial statements.

	» A combination of audits, reviews and specified audit procedures was performed.

Key audit matters
	» Broad based black economic empowerment (BBBEE) transaction.
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As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and 
assessed the risks of material misstatement in the consolidated 
and separate financial statements. In particular, we considered 
where the directors made subjective judgements; for example, in 
respect of significant accounting estimates that involved making 
assumptions and considering future events that are inherently 
uncertain. As in all of our audits, we also addressed the risk of 
management override of internal controls, including among other 
matters, consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that 
represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud. 

Materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of 
materiality. An audit is designed to obtain reasonable assurance 
whether the financial statements are free from material 

misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They 
are considered material if individually or in aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of the consolidated financial statements.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain 
quantitative thresholds for materiality, including the overall group 
materiality for the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
as set out in the table below. These, together with qualitative 
considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit 
and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and 
to evaluate the effect of misstatements, both individually and in 
aggregate on the financial statements as a whole.

Overall group materiality R72.85 million.

How we determined it 5% of consolidated profit before tax.

Rationale for the materiality 
benchmark applied

We chose consolidated profit before tax as the benchmark because, in our view, it is the benchmark 
against which the performance of the Group is most commonly measured by users, and is a generally 
accepted benchmark. We chose 5% which is consistent with quantitative materiality thresholds used 
for profit-oriented companies in this sector.

How we tailored our group audit scope 
We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient 
work to enable us to provide an opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure 
of the Group, the accounting processes and controls, and the 
industry in which the Group operates.

Our scoping assessment included consideration of the financial 
significance of the Group’s components as well as the sufficiency 
of work planned to be performed over material financial statement 
line items. We identified five financially significant components 
in the Group based on their contribution to consolidated profit 
before tax and consolidated revenue. We also included a 
number of other components in the scope of our Group audit, 
based on their contribution to financial statement line items. The 
remainder of the components were considered to be individually 
insignificant to the Group. 

For the five financially significant components, we performed a full 
scope audit and for the other in-scope components we performed 
a combination of full scope audits, reviews and specified audit 
procedures. This, together with additional procedures performed 

at the Group level, including testing of consolidation journals and 
intercompany eliminations, gave us sufficient and appropriate 
audit evidence to form an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole.

In establishing the overall approach to the group audit, we 
determined the extent of the work that needed to be performed 
by us, as the group engagement team and by component auditors 
from other PwC network firms operating under our instruction, 
in order to issue our audit opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements of the Group. Where the work was performed by 
component auditors, we determined the level of involvement 
necessary in the audit work at those components to be able to 
conclude whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence has been 
obtained as a basis for our opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole.

Detailed group audit instructions were communicated to all 
in-scope components and the group engagement team has been 
involved in determining the component team audit approach. 
Throughout the audit, various planning, execution and completion 
calls and discussions were held with the component audit teams.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated and separate 
financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated and separate financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Broad based black economic empowerment (BBBEE) transaction
This key audit matter relates to the consolidated and separate financial 
statements.
To enhance the Company’s BEE ownership, during August 2019, the 
Company entered into a subscription and relationship agreement with with 
Yard Investment Holdings Proprietary Limited (“Yard”) and K2019313036 
(South Africa) (RF) Proprietary Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of Yard 
(“Yard SPV”) whereby 26.4 million ordinary shares in the Company were 
issued for an aggregate cash subscription amount of R313 million. 

The consideration for the shares was partially funded by way of a 
loan provided by a shareholder of the Company, pursuant to a term 
facility agreement. Based on the terms and conditions of the financing 
arrangement, the transaction has been accounted for in terms of IFRS 2: 
Share Based Payment (IFRS 2).

The transaction resulted in a R39 million non-recurring share-based payment 
charge on grant date within the consolidated and separate statements of 
comprehensive income. Management applied the Monte-Carlo option 
pricing model, with the assistance of external experts, which makes use of 
inputs such as the risk-free rate, expected volatility, time to maturity and 
dividend yield. 

We considered the accounting of the BBBEE transaction to be a matter of 
most significance to our current year audit due to the following: 
	» the complexity involved in applying the Monte-Carlo option pricing 

model; and
	» the level of subjectivity applied in determining the inputs to the model.

Refer to note 1.4 to the consolidated and separate financial statements – 
Judgements and estimates note 6 – Share Based Payments, note 22 Stated 
Capital. 

In order to assess the accounting treatment and classification 
applied by management, we inspected the various 
contractual agreements relating to the transaction and 
assessed it against the requirements of IFRS 2. Based on our 
work performed, we accepted management’s accounting 
treatment.

We assessed the competency, experience and objectivity of 
management’s external experts through inspection of their 
curricula vitae and discussions with them. No aspects that 
required further consideration were noted. 

We made use of our valuation and actuarial expertise to 
independently assess the work performed by management’s 
expert, including the Monte-Carlo option pricing model 
applied. We assessed the risk-free rate, expected volatility, 
time to maturity and dividend yield estimates against 
independent sources and industry data and used these 
independent inputs to calculate a reasonable range for the 
value of the share-based payment charge. We found that 
management’s valuation fell within this range.

We tested the issuance of the new shares with reference 
to share certificates and bank statements and noted no 
discrepancies in this regard.

INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S REPORT CONTINUED

OTHER INFORMATION
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other 
information comprises the information included in the document 
titled “Italtile Integrated Annual Report 2020”, which includes the 
Directors’ Report, the Audit and Risk Committee’s Report and the 
Company Secretary’s Certificate as required by the Companies 
Act of South Africa. The other information does not include 
the consolidated or the separate financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the consolidated and separate financial statements 
does not cover the other information and we do not express an 
audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate 
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether 

the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
consolidated and separate financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 
are  required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in 
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR 
THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the consolidated and separate financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
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Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South 
Africa, and for such internal control as the directors determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and separate 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, 
the directors are responsible for assessing the Group and the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to 
liquidate the Group and/or the Company or to cease operations, 
or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT 
OF THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the consolidated and separate financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and 
to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or 
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
consolidated and separate financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:
	» Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the 

consolidated and separate financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive 
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control. 

	» Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the 
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s and the Company’s 
internal control. 

	» Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the directors. 

	» Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the 
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 
are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the 

related disclosures in the consolidated and separate financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group and / or Company 
to cease to continue as a going concern. 

	» Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of 
the consolidated and separate financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated and separate 
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

	» Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the 
financial information of the entities or business activities within 
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision 
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant 
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we 
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships 
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate 
threats or safeguards applied. 

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine 
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the 
consolidated and separate financial statements of the current 
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these 
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes 
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely 
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences 
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication. 
 

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY 
REQUIREMENTS 
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette 
Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. has been the auditor of Italtile 
Limited for 1 year. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. 
Director: TJ Howatt
Registered Auditor 
Johannesburg
23 September 2020
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AUDIT AND RISK
COMMITTEE REPORT

As we navigate the storms of COVID-19 and its economic impacts, it is 
my privilege and responsibility, on behalf of the Board, to present the 
Audit and Risk Committee report for the year ended 30 June 2020.

OUR MANDATE
The Audit and Risk Committee (“Committee”) is constituted as a 
statutory committee in respect of its duties in terms of section 94(7) 
of the Companies Act (71 of 2008) and has been delegated the 
responsibility to provide meaningful oversight of the internal and 
external audit, Finance and Information Technology functions.

A formal Audit and Risk Committee Charter (“Charter”), approved by 
the Board, guides the Committee in terms of its mandate (objectives, 
authority and responsibilities). The Charter is reviewed annually and, 
if necessary, amended to meet market, regulatory and statutory 
requirements. 

The Committee provides independent oversight of the effectiveness 
of the Group’s assurance and compliance functions, with particular 
focus on combined assurance arrangements (including external 
auditor, internal audit and the finance function) and the integrity of 
the annual financial statements and, to the extent delegated by the 
Board, other governance matters, and external reports issued by 
the Group. 

OUR ROLE
The role of the Committee is, inter alia, to: 
	» review the effectiveness of the Group’s systems of internal control, 

including internal financial control and risk management, and to 
ensure that effective internal control systems are maintained;

	» oversee the risk management process;
	» review financial statements for proper and complete disclosure of 

timely, reliable and consistent information and to confirm that the 
accounting policies used are appropriate; 

	» deal with concerns and complaints relating to accounting policies, 
internal audit, the audit or content of the IAR and internal financial 
controls;

	» nominate the appointment of the external auditor as the registered 
independent auditor after satisfying itself through enquiry that the 
auditor is independent as defined in terms of the Companies Act;

	» determine the fees to be paid to the external auditor and the 
terms of engagement;

	» ensure that the appointment of the external auditor complies with 
the Companies Act, as well as the JSE Listings Requirements and 
any other legislation relating to the appointment of the auditor; 
and

	» approve the scope of non-audit services which the external auditor 
may provide to the Group and pre-approve any non-audit services 
to be provided by the external auditor. 

ATTENDANCE AND COMPOSITION OF THE 
COMMITTEE
The Committee consists of four independent non-executive directors, 
with three forming a quorum. All members of the Committee 
have the requisite experience and qualifications to execute their 
responsibilities. At the date of this report there have been no changes 
in the composition of this Committee.

Non-executive directors
Attendance 
at meetings

Ms N V Mtetwa Resigned 31 August 2019 0/5
Ms N Medupe Resigned 14 November 2019 3/5
Ms S M du Toit 5/5
Mr S G Pretorius 4/5
Ms I Z Nyanga Resigned 25 March 2020 4/5
Ms N P Khoza 3/5
Mr I N Malevu Appointed 25 March 2020 1/5

MEETINGS
The Committee met five times during the year under review. The 
CEO, executive directors, external audit partner, the Head of Internal 
Audit and the Head of Information Technology attend meetings by 
invitation. The Company Secretary, Ms E J Willis, attends and minutes 
all meetings of the Committee.

SUMMARY OF KEY FOCUS AREAS FOR YEAR 
ENDED 30 JUNE 2020
In the execution of our statutory duties and our Audit Charter, we 
effectively discharged the following activities in the reporting period.

COVID-19: Business impact, risk assessment and response 
The Committee reviewed management’s response and 
implementation protocols, including the measures taken to comply 
with the Disaster Management Act regulations and COVID-19 health 
and safety requirements. The Committee is satisfied that in the 
true spirit of partnership, the Group and executive leadership fully 
supported government’s protocols by going beyond compliance 
with regulatory requirements and by collaboratively supporting and 
working with all stakeholders to mitigate risk.

Risk management and coordination of assurance activities
In providing oversight over risk management process, the Committee 
dedicates at least one meeting a year to perform a detailed review 
of the Group risk assessment including Information Technology risks. 
The Committee coordinates all assurance activities by means of the 
Group’s combined assurance model.
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Internal audit
The internal audit function provides assurance on the adequacy 
of the internal control environment across the Group’s significant 
operations. The role of internal audit is contained in the internal audit 
charter which is reviewed annually by the Committee.

Independence and objectivity is maintained through internal audit’s 
appropriate organisational positioning, reporting functionally to the 
Committee and administratively to the CFO and provides regular 
reports on work done to the Committee, joining each Committee 
meeting as an invitee. The Committee is responsible for the 
appointment and removal of the Head of Internal Audit and the 
assessment of his performance.

The Head of Internal Audit has direct and unrestricted access to the 
Chairman of the Committee.

The Committee has considered the above and is satisfied with the 
effectiveness of the internal audit function. The Committee has also 
considered and is satisfied with the expertise and experience of the 
Head of Internal Audit.

External auditor
PwC was the Group’s appointed external auditor for the reporting 
period and is replacing EY, who have been the Group auditor for 
the past number of years. The Committee is satisfied that PwC 
is independent of the Group. In reaching this conclusion, the 
Committee considered the following:
	» The Group has a clearly defined non-audit services policy which is 

strictly followed; and
	» The extent of non-audit services is minimal and is continuously 

monitored, with no excessive, unusual or unnecessary 
engagements noted.

The Committee was provided with the information detailed in 
paragraph 22.15(h) of the JSE Listings Requirements by PwC and 
Mr Thomas Howatt. This information was used by the Committee to 
assess audit quality and the suitability for appointment of both PwC 
and Mr Thomas Howatt.

The Committee is of the view that the Group received a high-quality 
external audit taking into account the standard of audit planning and 
scope of activities performed. The Committee met with PwC prior to 
the approval of this report to discuss key audit matters, the Group’s 
annual financial statements, commentary thereon and general 
matters.

The Committee has ensured that the appointment of PwC is 
presented and included as a resolution at the AGM pursuant to 
section 61(8) of the Companies Act.

Whistle-blowing
The independent external whistle-blowing lines operated effectively 
for the year under review. Instances of whistle-blowing are reported 
to the Chairman of the Committee. At the reporting date, the 
Committee is satisfied that there were no material matters reported.

Financial function
In accordance with the JSE Listings Requirements, the Committee 
must consider the appropriateness of the expertise and experience of 
the CFO of the Company on an annual basis. The Committee believes 
that the newly appointed CFO, Mr Brandon Wood, possesses the 
appropriate expertise and experience to meet his responsibilities in 
that position.

The Committee is satisfied that the financial function of the Group 
incorporates the necessary expertise, resources and experience to 
adequately carry out its obligations. The Committee believes that the 
Group has established appropriate financial reporting procedures for 
all entities included in the consolidated financial statements of the 
Group, and that those procedures are operating effectively.

Internal financial controls
Based on the results of work done by the internal audit function and 
external auditor on the Group’s system of internal financial controls, 
and considering feedback and information from management, the 
Committee is of the view that the Group’s system of internal financial 
control was effective for the period under review and that it formed 
a reliable basis for the preparation of the Group financial statements.

Financial statements
The Committee reviewed the financial statements of the Company 
and the Group and is satisfied that they comply with International 
Financial Reporting Standards and that the accounting policies 
applied are appropriate.

IT governance
The Committee periodically reviews the Group’s maturity in respect 
of IT governance by considering reports from the Group’s Head 
of Information Technology and assurance as provided by both the 
external and the internal audit function in accordance with the 
approved internal audit plan.

RECOMMENDATION OF THE INTEGRATED 
REPORT AND RELATED SUSTAINABILITY 
INFORMATION FOR APPROVAL BY THE BOARD
At its meeting held on 18 September 2020, the Committee reviewed 
and recommended the IAR and related sustainability information, 
as well as the annual financial statements for approval by the Board 
of directors. The Committee is satisfied that it has complied with its 
statutory responsibilities and the responsibilities assigned to it by the 
Board. The Board concurred with this assessment.

I N Malevu CA(SA)
Audit and Risk Committee Chairman
23 September 2020
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STATEMENTS OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
 For the year ended 30 June 2020

Company Group

 2020
Rm 

 2019
Rm  Note

 2020
Rm 

 2019
Rm 

1 526 291 Revenue  3 6 908 7 226

Turnover 3 6 690 6 975
Cost of sales 4 (4 145) (4 361)

Gross profit  2 545 2 614
Other income 438 511

6 6 Management fees – –
(7) (6) Operating expenses (1 466) (1 342)

# Impairment of plant and equipment 13 (16) –
– – Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment 1 14

(1) – Trading profit/(loss) 5 1 502 1 797
1 520 285 Finance income 7 74 71

# # Finance cost 8 (81) (52)
(39) – BBBEE transaction charge 6 (39) –

Share of profit from associates after tax 15.2 1 3

1 480 285 Profit before taxation 1 457 1 819
(2) (2) Taxation 9 (434) (500)

1 478 283 Profit for the year 1 023 1 319
Other comprehensive income, net of taxation
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to 
profit or loss (net of taxation)

Foreign currency translation difference 54 (16)

1 478 283
Total comprehensive income for the year, net 
of taxation 1 077 1 303

Profit attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 964 1 253
Non-controlling interests 59 66

1 478 283 1 023 1 319

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 1 018 1 237
Non-controlling interests 59 66

1 478 283 1 077 1 303

Earnings per share (all figures in cents)
Earnings per share 10 78,3 102,6
Diluted earnings per share 10 78,0 102,2

# Less than R1 million.
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STATEMENTS OF
FINANCIAL POSITION
 As at 30 June 2020

Company Group

 2020
Rm 

 2019
Rm  Note

 2020
Rm 

 2019
Rm 

ASSETS
290 327 Non-current assets 4 812 4 472

Property, plant and equipment 13 4 248 3 942
Right-of-use assets 14 349 303

157 143 Investments 15.1 – –
Investment in associates 15.2 49 26

133 184 Long-term financial assets 16 133 160
Goodwill 17 19 19
Deferred taxation 18 14 22

3 383 3 030 Current assets 2 610 2 953
Inventories 19 896 857

3 353 3 030 Trade and other receivables 20 778 850
30 # Cash and cash equivalents 21 860 1 201

Taxation receivable 27 76 45

3 673 3 357 Total assets 7 422 7 425

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

3 672 3 357
Equity attributable to equity holders of 
the parent 5 333 5 607

4 314 4 010 Stated capital 22 4 314 4 010
Non-distributable reserve 23 26 (28)
Treasury shares 22 (735) (497)

134 99 Share option reserve 6 280 220
(776) (752) Retained earnings 1 448 1 902

Non-controlling interest 301 251

3 672 3 357 Total equity 5 634 5 858
1 # Total liabilities 1 788 1 567

Non-current liabilities 1 009 923
Interest-bearing loans 28 500 500
Lease liabilities 29 309 257
Deferred taxation 18 200 166

1 # Current liabilities 779 644
# # Trade and other payables 24 617 464

Provisions 25 98 121
Interest-bearing loans 28 2 3
Lease liabilities 29 39 44

1 – Taxation payable 27 23 12

3 673 3 357 Total equity and liabilities 7 422 7 425

# Less than R1 million.
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STATEMENTS OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY
 For the year ended 30 June 2020

Rm
Stated
capital 

Non-
distri-

butable
reserve

Treasury
shares

Share
 option
reserve

Retained
earnings Total

Non-
controlling

interests
Total

equity

GROUP
Balance at 30 June 2018 4 010 (12) (477) 183 1 575 5 279 246 5 525 
Effect of adoption of new accounting standards – – – – (29) (29) – (29)

Profit for the year 1 253 1 253 66  1 319
Other comprehensive income for the year (16) (16) (16)

Total comprehensive income for the year – (16)  – – 1 253 1 237 66  1 303
Purchase of own shares (46) (46) (46)
Dividends paid (899) (899) (42) (941)
Transactions with non-controlling interests (6) (6) (19) (25)
Share incentive costs (including vesting) 26  37  8  71  71 

Balance at 30 June 2019 4 010 (28) (497) 220 1 902 5 607 251 5 858
Profit for the year 964 964 59 1 023
Other comprehensive income for the year 54 54 54

Total comprehensive income for the year – 54 – – 964 1 018 59 1 077
Issue of shares 304 304 304
Purchase of own shares (243) (243) (243)
Dividends paid (1 448) (1 448) (33) (1 481)
BBBEE transaction charge 39 39 39
Transactions with non-controlling interests 7 7 24 31
Share incentive costs (including vesting 
settlement) 5 21 23 49 49

Balance at 30 June 2020 4 314 26 (735) 280 1 448 5 333 301 5 634

Note 22 23 22 6

Rm
Stated
capital

Share
 option
reserve

Retained 
earnings

Total
equity

COMPANY
Balance at 30 June 2018 4 010 85 (102) 3 993
Profit for the year 283 283 
Dividends paid (946) (946)
Share incentive transactions (including vesting settlement) 14 13 27 
Balance at 30 June 2019 4 010 99 (752) 3 357
Profit for the year 1 517 1 517
Issue of shares 304 304
BBBEE transaction charge 39 (39) –
Dividends paid (1 520) (1 520)
Share incentive transactions (including vesting settlement) (4) 18 14

Balance at 30 June 2020 4 314 134 (776) 3 672

Note 22 6
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STATEMENTS OF
CASH FLOWS
 For the year ended 30 June 2020

Company Group

 2020
Rm 

 2019
Rm  Note

 2020
Rm 

 2019
Rm 

(3)  (4)  Cash generated by operations 26 2 159 2 182*
# # Finance income 7 74 71
# # Finance costs 8 (55) (31)

Lease liability finance costs 8 (26) (21)*
1 520 285 Dividends received  7
(1 520)  (946)  Dividends paid 30 (1 481) (941)

#  (2)  Taxation paid 27 (416) (539)

(2)  (667)  Cash flow from operating activities 255 721*

Additions to property, plant and equipment 13 (614) (622)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment 36 95
Increase/(decrease) in long-term financial assets 16 6 (38)

 51  39  Repayments from share trust  0
Purchase of interest in subsidiaries and associates (22) (28)

–  628  Decrease in amounts owing by subsidiary 
(323) – Increase in amounts owing by subsidiary

(272)  667  Cash flow from investing activities (594) (593)

 304 – Proceeds of share issue 22 304 –
Increase in loans and borrowings 380 503
Repayment of loans and borrowings (381) –
Acquisition of non-controlling interest – (16)
Treasury share movements 22 (243) (46)
Lease liability payments (62) (47)*

 304 – Cash flow from financing activities (2) 394

30  # 
Net movement in cash and cash equivalents 
for the year (341) 522

 #  1 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning 
of the year 1 201 679

 30 #
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 
year 21 860 1 201

# Less than R1 million.
* Cash flows related to IFRS 16 have been restated in 

order to be comparable to current year disclosures.
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NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 For the year ended 30 June 2020

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
  1.1 Statement of compliance
   The consolidated and separate financial statements have been prepared in accordance with and comply with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), its interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), International 
Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”), the Listings Requirements of JSE Limited (“the JSE Listings Requirements”), 
the requirements of the Companies Act, No 71 of 2008 of South Africa, as amended (“the Companies Act”), SAICA Financial 
Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee and Financial Pronouncements as issued by the Financial 
Reporting Standards Council.

 1.2 Basis of preparation
   The consolidated and separate financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis, except for certain assets and liabilities 

that have been measured at fair value. The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented 
in these consolidated and separate financial statements.

 1.3 Standards or interpretations that have become effective in the current period
   The following standard amendments are effective for the current financial year and resulted in additional disclosures for the Group 

(which includes the consolidated and separate financial statements) for the year ended 30 June 2020:
	» Amendment to IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements, and IAS 8 Accounting Policies, changes in accounting estimates and 

errors;
	» Amendment to IFRS 3 Business Combinations;
	» Amendment to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments;
	» IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments; and
	» Amendment to IAS 39 Recognition and Measurement (relating to interest rate benchmarks).

   The financial statements are presented in South African Rand and all values are rounded to the nearest million (Rm), except where 
otherwise indicated, and have been prepared on a going concern basis.

 1.4 Judgements and estimates
   The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements, estimates and 

assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The 
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets 
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

   The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in 
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods, 
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

   The key assumptions concerning the future and key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, relates to the 
following:

  Provision for rehabilitation of clay quarries
   A provision is recognised for the rehabilitation of quarries based on an assessment from an independent consultant working in 

conjunction with management. Reports on the rehabilitation assessment are lodged with the Department of Mineral Resources.

   The provision represents the best estimate of the discounted future costs of either restoring the quarries to their original state or 
eliminating adverse environmental impacts to an acceptable level over the long term.

  Inventory obsolescence provision
   The Group determines whether there is obsolete inventory on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the expected future 

saleability of inventory items based on historical experience, an analysis of market and fashion trends and a review of the ageing 
of the inventory items. Details pertaining to carrying values and write-offs are provided in note 19. 
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
 1.4 Judgements and estimates continued
  Classification of leased land and buildings
   Underpinning the retail network is an extensive property portfolio. The Group derives important strategic advantage by supporting 

its brands with high-profile prime sites that ensure stores are easily accessible, well presented and maintained, and contribute to 
an aspirational shopping experience. The Group leases certain properties it owns to its franchisees. The leased properties do not 
generate cash flows largely independently of other assets of the Group, as rental income is directly linked to the franchise 
agreement and does not account for the significant portion of income generated from the franchise agreement. 

   In determining whether these properties are classified as investment property or property, plant and equipment, the Group 
considers the following factors:
	» As part of the franchise agreement, a franchisee enters into a lease agreement with the Group for the property from which it 

will operate its business. As a result, the lease agreement is considered to be part of the franchise agreement rather than a 
standalone lease agreement;

	» Rental income is based on a percentage of the turnover generated by the franchisee; and 
	» The leased property also facilitates the generation of other franchise income for the Group, including royalty income through use 

of trademarks, IT fees through use of IT infrastructure, and other operational-related fees such as human resource fees. These 
income streams are based on turnover generated by the franchisee.

   The above considerations indicate that the Group retains significant exposure to the variation in the cash flows generated by the 
operations of the properties. As such, these leased properties are accounted for as property, plant and equipment.

  Residual values and useful lives of buildings
   The Group depreciates its buildings to estimated residual values over an estimated useful life. These estimates are reviewed 

annually by the Group at each reporting period with reference to expected usage of the buildings, expected physical wear and 
tear, and current market values. Details of residual values and useful lives are disclosed in note 1.11.

  Impairment of tangible assets
   The Group determines whether any of the tangible assets are impaired at each reporting date. This requires consideration of the 

current and future economic and trading environment; available valuation information and the physical state of the tangible assets, 
to ascertain if there are indications of impairment to those owned by the Group. 

  Share-based payments
   The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the date at 

which they are granted. Estimating fair value requires determining the most appropriate valuation model for a grant of equity 
instruments, which is dependent on the terms and conditions of the grant. This also requires determining the most appropriate 
inputs to the valuation model. The assumptions and models used are disclosed in note 6.

  Control of franchisees
   The Group does not include franchised stores in its consolidated results as it has assessed its rights over franchised stores to be 

protective in nature (to preserve the franchised brands), with the holder of the franchise rights (the franchisees) having the ability 
to direct the franchised store operations and activities. In addition, financial support to franchisees over and above arm’s length 
trading terms for supply of product and services is limited, as is the Group’s exposure to variability of returns and profitability of the 
franchised stores (franchise fees are not dependent on the returns made by franchisees).

 1.5 Basis of consolidation
   The consolidated financial statements incorporate the results and financial position of the Company, its subsidiaries, its associates, 

the Share Incentive Trust, the Empowerment Trust and the Foundation Trust.

   Subsidiaries are those companies in which the Group has the power to exercise control over. Control is achieved when the Group 
is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power of the investee. The results of subsidiaries are included from the effective dates of acquisition, being the dates 
on which the Group obtains control, until the dates that control ceases. The identifiable assets and liabilities of companies acquired 
are assessed and included in the statement of financial position at their fair values as at the effective dates of acquisition.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
 1.5 Basis of consolidation continued
   The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or 

more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary 
and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or 
disposed of during the year are included in the statement of comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until 
the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

   All intragroup balances, transactions, unrealised gains and losses resulting from intragroup transactions and dividends are 
eliminated in full.

  All companies in the Group maintain consistent accounting policies and have the same year ends.

   Non-controlling interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets not held by the Group and are presented separately 
in the statement of comprehensive income and within equity in the consolidated statement of financial position, separately from 
equity attributable to equity holders of the parent. Non-controlling interests are not fair valued post-acquisition.

  Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling interest even if that results in a deficit balance.

   A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. If the Group 
loses control over a subsidiary, it:
	»  derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary;
	»  derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest;
	»  derecognises the cumulative translation differences, recorded in equity;
	»  recognises the fair value of the consideration received;
	»  recognises the fair value of any investment retained;
	»  recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss; and
	»   reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income to profit or loss or retained 

earnings, as appropriate.

 1.6 Business combinations and goodwill
   New acquisitions are included in the Group’s financial statements using the acquisition method whereby the assets, liabilities and 

contingent liabilities are measured at their fair value. The purchase consideration is allocated on the basis of fair values at the date 
of acquisition.

   Goodwill is initially measured at cost and represents the excess of the purchase consideration over the Group’s share of the net fair 
value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired entity at the date of acquisition.

   Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost, less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill carried in the 
statement of financial position is not amortised. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently, if events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.

   As at the acquisition date, any goodwill acquired is allocated to each of the cash-generating units (“CGUs”) expected to benefit 
from the acquisition. Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the CGU, to which the goodwill relates.

   Where the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. Where goodwill 
forms part of the cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the 
operation disposed of, is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of that 
operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation disposed of 
and the portion of the CGU which is retained.

  Common control reserve
   Common control transactions are accounted for using the pooling of interest method with the difference between the carrying 

amount and consideration recognised in a separate reserve in equity. A business combination is a common control combination if 
the combining entities are ultimately controlled by the same party (or parties) both before and after the combination.

NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
 1.7 Investment in subsidiaries (as accounted for on an entity level within the Group)
   Investment in subsidiaries are initially recorded at cost, being the fair value of the consideration given and including acquisition 

charges associated with the investment. Investments are carried at cost, less impairment.

   The carrying value of the subsidiaries is reviewed for impairment at every reporting date. Where necessary, the value of the 
investment is impaired to the greater of the fair value less costs of disposal or the value in use.

   The difference between the net proceeds on disposal and the carrying amount of investments is charged to profit or loss in the 
statement of comprehensive income.

 1.8 Financial instruments
  Financial instruments held by the Group are classified in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.

  The classification possibilities, which are adopted by the Group, as applicable, are as follows:
  Financial assets which are equity instruments:

	» mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss.

  Financial assets which are debt instruments:
	» Amortised cost

This category applies only when the contractual terms of the instrument give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on principal, and where the instrument is held under a business model whose objective is met 
by holding the instrument to collect contractual cash flows; or

	»  Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss
  This classification automatically applies to all debt instruments which do not qualify as at amortised cost or at fair value through 

comprehensive income; or
	»  Designated at fair value through profit or loss

 This classification option can be applied when it eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

Derivatives which are not part of a hedging relationship:
	» mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities:
	» amortised cost; or
	» mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss

This applies to contingent consideration in a business combination or to liabilities which are held for trading; or
	» designated at fair value through profit or loss

This classification option can be applied when it eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch; the liability forms 
part of a group of financial instruments managed on a fair value basis; or it forms part of a contract containing an embedded 
derivative and the entire contract is designated as at fair value through profit or loss.

Note 33 financial instruments and risk management presents the financial instruments held by the Group based on their specific 
classifications.

The specific accounting policies for the classification, recognition and measurement of each type of financial instrument held by 
the Group are presented below:
a. Trade and other receivables

Classification
Trade and other receivables, excluding, when applicable, VAT and prepayments, are classified as financial assets subsequently 
measured at amortised cost (note 20).

They have been classified in this manner because their contractual terms give rise, on specified dates to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding, and the Group’s business model is to collect the 
contractual cash flows on trade and other receivables.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
 1.8 Financial instruments continued

a. Trade and other receivables continued
Recognition and measurement
Trade and other receivables are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the receivables. 
The Group initially recognises trade and other receivables on the date that they originated. The trade and other receivables are 
measured initially at their transaction price, if at initial recognition of the trade and other receivable the Group expects to receive 
payment within one year or less from the date that the goods were transferred for the customer. All other trade and other 
receivables are initially measured at fair value plus transaction cost. 

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

The amortised cost is the amount recognised on the receivable initially, minus principal payments, plus cumulative amortisation 
(interest) using the effective interest method of any difference between the initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for 
any loss allowance. 

Application of the effective interest method
For receivables which contain a significant financing component, interest income is calculated using the effective interest 
method, and is included in profit or loss in finance income when applicable.

Impairment
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) on trade and other receivables at an amount equal 
to lifetime expected credit losses (lifetime ECLs), which represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible 
default events over the expected life of the receivable. Given the negative economic impact of the lockdown related to 
COVID-19, the Group has reassessed measurements and estimates related to the ability of debtors to repay amounts due to the 
Group, although this has not had a material impact on the level of provisioning recognised.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses
The Group makes use of a provision matrix as a practical expedient to the determination of expected credit losses on trade and 
other receivables. The provision matrix is based on historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the 
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current and forecast direction of conditions at the reporting 
date, including the time value of money, where appropriate. The customer base is diverse with significantly different loss patterns 
for different customer segments. The Group aggregates customer segments which share similar credit risk characteristics for 
purposes of determining the credit loss allowance. 

An impairment gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of trade and 
other receivables, through use of a loss allowance account. The impairment loss is included in profit or loss as a movement in 
credit loss allowance.

Write-off policy
The Group writes off a receivable when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and 
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, eg when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into 
bankruptcy proceedings. Receivables written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group recovery 
procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

Credit risk
Details of credit risk are included in trade and other receivables (note 20) and the financial instruments and risk management 
note (note 33).

Derecognition
Refer to the derecognition section of the accounting policy for the policies and processes related to derecognition.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
 1.8 Financial instruments continued

b. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits held on call with banks and highly liquid investments that are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject to insignificant changes in value.

Cash and cash equivalents are initially and subsequently measured at fair value.

c. Amounts owing by subsidiary
The amounts owing by subsidiary in the separate financial statements of the Company are repayable on demand and classified 
as a financial asset subsequently measured at amortised cost as a result. These amounts are initially recorded at fair value and 
details related to credit risk and impairment are provided in note 20.

d. Trade and other payables
Classification
Trade and other payables (note 24) are classified as financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Recognition and measurement
Trade and other payables are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions, and are measured, 
at initial recognition, at fair value plus transaction costs, if any.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest 
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and 
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the 
amortised cost of a financial liability.

If trade and other payables contain a significant financing component, and the effective interest method results in the 
recognition of interest expense, then it is included in profit or loss in finance costs (note 8).

Trade and other payables expose the Group to liquidity risk and possibly to interest rate risk. Refer to note 33 for details of 
risk exposure and management thereof.

Trade and other payables denominated in foreign currencies
When trade payables are denominated in a foreign currency, the carrying amount of the payables are determined in the 
foreign currency. The carrying amount is then translated to the Rand equivalent using the spot rate at the end of each 
reporting period. 

Derecognition
Refer to the derecognition section of the accounting policy for the policies and processes related to derecognition.

e. Derecognition
Financial assets 
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it 
transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party. If the Group 
neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, 
the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group 
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise 
the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

Financial liabilities
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they 
expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and 
payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
 1.8 Financial instruments continued

f. Reclassification
Financial assets
The Group only reclassifies affected financial assets if there is a change in the business model for managing financial assets. If a 
reclassification is necessary, it is applied prospectively from the reclassification date. Any previously stated gains, losses or 
interest are not restated.

The reclassification date is the beginning of the first reporting period following the change in business model which necessitates 
a reclassification.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are not reclassified.

 1.9 Treasury shares
   Shares in Italtile Limited held by the Group are classified in equity attributable to equity holders of the parent as treasury shares. 

These shares are treated as a deduction from the issued and weighted average number of shares. Dividends received on treasury 
shares are eliminated on consolidation. No gain or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s listed shares is 
recognised in profit or loss. Consideration received or paid with regards to treasury shares is recognised in equity.

 1.10 Foreign currencies
   The consolidated and separate financial statements are presented in Rand, which is the Group’s functional and presentation 

currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each 
entity are measured using that functional currency.

   Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Group entities at their respective functional currency rates prevailing 
at the date of the transaction.

   Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency spot rate of exchange 
ruling at the reporting date.

  All differences, including tax effects, are taken to profit or loss.

   Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as 
at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined.

 
   The Group has investments in foreign subsidiary companies which are classified as foreign operations with functional currencies 

that are different to that of the Group. The financial statements of these subsidiaries are translated for incorporation into the Group 
financial statements as follows:
	»  assets and liabilities at the rates ruling at the reporting date;
	»  statement of comprehensive income items at a weighted average rate for the period;
	»  cash flow items at a weighted average rate for the period; and
	»  equity items at the appropriate historical rate.

   Exchange differences are taken directly to a foreign currency translation reserve which is disclosed in other comprehensive income 
in the statement of comprehensive income. On disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred cumulative amount recognised in other 
comprehensive income, relating to that particular foreign entity, is recognised in profit or loss.

NOTES TO THE 
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
 1.11 Property, plant and equipment
   All buildings are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment, if any.

   A valuation to open market value for existing use is done every three years for impairment assessment purposes. All plant and 
equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment, if any.

   Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis estimated to write each asset down to estimated residual value over the term 
of its useful life at the following annual rates:

Useful life Residual value
	» Buildings 5% to 10% 80%
	» Plant and machinery 6,66% to 25% zero
	» Vehicles 20% to 25% zero
	» Computer equipment 20% to 33,3% zero
	» Furniture and fittings 16,6% to 33,3% zero

   Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment less their estimated residual values using 
the straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Depreciation is generally recognised in profit or loss, unless the amount is 
included in the carrying amount of another asset. Land and capital work in progress is not depreciated.

   Computer equipment, computer software, furniture and fittings are included as part of office equipment and are depreciated over 
three to five years.

  Capital work in progress has useful life and a residual value of zero as it is not yet ready for its intended use.

   The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication 
exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or CGU’s fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use and is determined for 
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or 
groups of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is 
written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, an appropriate valuation model is used. All repairs and maintenance are 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as incurred.

   Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in those expense categories 
consistent with the function of the impaired asset. In addition, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there 
is any indication that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, 
the Group makes an estimate of the recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has 
been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. 
If that is the case the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset 
in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

   An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from 
its use or disposal. Gains and losses on derecognition of assets are determined by reference to their carrying amount and the net 
disposal proceeds and are taken to the statement of comprehensive income in the year the asset is derecognised.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
 1.12 Inventory
   Inventory is valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 

course of business less the estimated cost of completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Cost is determined on a weighted 
average cost method and excludes cash discounts, rebates and relevant indirect taxes.

  Manufacturing
   Cost includes expenditure incurred in acquiring, manufacturing and transporting the inventory to its present location. Manufacturing 

costs include an allocated portion of production overheads which are directly attributable to the cost of manufacturing such 
inventory. The allocation is determined based on the normal production capacity.

  Cost is determined as follows:
	»  Raw materials   – weighted average
	»  Finished product and trading goods – standard cost

   Aged and discontinued finished goods, slow moving consumable stores and obsolete raw materials are identified on a regular 
basis and are written down to their estimated net realisable value.

 1.13 Taxes
  Current income tax
   Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation 

authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date.

   Current income tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss. Current tax items relating 
to other comprehensive income are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

  Deferred income tax
   Deferred income tax is provided on the liability method, on recognised temporary differences at tax rates that are expected to 

apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

   Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, other than in the circumstances described below. 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will 
be available against which the deductible temporary differences, carry-forward or unused tax assets and unused tax losses can be 
utilised, other than in the circumstances described below. Furthermore, deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date.

   The carrying amount is reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow the 
benefit of part or all of that deferred tax asset to be utilised. Any such reduction shall be reversed to the extent that it becomes 
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available.

   Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised where they arise from goodwill arising on acquisition or from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects 
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

   Deferred income tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss. Deferred tax items are 
recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

  Offset of tax assets and liabilities
   The Group offsets tax assets and liabilities if and only if it has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets and current tax 

liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied on the same entity by the same tax 
authority.

NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

 For the year ended 30 June 2020
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
 1.13 Taxes continued
  Value added tax (“VAT”)
  Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of VAT except:

	»  where the VAT incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the VAT is 
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense items, as applicable; and

	» receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of VAT included.

   The net amount of VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of other receivables or other 
payables in the statement of financial position.

  Dividend withholding tax
   Dividend withholding tax is imposed on shareholders at a rate of 20% on the receipt of dividends, and is withheld and paid to 

taxation authorities by the Company paying the dividend. By election, the Group is exempt from dividend withholding tax on its 
dividend receipts, except for certain consolidated entities which hold treasury shares. The dividend withholding tax for such 
entities is included in the Group’s taxation expense.

 
 1.14 Leases
  Policy applicable before 1 July 2018
  The policies will remain the same as per prior year audited financial statements.

  Policy applicable after 1 July 2018
   The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and lease liability in the statement of financial position at commencement of the lease.

   The lease liability is measured at the present value of lease payments not paid at commencement date. The Group uses the rate 
implicit in the lease and if that cannot be determined, the incremental borrowing rate at inception of the lease to discount lease 
payments. The Group generally uses the incremental borrowing rate, which was 7,4% as at 1 July 2019. Lease payments include all 
fixed payments per contract, variable payments linked to an index or rate, any amounts expected to be payables under a residual 
guarantee and the purchase price if the entity is reasonably certain it will exercise the option to purchase.

   The Group subsequently measures the lease liability using the effective interest rate method. The lease liability is remeasured if there 
is a change in the variable payments linked to an index or rate, if the Group changes its assessment of whether or not it will exercise 
the option to purchase or option to renew the agreement, or if there is a change in the estimated amount payable under a residual 
value guarantee. The right-to-use asset is adjusted with the corresponding adjustment to the extent that the balance is reduced to 
zero, thereafter the adjustments are recognised in profit or loss.

   The lease liability is represented as a separate line item in the statement of financial position.

   The right-of-use asset is measured initially at cost which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease payments 
made on or before commencement date, plus any direct cost incurred and an estimate of cost to dismantle or restore the underlying 
asset, less any lease incentives.

   The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated, on a straight-line basis, over the lease term. Depreciation is recognised in profit 
or loss and presented as part of operating expenses. The right-of-use asset is annually assessed for impairment and adjusted for any 
remeasurements of the lease liability or modifications of the agreement.

   The right-of-use asset is presented as a separate line in the statement of financial position.

  Short-term leases and low-value assets
   The Group has elected not to recognise a right-of-use asset and lease liability for all short-term leases with a lease term of 12 months 

or less and all low-value assets. The lease payments of these leases are recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
 1.15 Employee benefits 
  Retirement benefits
  Current contributions to the retirement benefit plan are charged against profit or loss as services are rendered by the employee.

  Short-term benefits
   The cost of all short-term employee benefits is recognised as an expense during the period in which the employee renders the 

related service. Liabilities for employee entitlements to wages, salaries and leave represent the amount that the Group has a 
present obligation, as a result of employee services provided to the reporting date, to the extent that such obligation can be 
reliably estimated. The accruals have been calculated at discounted amounts based on current wage and salary rates.

   Full-time employees of the Group are entitled to a profit incentive payment based on the performance of the Group. The Group thus 
has a present obligation as a result of the employee services provided to the reporting period, to the extent that such obligation can 
be reliably estimated. The accruals have been calculated at undiscounted amounts based on current wage and salary rates.

 1.16 Equity participation plans
   Selected employees, including directors, of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share options and share awards, 

whereby they render services in exchange for rights over shares. The cost of share options and share awards is measured by 
reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by using a Black-Schöles option-pricing 
model, further details of which are given in note 6. In valuing the share options and share awards, no account is taken of any 
performance conditions, other than conditions linked to the price of the shares of Italtile Limited.

   The cost of the share options is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in shareholders’ equity, over the vesting period 
ending on the date on which the service conditions are fulfilled and the employees become fully entitled to take up the share 
options. The cumulative expense recognised for share options granted at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects the 
extent to which the vesting period has expired and the number of share option grants that will ultimately vest in the opinion of the 
directors of the Group, at that date. This is based on the best available estimate of the number of share options that will ultimately 
vest. No expense is recognised for share options that do not ultimately vest.

   The cost of the share awards is recognised over the vesting period ending on the date on which the service conditions are fulfilled. 
The scheme plan has been classified as an equity-settled share-based payment. The recipient of the award shall be the registered 
and beneficial holder from the date of transfer of such shares. Where a share award is forfeited due to vesting conditions not being 
satisfied, the unvested portion of the awards will be transferred back to the Group.

   Where the terms of the share options are modified, as a minimum, an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been modified. 
In addition, an expense is recognised for any increase in the value of the transactions, as a result of the modification, as measured 
at the date of modification.

   Where a share option is forfeited prior to vesting, any expense previously recognised for the award is reversed immediately. Where 
an award is cancelled, other than an award cancelled by forfeiture when the vesting conditions are not satisfied, it is treated as if it 
vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised, is recognised immediately. If a new share option is 
substituted for the cancelled share option, and designated as a replacement share option on the date that it is granted, the 
cancelled and new share option grant are treated as if they were a modification of the original grant, as described above.

   The dilutive effect of outstanding options and awards is reflected as a share dilution in the computation of diluted earnings per 
share (refer to note 10).

 
 1.17 Dividends paid
  Dividends paid are recognised as appropriations of reserves in the statement of changes in equity at the dates of declaration.

NOTES TO THE 
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
 1.18 Investment in associate
   The Group’s investment in its associate is accounted for using the equity method. An associate is an entity in which the Group has 

significant influence.

   Under the equity method, the investment in the associate is carried in the statement of financial position at cost plus post-acquisition 
changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate. Goodwill relating to the associate is included in the carrying amount of 
the investment and is neither amortised nor individually tested for impairment.

   Profit or loss in the statement of comprehensive income reflects the share of the results of operations of the associate in profit or 
loss. Any change in other comprehensive income of the associate is presented as part of the Group’s other comprehensive income. 
Where there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Group recognises its share of any changes 
and discloses this, when applicable, in the statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions 
between the Group and the associate are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate.

   The share of profit of an associate is included in profit or loss. This is the profit attributable to equity holders of the associate and 
therefore is profit after tax and non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries of the associate.

   The financial statements of the associate are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. Where necessary, adjustments 
are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.

   After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an additional impairment loss 
on the Group’s investment in its associate. The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence 
that the investment in the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference 
between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the amount in profit or loss.

   Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any retaining investment at its fair value. 
Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence and the fair value of the retaining 
investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

 1.19 Provisions
   Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable 

that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation. When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example, under 
an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. 
Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present 
obligation at the end of the reporting period. The expense relating to a provision is presented in the statement of profit or loss net 
of any reimbursement.

 1.20 Revenue from contracts with customers
  Group
   Revenue is recognised when the Group satisfies performance obligations and transfers control of goods or services to its customers 

at an amount that reflects the consideration the Group expects to be entitled to in exchange for these goods or services, allocated 
to each specific performance obligation. Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable.

  Turnover
   Revenue from the sale of goods, or turnover, comprises sales to customers through its owned stores and the Group’s supply 

arrangements. Goods comprise tiles, bathroomware and related products. All turnover is stated exclusive of value added tax.

   Turnover is recognised at a point in time when the Group transfers control of goods to its customer at the point of sale and is 
measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable, net of trade discounts. Discounts to customers are deducted 
from turnover. Payment of the transaction price in respect of sale of goods is due immediately when the customer purchases goods 
and takes delivery. 

   The Group does not expect to have any contracts where the period between the transfer of the promised goods or services to the 
customer and payment by the customer exceeds one year. As a consequence, the Group does not adjust any of the transaction 
prices for the time value of money.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
 1.20 Revenue from contracts with customers continued
  Royalty and franchise income
   The Group earns royalties and other franchise income from its network of franchised stores. Income from franchisees, calculated as 

a percentage of the sale of goods by franchisees through their point of sale to their customers, in accordance with the substance 
of the relevant franchise agreement, is recognised at a point in time as franchisee income when the sale that gives rise to the 
income takes place. 

  Company
  Finance income
   Interest income is recognised over time as it accrues in the statement of comprehensive income, using the EIR method, by 

reference to the principal amounts outstanding and at the interest rate applicable. Dividend income is recognised when the 
shareholder’s right to receive payment is established.

  Management fee
   The Company charges its wholly owned subsidiary a management fee for services rendered by its Board and other related services. 

The management fees are recognised when services have been rendered.

 1.21 Other income
  Finance income
   Interest income is recognised over time as it accrues in the statement of comprehensive income, using the EIR method, by reference 

to the principal amounts outstanding and at the interest rate applicable. Dividend income is recognised when the shareholder’s 
right to receive payment is established.

  Property rental income
   Property rental income comprises variable rent payments received by the Group based on a contractual percentage of monthly 

franchisee turnover.

NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

 For the year ended 30 June 2020

2. DEFINITIONS
2.1 Turnover

Turnover represents net sales, excluding value added tax and inter-company sales.

2.2 Cost of sales
 Cost of sales is calculated as the weighted average cost of inventory, including distribution costs incurred in bringing the inventory 
to the retail locations, net of rebate income and settlement discounts.

2.3 Cash and cash equivalents
The cash and cash equivalent amounts comprise cash in hand, deposits held on call with banks and highly liquid investments that 
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject to insignificant changes in value.

2.4 Treasury shares
Shares in Italtile Limited held by the entities in the Group.

2.5 Adjusted earnings per share
Earnings per share figures calculated by removing the impact of once-off, non-recurring items from earnings.
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Company Group

 2020
Rm 

 2019
Rm 

 2020
Rm 

 2019
Rm 

3. REVENUE
Total revenue comprises:
Turnover  6 690 6 975
Royalty income from franchising   129 152
Other franchise income  89 94

 1 520 285 Finance income
 6 6 Management fee

 1 526 291  6 908 7 221

4. COST OF SALES
Cost of sales comprises:
Cost of product sold, net of rebates and discounts 4 025 4 221
Freight costs 83 107
Other 37 33

 4 145 4 361

5. TRADING PROFIT
Other income includes:
Property rental income 167 176
Sundry income 53 89

Auditor’s remuneration
– Audit fee 10 7
– Other fees # 1
– Expenses  # #

 10 8

Depreciation – owned
– Buildings  66 61
– Plant and machinery  156 150
– Vehicles  16 16
– Computer equipment  17 16
– Furniture and fittings  44 41

 299 284

Depreciation – right-of-use assets 
– Buildings  47 49
– Vehicles 15 9

 62 58

Employee remuneration
– Salaries and wages  646 639

  – Profit share  92 107
– Contributions to retirement benefits  52 46

 790 792

Other
39 – Share-based payment expense  84 47

# Less than R1 million.
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6. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
Black Economic Empowerment transactions
Various Black Economic Empowerment transactions in prior years have resulted in the founding of the Italtile and Ceramic Foundation 
Trust and the Italtile Empowerment Trust.

The objective of the Italtile and Ceramic Foundation Trust is to carry on one or more public benefit activities as determined by its 
trustees from time to time for the benefit of the Foundation Trust beneficiaries. At least 85% of all distributions made by the Foundation 
Trust will be for the benefit of black people. 

The Italtile Empowerment Trust remained dormant until implementation of the Italtile Staff Share Scheme, which is detailed further 
below in this note.

On 22 August 2019 the Company entered into a subscription and relationship agreement with Yard Investment Holdings Proprietary 
Limited (“Yard”) and K2019313036 (South Africa) (RF) Proprietary Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of Yard (“Yard SPV”), in terms of 
which Yard SPV subscribed for 26,4 million ordinary shares in Italtile for an aggregate cash subscription amount of R313 million. Net of 
transaction costs, proceeds totalled R304 million. This transaction is expected to enhance Italtile´s BEE ownership credentials for a 
period of at least three years. This general issue of shares was priced at R11,82 a share.

As Italtile Limited receives BEE credentials as a result of entering into this transaction (in which shares were issued at a discount) and 
the consideration for the shares was partially funded by a shareholder and related party of the Company, the transaction falls within 
IFRS 2.

The transaction has thus resulted in a once-off IFRS 2 expense and a related equity-settled share-based payment reserve of R39 million, 
which was recognised immediately on grant date in the accounts of the Company. The cost of the transaction was valued using a Monte 
Carlo option pricing model with the following inputs:

Share price R11,82
Volatility 32,89%
Time to maturity 3 to 7 years
Risk-free interest rate 6,56%
Dividend yield 2,16%
Loan rate 85% of prime

The valuation was performed by an external valuation expert.

Share Appreciation Rights Scheme
During the 2011 financial year, a share appreciation rights scheme was adopted by the Company, in accordance with which selected 
directors and employees of the Group are entitled to receive notional share awards based on the increase in share price from grant 
date price. These awards vest as follows: 
	»  25% after three years; and 75% after five years. The exercise price is determined in accordance with the rules of the scheme; and
	» The plan has been classified as an equity-settled share-based payment scheme and is fair valued on each grant date using a 

modified Black-Schöles model. The following assumptions and inputs were used in valuing the notional awards on grant dates:

Grant date
31 August 

2014
31 August 

2015
31 August

 2016
31 August

 2017
31 August

 2018
31 August

 2019

Notional share award 8 500 000 5 600 000 5 600 000 1 600 000 2 800 000 1 325 000
Grant price R9,27 R11,43 R14,25 R14,12 R13,80 R13,27
Interest rate – zero yield curve* 6,84% – 7,23% 7,31% – 7,73% 7,77% – 7,99% 6,73% – 7,09% 7,71% – 8,00% 6,85%#

Dividend yield 2,13% 1,92% 1,92% 2,20% 2,00% 2,04%

* Source: Standard Bank.
# Five-year rate used.

NOTES TO THE 
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6. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS continued

Share Appreciation Rights Scheme continued

The movement in the number of awards during the year is as follows:

Number of awards

2020 2019

At 1 July 15 575 000  14 937 500 
Awarded during the year 1 325 000  2 800 000 
Vested and exercised during the year (4 850 000)  (1 887 500)

Forfeited during the year (1 012 500)  (275 000)

At 30 June 11 037 500  15 575 000 

The weighted average vesting period of awards outstanding at year end is 1,61 years (2019: 1,65 years).

The fair value of the unvested awards granted to 30 June 2020 was R32 million (2019: R39,2 million). Included in the expenses in the 
profit and loss for the year is R8,4 million (2019: R13,3 million) relating to the current year share-based payment expense for this 
scheme.

Staff Share Scheme
During the 2014 financial year, the Group implemented a share incentive scheme for all employees of the Group and its franchisees that 
had been in the employ of the Group and/or franchise network for a period of three uninterrupted years at each allotment date in 
August every year from the implementation date. As a result, 9,4 million of the Group’s shares net of forfeitures were held by qualifying 
staff members at 30 June 2020 (2019: 7,5 million). Until vesting, the shares will continue to be accounted for as treasury shares and have 
an impact on the diluted weighted average number of shares.

The allotment is funded by the Group and the shares are restricted instruments which will vest with employees following a further three 
years of employment. Until vesting, the shares will continue to be accounted for as treasury shares.

The scheme is classified as an equity-settled share-based payment scheme and is fair valued on each grant date using a modified 
Black-Schöles model. The following assumptions and inputs were used in valuing the awards:

Grant date 31 August 2016 31 August 2017 31 August 2018 31 August 2019

Vesting date 31 August 2019 31 August 2020 31 August 2021 31 August 2022
Share awards  2 831 075  3 527 690  3 301 800 5 192 649
Grant price per share R4,57 R4,57 R4,57 R4,57
Share price at valuation date R14,70 R14,15 R13,80 R14,20
Interest rate – zero yield curve* 7,29% – 8,52% 6,99% – 7,58% 7,19% – 7,81% 6,99% – 7,58%
Dividend yield 2,05% 2,08% 2,00% 2,29%

* Source: Standard Bank.
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6. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS continued
Staff Share Scheme continued
The movement in the number of awards during the year is as follows: Number of awards

2020 2019

At 1 July 7 494 009  6 943 590 
Awarded during the year 5 192 649  3 301 800 
Vested and exercised during the year (1 716 910)  (1 969 500)
Forfeited during the year (1 560 211)  (781 881)

At 30 June 9 409 537  7 494 009 

The weighted average vesting period of awards outstanding at year end is 1,39 years (2019: 1,32 years).

The fair value of the awards granted over the year to 30 June 2020 was R8,40 per award (2019: R8,12). 

Included in the expenses in the profit and loss for the year is R25 million (2019: R18 million) relating to the current year share-based 
payment expense for this scheme. In total, R13 million (2019: R9 million) is a once-off charge related to employees of the Group’s 
franchisees. 

Executive Retention Plan
The Executive Retention Plan is an additional mechanism, over and above the SARS, to retain and reward selected employees and 
directors. In terms of this scheme, retention payments are made to selected directors and employees to facilitate the purchase of 
Italtile Limited shares based on the share price at grant date. The payment of the retention award is subject to the director or employee 
remaining with the Group for a period of five years. The director or employee shall be the registered and beneficial holder of the shares 
acquired pursuant to the retention award from the date of transfer of such shares.

The movement in the number of retention awards to eligible participants is as follows:
Number of awards

2020 2019

At 1 July 5 500 000 4 500 000
Awarded during the year – 1 500 000
Vested during the year – (500 000)
Forfeited during the year – –

At 30 June 5 500 000  5 500 000 

The Italtile Retention Scheme replaces the Executive Retention Plan going forward.
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6. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS continued
Ceramic Share Schemes
Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”)
In June 2016, the Ceramic Remuneration Committee made a number of new awards in terms of the Company's LTIP scheme which was 
approved at the AGM of shareholders held on 30 November 2007.

The following table reflects the number of notional Ceramic shares granted and held by the participants:

2020 2019

At the beginning of the year 25 000 25 000
Options awarded (6 250) –

At the end of the year 18 750 25 000

The liability raised for the awards outstanding at 30 June 2020 was R2,0 million (2019: R3,8 million). Included as an expense in profit or 
loss for the year was R1,3 million (2019: R1,3 million) relating to the current year amortisation of the share options granted.

The LTIP award is similar to a forward on Ceramic ordinary shares maturing at tranche measuring date where the strike price is Rnil. 
A no-arbitrage approach is therefore used to determine the fair value of the awards.

The liability will be measured at the end of each reporting period, until settled in cash, by applying an option pricing model, taking into 
account the terms and conditions on which the awards were granted and to the extent to which the employees have rendered services 
to the Company.

In total, 25% of the awards vested on 1 June 2019 and 75% will vest on 1 June 2021.

Ceramic Industries Escrow Scheme
On 24 March 2016 shareholders of Ceramic approved the issue of 414 139 ordinary shares to the three executive directors of the 
Company, the CEO (207 069 shares), the Chief Operating Officer (165 656 shares) and the CFO (41 414 shares).

The shares are being held in trust by an escrow agent and will vest to the participants provided they remain in the full-time employment 
of the Company for the period 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2020. If the participants’ full-time employment with the Company 
terminates prior to 31 December 2020, the participant shall forfeit all the shares issued to him irrespective of the date on which 
termination occurs.

The CFO retired 30 November 2017 and forfeited all his shares.

A new issue of 30 000 shares was approved on 1 January 2018 as well as on 1 July 2018 and the same rules apply as above.

The executive share award is similar to simply holding Ceramic ordinary shares from grant date on 1 January 2016.

Since the executive shares are an equity-settled award, the cost is fixed at grant date based on the fair value of Ceramic ordinary shares 
at that date and expensed over the vesting period. At each reporting period, the Company will adjust the cost for the service period 
by taking into account resignations, deaths and retirements during the vesting period.

Mr R Mothapo (fellow of the Actuarial Society of South Africa) of the Matlotlo Group Proprietary Limited has valued the above issue of 
shares at R67,8 million. This cost will be amortised over the vesting period.

Included as an expense in profit or loss for the year was R20,2 million (2019: R19,1 million) relating to the current year amortisation of 
the shares issued.
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6. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS continued
The Ceramic Industries Equity Incentive Scheme
The Ceramic Industries (Pty) Ltd Equity Incentive Scheme (“EIS”) was implemented with effect from 1 July 2013. The purpose of the 
scheme is to incentivise selected employees by giving them the opportunity to acquire shares in Ceramic. The scheme will also ensure 
that the goals of those employees will be aligned with the goals of the other shareholders.

In terms of the rules of the EIS, grants will be made at the discretion of the Ceramic Remuneration Committee (“Remcom”) on 1 July 
each year. Per the scheme rules, 20% of the grants will be unconditional but the remaining 80% will be conditional on the achievement 
of performance targets set by the Remcom. 

There will be two vesting dates which will be on the second and fourth anniversary dates of the original grant date. Per the scheme 
rules, 25% of the grants will vest on the first vesting date and 75% will vest on the second vesting date.

The scheme has been classified as an equity-settled share-based payment scheme and is fair valued on each grant date using a 
modified Black-Schöles model. Details of the valuation assumptions for grants issued and outstanding at 30 June 2020 are as follows:

Grant date 1 July 2017 30 May 2018 1 July 2019

Notional share awards outstanding:
– Unconditional  19 000  3 250 12 000

– Conditional  60 000  11 250 48 000
Share price R241,46 R241,46 R241,46

Interest rate – zero yield curve 7,33% – 7,58% 6,77% 6,50%
Dividend yield curve 2,21% 2,21% 2,21%

Included as an expense in profit or loss for the year was R10,1 million (2019: R12,4 million) relating to the current year amortisation of 
the share awards granted.

Share option reserve
The composition of the share schemes’ reserve is as follows:

Company Company Group

2020
Rm

2019
Rm

2020
Rm

2019
Rm

52 15 Black Economic Empowerment transactions 52  15 
33 39 Share Appreciation Rights Scheme 33  39 
49 43 Staff Share Scheme 49  43 

Ceramic Share Schemes 146  123 

134 97 280  220 

Company Group

2020
Rm

2019
Rm

2020
Rm

2019
Rm

7. FINANCE INCOME
 # # Bank interest received  40 49

 1 520 285 Dividends received  34 22

 1 520 285  74 71

8. FINANCE COST
 # # Bank loans and overdraft 55 31

Lease liability finance costs 26 21

# # Total finance cost 81 52

# Less than R1 million.
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9. TAXATION
Current taxation through profit or loss

 2 2 –  Normal tax (South Africa) – current year  376 444 
–  Normal tax (foreign) – current year  13 19 
–  Normal tax – prior year adjustments 3 6 
– Deferred tax (South Africa) – current year  41 26 
– Deferred tax (foreign) – current year  1 4 
–  Deferred tax (South Africa) – prior year adjustments (4) 1 
– Dividend withholding tax 4 –

2 2 434 500 

Reconciliation of tax rate
28,0 28,0 Standard rate – South Africa 28,0 28,0 

Adjusted for:
(28,8) (27,4) Non-taxable dividend income (0,7) (0,7)

0,7 – Non-deductible BBBEE transaction charge 0,7 –
Dividend withholding tax paid by trusts 0,3 –

0,2 – Expenses disallowed as a deduction* 1,5 –
Tax effect from income from associates 0,0 0,0

– (0,6)

Other differences, including effect of foreign taxes, 
prior period over/underprovisions, dividend 
withholding tax and donations tax 0,0 0,2 

0,1 – Effective tax rate 29,8 27,5

* Includes non-deductible share-based payment expenses, 
expenses attributable to exempt and non-taxable income and 
expenditure which is capital in nature.

10. EARNINGS PER SHARE
Earnings per share and diluted earnings per share is 
based on the income attributable to ordinary 
shareholders of R964 million (2019: R1 253 million).

The earnings per share calculations are based on 
1 231 052 557 (2019: 1 221 573 614) weighted average 
number of shares in issue during the period, 
excluding weighted average treasury shares.
Reconciliation of shares in issue:
– Total number of share issued 1 321 654 148 1 295 254 148
– Shares held by Share Incentive Trust (9 824 614) (10 451 786)
– BBBEE treasury shares (63 722 861) (60 818 201)
– Treasury shares held by subsidiaries (17 621 666) (3 369 062)

Shares in issue to external parties 1 230 485 007 1 220 615 099
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10. EARNINGS PER SHARE continued
The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on:
Weighted average number of shares in issue for basic 
earnings per share 1 231 052 557  1 221 573 614 
Potentially dilutive ordinary shares resulting from 
outstanding share-based payment awards per note 6 4 916 434  4 458 384 

Weighted average number of shares for diluted 
earnings per share 1 235 968 991  1 226 031 998

Earnings per share (cents) 78,3 102,6
Diluted earnings per share (cents) 78,0 102,2
Adjusted earnings per share (cents)* 81,5 102,6

11. HEADLINE EARNINGS
The calculation of headline and diluted headline 
earnings per share is based on the income 
attributable to ordinary shareholders – as used in the 
calculation for basic earnings, adjusted in terms of 
Circular 1/2019, Headline Earnings.
Reconciliation of headline earnings (Rand millions):
Basic earnings 964 1 253
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment (1) (10)
Gross amount (1) (12)
Taxation # 2 
Impairment of plant and equipment 11 –
Gross amount 16 –
Taxation (5) –

Headline earnings 974 1 243

Headline earnings per share (cents) 79,2 101,8
Diluted headline earnings per share (cents) 78,8 101,4
Adjusted headline earnings per share* (cents) 82,3 101,8

12. DIVIDENDS
12.1 Dividends paid in the current year

Final 2019 – No 106
251 272 Paid 2020: 19 cents per share (2019: 21 cents per share) 235 256

Interim 2020 – No 107
304 285 Paid 2020: 23 cents per share (2019: 22 cents per share) 283 276

661 389
Special dividend No 6 – 50 cents per share 
(2019: 30 cents per share) 620 366

304 – Special dividend No 7 – 23 cents per share 285 –

1 520 946 Total – 115 cents per share (2019: 73 cents per share) 1 423 898

12.2 Dividends declared in relation to current year profit
Interim 2020 – No 107

304 285 23 cents per share (2019: 22 cents per share) 283 276
Final 2020 – No 108 (post-year end)

132 246 10 cents per share (2019: 19 cents per share) 123 232
Special dividend – No 7

304 661 23 cents per share (2019: 50 cents per share) 285 620

740 1 192 Total – 46 cents per share (2019: 91 cents per share) 691 1 128
# Less than R1 million.
* Adjusted for once-off charge of R39 million detailed in note 6.
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Land and
buildings

Rm

Plant and
machinery

Rm
Vehicles

Rm

Computer
equipment

Rm

Furniture
and fittings

Rm

Capital 
work-in-

progress
Rm

Total 
Rm

13.  PROPERTY, PLANT 
AND EQUIPMENT
2020
Beginning of the year
– assets at cost 3 152 2 779 101 137 476 – 6 645

–  accumulated depreciation (514) (1 639) (60) (112) (378) – (2 703)

Business combination
– net book value 2 638 1 140 41 25 98 – 3 942
Current year movements
– transfers# (9) (88) 1 6 – 90 –
– additions 280 106 14 23 91 100 614

– disposals (24) (1) (4) (5) (1) – (35)
– depreciation (66) (156) (16) (17) (44) – (299)
– impairment* – (16) – – – – (16)
– translation 19 17 – # – 7 43

Balance at the end of the year 2 838 1 002 36 32 144 197 4 248

Made up as follows:
– assets at cost 3 423 2 797 116 166 567 190 7 259
–  accumulated depreciation 

and impairments (585) (1 795) (80) (134) (423) 7 (3 010)

Net book value 2 838 1 002 36 32 144 197 4 248
# Capital work-in-progress has been disclosed as a separate category in the current year resulting in a transfer between category opening balances.
* In anticipation of an upgrade of the SAMCA Floor tile factory, all operations at the factory were ceased towards the end of the current year. Equipment and 

machinery with a carrying amount of R16 million as at 30 June 2020 has been impaired as a result, as these components have been deemed to have 
negligible recoverable amounts as they cannot be reused elsewhere or sold to third parties.

Land and
buildings

Rm

Plant and
machinery

Rm
Vehicles

Rm

Computer
equipment

Rm

Furniture
and fittings

Rm
Total 

Rm

2019
Beginning of the year
– assets at cost 2 840 2 560 76 118 420 6 014
–  accumulated depreciation (392) (1 488) (35) (92) (332) (2 339)

– net book value 2 448 1 072 41 26 88 3 675
Business combination – –  1  –  8   9 
Current year movements
– additions 312 219 24 19 48 622 
– disposals (60) (1) (9) (5) (5) (80)
– depreciation (61) (149) (16) (15) (41) (282)
– translation (1) (1) – – – (2)

Balance at the end of the year 2 638 1 140 41 25 98 3 942

Made up as follows:
– assets at cost 3 152 2 779 101 137 476 6 645

–  accumulated depreciation (514) (1 639) (60) (112) (378) (2 703)

Net book value 2 638 1 140 41 25 98 3 942
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14. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 
Beginning of year 2020
– assets at cost  319  38  357 
– accumulated depreciation (45) (9) (54)

– net book value  274  29  303 
Current year movements
– additions 96 12 108
– disposals # # #

cost (31) (5) (36)
accumulated depreciation 31 5 36

– depreciation (47) (15) (62)

Balance at the end of the year 324 25  349 

Made up as follows:
– assets at cost 386 45 431
– accumulated depreciation and impairments (62) (20) (82)

Net book value 324 25  349 

Beginning of year 2019
– assets at cost – – –
– accumulated depreciation – – –

– net book value – – –
Current year movements
– adoption of IFRS 16 181 11 192
– reallocation of lease premium asset from long-term financial asset 39 – 39
– additions 103 27 130
– disposals (2) – (2)
– adjustments 2 – 2
– depreciation (49) (9) (58)

Balance at the end of the year 274 29 303

Made up as follows:
– assets at cost 319 38 357
– accumulated depreciation and impairments (45) (9) (54)

Net book value 274 29 303
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15. INVESTMENTS
15.1 Investments

 8 8 Investment in subsidiaries
 149 135 Equity instruments – at cost

 157 143 Directors’ valuation of unlisted investments

Investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less 
accumulated impairment. A list of subsidiaries appears 
in note 37.

Equity instruments in the Company’s records relates to 
the notional investment cost as a result of the Group 
share-based payment schemes as disclosed in note 6.

These amounts are carried at cost less accumulated 
impairment.

15.2 Investments in associates

Easylife Kitchens Management (Pty) Ltd
On 1 February 2020 the Group acquired a 25,1% 
investment in Easylife Kitchens.
Carrying value of investment in Easylife Kitchens 
Management (Pty) Ltd: 
Cost  18 –
Share of profit and reserve movements post 
commencement of equity accounting (net of 
dividends)  # –

Total of carrying amount of investments in associate  18

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial 
information of the Group’s investment in Easylife 
Kitchens Management (Pty) Ltd:
Statement of financial position: 
Non-current assets 25 –
Current assets 24 –
Non-current liabilities (5) –
Current liabilities (7) –

Equity 37 –

# Less than R1 million.
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15. INVESTMENTS
15.2 Investments in associates continued

Easylife Kitchens (Pty) Ltd continued
Statement of comprehensive income since acquisition: 
Turnover  12 –
Loss for the year (2) –

Loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of Italtile 
Limited  # –
Less: Dividends – –

Share of associated company’s income  # –

Advanced Tiling Techniques (Pty) Ltd
On 23 October 2018 the Group acquired a 30% 
investment in Advanced Tiling Techniques. 
Carrying value of investment in Advanced Tiling 
Techniques (Pty) Ltd: 
Cost 3 –

 

Share of profit and reserve movements post 
commencement of equity accounting (net of 
dividends) # –

Total of carrying amount of investments in associates 3

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial 
information of the Group’s investment in Advanced 
Tiling Techniques:
Statement of financial position: 
Non-current assets  3 –
Current assets  # –
Non-current liabilities  # –
Current liabilities  # –

Equity  3 –

Statement of comprehensive income: 
Turnover  2 –
Loss for the year  # –

Loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of Italtile 
Limited  # –
Less: Dividends – –

Share of associated company’s income  # –

# Less than R1 million.
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15. INVESTMENTS continued
15.2 Investment in associates continued

SER-Export s.p.a.
During the 2015 financial year, the Group disposed of a 
20% stake in SER-Export s.p.a. to its existing partner in 
this entity, reducing the Group’s effective shareholding 
to 30%. 
Carrying value of investment in SER-Export s.p.a.: 
Cost  19 19
Share of profit and reserve movements post 
commencement of equity accounting (net of dividends)  9 7

Total carrying amount of investments in associates  28 26

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial 
information of the Group’s investment in SER-Export 
s.p.a.:
Statement of financial position:
Non-current assets  70 66
Current assets  204 145
Non-current liabilities –
Current liabilities (115) (80)

Equity 159 131

Statement of comprehensive income: 
Turnover  178  195 
Profit for the year  6  9 

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of Italtile 
Limited  2  3 
Less: Dividends – –

Share of associated company’s income  2  3 

Totals
Total associate carrying amount:
Easylife Kitchens Management (Pty) Ltd 18 –
Advanced Tiling Techniques (Pty) Ltd 3 –
SER-Export s.p.a. 28 26

49 26

Total share of associated company income:
Easylife Kitchens Management (Pty) Ltd # –
Advanced Tiling Techniques (Pty) Ltd # –
SER-Export s.p.a. 2 3

1 3

# Less than R1 million.
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16. LONG-TERM FINANCIAL ASSETS
133 184 Loan to trusts

Non-current portion of property development loans 91 91
Non-current portion of Executive Retention Plan payout 13 34
Non-current portion of BBBEE-related advances 29 35

133 184 133 160

In order to raise funds necessary to purchase BEE 
shares (refer to note 6), the Company has funded the 
trusts by way of a loan. The loans to the trusts are 
interest-free. The loan to the Foundation Trust is fully 
repayable by 2022. Given the underlying value of the 
trusts’ assets (Company shares), credit risk is minimal 
and no expected credit loss is provided for.

The property development loan funding is the 
long-term portion of funding provided for property 
development with one loan fully repayable by June 
2028. During the prior year, funding was provided for 
an additional property development with the loan fully 
repayable by June 2031. Short-term portion of both 
loans are included under sundry debtors in note 20. 
As the funding is repaid using rental proceeds received 
from the Group, and adequate security is in place, 
credit risk is minimal and no expected credit loss is 
provided for.

The Executive Retention Plan payout is the long-term 
portion of the unvested retention payments to facilitate 
the purchase of Italtile Limited shares. Refer to note 6 
for details.

The BBBEE-related advances is the long-term portion 
of supplier and enterprise development loans advanced 
to black-owned businesses. Repayment terms vary and 
interest is charged at preferential rates. Short-term 
portions of these loans are included under sundry 
debtors in note 20.
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17. GOODWILL
Made up as follows:
Balance at the beginning of the year 19 11 
Additions through acquisitions – 8 

Balance at the end of the year 19 19 

The increase in goodwill is due to goodwill recognised 
on acquisition of the CTM Tanzanian franchise during 
the prior year. Management tests for impairment on an 
annual basis. No impairment indicators were identified 
during the financial year.

18. DEFERRED TAXATION
Deferred tax assets 14 22 
Deferred tax liabilities (200) (166)

(186) (144)

Opening
balance

Rm

Charged
through other

comprehensive
income

Charged
through
profit or

loss
Rm

Closing
balance

Rm

2020
The deferred tax balance is made up as follows:
Deferred tax asset:
Accruals 95 – (10) 85
Property, plant and equipment 2 – 11 13
Assessed loss 1 – 1 2
Deferred tax liability:
Property, plant and equipment (183) (4) (56) (243)
Prepayments (9) – 6 (3)
Ceramic Industries – tax on deemed fair value (50) – 10 (40)

Net deferred tax asset/(liability) (144) (4) (38) (186)

2019
Deferred tax asset:
Accruals 59 – 36 95 
Property, plant and equipment 2 – # 2 
Assessed loss 1 – # 1 
Deferred tax liability:
Property, plant and equipment (151) – (32) (183)
Prepayments 11 – (20) (9)
Ceramic Industries – tax on deemed fair value (40) – (10) (50)

Net deferred tax asset/(liability) (118) – (26) (144)

# Less than R1 million.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are only offset when the income tax relates to the same legal entity and fiscal authority.

The tax rate applied to South African entities is 28% (2019: 28%) for normal taxation.
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19. INVENTORIES
Raw materials and packaging 197 177
Semi-finished goods 5 4
Finished goods and merchandise 694 677

896 857

Inventory at year end is net of an obsolescence 
provision of R82 million (2019: R89 million), which is 
determined on an annual basis.
The provision takes into account expected future sales 
ability of inventory items based on historical 
experience, analysis of market and fashion trends and 
a review of the ageing of the inventory items. 
Inventory losses recognised as an expense totalled 
R10 million (2019: R8 million). This expense is included 
in the operating expense line item on the face of the 
statement of comprehensive income.

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Trade receivables – net of loss allowance 421 491
Prepayments 84 74
Sundry debtors* 273 285

3 353 3 030 Amounts owing by subsidiary

3 353 3 030 778 850

* Includes deposits, rebates receivable, and short-term portions of loans per note 16.

For terms and conditions relating to Group-related receivables, refer to note 35. 

The amounts owing by subsidiary represent amounts owing by Italtile Ceramics (Pty) Ltd. These amounts are unsecured, carry no interest 
and are payable on demand. As the subsidiary has material liquid assets and other significant assets, credit risk is minimal and no expected 
credit loss is provided for. Outstanding balances are settled from time to time based on the cash flow requirements of the various entities.

Trade receivables of the Group comprise amounts due from franchisees and other third-party customers, each of which has different credit 
risk characteristics. Credit risk relating to amounts due from franchisees is limited (recovery via underlying assets of the franchise business in 
the event of default is provided for in franchise agreements).

An expected credit loss model (simplified approach) is used to calculate the impairment allowance (a lifetime expected loss allowance) for 
other third-party customers. The expected credit loss model which uses the prevailing prime rate of lending in South Africa, is based on 
historic payment profiles and credit losses, and has been adjusted for the expected impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. Macro-economic 
factors considered by the Group when determining expected loss rates include GDP annual growth, prime lending interest rate, inflation rate 
and unemployment. The macro-economic factors covered the seven quarters up to June 2020. In addition, forecast macro-economic factors 
for 12 months from the calculation date are also considered. Refer to note 33 for further information related to expected credit loss.

As at 30 June 2020, a loss allowance has been recorded for trade receivables with a nominal value of R54 million (2019: R21 million).

Movements in the loss allowance of trade receivables were as follows:

Total
Rm

At 30 June 2018 24
Utilised during the year #
Raised during the year (3)

At 30 June 2019 21
Utilised during the year (3)
Raised during the year 36

At 30 June 2020 54

# Less than R1 million.
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21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
30 # Cash at bank and on hand 586 472 

– – Cash equivalents 274 729 

30 # 860 1 201

Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on 
daily bank deposit rates. 

Cash equivalents are made for varying periods of 
between one day and three months, depending on 
immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn 
interest at the respective short-term deposit rates.

The fair value approximates the carrying value due to 
the short-term nature of these balances, with no 
expected credit loss recognised.

22. STATED CAPITAL
Authorised
3 300 000 000 ordinary shares of no par value
Issued

4 314 4 010
1 321 654 148 (2019: 1 295 254 148) ordinary shares 
of no par value 4 314 4 010
Aggregated treasury shares in issue (735) (477)
Number of shares in issue to external parties:

1 321 654 148 1 295 254 148 Total shares in issue 1 321 654 148 1 295 254 148
Treasury shares: Share Incentive Trust (9 824 614) (10 451 786)
 BBBEE treasury shares (63 722 861) (60 818 201)
 Held by subsidiaries (17 621 666) (3 369 062)

1 321 654 148 1 295 254 148 In issue to external parties 1 230 485 007 1 220 615 099

As disclosed in note 6, during the year 26 400 000 
shares were issued to Yard SPV for a net consideration 
of R304 million.

A subsidiary of the Company, Italtile Ceramics (Pty) Ltd, 
acquired 14 252 604 of the Company’s shares 
(2019: 3 369 062) on market at a cost of R193 million 
(2019: R46,3 million) during the year.

The Italtile and Ceramic Foundation acquired 
3 785 445 of the Company’s shares (2019: nil) on market 
at a cost of R50 million (2019: nil) during the year.

All unissued shares are under the control of the 
directors until the next AGM.

# Less than R1 million.
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23.  NON-DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE
 Balance as at 30 June 2018 (12)
 Translation from foreign entities (16)

 Balance as at 30 June 2019 (28)
 Translation of foreign entities 54

 Balance as at 30 June 2020 26

Company Group
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24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Trade payables 446 370

# # Accruals/other payables 171 94

# # 617 464

For terms and conditions relating to related parties, 
refer to note 35.

Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are 
normally settled on 30-day terms.

Accruals/other payables are mostly non-interest-bearing 
and have an average term of three months.

The fair value of all trade and other payables 
approximates the carrying value, due to the short-term 
nature of these balances.

# Less than R1 million.

Leave pay
Rm

Incentive
bonus

Rm
Total

Rm

25. PROVISIONS
Balance as at 30 June 2018 21 93 114 
Provision utilised (2) (42) (44)
Provision raised 11 40 51 

Balance as at 30 June 2019 30 91 121
Provision utilised (4) (46) (50)
Provision raised 5 22 27

Balance as at 30 June 2020 31 67 98

Leave pay is provided on accumulated leave balances at year end based on employees’ cost to company.

Provision for incentive bonus is expected to be realised when bonuses are paid in the 2021 financial year and is based on terms as 
dictated in employment contracts (subject to the final approval from management).
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26. RECONCILIATION OF PROFIT BEFORE 
TAXATION TO CASH GENERATED FROM 
OPERATIONS
Cash flows from operating activities:

1 480 284 Profit before taxation 1 457 1 819
Adjusted for:

Income from associates (1) (3)
39 – BBBEE transaction charge 39 –

Depreciation 299 282 
Depreciation – right-of-use asset 62 58 
Lease liability finance cost payment 26 21 
Lease payment – –*
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment (1) (14)
Impairment of plant and equipment 16 –

(1 520) (285) Finance income (74) (71)
#  # Finance costs (excluding lease liability finance costs) 55 31 

Share-based payment expenses 84 76 
Foreign currency translation difference 9 5 
Executive Retention Plan prepayment – (36)
Working capital changes:

Inventories (39) (51)
Trade and other receivables 90 128 

# (3) Trade and other payables (including provisions) 137 (63)

(3) (4) Cash generated by operations 2 159 2 182*

# Less than R1 million.
* Cash flows related to IFRS 16 have been restated in order to be 

comparable to current year disclosures.
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27. TAXATION PAID

# #
Net amount prepaid/(payable) at the beginning of 
the year 33 (6)

(2) (2) Charged per profit and loss (396) (500)

1 # Net amount payable/(prepaid) at the end of the year (53) (33)

# (2) Amounts paid (416) (539)

28. INTEREST-BEARING LOANS
Interest-bearing loan 
Current portion 2  3 
Non-current portion 500  500 

502  503 
Movements in interest-bearing loans for the year:
Opening balance 503 –
Drawings on facilities 380 500
Finance cost charges 39 24
Repayments (420) (21)

Closing balance 502 503

The interest-bearing loan bears interest at 3-month 
JIBAR plus 1,25% and is repayable in full on 
29 November 2021. All debt covenants have been met.

29. LEASE LIABILITIES
Movements in lease liabilities for the year:
Opening balance 301 222
Recognised during year 135 147
Finance costs paid (26) (21)
Lease liability payments (62) (47)

Closing balance 348 301

Maturity analysis of lease liabilities:
Current: Within one year 39 44
Non-current: 309 257
– One to five years 88 58
– More than five years 221 199

348 301

30. DIVIDENDS PAID
(1 520) (946) Charged per statement of changes in equity (1 448) (899)

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (33) (42)

(1 520) (946) (1 481) (941)

31. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Capital commitments
Capital expenditure for land and buildings, computer 
equipment and other fixed assets:
Contracted 358 339 
Authorised but not contracted for 355 149 

– – 713 488 

# Less than R1 million.
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32. RETIREMENT BENEFIT INFORMATION
The Group participates in the Alexander Forbes Retirement Fund. This is an umbrella fund arrangement created for the provision of 
retirement benefits. 

The Fund is a defined-contribution plan and is governed by the Pension Funds Act, No 24 of 1956.

The financial position of the Alexander Forbes Retirement Fund (Provident Section): Italtile Limited is currently reviewed on a monthly 
basis. 

As at 30 June 2020 and 2019, the Fund was found to be in a sound financial position.

At 30 June 2020, 1 512 (2019: 1 470) employees of the Group and franchisees were members of the Fund, to which the Group and 
franchisees contributed R28 million (2019: R33 million) and the employees Rnil (2019: Rnil).

The Fund is open to all permanent staff with their participation thereof being a condition of employment.

Their dependants are eligible for death benefits accruing from the Fund in the event of the member’s death. 

All permanent full-time employees of franchise stores are required to participate in the Fund.

Ceramic Industries
In South Africa, Ceramic contributes to two defined contribution retirement funds for its employees, which are governed by the 
Pension Funds Act, No 24 of 1956. 

The funds are administered by Alexander Forbes and NMP Personal Financial Services.

All permanent employees are required to join one of the funds.

At 30 June 2020, 1 060 (2019: 1 085) employees of Ceramic were members of the funds, to which Ceramic contributed R19 million 
(2019: R20 million).

In Australia, Ceramic contributes the legislated defined contribution amounts in the various superannuation funds specified by its 
60 employees (2019: 85).

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
Group
The Group’s principal financial liabilities comprise bank loans and trade payables. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to 
raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various financial assets, such as trade receivables and cash and short-term 
deposits, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risk arising from the Group’s financial instruments are cash flow interest rate risk, liquidity risk, foreign currency risk and credit 
risk. The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks, which are summarised below. The Group’s primary 
objective of risk management is to reduce the uncertainty over future cash flows.

Company
The Company’s principal financial assets comprise loans given to a subsidiary company and trusts detailed in note 6, and cash and 
short- term deposits, which arise directly from its investments. The main risks arising from the Company’s financial instruments are cash 
flow interest rate risk, liquidity risk and credit risk. The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks, which are 
summarised below.

The Company’s primary objective of risk management is to reduce the uncertainty over future cash flows.

Interest rate risk
The Company and Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the finance income generating 
ability of cash surpluses and finance cost of term funding. To manage this risk, management constantly reviews cash placements, and 
contracts in financial expertise to ensure preferential interest rates are obtained for surplus funding.

As part of the process of managing the Group’s interest rate risk, interest rate characteristics of new borrowings are positioned 
according to expected movements in interest rates.
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES continued
Interest rate risk continued
Group
At the end of the financial year, the Group had term funding liabilities of R502 million (2019: R503 million) on its statement of financial 
position. The following table demonstrates the Group’s profit before tax sensitivity to a change in interest rates with all other variables 
held constant (through the impact of floating rate borrowings):

Group
2020

Rm
2019

Rm

+1% 5 4

–1% (5) (4)

Company
The Company is not sensitive to fluctuations in interest rates.

Foreign currency risk
Group
As the Group operates in various countries and undertakes transactions denominated in foreign currencies, exposures to foreign 
currency fluctuations arise.

Approximately 15% (2019: 15%) of cost of sales are denominated in currencies other than the Group’s functional currency. 

The Group requires all of its operating units to use forward currency contracts to eliminate the currency exposures on any individual 
transaction for which payment is anticipated on terms after the Group has entered into a firm commitment for a purchase, on any 
individual transaction for which payment is anticipated on terms after the Group has entered into a firm commitment for a purchase, 
for which no letter of credit has been issued. The forward currency contracts must be in the same currency as the purchased item. It is 
the Group’s policy not to enter into forward contracts until a firm commitment is in place.

It is the Group’s policy not to apply hedge accounting, or to trade in derivatives for profit making purposes.

Forward exchange contracts outstanding at the reporting date all fall due within two months (2019: two months), have a 
settlement value of R4 million (2019: R5 million) and are denominated in Euro, with an average exchange rate of R19,54:€1 
(2019:R16,45:€1, R2,06:CNY1 and R14,19:US$1).

Exchange rates utilised to convert financial information are as follows:

   2020 2019

Weighted
average rate
for the year

Closing
rate

Weighted
average rate
for the year

Closing
rate

ZAR:Australian Dollar 10,48:1 11,91:1 10,15:1 9,93:1
ZAR:Botswana Pula 1,39:1 1,45:1  1,33:1  1,33:1
ZAR:Euro 17,31:1 19,45:1 16,19:1 16,10:1
ZAR:Kenyan Shilling 0,15:1 0,16:1 0,14:1 0,14:1
ZAR:Tanzanian Shilling 0,01:1 0,01:1 0,01:1 0,01:1
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES continued
Foreign currency risk continued
The exposure and concentration of the Group’s foreign currency risk is included in the table below.

South
 African

Rand
Rm

Australian
Dollar

Rm
Other*

Rm
Total

Rm

2020
Financial assets

Trade and other receivables – before loss allowance 599 137 42 778
Cash and cash equivalents 649 – 217 866

Financial liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 502 – – 502
Trade and other payables 453 56 108 617
Cash and cash equivalents – 6 – 6

2019
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables – before loss allowance 516 145 191 852
Cash and cash equivalents 1 057 – 165 1 221

Financial liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 503 – – 503
Trade and other payables 185 93 186 464
Cash and cash equivalents – (21) – (21)

* Other includes the Botswana Pula, Kenyan Shilling, Tanzanian Shilling, Namibian Dollar and the Lesotho Loti.

The following table illustrates the Group’s sensitivity to a change in exchange rates with all other variables held constant:

 
Group

2020
Rm

2019
Rm

Net profit before tax 
+10% 9 4 
–10% (9) (4)
Foreign currency translation reserve
+10% 11 4 
–10% (11) (4)

Company 
The Company has no exposure to foreign currency risk.
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES continued
Credit risk
Credit risk arises from the risk that a counterparty may default or not meet its obligations timeously. A counterparty is considered to 
be in default when payment is 90 days past due.

Group
The Group trades only with recognised, creditworthy parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit 
terms are subject to credit verification procedures, and, where appropriate, credit guarantee insurance is purchased. 

In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to bad debts is contained. 

The maximum exposure is the carrying amount as disclosed in note 20. There is no significant concentration of credit risk within the 
Group, and trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics to measure expected credit losses as 
disclosed in note 20.

The expected loss allowance as disclosed in note 20 is management’s best estimate of trade receivables at year end which will not be 
recovered. Amounts which are considered irrecoverable, usually following an extensive process to attempt to recover overdue 
amounts including legal steps, are written off. Aggregate write-offs for the year are disclosed in note 20 (shown as a utilisation in the 
loss allowance movement reconciliation for the year).

Details relating to the loss allowance split per ageing category of trade receivables as at 30 June 2020 is as follows:

Past due

Current
Rm

0 – 30 days
Rm

31 – 60 days
Rm

61+ days
Rm

Total
Rm

2020
Trade receivables 282 70 37 86 475
Expected loss rate (%) 0,89 to 0,97 3,24 to 6,49 7,85 to 10,64 15,11 to 19,72 2,71 to 3,85
Expected loss allowance 3 # 1 13 18
Specific loss allowance 36

Total loss allowance     54

# Less than R1 million.

Past due

Current
Rm

0 – 30 days
Rm

31 – 60 days
Rm

61+ days
Rm

Total
Rm

2019
Trade receivables 351 69 35 57 512
Expected loss rate (%) 0,25 to 0,62 0,98 to 4,13 1,40 to 6,76 9,8 to 12,54 1,40 to 2,07
Expected loss allowance 1 # # 6 8
Specific loss allowance 13

Total loss allowance     21

# Less than R1 million.

With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the Group, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, the Group’s 
exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these 
instruments, as disclosed in note 21. 

In terms of the Group’s Treasury policy, surplus cash balances may only be invested in liquid money-market instruments managed by 
predefined reputable counterparties. The external credit rating of those counter parties holding material surplus cash balances, is A1+ 
(according to rating agency GCRs rating scale).

Company
With respect to credit risk arising from the cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and BEE-related loans, the 
Company’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts 
of these instruments, as disclosed in notes 16, 20 and 21. There is no loss allowance recorded for these balances, and no write offs 
have occurred. Cash and cash equivalents are deposited with financial institutions with credit ratings as detailed above for the Group.
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES continued
Liquidity risk
Group
The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds arising by using a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity 
of both its financial liabilities and financial assets and projected cash flows from operations.

In terms of the Group’s Treasury policy, surplus cash balances may only be invested in liquid money market instruments managed by 
predefined reputable counterparties.

Adequate cash reserves are invested in a dividend income fund in order to match the repayment profile of debt. The Group’s objective 
is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank overdrafts.

In terms of the MOI, the Company’s borrowing powers are unlimited.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at year end based on contractual undiscounted 
payments.

On 
demand 

Rm

Less than
3 months 

Rm

3 to 12 
months 

Rm

1 to 5 
years 

Rm
> 5 years 

Rm
Total 

Rm

Year ended 30 June 2020
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings –  2 –  500 –  502 
Lease liabilities – 13 34  88  213  348 
Trade and other payables –  617 – – –  617 

– 632 34  588  213  1 467 

Year ended 30 June 2019
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings – 3 – 500 – 503
Lease liabilities – – 44 58 199 301
Trade and other payables – 464 – – – 464

– 467 44 558 199 1 268

The Group has cash and cash equivalents of R860 million (2019: R1 201 million), and unutilised credit facilities of R250 million 
(2019: R375 million) in respect of which all conditions precedent had been met. All covenants on borrowings have been met.

Company
The Company monitors its risk to a shortage of funds arising by using a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the 
maturity of both its financial liabilities and financial assets and projected cash flows from investments.

In terms of the MOI the Company’s borrowing powers are unlimited.

The Company has cash and cash equivalents of R30 million (2019: R0,1 million), and no credit facilities. All liabilities are current.

Capital management
Group
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy ratios in order 
to support its business and maximise shareholder value.

The Group manages its capital structure (equity attributable to the equity holders) and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in 
economic conditions.

To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders 
or issue new shares. No changes were made to the objectives, policies or processes during the years ended 30 June 2020 and 2019.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio which is defined as interest-bearing debt and borrowings as a percentage of equity 
attributable to the equity holders of the parent.

2020
Rm

2019
Rm

Interest-bearing debt and borrowings 502 503
Equity attributable to the equity holders of the parent 5 333 5 607
Gearing ratio (%) 9,4 9,0
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34. SEGMENT REPORT
IFRS 8 requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about components of the Group that are regularly 
reviewed by the Chief Operating Decision Maker in order to allocate resources to the segments and to assess their performance. 

The Chief Operating Decision Maker has been identified as the executive directors of the Group.

On this basis, the Group has five operating segments:

Segment Nature of business
Retail –  Retailers of tiles, brassware, laminated flooring, bathroomware, lighting products, other 

home finishing products and accessories.

Franchising – Bearer of South African and non-South African trademarks.

Properties – Property investments.

Supply and support services –  Distributor of tiles, shower enclosures, brassware, laminated flooring, accessories, and tiling 
tools.

–  Group administration, marketing and management services.

–  Outsourced debtor solutions.

–  Procurement.

Manufacturing –  Manufacturers of tiles, sanitaryware, baths, adhesive and related products.

All intersegmental transactions are concluded at arm’s length.
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34. SEGMENT REPORT continued
The following measures, as included in the quarterly management report reviewed by the Chief Operating Decision Maker, are used 
to assess performance.

(Rand millions unless 
otherwise stated) Retail

Manu-
facturing*

Supply and 
Support 
Services*

Fran-
chising Properties Associates

Con-
solidation Total

For the year ended  
30 June 2020
Turnover 3 442 3 736 1 835 – – – (2 323)  6 690 
From external customers* 3 442 2 790 458 – – – –  6 690 
Intersegment – 946 1 377 – – – (2 323) –
Turnover from franchise 
stores** 2 568 – – – – – (2 568) –
Achieved gross margin 1 209 920 199 – – – 178  2 506 
Depreciation (45) (214) (20) (2) (80) – –  (361) 
Impairment of plant and 
equipment – (16) – – – – –  (16) 
Profit on sale of property, plant 
and equipment # # # – # – – 1
Trading profit 296 458 209## 248### 287 – 4 1 502
Finance income 8 40 60 # 18 – (52)  74 
Finance costs # (4) (47) – (82) – 52  (81) 
Income from associates – – – – – 1 –  1 
BBBEE transaction charge – – (39) – – – – (39)

Profit before taxation 304 494 183 248 223 1 4 1 457

For the year ended  
30 June 2019
Turnover 3 185 4 082 1 901 – – – (2 193)  6 975 
From external customers* 3 185 3 122 668 – – –  6 975 
Intersegment – 960 1 233 – – – (2 193) –
Turnover from franchise 
stores** 3 020 – – – – – (3 020) –
Achieved gross margin 1 155 1 043 186 – – – 188  2 572 
Depreciation (60) (192) (20) # (72) – –  (344) 
Profit on sale of property, 
plant and equipment – 1 1 – 12 – –  14 
Trading profit 333 607 264## 281### 308 – 4  1 797 
Finance income 9 29 47 # 13 – (27)  71 
Finance costs – (5) (13) (61) – 27  (52) 
Income from associates – – – – – 3 –  3 

Profit before taxation 342 631 298 281 260 3 4  1 819 

*  Turnover from external customers includes sales to franchise stores.
** Franchise stores are not controlled by the Group. 
# Less than R1 million.
## Includes franchise income of R89 million (2019: R94 million) disclosed in note 3. 
### Includes royalty income of R129 million (2019: R152 million) disclosed in note 3.

Geographical analysis

(Rand millions unless otherwise stated)
South
Africa

Rest of
Africa Australia

Inter-
group 

entries Group

Audited year to 30 June 2020
Turnover 7 802 726 485 (2 323) 6 690
Non-current assets 5 431 343 247 (1 209) 4 812

Audited year to 30 June 2019
Turnover 8 131 561 476 (2 193) 6 975
Non-current assets 4 915 232 235 (932) 4 450
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35. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Group
The Group is controlled by Rallen (Pty) Ltd which owns 56,46% (2019: 57,06%) of its issued share capital. Management fees totalling 
R3 million (2019: R3 million) were paid by the Group to Rallen (Pty) Ltd during the year. Various other transactions occur between 
companies within the Group, all of which are eliminated on consolidation. These transactions include rendering of services and supply 
of product.

There are no other related-party transactions recorded on consolidation by the Group and thus for the year ended 30 June 2020, the 
Group has not made any provision for doubtful debts relating to amounts owed by related parties (2019: Rnil) nor incurred any bad debt 
expense in the current year (2019: Rnil). 

Key management personnel and prescribed officers comprise only the Group executive directors and executive directors of Ceramic 
Industries. Remuneration paid to key management personnel of the Group is provided below. No balances were owing at year end 
(2019: Rnil).

Directors’ shareholding
The directors’ interest in the stated share capital of the Company as at 30 June 2020 is as follows:

Beneficial
direct

Beneficial
indirect Total

% 
held

Non-
beneficial

direct

Non-
beneficial

indirect Total
% 

held

At 30 June 2020
Director
G A M Ravazzotti – 447 746 694 447 746 694 33,88 – – – –
S M du Toit – 29 125 29 125 0,00 – – – –
J N Potgieter 4 969 239 – 4 969 239 0,38 – – – –
B G Wood 1 318 791 – 1 318 791 0,10 – – – –
T T A Mhlanga# 500 000 – 500 000 0,04 – – – –
N P Khoza – 864 304 864 304 0,07 – – – –

At 30 June 2019 
Director
G A M Ravazzotti  7 186 731   443 434 655   450 621 386  34,79 – – – –
S M du Toit –  29 125   29 125  0,00 – – – –
J N Potgieter  4 597 257  –  4 597 257  0,35 – – – –
B G Wood  1 281 593  –  1 281 593  0,10 – – – –
T T A Mhlanga 500 000 – 500 000 0,04 – – – –
N P Khoza –  864 304   864 304  0,07 – – – –
# Following her resignation, the shares held by T T A Mhlanga at year end were forfeited on 1 July 2020.

Changes in directors’ interest in the stated share capital of the Company after financial year end, as well as participation in share 
incentive schemes, were announced on SENS on 7 September 2020.
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35. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS continued
Directors’ participation in share incentive schemes
Directors’ holdings under the Share Appreciation Rights Scheme are set out in the table below:

Director

Awards 
held at 

1 July 2019

Awarded 
during 

the year

Vested and 
exercised 

during 
the year

Forfeited 
during 

the year

Awards 
held at 

30 June 
2020

J N Potgieter  3 250 000  – (2 500 000) – 750 000
B G Wood  2 000 000  – (650 000) – 1 350 000
T T A Mhlanga#  500 000  – – – 500 000

# Following her resignation, the shares held by T T A Mhlanga at year end were forfeited on 1 July 2020.

Directors’ holdings under the Executive Retention Plan are set out in the table below:

Director

Awards 
held at 

1 July 2019

Awarded 
during 

the year

Vested and 
exercised 

during 
the year

Forfeited 
during 

the year

Awards 
held at 

30 June 
2020

J N Potgieter  3 000 000  – – – 3 000 000
B G Wood  1 000 000  – – – 1 000 000
T T A Mhlanga#  500 000  – – – 500 000
# Following her resignation, the shares held by T T A Mhlanga at year end were forfeited on 1 July 2020.

Shares issued under the Executive Retention Plan are pledged, at the discretion of the Italtile Remuneration Committee, as security for 
the potential cash repayment penalty payable in terms of the rules of the scheme should a participant leave the employ of the 
Company within the vesting period. All unvested shares issued under this scheme are accordingly pledged, except for 350 000 shares 
held by B G Wood, which were released from pledged after year end and the shares forfeited by T T A Mhlanga following her 
resignation.

Prescribed officers’ holdings under the Ceramic Industries Retention Scheme are set out in the table below:

Prescribed officers

Awards 
held at 

1 July 2019

Awarded 
during 

the year

Vested and 
exercised 

during 
the year

Forfeited 
during 

the year

Awards 
held at 

30 June 
2020

L Foxcroft  207 069 – – – 207 069
T Molefakgotla  165 656 – – – 165 656

Refer to note 6 for further details pertaining to these schemes.

Directors’ remuneration

All figures in R000 Salary
Short-term
incentives

Provident 
fund and 

medical aid 
contribu-

tions

Gain on 
share 

scheme 
awards Other

Total 
2020

Total
2019

Executive directors
J N Potgieter 3 503 2 435 493 22 883 647 29 961 20 550
B G Wood 2 243 1 461 310 6 428 352 10 794 11 266
T T A Mhlanga 1 733 – 231 2 382 363 4 709 5 330

2020 7 479 3 896 1 034 31 693 1 362 45 464  

2019 6 816 5 586 1 104 22 505 1 135 37 146
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35. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS continued
Directors’ remuneration continued

All figures in R000
Base 

salary
Short-term 
incentives

Provident 
fund and 

medical aid 
contribu-

tions

Gain on 
share 

scheme 
awards† Other

Total 
2020

Total
2019

Prescribed officers
L A Foxcroft 2 813 2 865 650 8 642 377 15 348  15 406 
T Molefakgotla 1 928 2 006 416 6 914 331 11 594  11 506 

2020 4 741 4 871 1 066 15 557 708 26 942  

2019 4 657 4 916 1 124 15 514 701  26 912
† IFRS 2 expense recognised for the Ceramic Industries Escrow Scheme.

All figures in R000
Board 

fees Other
Total
2020

Total
2019

Non-executive directors
G A M Ravazzotti 1 568 – 1 568 1 687
L R Langenhoven† 340 – 340 192
S M du Toit 760 – 760  884 
S G Pretorius 485 – 485  550 
N Medupe• 225 – 225  481 
N V Mtetwa* 45 – 45  380 
N P Khoza 262 – 262  291 
I Z Nyanga# 330 – 330  8 
I N Malevu## 52 – 52

2020 4 067 4 067  

2019 4 473 4 473

Aggregate emoluments of directors who served during the year 76 473 68 531
† Appointed on 21 August 2018.
# Appointed on 1 June 2019 and resigned on 25 March 2020.
* Resigned on 31 August 2019.
• Resigned on 14 November 2019.
## Appointed on 25 March 2020.

Company
The Company owns 100% of the issued ordinary share capital of Italtile Ceramics (Pty) Ltd and receives dividends and management 
fees from its subsidiary.

Previously, the Italtile and Ceramic Foundation Trust acquired the Italtile Limited shares which were held by Arrow Creek Investments 
74 (Pty) Ltd – the transaction was funded by an interest-free loan from Italtile Limited (refer to note 6 for further details).

The Company has an interest-free loan due from the Italtile Empowerment Trust. This entity was set up by the Board as part of its first 
BEE transaction.

All related-party transactions are concluded at arm’s length with the exception of the Foundation Trust and Empowerment Trust loans 
which are interest-free. There have been no guarantees provided or received for any related-party receivables or payables. For the year 
ended 30 June 2020, the Company has not made any provision for doubtful debts relating to amounts owed by related parties 
(2019: Rnil) nor incurred any bad debt expense in the current year (2019: Rnil). This assessment is undertaken each financial year through 
examining the financial position of the related party and the market in which the related party operates.
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35. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS continued

Details of related-party transactions are as follows:

Aggregate value of 
transactions

Balances owing 
at year end

Related party Nature of transactions
2020

Rm
2019

Rm
2020

Rm
2019

Rm

Italtile Empowerment Trust – – 42  64 
Italtile Ceramics (Pty) Ltd Dividends 1 520 285  
Italtile Ceramics (Pty) Ltd Management fees 6 6 3 358  3 026 
Italtile and Ceramics Foundation Trust Interest-free loan – – 91  121 

Refer to notes 7, 16 and 20 for further disclosure relating to terms of balances owing at year end.

Key management personnel and prescribed officers comprise only the Company Board members. Remuneration paid to key 
management personnel of the Company is provided above. No balances were owing at year end (2019: Rnil).

36. MATERIAL PARTLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES
Financial information of subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests is provided below:

Proportion of equity interest held by non-controlling interests:

Name Country of incorporation
2020

%
2019

%

Ceramic Industries Group South Africa 4,5 4,5
Italtile Retail (Pty) Ltd South Africa 45 45
International Tap Distributors (Pty) Ltd South Africa 12 12
Cedar Point Trading (Pty) Ltd South Africa 10 –
Ezee Tile Group South Africa 28,5 28,5

2020
Rm

2019
Rm

Profit allocated to material non-controlling interest:
Ceramic Industries Group 15 19
Italtile Retail (Pty) Ltd 19 25
International Tap Distributors (Pty) Ltd 4 3
Cedar Point Trading (Pty) Ltd 4 #
Ezee Tile Group 14 13

# Less than R1 million.

The summarised financial information of these subsidiaries is provided below. This information is based on amounts before inter-
company eliminations.
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36. MATERIAL PARTLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES continued
Summarised statement of profit or loss for the year ended 30 June 2020

Ceramic 
Industries 

Rm

Italtile 
Retail

Rm

International 
Tap 

Distributors
Rm

Cedar Point 
Trading

Rm
Ezee Tile 

Rm

Revenue from contracts with customers 3 032 528 321 548 649
Cost of sales (2 234) (306) (264) (455) (524)
Administrative expenses (339) (165) (17) (38) (53)
Finance costs (13) # 0 0 1

Profit before tax  446  57  40  55  73 
Income tax expense (121) (3) (11) (14) (25)

Profit for the year 325 54 29 41 48

Attributable to non-controlling interests 15 19 4 4 14
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 7 29 2 1 3

# Less than R1 million.

Summarised statement of profit or loss for the year ended 30 June 2019

Ceramic 
Industries 

Rm

Italtile 
Retail

Rm

International 
Tap 

Distributors
Rm

Cedar Point 
Trading

Rm
Ezee Tile 

Rm

Revenue from contracts with customers 3 384  636  336  567  695 
Cost of sales (2 462) (363) (280) (475) (572)
Administrative expenses (332) (174) (19) (22) (59)
Finance costs (4) (#) (#) (#) (1)

Profit before tax  586   99   37   69  63 
Income tax expense (168) (25) (9) (22) (18)

Profit for the year  418   74   28   48  45 

Total comprehensive income  418   74   28   48  45 

Attributable to non-controlling interests  19   25   3  1  13 

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests  3   23   2   4   4 

# Less than R1 million.

Summarised statement of financial position as at 30 June 2020

Ceramic 
Industries 

Rm

Italtile 
Retail

Rm

International 
Tap 

Distributors
Rm

Cedar Point 
Trading

Rm
Ezee Tile 

Rm

Non-current assets 1 790 39 87 11 109
Current assets 1 497 155 127 178 237
Non-current liabilities (147) – (2) (1) (2)
Current liabilities (373) (30) (46) (79) (81)

Total equity 2 767 164 166 109 263
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36. MATERIAL PARTLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES continued
Summarised statement of financial position as at 30 June 2019

Ceramic 
Industries 

Rm

Italtile 
Retail

Rm

International 
Tap 

Distributors
Rm

Cedar Point 
Trading

Rm
Ezee Tile 

Rm

Non-current assets 1 746  25  22  4  108 
Current assets 1 307  173  168  145  190 
Non-current liabilities (122) – (12) (1) (1)
Current liabilities (410) (24) (29) (66) (70)

Total equity  2 521   175   148   82  227 

Summarised cash flow information for the year ended 30 June 2020

Ceramic 
Industries 

Rm

Italtile 
Retail

Rm

International 
Tap 

Distributors
Rm

Cedar Point 
Trading

Rm
Ezee Tile 

Rm

Cash flow from operating activities 505 93 71 39 60
Cash flow from investing activities (192) (5) (76) (8) (19)
Cash flow from financing activities (554) (68) (16) (11) 0

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (241) 20 (21) 20 41

Summarised cash flow information for the year ended 30 June 2019

Ceramic 
Industries 

Rm

Italtile 
Retail

Rm

International 
Tap 

Distributors
Rm

Cedar Point 
Trading

Rm
Ezee Tile 

Rm

Cash flow from operating activities 521  (16) 7 72 23 
Cash flow from investing activities (317) (12) (4) (1) (32)
Cash flow from financing activities (6) – 7 (86) –

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 198  (28) 10 (15) (9)

37. GROUP ENTITIES
Book value of interest

% held  Shares
Amounts due  

from

Issued 
ordinary

share capital
R 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

HELD BY ITALTILE LIMITED
Retail
Italtile Ceramics (Pty) Ltd 43 884 000 100 100 1 1 3 353  3 027 
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37. GROUP ENTITIES continued
Issued share capital Effective % shareholding

2020
R

2019
R 2020 2019

HELD BY SUBSIDIARIES
Franchising
Italtile Franchising (Pty) Ltd  1 000   1 000  100 100
Property Investment
Allmuss Properties (Pty) Ltd  1 500   1 500  100 100
Allmuss Botswana (Pty) Ltd1  4 651   4 651  100 100
Allmuss Properties Namibia (Pty) Ltd2  1 100   1 100  100 100
Allmuss Lesotho (Pty) Ltd3  1 000   1 000  100 100
Allmuss Properties Kenya Ltd4  22 624 044   22 624 044  100 100
Emerald Sky Trading 736 (Pty) Ltd  100   100  100 100
F. B. Ashman (Pty) Ltd  100   100  100 100
Penates Logistics (Pty) Ltd  100   100  85 90
Magnolia Ridge Properties 291 (Pty) Ltd  15 000 000   15 000 000  50* 50
Allmuss Tanzania Ltd6 2 144 443  1 100 100
Support Services
International Tap Distributors (Pty) Ltd  210   210  88 88
Cedar Point Trading 326 (Pty) Ltd  1 000   1 000  90 100
Italtile Foreign Holdings (Pty) Ltd  1 410   1 410  100 100
Retail
CTM Kenya Ltd4  23 116 282   23 116 282  100 100
Italtile Retail (Pty) Ltd  1 000   1 000  55 55
Orban Investments 375 (Pty) Ltd2  175   175  100 100
TopT Ceramics (Pty) Ltd  1 000   1 000  100 100
Braintree (Pty) Ltd1 1 302 1 302 100 100
Braintree Tanzania Ltd6  1   1  100 100
U-Light (Pty) Ltd  1 000   1 000  80 70
Manufacturing
Ceramic Industries (Pty) Ltd 64 816 360 64 816 360 95 95
Ceramic Holdings (Pty) Ltd5 130 233 618 130 233 618 95 95
National Ceramic Industries Australia Pty Ltd5 72 658 011 72 658 011 92 92
Sphinx Acrylic Bathroomware (Pty) Ltd  102   102  95 95
National Ceramic Industries South Africa (Pty) Ltd  2 000   2 000  95 95
National Ceramic Industries (Pty) Ltd  100 000   100 000  95 95
CRM Brick and Associated Industries (Pty) Ltd  2 000   2 000  95 95
Aquarella Investments 389 (Pty) Ltd  100   100  71 71
East Cape Quarries (Pty) Ltd  100   100  71 71
Mayfield Clays (Pty) Ltd  100   100  71 71
Ezee Tile Adhesive Manufacturers (Pty) Ltd  556   556  72 72
Ezee Tile Adhesive Manufacturers (Free State) (Pty) Ltd  1 000   1 000  54 54
Ezee Tile Kenya Ltd  9 667 600   9 667 600  39* 39
Special purpose entities
Italtile Foundation Trust
Italtile Share Incentive Trust
Italtile Empowerment Trust
1 Incorporated in Botswana. 2 Incorporated in Namibia. 3 Incorporated in Lesotho. 
4 Incorporated in Kenya.  5 Incorporated in Australia.  6 Incorporated in Tanzania.
* The company is consolidated as the Group exercises control over it.
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38. GOING CONCERN
During the fourth quarter of the period under review, trading in our operations ceased for a five-week period as a result of the national 
lockdown brought about by the COVID-19 pandemic. During this time, the Group incurred losses as it was unable to trade and profits 
remained suppressed thereafter as activities resumed incrementally with the phased relaxation of regulated restrictions. During the 
final month of the period under review, much improved trading results and profit growth were achieved. To date, the pandemic has 
not had a materially adverse effect on collection of receivable balances due to the Group, no material impairments directly attributable 
to the pandemic have been recorded, and the Group remains a robust going concern with positive prospects for growth.
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ANALYSIS OF 
SHAREHOLDERS

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDERS
Number of

 shareholders
% of total 

shareholdings

Number 
of shares

held

% of 
issued 
capital

The Italtile and Ceramic Foundation Trust 1 0,04 45 596 648 3,45
Italtile Empowerment Trust 1 0,04 18 126 213 1,37
The Italtile Share Incentive Trust 1 0,04 9 824 614 0,74
Empowerment companies 2 0,08 36 600 000 2,77
Individuals 1 863 69,91 47 963 330 3,63
Nominee shareholders 544 20,41 327 778 870 24,80
Companies and other corporate bodies 89 3,34 9 486 233 0,72
Trusts 154 5,78 60 492 510 4,58
Directors 3 0,11 6 288 030 0,48
Directors of major subsidiary 2 0,08 1 302 991 0,10
Associates to directors 5 0,19 758 194 709 57,37

Total 2 665 100,00 1 321 654 148 100,00

SHAREHOLDERS’ SPREAD
Number of

shareholdings
% of total 

shareholdings

Number 
of shares

held

% of 
issued 
capital

 1 – 1 000 shares 1 503 56,40 168 544 0,01
 1 001 – 10 000 shares 536 20,11 2 224 765 0,17
 10 001 – 100 000 shares 400 15,01 13 506 550 1,02
 100 001 –  1 000 000 shares 161 6,04 56 319 154 4,26
1 000 001 shares and over 65 2,44 1 249 435 135 94,54

Total 2 665 100,00 1 321 654 148 100,00

CATEGORY OF SHAREHOLDER
Non-public shareholders 16 0,62 893 486 175 66,47

Directors 3 0,11 6 288 030 0,48
Directors of major subsidiary 2 0,08 1 302 991 0,10
Associates to directors 5 0,19 758 194 709 57,37
The Italtile and Ceramic Foundation Trust 1 0,04 45 596 648 3,23
Italtile Empowerment Trust 1 0,04 18 126 213 1,47
The Italtile Share Incentive Trust 1 0,04 9 824 614 0,81
Italtile Ceramics Ltd 1 0,04 17 552 970 0,26
Empowerment companies 2 0,08 36 600 000 2,77

Public shareholders 2 649 99,38 428 167 973 33,53

Total 2 665 100,00 1 321 654 148 100,00

MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS

Number 
of shares

held

% of 
issued 
capital

Rallen (Pty) Ltd 746 244 490 56,46
Old Mutual Group 92 934 917 7,03
The Italtile and Ceramic Foundation Trust 45 596 648 3,45
Tommaso Altini Trust 41 797 269 3,16
Gobi Capital LLC 36 780 364 2,78

Total 963 353 688 72,89
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This document is important and requires your immediate 
attention.

If you are in any doubt as to the action you should take in 
respect of the following resolutions, please consult your 
Central Securities Depository Participant (“CSDP”), broker, 
banker, legal adviser, accountant or other professional adviser 
immediately.

Notice is hereby given in terms of section 62(1) of the Companies 
Act, 71 of 2008, as amended (“the Companies Act”) that the 
31st  annual general meeting (“AGM”) of shareholders of Italtile 
will be conducted entirely by electronic communication on Friday, 
13 November 2020 at 10:30 to consider and, if deemed fit, to 
pass with or without modification, the ordinary and special 
resolutions set out below in the manner required by the 
Companies Act and the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited 
(“Listings Requirements”).

The Board of directors of the Company (“the Board”) has 
determined that, in terms of section 62(3)(a), as read with section 
59 of the Companies Act, the record date for the purposes of 
determining which Italtile shareholders are entitled to receive 
notice of the virtual AGM is Friday, 25 September 2020.

The record date for determining which Italtile shareholders are 
entitled to participate in and vote at the virtual AGM is Friday, 
6  November 2020. Accordingly, the last day to trade in Italtile 
shares in order to be recorded in the securities register of the 
Company in order to be entitled to attend, participate in and vote 
at the virtual AGM is Tuesday, 3 November 2020.

In terms of section 63(1) of the Companies Act, before any person 
may attend or participate in the virtual AGM, that person must 
present reasonably satisfactory identification and the person 
presiding at the virtual AGM must be reasonably satisfied that the 
right of the person to participate in and vote at the virtual AGM, 
either as a shareholder of Italtile, or as a proxy for a shareholder 
of Italtile, has been reasonably verified. 

In terms of section 63(2) of the Companies Act, as read with 
clause 6.7(2) of the MOI, the AGM will be conducted entirely by 
electronic communication and shareholders are referred to the 
Shareholders’ Virtual Meeting Guide (“Guide”), attached as 
Annexure 1 to this notice, which Guide sets out the necessary 
information to enable shareholders or their proxies to access 
the available medium in order to participate in and vote at the 
virtual AGM.

ORDINARY BUSINESS
To receive the annual financial statements for the year ended 
30 June 2020 of the Company and the Group, together with the 
reports of the directors and auditor.

Ordinary Resolution No 1 (comprising ordinary resolutions 
numbers 1.1 to 1.4, all inclusive) – Re-election of directors
RESOLVED THAT by way of separate ordinary resolutions, each 
of:
1.1 Mr G A M Ravazzotti, who is retiring by rotation in terms of 

the MOI and who, being eligible, offers himself for re-
election, be and is hereby re-elected as a director of the 
Company;

1.2 Mrs S M du Toit, who is retiring by rotation in terms of the 
Company’s MOI and who, being eligible, offers herself for 
re-election, be and is hereby re-elected as a director of the 
Company;

1.3 Mr S G Pretorius, who is retiring by rotation in terms of the 
Company’s MOI and who, being eligible, offers himself for 
re-election, be and is hereby re-elected as a director of the 
Company; and

1.4 Ms N P Khoza, who is retiring by rotation in terms of the 
Company’s MOI and who, being eligible, offers herself for 
re-election, be and is hereby re-elected as a director of the 
Company. 

Explanatory note:
In terms of clause 7.2(1) as read with clause 7.2(2) of the MOI, 
one-third of the non-executive directors of the Company are 
required to retire from office at each AGM. The non-executive 
directors of the Company to retire in every year shall be those 
who have been longest in office since their last election, but as 
between persons who became or were last elected as non-
executive directors of the Company on the same day, those to 
retire shall, unless otherwise agreed among themselves, be 
determined by lot. In terms of clause 7.2(3) of the MOI, any 
director who has been in office for longer than nine years shall 
retire annually at each AGM. A retiring director shall be eligible 
for re-election.

Mr G A M Ravazzotti, Mrs S M du Toit, Mr S G Pretorius and 
Ms N P Khoza all retire in accordance with clause 7.2 of the MOI 
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The reason for the proposed Ordinary Resolutions 1.1 to 1.4 
(all inclusive) is to elect, in accordance with the MOI and by way 
of a series of votes, each of which is on the candidacy of a single 
individual to fill a single vacancy, as required by section 68(1) 
of  the Companies Act, Mr G A M Ravazzotti, Mrs S M du Toit, 
Mr S G Pretorius and Ms N P Khoza as directors of the Company. 
The effect of Ordinary Resolutions 1.1 to 1.4 (all inclusive) is that 
Mr G A M Ravazzotti, Mrs S M du Toit, Mr S G Pretorius and 
Ms N P Khoza will be elected as directors of the Company.

A brief curriculum vitae (“CV”) in respect of each of these directors 
is contained on pages 108 and 109 of this IAR of which this notice 
of virtual AGM forms part.

Italtile Limited
Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa
(Registration number 1955/000558/06)
Share code: ITE  ISIN: ZAE000099123
(“Italtile” or “the Company”)

NOTICE OF VIRTUAL 
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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Ordinary Resolution No 2 – Election of a director
RESOLVED THAT the appointment of Mr I N Malevu as an 
independent non-executive director of the Company with effect 
from 25 March 2020 be and is hereby confirmed.

Explanatory note:
In terms of clause 7.1(9) of the MOI, the appointment of a director, 
whether to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board 
(or otherwise), must be confirmed by shareholders at the AGM 
following such appointment.

The aforementioned director was appointed as a director of 
Italtile subsequent to the last AGM, and such appointment is to 
be confirmed at this virtual AGM.

The reason for the proposed Ordinary Resolution 2.1 is to confirm, 
in accordance with the MOI, the appointment of Mr I N Malevu as 
a director of the Company.

A brief curriculum vitae (“CV”) in respect of the aforementioned 
director is contained on page 109 of this IAR of which this notice 
of virtual AGM forms part.

Ordinary Resolution No 3 – Appointment of external auditor
RESOLVED THAT PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. be and is hereby 
re-appointed as the independent external auditor of the 
Company, for the period terminating at the conclusion of the next 
AGM of the Company, and Thomas Howatt, being a director of 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc., be and is hereby re-appointed as 
the individual registered auditor who will undertake the audit of 
the Company for the financial year ending 30 June 2021.

Explanatory note:
In accordance with section 90(1) of the Companies Act, 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. is proposed to be re-appointed as 
the external auditor of the Company, as recommended by the 
Company’s Audit and Risk Committee, until the conclusion of the 
Company’s next AGM.

Ordinary Resolution No 4 (comprising ordinary resolutions 
numbers 4.1 to 4.4, all inclusive) – Election of Audit and Risk 
Committee
RESOLVED THAT, by way of separate ordinary resolutions, each 
of:
4.1 Mrs S M du Toit, who is an independent non-executive 

director of the Company, be and is hereby re-elected as a 
member of the Company’s Audit and Risk Committee;

4.2 Ms N P Khoza, who is an independent non-executive director 
of the Company, be and is hereby re-elected as a member of 
the Company’s Audit and Risk Committee;

4.3 Mr S G Pretorius, who is an independent non-executive 
director of the Company, be and is hereby re-elected as a 
member of the Company’s Audit and Risk Committee; and

4.4 Mr I N Malevu, who is an independent non-executive director 
of the Company, be and is hereby elected as the Chairperson 
and a member of the Company’s Audit and Risk Committee;

subject to Mrs S M du Toit, Ms N P Khoza and Mr S G Pretorius 
being re-elected as directors of the Company in terms of Ordinary 
Resolution Number 1.2 to 1.4 above, and the appointment of 

Mr I N Malevu as a director of the Company in terms of Ordinary 
Resolution Number 2 being confirmed.

Explanatory note:
In terms of section 94(2) of the Companies Act, the Audit 
Committee is a committee elected by shareholders at each AGM. 
A brief CV of each of the aforementioned independent non-
executive directors appears on pages 108 and 109  of this IAR 
of which this notice of virtual AGM forms part. In terms of the 
Regulations promulgated under and in terms of the Companies 
Act (“Companies Act Regulations”), at least one-third of the 
members of the Company’s Audit Committee must have academic 
qualifications, or experience in economics, law, corporate 
governance, finance, accounting, commerce, industry, public 
affairs or human resource management. The Board is satisfied 
that the Company’s Audit and Risk Committee members are 
suitably skilled and experienced as contemplated in Regulation 
42 of the Companies Act Regulations and that collectively they 
have sufficient qualifications and experience to fulfil their duties 
as contemplated in section 94(7) of the Companies Act.

Ordinary Resolution No 5 – Non-binding advisory 
endorsement of the Company’s remuneration policy and 
implementation report

Ordinary resolution 5.1 – Endorsement of the Company’s 
remuneration policy
RESOLVED THAT the Company’s remuneration policy, as detailed 
on pages 128 to 130 of the IAR, be and is hereby approved and 
adopted by way of a non-binding advisory vote, as recommended 
in the King IVTM* Report on Corporate Governance for South 
Africa (“King IV”).

Ordinary resolution 5.2 – Endorsement of the Company’s 
implementation report
RESOLVED THAT the implementation report of the Company, 
as set out on pages 131 to 134 of this IAR, be and is hereby 
approved and adopted by way of a non-binding advisory vote, as 
recommended in terms of King IV.

Explanatory note:
In terms of King IV and the Listings Requirements, the Company’s 
remuneration policy and implementation report should be tabled 
to shareholders for separate non-binding advisory votes at the 
virtual AGM. Failure to pass these resolutions will not have legal 
consequences relating to existing arrangements. However, the 
Board will take the outcome of the vote into consideration 
when  assessing the Company’s remuneration policy and 
Implementation report. 

Shareholders are accordingly requested to endorse the 
Company’s remuneration policy and Implementation report as set 
out on pages 128 to 134 of this IAR.

Ordinary Resolution No 6 – Unissued shares to be placed 
under the control of the directors
RESOLVED THAT the authorised but unissued ordinary shares in 
the capital of the Company be and are hereby placed under the 
control and authority of the directors of the Company and that 
the directors be and are hereby authorised and empowered to 
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allot and issue and grant options over all or any of such ordinary 
shares to such person or persons on such terms and conditions 
and at such times as the directors of the Company may from time 
to time in their discretion deem fit, subject to the proviso that the 
aggregate number of ordinary shares to be allotted and issued in 
terms of this resolution shall be limited to 10% (ten percent) of the 
authorised share capital of the Company and subject to the 
provisions of the Companies Act and the Listings Requirements. 
Such authority shall be valid until the date of the next AGM or for 
15 (fifteen) months from the date on which Ordinary Resolution 
No 6 is adopted, whichever period is shorter.

Explanatory note:
The reason for Ordinary Resolution No 6 is that in terms of the 
MOI and subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, as may 
be amended from time to time and the Listings Requirements, 
the shareholders of the Company may authorise the directors to 
allot and issue and grant options over such shares, as the directors 
in their discretion deem fit. The effect of Ordinary Resolution No 
6 is to ensure that the directors have the necessary flexibility to 
allot and issue shares as they deem fit. It is noted that an issue as 
contemplated in sections 41(1) and (3) of the Companies Act must 
first be approved by way of special resolution in terms of section 
41 of the Companies Act and is not authorised in terms of this 
resolution.

Ordinary Resolution No 7 – General authority to issue shares, 
and to sell treasury shares, for cash
RESOLVED THAT, subject to Ordinary Resolution No 6 being 
passed, the directors of the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries 
from time to time be and are hereby authorised, by way of a 
general authority, to allot and issue shares or options in respect of 
any of the authorised but unissued ordinary shares in the capital 
of the Company; and/or to sell or otherwise dispose of or transfer, 
or issue any options in respect of, ordinary shares in the capital of 
the Company purchased by subsidiaries of the Company, for 
cash, to such person/s on such terms and subject to such 
conditions and at such times as the directors in their discretion 
deem fit, subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, the 
MOI, the Listings Requirements and subject to the following 
limitations:
	» the equity securities which are the subject of the issue for cash 

must be of a class already in issue, or where this is not the case, 
must be limited to such securities or rights that are convertible 
into a class already in issue;

	» any such issue may only be made to public shareholders as 
defined in the Listings Requirements and not to related parties;

	» in respect of securities which are the subject of the general 
issue of shares for cash, such issue may not exceed 132 165 414, 
representing 10% (ten percent) of the number of listed equity 
securities in issue as at the date of this notice, provided that:
 – the number of ordinary shares which may be issued will be 

deducted from the aforementioned 132 165 414 securities;
 – in the event of a subdivision or consolidation of issued 

equity securities during the period contemplated below, the 
existing authority must be adjusted accordingly to represent 
the same allocation ratio;

 – the calculation of the listed equity securities is a factual 
assessment of the listed equity securities as at the date of 
the notice of the virtual AGM, excluding treasury shares;

	» this general authority is valid until the earlier of the Company’s 
next AGM or the expiry of a period of 15 (fifteen) months from 
the date on which this Ordinary Resolution No 7 is adopted;

	» a SENS announcement giving full details of the issue will be 
published at the time of any issue representing, on a cumulative 
basis within the period of this authority, 5% (five percent) or 
more of the number of ordinary shares in issue prior to the 
issue concerned;

	» in determining the price at which an issue of ordinary shares 
may be made in terms of this authority, the maximum discount 
permitted will be 10% (ten percent) of the weighted average 
traded price on the JSE of the ordinary shares over the 
30 (thirty) business days prior to the date that the price of the 
issue is agreed between the Company and the party subscribing 
for the ordinary shares. The JSE should be consulted for a 
ruling if the Company’s ordinary shares have not traded in such 
30 (thirty) business day period;

	» whenever the Company wishes to use ordinary shares, held as 
treasury stock by a subsidiary of the Company, such use must 
comply with the Listings Requirements as if such use was a 
fresh issue of ordinary shares.

In terms of the Listings Requirements a 75% (seventy five percent) 
majority of the votes cast by shareholders present or represented 
by proxy and entitled to vote at the virtual AGM must be cast in 
favour of Ordinary Resolution No 7 for it to be approved.

Explanatory note:
In accordance with the MOI, as well as the Listings Requirements, 
the shareholders of the Company have to approve a general issue 
of shares for cash. The existing authorities granted by the 
shareholders of the Company at the previous AGM held on 
14  November 2019 expire at the virtual AGM to be held on 
13 November 2020, unless renewed. This authority will be subject 
to the MOI, the Companies Act and the Listings Requirements. 
The directors of the Company consider it advantageous to renew 
this authority to enable the Company to take advantage of any 
business opportunity that may arise in the future.

The effect of Ordinary Resolution No 7 is that the directors will be 
able to issue the authorised but unissued ordinary shares in the 
share capital of the Company for cash, as and when suitable 
business opportunities arise, subject to the Listings Requirements, 
the restrictions/conditions set out in the authority and the MOI.

Special Resolution No 1 – Acquisition of own securities
RESOLVED THAT the mandate be given to the Company (or any 
of its wholly owned subsidiaries) providing authorisation, by way 
of a general authority, to acquire the Company’s own securities, 
upon such terms and conditions and in such amounts as the 
directors may from time to time decide, but subject to the MOI, 
the provisions of the Companies Act and the Listings Requirements 
provided that:
	» any repurchase of securities must be effected through the 

order book operated by the JSE trading system and done 
without any prior understanding or arrangement between the 
Company and the counterparty (reported trades are 
prohibited);

	» at any point in time, the Company may only appoint one agent 
to effect any repurchase(s) on the Company’s behalf;
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	» this general authority shall be valid until the Company’s next 
AGM, provided that it shall not extend beyond 15 (fifteen) 
months from the date of passing of this Special Resolution No 
1 (whichever period is shorter);

	» a press announcement will be published giving such details as 
may be required in terms of the Listings Requirements as soon 
as the Company has cumulatively repurchased 3% (three 
percent) of the initial number (the number of that class of share 
in issue at the time that the general authority from shareholders 
is granted) of the relevant class of securities, and for each 3% 
(three percent) in aggregate of the initial number of that class 
acquired thereafter, containing full details of such repurchases;

	» repurchases by the Company, and/or its subsidiaries, in 
aggregate in any one financial year may not exceed 10% 
(ten percent) of the Company’s issued share capital as at the 
date of passing this Special Resolution No 1 or 10% (ten 
percent) of the Company’s issued share capital in the case of an 
acquisition of shares in the Company by a subsidiary of the 
Company;

	» the Board passes a resolution that it has authorised the 
repurchase, that the Company and its subsidiaries have passed 
the solvency and liquidity test and that, since the test was 
performed there have been no material changes to the financial 
position of the Group;

	» repurchases may not be made at a price greater than 10% 
(ten percent) above the weighted average of the market value 
of the securities for the 5 (five) business days immediately 
preceding the date on which the transaction is effected; and

	» the Company or its subsidiary may not repurchase securities 
during a prohibited period, as defined in the Listings 
Requirements, unless they have in place a repurchase 
programme where the dates and quantities of securities to be 
traded during the relevant period are fixed (not subject to any 
variation) and has been submitted to the JSE in writing prior to 
the commencement of the prohibited period. The Company 
must instruct an independent third party, which makes its 
investment decisions in relation to the Company’s securities 
independently of, and uninfluenced by, the Company, prior to 
the commencement of the prohibited period to execute the 
repurchase programme submitted to the JSE.

Statement by the Board pursuant to and in terms of the Listings 
Requirements of the JSE:

The directors of the Company hereby state that:
(a) the intention of the directors of the Company is to utilise the 

authority if, at some future date, the cash resources of the 
Company are in excess of its requirements. In this regard, the 
directors will take account of, inter alia, an appropriate 
capitalisation structure for the Company, the long-term cash 
needs of the Company and will ensure that any such utilisation 
is in the interests of the shareholders; and

(b) the method by which the Company intends to repurchase its 
securities and the date on which such repurchase will take 
place, has not yet been determined.

At the time that the contemplated repurchase is to take place, the 
directors of the Company will ensure that:
	» the Company and its subsidiaries will be able to pay their debts 

as they become due in the ordinary course of business for a 

period of 12 (twelve) months after the date on which the 
repurchase is contemplated;

	» the assets of the Company and its subsidiaries, fairly valued in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, 
will be in excess of the liabilities of the Company and its 
subsidiaries for a period of 12 (twelve) months after the date on 
which the repurchase is contemplated;

	» the share capital and reserves of the Company and its 
subsidiaries will be adequate for the purpose of the business of 
the Company and its subsidiaries for a period of 12 (twelve) 
months after the date on which the repurchase is contemplated; 
and

	» the working capital available to the Company and its 
subsidiaries will be adequate for the Group’s ordinary business 
purposes for a period of 12 (twelve) months after the date on 
which the repurchase is contemplated.

Explanatory note:
The reason for and effect of this Special Resolution No 1 is to 
grant the Board a general authority in terms of the Listings 
Requirements, to approve the acquisition by the Company or any 
of its subsidiaries of securities issued by the Company, which 
authority shall be valid until the earlier of the next AGM, or the 
variation or revocation of such general authority by special 
resolution by any subsequent general meeting of the Company; 
provided that the general authority shall not extend beyond 
15 (fifteen) months from the date that this Special Resolution No 
1 is passed. 

The following information, which is required by the Listings 
Requirements with regard to the special resolution granting a 
general authority to the Company to repurchase securities, 
appears on the pages of the financial statements to which this 
notice of virtual AGM is annexed, is indicated below:
Major shareholders    page 200
Share capital of the Company  page 181
Responsibility statement   page 136
Litigation statement page 206
Material changes page 206

Special Resolution No 2 – Financial assistance to related and 
inter-related entities
RESOLVED THAT the Board may, subject to compliance with the 
requirements of the MOI and the Companies Act, authorise the 
provision by the Company, at any time and from time to time 
during the period of 2 (two) years commencing on the date of 
adoption of this special resolution, of direct or indirect financial 
assistance, by way of a loan, guarantee of a loan or other 
obligation or the securing of a debt or other obligation to any one 
or more related or inter-related companies or corporations of the 
Company and/or to any one or more members of any such related 
or inter-related corporation or to a person related to any such 
company, corporation or member as outlined in section 2 of the 
Companies Act, on such terms and conditions as the Board may 
deem fit.

Explanatory note
The reason for the passing of this Special Resolution No 2 is that, 
on a proper interpretation of section 45 of the Companies Act, 
the Company may not provide the financial assistance 
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contemplated in such section to related or inter-related companies 
and corporations, including, inter alia, its subsidiaries without a 
special resolution. The reason for Special Resolution No 2 is to 
obtain approval from the shareholders to enable the Board to 
have the authority to authorise the Company to provide direct or 
indirect financial assistance, by way of a loan, guaranteeing of a 
loan or other obligation or securing of a debt or other obligation, 
to the recipients contemplated in Special Resolution No 2. The 
effect of Special Resolution No 2 is that the Company will have 
the necessary authority to authorise and provide the financial 
assistance as and when required.

It is difficult to foresee the exact details of financial assistance that 
the Company may be required to provide over the next two years. 
It is essential, however, that the Company is able to effectively 
organise its internal financial administration. For these reasons 
and because it would be impractical and difficult to obtain 
shareholder approval every time the Company wishes to provide 
financial assistance as contemplated above, it is necessary to 
obtain the approval of shareholders, as set out in Special 
Resolution No 2.

It should be noted that this Special Resolution No 2 does not 
authorise financial assistance to a director or a prescribed officer 
of the Company or of a related or inter-related company.

Special Resolution No 3 – Approval of non-executive 
directors’ remuneration
RESOLVED THAT, in terms of section 66(9) of the Companies Act, 
payment of the remuneration for the non-executive directors of 
the Company for their services as directors of the Company for 
the financial year of the Company ending 30 June 2021, excluding 
VAT where applicable, be approved as follows, noting that these 
fees had not increased from those paid in the financial year ended 
30 June 2020:
(i) A basic annual fee of R105 000 (one hundred and five 

thousand Rand).
	» R26 250 (twenty six thousand two hundred and fifty Rand) 

per Board meeting attended.
	» R31 500 (thirty one thousand five hundred Rand) per 

strategy session.
	» R22 000 (twenty two thousand Rand) per committee 

meeting attended, with the Chairman of such meeting 
being paid R27 300 (twenty seven thousand three hundred 
Rand).

(ii) The Chairman to receive an annual fee of R1  313 550 
(one  million three hundred and thirteen thousand five 
hundred and fifty Rand) for the 2021 financial year.

(iii) Non-executive directors who undertake ad hoc work for the 
Company at the request of the Board may be paid an hourly 
rate of R3  570 (three thousand five hundred and seventy 
Rand) for such work.

(iv) The fees payable to directors as detailed in (i) above shall, but 
only until the expiry of a period of 12 months from the date 
of the passing of this Special Resolution No 3 (or until 
amended by a special resolution of shareholders prior to the 
expiry of such period), escalate as determined by the 
Remuneration Committee of the Company, up to a maximum 
of 10% per annum per amount as set out above, excluding 
VAT (where applicable).

Explanatory note: 
In terms of section 66(8) and 66(9) of the Companies Act, 
remuneration may only be paid to directors for their services as 
directors in accordance with a special resolution approved by the 
shareholders of the Company within the previous two years and if 
not prohibited in terms of the MOI. Therefore, the reason for and 
the effect of Special Resolution No 3 is to approve the payment 
of and the remuneration payable by the Company to its non-
executive directors for their services as directors of the Company 
in terms of section 66 of the Companies Act. The fees payable to 
the non-executive directors are detailed above. The remuneration 
policy forms part of the Remuneration report included in the 
IAR on pages 125 to 134.

Ordinary Resolution No 8 – Authority to sign documentation
RESOLVED THAT any director of the Company or the Company 
Secretary be and is hereby authorised to do all such things, take 
all actions necessary and sign all documents required to give 
effect to, or as may be necessary for or incidental to the 
implementation of, the abovementioned Ordinary and Special 
Resolutions to be proposed at the virtual AGM.

Explanatory note:
The reason for Ordinary Resolution No 8 is to authorise any 
director or the Company Secretary of the Company to attend to 
the necessary to implement the Special and Ordinary Resolutions 
passed at the virtual AGM and to sign all documentation required 
to record the Special and Ordinary Resolutions. The effect of 
Ordinary Resolution No 8 is that any director or the Company 
Secretary of the Company will be authorised to attend to the 
implementation of the Special and Ordinary Resolutions on 
behalf of the Company.

LITIGATION STATEMENT
The directors of the Company, whose names are given on 
pages  108 and 109 of this IAR, are not aware of any legal 
or arbitration proceedings, pending or threatened against 
the Company, which may have or have had, in the 12 months 
preceding the date of this notice of virtual AGM, a material effect 
on the Company’s financial position.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT
The directors, whose names are given on pages 108 and 109 of 
this IAR, collectively and individually, accept full responsibility for 
the accuracy of the information given and certify that, to the best 
of their knowledge and belief, there are no facts that have been 
omitted which would make any statement false or misleading, 
and that all reasonable enquiries to ascertain such facts have 
been made and that the IAR contains all the information required 
by law and the Listings Requirements.

MATERIAL CHANGE
Other than the facts and developments reported in this IAR, there 
have been no material changes in the affairs, financial or trading 
position of the Company since the signature date of this IAR and 
the posting date thereof. Shares held by the Company as treasury 
shares and the Italtile Share Incentive Trust will be excluded from 
the quorum and voting on the resolutions commissioned at the 
virtual AGM.

NOTICE OF VIRTUAL 
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING CONTINUED

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
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APPROVALS REQUIRED FOR RESOLUTIONS
Save for Ordinary Resolution No 7 contained in this notice of 
virtual AGM which, in terms of the Listings Requirements, requires 
the approval by more than 75% of the votes exercised on such 
resolution by shareholders present or represented by proxy at the 
virtual AGM, Ordinary Resolutions No 1 to 8 contained in this 
notice of virtual AGM require the approval of more than 50% of 
the votes exercised on the resolutions by shareholders present or 
represented by proxy at the virtual AGM, and further subject to 
the provisions of the Companies Act, the MOI and the Listings 
Requirements.

Special Resolutions No 1 to 3 contained in this notice of virtual 
AGM require the approval by at least 75% of the votes exercised 
on the resolutions by shareholders present or represented by 
proxy at the virtual AGM, and further subject to the provisions of 
the Companies Act, the MOI and the Listings Requirements.

VOTING AND PROXIES
A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the virtual AGM is 
entitled to appoint a proxy or proxies to attend, speak and vote in 
his or her stead. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the 
Company. For the convenience of registered shareholders of the 
Company, a form of proxy is enclosed herewith.

The attached form of proxy is only to be completed by those 
shareholders who are:
	» holding Italtile ordinary shares in certificated form; or
	» recorded on the electronic subregister in ‘own name’ 

dematerialised form.

Shareholders who have dematerialised their shares through a 
CSDP or broker and wish to attend the virtual AGM, must instruct 
their CSDP or broker to provide them with a letter of 
representation, or they must provide the CSDP or broker with 
their voting instructions in terms of the relevant custody 
agreement/mandate entered into between them and their CSDP 
or broker.

Forms of proxy must be lodged with the transfer secretaries of the 
Company at the address given below, by no later than 10:30 on 
Wednesday, 11 November 2020. Any shareholder who completes 
and lodges a form of proxy will nevertheless be entitled to attend 
and vote in person at the virtual AGM. Any form of proxy not 
delivered by this time may be e-mailed to the chairperson of the 
virtual AGM immediately before the appointed proxy exercises 
any of the shareholder’s votes at the virtual AGM.

Holders of dematerialised Italtile shares wishing to attend the 
virtual AGM must inform their CSDP or broker of such intention 
and request their CSDP or broker to issue them with the relevant 
authorisation to attend.

Voting at the virtual AGM will be conducted electronically and 
shareholders are referred to the voting instructions set out in the 
Guide.

ELECTRONIC PARTICIPATION
The AGM will be conducted entirely by electronic communication 
and accordingly, shareholders or their proxies will be entitled 
to participate in the virtual AGM electronically. All necessary 
information as to how to access and utilise the online facility 
in order to participate electronically in the AGM is set out in 
the Guide.

Any costs incurred by shareholders or their proxies in accessing 
and utilising the online facility in order to participate electronically 
in the virtual AGM will be for the sole account of such shareholders 
or their proxies.

IDENTIFICATION
Accordingly, in accordance with the provisions of section 63(1) of 
the Companies Act, all meeting participants, which includes 
proxies, will be required to provide reasonably satisfactory 
identification in order to participate in and vote at the virtual 
AGM. In this regard, shareholders or their proxies are referred to 
the verification requirements set out in the Guide.

By order of the Board

E J Willis 
Company Secretary

Johannesburg
23 September 2020

Registered office
The Italtile Building
Corner William Nicol Drive and Peter Place
Bryanston, 2021
(PO Box 1689, Randburg, 2125)

Transfer Secretaries
Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited
Rosebank Towers
15 Biermann Avenue
Rosebank, 2196
(Private Bag X9000, Saxonwold, 2132)
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PARTICIPATING IN THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING ELECTRONICALLY
The annual general meeting (“AGM”) will be conducted entirely by electronic communication and will be held at 10:30 on Friday, 13 November 
2020. You will be able to participate online, using your smartphone, tablet or computer.

You will be able to listen to a live webcast of the virtual AGM, ask the Board questions and submit your votes in real time. In order to participate 
online at the virtual AGM and to vote electronically, you will need to either:
(a) Download the Lumi AGM app from the Apple App or Google Play Stores by searching for Lumi AGM; or
(b)  Visit https://web.lumiagm.com on your smartphone, tablet or computer. You will need the latest versions of either Chrome, Safari, Internet 

Explorer 11, Edge or Firefox. Please ensure that your web browser is compatible.

USING THE ONLINE FACILITY:
Access
Once you have either downloaded the Lumi AGM app or entered web.lumiagm.com into your web browser, you will be prompted to enter the 
Meeting ID.

Meeting ID: 121-502-015

To login you must have your username and password which you can request from proxy@computershare.co.za

Certificated shareholders, dematerialised shareholders with “own-name” registration, dematerialised shareholders, other than dematerialised 
shareholders with “own-name” registration, who have requested a letter of representation from their CSDP or broker in order to participate in 
and vote at the virtual AGM, and CSDPs or brokers representing those dematerialised shareholders, other than dematerialised shareholders with 
“own-name” registration, who do not wish to participate in the virtual AGM but wish to be represented thereat and who have provided their 
CSDP or broker with their voting instructions in terms of the Custody Agreement entered into between themselves and the CSDP or broker 
concerned, all of whom who have provided the Transfer Secretaries with their e-mail address or their mobile phone number, will be e-mailed or 
sent the link by SMS to access the virtual meeting platform together with the relevant meeting ID, username and password.

You will then be required to enter your:
(a) Username; and
(b) Password.

You will be able to log into the site from 09:00 on Friday, 13 November 2020.

To register as a shareholder, select ‘I have a login’ and enter your username and password.

If you are a visitor, select ‘I am a guest’ 

As a guest, you will be prompted to complete all the relevant fields including title, first name, last name and e-mail address.

Please note, visitors will not be able to ask questions or vote at the virtual AGM.

IDENTIFICATION
Before a certificated shareholder or dematerialised shareholder with “own-name” registration may participate in and vote at the virtual AGM, 
such shareholder will be required to provide the Transfer Secretaries, prior to the commencement of the virtual AGM, with satisfactory 
identification. This may include a copy of the identity document, passport or driver’s licence of such shareholder.

Dematerialised shareholders, other than dematerialised shareholders with “own-name” registration, who wish to participate in and vote at the 
virtual AGM and who have requested a letter of representation from their CSDP or broker, will need to be verified by their CSDP or broker prior 
to being issued a letter of representation.

ANNEXURE 1 TO 
NOTICE OF VIRTUAL AGM

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Integrated Annual Report 2020208



NAVIGATION
When successfully authenticated, the info screen will be displayed. You can view Company information, ask questions and listen to the webcast.
If you would like to listen to the webcast, press the broadcast icon at the bottom of the screen. 

If viewing on a computer, the webcast will appear at the side automatically once the virtual AGM has commenced.

VOTING
The Chairperson of the virtual AGM will open voting on all resolutions at the start of the virtual AGM. Once the voting has opened, the polling 
icon will appear on the navigation bar at the bottom of the screen. From here, the resolutions and voting options will be displayed.

To vote, simply select your voting direction from the options shown on screen. 

A confirmation message will appear to show your vote has been received. 

To change your vote, simply select another direction. If you wish to cancel your vote, please press Cancel.

Once the Chairperson of the virtual AGM has opened voting, voting can be performed at any time during the virtual AGM until such Chairperson 
closes the voting on the resolutions. At that point your last choice will be submitted.

You will still be able to send messages and listen to the webcast while the poll is open.
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QUESTIONS
Any shareholder or appointed proxy participating in the virtual AGM is eligible to ask questions.

If you would like to ask a question, select the messaging icon.

Messages can be submitted at any time during the Q&A session up until the Chairperson of the virtual AGM closes the session.

Type your message within the chat box at the bottom of the messaging screen.

Once you are satisfied with your message click the send button.

Questions sent via the Lumi online platform will be moderated before being sent to the Chairperson of the virtual AGM. This is to avoid 
repetition and remove any inappropriate language.

DOWNLOADS
Links are present on the info screen. When you click on a link, the selected document will open in your browser.

Data usage for streaming the virtual AGM or downloading documents via the platform varies depending on individual use, the specific device 
being used for streaming or download (Android, iPhone, etc) and the network connection (3G, 4G, to the extent applicable, 5G or Wi-Fi).

ANNEXURE 1 TO 
NOTICE OF VIRTUAL AGM CONTINUED

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
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For use only by:
	» holders of certificated ordinary shares in the Company; or
	» holders of dematerialised ordinary shares in the Company (“dematerialised shareholders”) held through a Central Securities Depository 

Participant (“CSDP”) or broker and who have selected “own-name” registration,
at the annual general meeting (“AGM”) of shareholders of the Company to be conducted entirely by electronic communication at 10:30 on 
Friday, 13 November 2020.

Dematerialised shareholders holding shares in the Company other than with “own-name” registration, who wish to attend the virtual AGM must 
inform their CSDP or broker of their intention to attend the virtual AGM and request their CSDP or broker to issue them with the relevant letter 
of representation to attend the virtual AGM in person or by proxy and vote. If they do not wish to attend the virtual AGM in person or by proxy, 
they must provide their CSDP or broker with their voting instructions in terms of the relevant Custody Agreement entered into between them 
and the CSDP or broker. These shareholders must not use this form of proxy.

Each shareholder is entitled to appoint one or more proxies (who need not be a shareholder of the Company) to attend, speak and vote in place 
of that shareholder at the virtual AGM. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company.

I/we (full name(s) in block letters)

of (address)

Telephone work  Telephone home

Cellphone number E-mail address

1. being the holder/custodian of ordinary shares in the Company, hereby appoint (see note): or, failing him/her

2. or, failing him/her

3. the Chairperson of the virtual AGM,

as my/our proxy to attend and act for me/us on my/our behalf at the virtual AGM convened for the purpose of considering and, if deemed fit, 
passing, with or without modification, the resolutions to be proposed thereat and at each adjournment or postponement thereof, and to vote 
for and/or against such resolutions, and/or to abstain from voting for and/or against the resolutions, in respect of the shares in the issued share 
capital of the Company registered in my/our name in accordance with the following instructions:

For Against Abstain
Ordinary Resolution No 1.1 Re-election of Mr G A M Ravazzotti
Ordinary Resolution No 1.2 Re-election of Mrs S M du Toit
Ordinary Resolution No 1.3 Re-election of Mr S G Pretorius
Ordinary Resolution No 1.4 Re-election of Ms N P Khoza
Ordinary Resolution No 2 Election of Mr I N Malevu
Ordinary Resolution No 3 Re-appointment of external auditor
Ordinary Resolution No 4 Election of Audit and Risk Committee
Ordinary Resolution No 4.1 Election of Mrs S M du Toit
Ordinary Resolution No 4.2 Election of Ms N P Khoza
Ordinary Resolution No 4.3 Election of Mr S G Pretorius
Ordinary Resolution No 4.4 Election of Mr I N Malevu
Ordinary Resolution No 5 Non-binding advisory endorsement of the Company’s remuneration 

policy and implementation report
Ordinary Resolution No 5.1 Endorsement of the Company’s remuneration policy
Ordinary Resolution No 5.2 Endorsement of the Company’s implementation report
Ordinary Resolution No 6 Unissued shares to be placed under the control of the directors
Ordinary Resolution No 7 General authority to issue shares, and to sell treasury shares, for cash
Special Resolution No 1 Acquisition of own securities
Special Resolution No 2 Financial assistance to related and inter-related entities
Special Resolution No 3 Approval of non-executive directors’ remuneration
Ordinary Resolution No 8 Authority to sign documentation

Insert an “X” in the relevant spaces above according to how you wish your votes to be cast.  If no directions are given, the holder of the proxy 
will be entitled to vote or abstain from voting as that proxy deems fit.

This proxy shall be valid only for the virtual AGM of shareholders of the Company to be held on Friday, 13 November 2020 and any adjournment 
or postponement thereof.

Signed at  on  2020

Signature assisted by (where applicable)

Please read the notes on the reverse side hereof.

Italtile Limited
Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa

(Registration number 1955/000558/06)
Share code: ITE   ISIN: ZAE000099123 

(“Italtile” or “the Company”)

FORM OF 
PROXY

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
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1. Summary of rights contained in section 58 of the Companies Act, No 71 of 2008 
(as amended) (“Companies Act”) In terms of section 58 of the Companies Act:
	» a shareholder may, at any time and in accordance with the provisions of 
section 58 of the Companies Act, appoint any individual (including an 
individual who is not a shareholder) as a proxy to participate in, and speak 
and vote at, a shareholders’ meeting on behalf of such shareholder; 
	» a proxy appointment must be in writing, dated and signed by the shareholder;
	» except to the extent that the memorandum of incorporation of a company 
provides otherwise, a shareholder of that company may appoint two or more 
persons concurrently as proxies, and may appoint more than one proxy to 
exercise voting rights attached to the different securities held by the 
shareholder;
	» except to the extent that the memorandum of incorporation of the company 
provides otherwise, a proxy may delegate her or his authority to act on behalf 
of a shareholder to another person, subject to any restriction set out in the 
instrument appointing such proxy;
	» except to the extent that the memorandum of incorporation of the company 
provides otherwise, a copy of the instrument appointing a proxy must be 
delivered to the company, or to any other person on behalf of the company, 
before the proxy exercises any rights of the shareholder at a shareholders’ 
meeting;
	» irrespective of the form of instrument used to appoint a proxy, the 
appointment of a proxy is suspended at any time and to the extent that the 
relevant shareholder chooses to act directly and in person in the exercise of 
any of such shareholder’s rights as a shareholder;
	» irrespective of the form of instrument used to appoint a proxy, any 
appointment by a shareholder of a proxy is revocable, unless the form of 
instrument used to appoint such proxy states otherwise;
	» if an appointment of a proxy is revocable, a shareholder may revoke the proxy 
appointment by: (i) cancelling it in writing, or making a later inconsistent 
appointment of a proxy and (ii) delivering a copy of the revocation instrument 
to the proxy and to the company;
	» the revocation of a proxy appointment constitutes a complete and final 
cancellation of the proxy’s authority to act on behalf of the shareholder as of 
the later of the date (i) stated in a revocation instrument, if any; or (ii) upon 
which the revocation instrument is delivered to the proxy and the relevant 
company as required in section 58(4)(c)(ii) of the Companies Act;
	» if the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies has been delivered to the 
relevant company, as long as that appointment remains in effect, any notice 
that is required by the Companies Act or the relevant company’s 
memorandum of incorporation to be delivered by such company to the 
shareholder must be delivered by such company to the shareholder or the 
proxy or proxies, if the shareholder has in writing directed the relevant 
company to do so and has paid any reasonable fee charged by the company 
for doing so;
	» a proxy appointed by a shareholder is entitled to exercise, or abstain from 
exercising, any voting right of such shareholder without direction, except to 
the extent that the relevant company’s memorandum of incorporation, or the 
instrument appointing the proxy, provides otherwise (see note 5);
	» if a company issues an invitation to shareholders to one or more persons 
named by such company as a proxy, or supplies a form of instrument for 
appointing a proxy:
 – such invitation must be sent to every shareholder who is entitled to receive 
notice of the meeting at which the proxy is intended to be exercised;

 – the invitation or form of proxy must bear a reasonably prominent summary 
of the rights established by section 58 of the Companies Act, contain 
adequate space to enable a shareholder to write in the name, and if so 
desired an alternative name, of a proxy chosen by the shareholder and 
provide adequate space for the shareholder to indicate whether the 
appointed proxy is to vote in favour of or against any resolution or 
resolutions to be put at the meeting, or abstain from voting;

 – the company must not require that the proxy appointment be made 
irrevocable; and

 – the proxy appointment remains valid only until the end of the relevant 
meeting at which it was intended to be used, unless revoked as 
contemplated in section 58(5) of the Companies Act.

2. The form of proxy must only be used by shareholders who hold shares in 
certificated form or who are recorded on the sub-register in electronic form in 
“own-name”.

3. All other beneficial owners who hold dematerialised shares through a CSDP or 
broker and wish to attend the virtual AGM must provide the CSDP or broker 
with their voting instructions in terms of the relevant custody agreement 
entered into between them and the CSDP or broker.

4. A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the virtual AGM may insert the 
name of a proxy or the names of two alternate proxies of the shareholder’s 
choice in the space provided, with or without deleting “the Chairperson of the 
virtual AGM”. The person whose name stands first on the form of proxy and 
who is present at the virtual AGM will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion 
of such proxy(ies) whose names follow.

5. A shareholder is entitled to one vote on a show of hands and, on a poll, one 
vote in respect of each ordinary share held. A shareholder’s instructions to the 
proxy must be indicated by the insertion of an “X” in the appropriate space 
provided. If an “X” has been inserted in one of the blocks to a particular 
resolution, it will indicate the voting of all the shares held by the shareholder 
concerned. Failure to comply with this will be deemed to authorise the proxy to 
vote or to abstain from voting at the virtual AGM as he/she deems fit in respect 
of all the shareholder’s votes exercisable thereat. A shareholder or the proxy is 
not obliged to use all the votes exercisable by the shareholder or by the proxy, 
but the total of the votes cast and in respect of which abstention is recorded 
may not exceed the total of the votes exercisable by the shareholder or the 
proxy.

6. A vote given in terms of an instrument of proxy shall be valid in relation to the 
virtual AGM, notwithstanding the death, insanity or other legal disability of the 
person granting it, or the revocation of the proxy, or the transfer of the shares in 
respect of which the proxy is given, unless notice as to any of the aforementioned 
matters shall have been received by the Company’s Transfer Secretaries, 
Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited (“Transfer Secretaries”), 
not less than 48 (forty-eight) hours before the commencement of the virtual 
AGM.

7. If a shareholder does not indicate on this form of proxy that his/her proxy is to 
vote in favour of or against any resolution or to abstain from voting, or gives 
contradictory instructions, or should any further resolution(s) or any 
amendment(s) which may properly be put before the virtual AGM be proposed, 
such proxy shall be entitled to vote as he/she thinks fit.

8. A shareholder’s authorisation to the proxy including the Chairperson of the 
virtual AGM, to vote on such shareholder’s behalf, shall be deemed to include 
the authority to vote on procedural matters at the virtual AGM.

9. The completion and lodging of this form of proxy will not preclude the relevant 
shareholder from attending the virtual AGM and speaking and voting in person 
thereat to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms hereof.

10. Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing the form 
of proxy in a representative capacity must be attached to this form of proxy, 
unless previously recorded by the Transfer Secretaries or is waived by the 
Chairperson of the virtual AGM.

11. A minor or any other person under legal incapacity must be assisted by his/her 
parent or guardian, as applicable, unless the relevant documents establishing 
his/her capacity are produced or have been registered by the Transfer 
Secretaries.

12. Where there are joint holders of shares:
	» any one holder may sign the form of proxy; and
	» the vote(s) of the senior shareholders (for that purpose seniority will be 
determined by the order in which the names of shareholders appear in the 
Company’s register of ordinary shareholders) who tenders a vote (whether in 
person or by proxy) will be accepted to the exclusion of the vote(s) of the 
other joint shareholder(s).

13. Forms of proxy should be lodged with or mailed to the Transfer Secretaries:
 Hand deliveries to:    Postal deliveries to:
 Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Ltd  Computershare Investor
 Rosebank Towers    Services (Pty) Ltd
 15 Biermann Avenue   Private Bag X9000
  Rosebank   Saxonwold
  2196    2132
 to be received by no later than 10:30 on Wednesday, 11 November 2020 (or 

48  (forty-eight) hours before any adjournment of the virtual AGM which date, if 
necessary, will be notified on the Stock Exchange News Service of JSE Limited) 
or may be handed to the Chairperson of the virtual AGM immediately before 
the appointed proxy exercises any of the shareholder’s votes at the virtual AGM.

14. A deletion of any printed matter and the completion of any blank space need 
not be signed or initialled. Any alteration or correction must be signed and not 
merely initialled.

15. The proxy appointment remains valid only for the virtual AGM at which it is 
intended to be used and any adjournment or postponement thereof, subject to 
paragraph 1 above.

NOTES TO THE 
FORM OF PROXY

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
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Physical and registered address
The Italtile Building 

Cnr William Nicol Drive and Peter Place 
Bryanston 2021 

Gauteng, South Africa

Postal address
PO Box 1689 

Randburg 2125 
South Africa

Telephone
+27 (11) 510 9050

Fax
+27 (11) 510 9060

www.italtile.com
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